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PREFACE

The eleventh edition of Accountants’ Handbook continues the tradition established in the first
edition over 82 years ago of providing a comprehensive single reference source for understanding
current financial statement and reporting issues. It is directed to accountants, auditors, executives,
bankers, lawyers, and other preparers and users of accounting information. Its presentation and
format facilitates the quick comprehension of complex accounting-related subjects updated for
today’s rapidly changing business environment.

This edition of the Handbook continues the presentation of two soft-cover volumes; this edition
contains a total of 49 chapters. To provide a resource with the encyclopedic coverage that has
been the hallmark of this Handbook series, this edition again focuses on financial accounting and
related topics, including those auditing standards and audit reports that are the common ground of
interest for accounting and business professionals.

In the period since the last edition we have witnessed the initial wave of changes to accounting
and auditing standards in response to the bankruptcies and frauds that prompted the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002. Issues of earnings management, off-the-balance-sheet related business entities, unrec-
ognized liabilities and the expensing of stock option grants are the focus of reinvigorated standard
setting. Similarly, sweeping changes in the auditing environment such as the newly required audits
of internal control (see Chapter 5 and the new structures for regulating public company auditors
that have been put in place. This edition of the Handbook places those events and changes in
context, and provides transition and understanding of the events that have led up to these reforms.

This edition provides expanded chapters on fraud and fraud-related issues, as these topics have
become more prominent in the business literature and in practice, and management and auditors
have by law and regulation, assumed, greater responsibility for preventing and detecting fraud.

In the period since the last edition, the harmonization of accounting and auditing principles
has become an important element in the direction of standards setting, both for accounting and
auditing. Few major accounting or auditing standards projects are undertaken without involvement
or collaboration with the international counterpart standards group. While some may be concerned
that this process may slow the standards setting process somewhat, the greater input from a broader
cross section of business environment and the broader focus of the standards that are being set, may
indeed provide a firmer foundation for promulgating more comprehensive and enduring standards.

Although the FASB continues to be the primary source of authoritative accounting guidance,
other sources of guidance are important in today’s practice. Pronouncements by the SEC, GASB,
and EITF are important, particularly in specialized areas. It is necessary to look to the EITF and
to the AICPA audit and accounting guides for guidance in industry-related or special-transaction
areas. All of those sources of accounting guidance are included in the scope of this edition of the
Handbook.

This edition of the Handbook is divided into two convenient volumes:

Volume One: Financial Accounting and General Topics includes:

e A comprehensive review of the framework of accounting guidance today and the organizations
involved in its development, including the development of international standards

e A compendium of specific guidance on general aspects of financial statement presentation,
disclosure, and analysis, including SEC filing regulations
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e Encyclopedic coverage of each specific financial statement area from cash through sharehold-
ers’ equity, including coverage of financial instruments

Volume Two: Special Industries and Special Topics includes:

e Comprehensive single-source coverage of the specialized environmental and accounting con-
siderations for key industries, including a chapter on the film industry

e Coverage of accounting standards applying to pension plans, retirement plans, and employee
stock compensation and other capital accumulation plans

e Diverse topics, including reporting by partnerships, estates and trusts, and valuation,
bankruptcy, and forensic accounting

The specialized expertise of the individual authors remains the critical element of this edition as
it was in all prior editions. The editors worked closely with the authors, reviewing and critically
editing their manuscripts. However, in the final analysis, each chapter is the work and viewpoint
of the individual author or authors.

Content of the chapters in this edition have been prepared and/or reviewed by professionals
practicing in accounting firms, financial executives, university professors, and financial analysts
and executives. Every major international accounting firm is represented among the authors. These
professionals bring to bear their own and their firms’ experiences in dealing with accounting
practice problems. All of the authors and technical reviewers are recognized authorities in their
fields and have made significant contributions to the eleventh edition of the Handbook.

Our greatest debt is to the authors and reviewers of this edition. We deeply appreciate the
value and importance of their time and efforts. We also acknowledge our debt to the editors of and
contributors to ten earlier editions of the Handbook. This edition draws heavily on the accumulated
knowledge of those earlier editions. Finally, we wish to thank John DeRemigis and Judy Howarth
at John Wiley & Sons, Inc., for handling the many details of organizing and coordinating this
effort.

For convenience, the pronoun “he” is used in this book to refer nonspecifically to the accountant
and the business person. We intend this pronoun to include women.

D. R. Carmichael
R. Whittington
L. Graham
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29.1 INTRODUCTION

Accounting for oil and gas activities can be extremely complex because it encompasses a wide
variety of business strategies and vehicles. The industry’s diversity developed in response to the
risk involved in the exploration process, the volatility of prices, and the fluctuations in supply and
demand for oil and gas. In addition to having a working knowledge of accounting procedures, the
oil and gas accountant should be familiar with the operating characteristics of companies involved
in oil and gas activities and understand the impact of individual transactions.

Oil and gas activities cover a wide spectrum—ranging from exploration and production activ-
ities to the refining, transportation, and marketing of products to consumers. Special accounting
rules exist for exploration and production activities. Accounting for refining activities is similar
in many ways to other process manufacturing businesses. Likewise, transportation and marketing
do not differ significantly from one end product to another. This chapter focuses on the special
accounting rules for petroleum exploration and production.

The same may be said for the mining and processing of minerals except that the accounting
rules for mineral exploration and production are not so formalized as for petroleum.

29.2 OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND PRODUCING OPERATIONS

Oil- and gas-producing activities begin with the search for prospects—parcels of acreage that
management thinks may contain economically viable oil or gas formations. For the most likely
prospects, the enterprise may contract with a geological and geophysical (G&G) company to test
and assess the subsurface formations and their depths. Three-dimensional (3-D) seismic studies
send sound waves thousands of feet below the earth’s surface, record the million echoes from
underground strata, and use powerful computers to read the echoes to create 3-D electronic images
of the underground formations. With these ultrasounds of Mother Earth, the enterprise evaluates
the various prospects, rejecting some and accepting others as suitable for acquisition of lease rights
(prospecting may be done before or after obtaining lease rights).

Specialists called landmen may be used to obtain lease rights. A landman is in effect a lease
broker who searches titles and negotiates with property owners. Although the landman may be
part of the company’s staff, oil and gas companies often acquire lease rights to properties through
independent landmen. Consideration for leasing the mineral rights usually includes a bonus (an
immediate cash payment to the lessor) and a royalty interest retained by the lessor (a specified
percentage of subsequent production minus applicable production taxes).

Once the leases have been obtained and the rights and obligations of all parties have been
determined, exploratory drilling begins. Because drilling costs run to hundreds of thousands or
millions of dollars, many companies reduce their capital commitment and related risks by seeking
others to participate in joint venture arrangements. Participants in a joint venture are called joint
interest owners; one owner, usually the enterprise that obtained the leases, acts as operator. The
operator manages the venture and reports to the other, nonoperator participants. The operator
initially pays the drilling costs and then bills those costs to the nonoperators. In some cases, the
operator may collect these costs from nonoperators in advance.

The operator acquires the necessary supplies and subcontracts with a drilling company for
drilling the well. The drilling time may be a few days, several months, or even a year or longer
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depending on many factors, particularly well depth and location. When the hole reaches the desired
depth, various instruments are lowered that “log the well” to detect the presence of oil or gas. The
joint interest owners evaluate the drilling and logging results to determine whether sufficient oil
or gas can be extracted to justify the cost of completing the well. If the evaluation is negative, the
well is plugged and abandoned as a dry hole. If sufficient quantities of crude oil or natural gas
(hydrocarbons) appear to be present, the well is completed and equipment is installed to extract
and separate the hydrocarbons from the water coming from the underground reservoir. Completion
costs are substantial and may even exceed the initial drilling costs.

Before production begins (sometimes even before the well is drilled), the enterprise selects oil
and gas purchasers and negotiates sales contracts. To transport the oil or gas from the well, a
trunk line may be built to the nearest major pipeline; crude oil also may be stored in tanks at the
production site and removed later by truck. The production owner and purchasers prepare and sign
division orders, which are revenue distribution contracts specifying each owner’s share of revenues.
If the division order specifies that the purchaser is to pay all revenues to the operator, the operator
must distribute the appropriate amounts to the other joint interest owners and the lessor(s).

The various factors that determine the success or failure of oil and gas exploration activities
include many uncertainties. These factors set the oil and gas industry apart from many other
capital-intensive industries. Some of these factors include the following:

e Anticipated Success of Drilling. Even with the recent technological advances in 3-D seismic,
there is still substantial risk of not finding a commercial petroleum reservoir after spending
hundreds of thousands of dollars (or more) drilling a well to the target formation. Exploration
success is also affected by drilling risks such as stuck drill pipes, blowouts, and improper
completions.

e Taxation. A substantial portion of the revenues from the sale of crude oil and natural gas goes
directly or indirectly to the federal and state governments in the form of severance taxes,
ad valorem taxes, and income taxes. In the late 1970s, Congress enacted the Windfall Profit
Tax on domestic crude oil. On August 25, 1988, the Windfall Profit Tax was repealed for
all crude oil removed after that date. After the various taxes, royalties to the landowner, and
production costs have been deducted, the producer’s income from the sale of crude oil and
natural gas may be only a small percentage of gross revenues. Except for certain tax credits
relating to “Tight Sands” and coalbed methane gas production, most tax-related incentives
have been eliminated through tax legislation since 1986.

e Product Price and Marketability. U.S. crude oil production meets only half of the country’s
demand and is readily marketable. The United States imports crude oil from Venezuela,
Canada, and other countries. For the past several years, U.S. prices of crude oil have fluctuated
widely due to numerous factors including world politics, economic conditions, and technology
advances. High-quality crude oil sold for $42 per barrel in late 1979, $12 briefly in 1986,
$40 briefly in 1990, in the $20 range in 1991, $18 at the end of 1995, $24 at the end of
1996, $15.50 at the end of 1997, and under $14 by spring of 1997. Oil prices also vary due
to the quality of the oil and the location of the oil field. In a given month, heavy sour crude
oil in California may sell for half or two-thirds the price of light, sweet crude oil produced
in Oklahoma.

In the 1990s, natural gas price volatility exceeded that of crude oil. U.S. natural gas pro-
duction met substantially all of the country’s needs, after competition from gas imported
from Canada. Demand for natural gas is seasonal in the United States—high in the winter
months for space heating and low in the summer for most areas of the country. Significant
quantities of gas produced in the summer are transported by pipelines to underground forma-
tions for temporary storage until the winter season. Such temporary storage helps to reduce
the seasonal price fluctuations.

Because of the volatility in oil and gas prices, a number of price hedging mechanisms have
been developed, including futures contracts, long-term hedging arrangements, and product
swaps.
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e Timing of Production. How quickly oil and gas are produced directly affects the payback
period of an investment and its financial success or failure. The timing of production varies
with the geologic characteristics of the reservoir and the marketability of the product. Reser-
voirs may contain the same gross producible reserves, yet the timing of production causes
significant differences in the present value of the future revenue stream.

e Acreage and Drilling Costs. Many U.S. companies are focusing on exploration outside the
United States. The United States is a mature exploration area producing 10 percent of the
world’s oil production from 63 percent of the world’s oil wells. The global availability of
quality exploration acreage, drilling personnel, and supplies has increased, whereas the related
costs have dropped significantly since the boom period of the late 1970s and early 1980s.

29.3 ACCOUNTING FOR JOINT OPERATIONS

Oil- and gas-producing activities are recorded in the same general manner as most other activities
that use manual or automated revenue, accounts payable, and general ledger systems. There are
significant differences in the data gathering and reporting requirements, however, depending on
whether the entity is an operator or a nonoperator for a given joint venture. The two major
accounting systems unique to oil- and gas-producing activities are the joint interest billing system
and the revenue distribution system. The operator’s joint interest billing system must properly
calculate and record the operator’s net cost as well as the costs to be billed to the nonoperators.
Likewise, the revenue distribution system should properly allocate cash receipts among venture
participants; this entails first recording the amounts payable to the participants and later making
the appropriate payments.

As discussed previously, joint interest operations evolved because of the need to share the
financial burden and risks of oil- and gas-producing activities. Joint operations typically take the
form of a simple joint venture evidenced by two formal agreements, generally referred to as an
exploration agreement and an operating agreement. These agreements define the geographic area
involved, designate which party will act as operator of the venture, define how revenue and expenses
will be divided, and set forth the rights and responsibilities of all parties to the agreement. The
operating agreement also establishes how the operator is to bill the nonoperators for joint venture
expenditures and provides nonoperators with the right to conduct “joint interest audits” of the
operator’s accounting records.

Accounting for joint operations is basically the same as accounting for operations when a
property is completely owned by one party, except that in joint operations, revenues and expenses
are divided among all of the joint venture partners. The following section discusses accounting for
joint operations, first from the operator’s standpoint and then from the nonoperators’ perspective.

(@) OPERATOR ACCOUNTING. The operator typically records revenue and expenses for a
well on a 100 percent, or “gross,” basis and then allocates the revenue and expenses to the
nonoperators based on ownership percentages maintained in the division order and joint interest
master files. One approach is to record the full invoice or remittance advice amount and use contra
or clearing accounts that set up the amounts due from or to the nonoperators. Recording transactions
by means of contra accounts facilitates generation of information that management uses to review
operations on a gross basis.

Before drilling and completing a well, the operator prepares an authorization for expenditure
(AFE) itemizing the estimated costs to drill and complete the well. Although AFEs are normally
required by the operating agreement, they are so useful as a capital budgeting tool that they are
routinely used for all major expenditures by oil and gas companies, even if no joint venture exists.
In addition to AFEs, the operator’s field supervisor or engineer at the well site prepares a daily
drilling report, which is an abbreviated report of the current status and the drilling or completion
activity of the past 24 hours. That report may be compared with a drilling report prepared by
the drilling company (also called a tour report). Some daily drilling reports indicate estimated
cumulative costs incurred to date.
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For shallow wells that are quickly and easily drilled, the AFE subsidiary ledger, combined
with the daily drilling report, may provide the basis for the operator’s estimate of costs incurred
but not invoiced. For other wells, however, the engineering department prepares an estimate of
cumulative costs incurred through year end as a basis for recording the accrual and, if material,
the commitments for future expenditures.

The operator normally furnishes the nonoperators with a monthly summary billing that shows
the amount owed the operator on a property-by-property basis. The summary billing is accompanied
by a separate joint operating statement for each property. The joint operating statement contains a
description of each expenditure and shows the total expenditures for the property. The statement
also shows the allocation of expenditures among the joint interest participants. The operator usually
does not furnish copies of third-party invoices supporting items appearing on the joint interest
billing, but the third-party invoices can be examined and copied during the nonoperators’ audit of
the joint account. The operator may also furnish the nonoperators a production report and at a later
date remit checks to the nonoperators for their share of production.

(b) NONOPERATOR ACCOUNTING. From the nonoperators’ standpoint, the accounting for
joint operations is basically the same as that followed by the operator. It is not unusual for a
company to act as an operator on some properties and a nonoperator on others. To be able to
make comparisons and evaluations that include both types of properties, nonoperators should also
record items on a gross basis. A nonoperator should develop a control procedure for reviewing the
joint operating statement to determine whether the operator is complying with the joint operating
agreement, is billing the nonoperator only valid charges at the appropriate percentages, and is
distributing the appropriate share of revenue.

(c) OTHER ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES. The operating agreement may permit the operator
to charge the joint venture a monthly fixed fee to cover its internal costs incurred in operating the
joint venture. Alternatively, the agreement may provide for reimbursement of the operator’s actual
costs.

The parties in a joint operation may agree either to share costs in a proportion that is different
from that used for sharing revenue or to change the sharing percentages after a specific event
takes place. Typically, that event is “payout,” the point at which certain venturers have recovered
their initial investment or an agreed-upon multiple of the investment. All parties involved in joint
operations encounter payout situations at some time. Controls must be designed to monitor payout
status to ensure that all parties are satisfied that revenues and costs have been properly allocated
in accordance with the joint operating agreement.

(d) OVERVIEW OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS. The following pronouncements set forth
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) unique to oil and gas producing activities:

e Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 19, which describes a “successful
efforts” method of accounting

e SFAS No. 25, which recognizes that other methods may be appropriate

e Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Regulation S-X, Article 4, Section 10 (also
referred to as S-X Rule 4-10), which prescribes two acceptable methods for public enti-
ties—either the successful efforts method described in SFAS No. 19 or a “full cost” method,
as described in S-X Rule 4-10

e SFAS No. 69, which requires supplementary disclosures of oil- and gas-producing activities

Additional guidance and interpretations are found in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Interpretations, SEC Staff Accounting Bulletins (SABS), surveys in industry accounting practices,
and petroleum accounting journals and petroleum accounting textbooks.

The primary differences between the successful efforts and full cost methods center around
costs to be capitalized and those to be expensed. As the name implies, under the successful efforts
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method, only those costs that lead to the successful discovery of reserves are capitalized, while
the costs of unsuccessful exploratory activities are charged directly to expense. Under the full cost
method, all exploration efforts are treated as capital costs under the theory that the reserves found
are the result of all costs incurred. Both methods are widely used; however, larger companies tend
to follow the successful efforts method.

Under income tax law and regulations, all exploration and development costs, except leasehold
and equipment costs, are generally expensed as incurred. Petroleum producing companies with
significant refining or marketing activities (called integrateds as opposed to “independents”) must
capitalize 30 percent of intangible well costs to be amortized over 60 months. Leasehold costs
are expensed by complex depletion deductions that, for independents, can exceed actual costs.
Equipment costs are depreciated using accelerated methods. Many independent U.S. oil- and gas-
producing companies pay the alternative minimum tax.

29.4 ACCEPTABLE ACCOUNTING METHODS

(a) THE SUCCESSFUL EFFORTS METHOD.

(i) Basic Rules. The following points summarize the major aspects of the successful efforts
method of accounting for oil and gas property costs:

e The costs of all G&G studies to find reserves are charged to expense as incurred.

e Lease acquisition costs for unproved properties are initially capitalized. Unproved properties
are those on which no economically recoverable oil or gas has been demonstrated to exist.
Unproved properties are to be assessed for impairment at least annually.

o If an unproved property becomes impaired because of such events as pending lease expira-
tion or an unsuccessful exploratory well (dry hole), the loss is recognized and a valuation
allowance is established to reflect the property’s impairment. Two approaches to impairment
are used: (1) Property by property (typically used by small companies or situations involv-
ing significant acreage costs), or (2) a formula approach based on factors such as historical
success ratios and average lease terms (typically used by larger companies with a significant
number of smaller properties).

e Once proved reserves are found on a property, the property is considered proved and the
acquisition costs are amortized on a unit-of-production basis over the property’s producing
life based on total proved reserves (both developed and undeveloped reserves). The SFAS No.
25 definition of proved reserves may be summarized as the estimated volumes of oil and gas
that geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable
in future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions.

o If both oil and gas are produced from the property, the unit is normally equivalent barrels or
mcfs, whereby gas is converted to equivalent barrels (or barrels are converted to equivalent
mcfs) based on relative energy content. A common conversion factor is 5.6 mcf to 1 equivalent
barrel.

e For a property containing both oil and gas, the unit may reflect either oil or gas if:

o The relative property of oil and gas extracted in the current period is expected to continue
in the future, or
o The reflected mineral clearly dominates the other for both current production and reserves.

e Carrying costs required to retain rights to unproved properties (delay rentals, ad valorem
taxes, etc.) are charged to expense.

o Exploratory wells are capitalized initially as wells-in-progress and expensed if proved reserves
are not found. Successful exploratory wells are capitalized, as are their completion costs
(setting casing and other costs necessary to begin producing the well).

e Costs of drilling development wells (even the rare dry ones) are capitalized.
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e Costs of successful exploratory wells, along with the costs of drilling development wells on
the lease, are amortized on a unit-of-production basis over the property’s proved developed
reserves on:

o A property-by-property basis, or
o The basis of some reasonable aggregation of properties with a common geologic or struc-
tural feature or stratigraphic condition, such as a reservoir or field.

e Once production has begun, all regular production costs are charged to expense.

o Capitalized interest, under the requirements of SFAS 34, would also be capitalized as part of
the cost of unevaluated properties during the evaluation phase.

(i) Exploratory versus Development Well Definition. Because Reg. S-X requires that the
costs of dry exploratory wells be charged to expense, whereas the costs of dry development wells
are capitalized, it is important to properly classify wells. Regulation S-X Rule 4-10, defines the
two categories of wells as follows:

1. Development Well. A well drilled within the proved area of an oil or gas reservoir to the
depth of a stratigraphic horizon known to be productive.

2. Exploratory Well. A well drilled to find and produce oil or gas in an unproved area, to find a
new reservoir in a field previously found to be productive of oil or gas in another reservoir,
or to extend a known reservoir. Generally, an exploratory well is any well that is not a
development well, a service well, or a stratigraphic test well.

These definitions may not coincide with those that have been commonly used in the industry
(typically, the industry definition of a development well is more liberal than Reg. S-X, Rule 4-10).
This results in two problems:

1. Improper classification of certain exploratory dry holes as development wells (the problem
occurs primarily with stepout or delineation wells drilled at the edge of a producing reservoir)

2. Inconsistencies between the drilling statistics found in the forepart of Form 10-K (usually
prepared by operational personnel) and the supplementary financial statement information
required by SFAS No. 69 (usually prepared by accounting personnel)

(iii) Treatment of Costs of Exploratory Wells Whose Outcome Is Undetermined. As set
out below, SFAS No. 19 effectively curtails extended deferral of the costs of an exploratory well
whose outcome has not yet been determined.

Accounting When Drilling of an Exploration Well Is Completed.

Par. 31: ... the costs of drilling an exploratory well are capitalized as part of the enterprise’s
uncompleted wells, equipment, and facilities pending determination of whether the well has found
proved reserves. That determination is usually made on or shortly after completion of drilling
the well, and the capitalized costs shall either be charged to expense or be reclassified as part of
the costs of the enterprise’s wells and related equipment and facilities at that time. Occasionally,
however, an exploratory well may be determined to have found oil and gas reserves, but classifi-
cation of those reserves as proved cannot be made when drilling is completed. In those cases, one
or the other of the following subparagraphs shall apply depending on whether the well is drilled
in an area requiring a major capital expenditure, such as a trunk pipeline, before production from
that well could begin:

a. Exploratory wells that find oil and gas reserves in an area requiring a major capital expenditure,
such as a trunk pipeline, before production could begin. On completion of drilling, an exploratory
well may be determined to have found oil and gas reserves, but classification of those reserves as
proved depends on whether a major capital expenditure can be justified which, in turn, depends
on whether additional exploratory wells find a sufficient quantity of additional reserves. That
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situation arises principally with exploratory wells drilled in a remote area for which production

would require constructing a trunk pipeline. In that case, the cost of drilling the exploratory well

shall continue to be carried as an asset pending determination of whether proved reserves have

been found only as long as both of the following conditions are met:

(1) The well has found a sufficient quantity of reserves to justify its completion as a producing
well if the required capital expenditure is made.

(2) Drilling of the additional exploratory wells is under way or firmly planned for the near future.
Thus, if drilling in the area is not under way or firmly planned, or if the well has not found
a commercially producible quantity of reserves, the exploratory well shall be assumed to be
impaired, and its costs shall be charged to expense.

b. All other exploratory wells that find oil and gas reserves. In the absence of a determination as to
whether the reserves that have been found can be classified as proved, the costs of drilling such an
exploratory well shall not be carried as an asset for more than one year following completion of
drilling. If, after that year has passed, a determination that proved reserves have been found cannot
be made, the well shall be assumed to be impaired, and its costs shall be charged to expense.

Par 32: Paragraph 32 is intended to prohibit, in all cases, the deferral of the costs of exploratory
wells that find some oil and gas reserves merely on the chance that some event totally beyond
the control of the enterprise will occur, for example, on the chance that the selling prices of
oil and gas will increase sufficiently to result in classification of reserves as proved that are not
commercially recoverable at current prices.

Accounting When Drilling of an Exploratory-Type Stratigraphic Test Well Is Completed.

Par 33: As specified in paragraph 110, the costs of drilling an exploratory-type stratigraphic
test well are capitalized as part of the enterprise’s uncompleted wells, equipment, and facilities
pending determination of whether the well has found proved reserves. When that determination is
made, the capitalized costs shall be charged to expense if proved reserves are not found or shall
be reclassified as part of the costs of the enterprise’s wells and related equipment and facilities if
proved reserves are found.

Par 34: Exploratory-type stratigraphic test wells are normally drilled on unproved offshore prop-
erties. Frequently, on completion of drilling, such a well may be determined to have found oil and
gas reserves, but classification of those reserves as proved depends on whether a major capital
expenditure—usually a production platform—ocan be justified which, in turn, depends on whether
additional exploratory-type stratigraphic test wells find a sufficient quantity of additional reserves.
In that case, the cost of drilling the exploratory-type stratigraphic test well shall continue to be
carried as an asset pending determination of whether proved reserves have been found only as
long as both of the following conditions are met:

(1) The well has found a quantity of reserves that would justify its completion for production had it
not been simply a stratigraphic test well.

(2) Drilling of the additional exploratory-type stratigraphic test wells is under way or firmly planned
for the near future.

Thus, if associated stratigraphic test drilling is not under way or firmly planned, or if the well
has not found a commercially producible quantity of reserves, the exploratory-type stratigraphic
test well shall be assumed to be impaired, and its costs shall be charged to expense.

(iv) Successful Efforts Impairment Test. SFAS No. 121 on impairment of long-lived assets
amends SFAS No. 19 and requires application of SFAS No. 121 impairment rules to capitalized
costs of proved oil and gas properties for companies following the successful efforts method of
accounting.
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(v) Conveyances. SFAS No. 19 and Reg. S-X Rule 4-10(m) provides rules to account for mineral
property conveyances and related transactions. Conveyances of “production payments” repayable
in fixed monetary terms, that is, loans in substance, are accounted for as loans. Conveyances of
production payments repayable in fixed production volumes from specified production are deemed
to be property sales whereby proved reserves are reduced but the proceeds from sale of a production
payment are credited to deferred revenue to be recognized as revenue as the seller delivers future
petroleum volumes to the holder of the production payment. Gain or loss is not recognized for
conveyances of (1) a pooling of assets in a joint venture to find, develop, or produce oil and gas or
(2) such assets in exchange for other assets used in oil- and gas-producing activities. Gain is not
recognized (but loss is) for conveyance of a partial property interest when substantial uncertainty
exists as to the recovery of costs for the retained interest portion or when the seller has substantial
obligation for future performance such as drilling a well. For other conveyances, gain or loss is
recognized unless prohibited under accounting principles applicable to enterprises in general.

(b) THE FULL COST METHOD.

(i) Basic Rules. Under Reg. S-X Rule 4-10, oil and gas property costs are accounted for as
follows:

o All costs associated with property acquisition, exploration and development activities shall
be capitalized by country-wide cost center. Any internal costs that are capitalized shall be
limited to those costs that can be directly identified with the acquisition, exploration and
development activities undertaken by the reporting entity for its own account, and shall not
include any costs related to production, general corporate overhead or similar activities.

e Capitalized costs within a cost center shall be amortized on the unit-of-production basis using
proved oil and gas reserves, as follows:

o Costs to be amortized shall include (A) all capitalized costs, less accumulated amortization,
excluding the cost of certain unevaluated properties not being amortized; (B) the estimated
future expenditures (based on current costs) to be incurred in developing proved reserves;
and (C) estimated dismantlement and abandonment costs, net of estimated salvage values.
[The current rule is referring to undiscounted future decommissioning, restoration and
abandonment costs, net of estimated salvage values (“net abandonment costs”). In early
1996, the FASB issued an exposure draft for a proposed SFAS on accounting for certain
liabilities related to closure or removal of long-lived assets. If adopted as drafted, the new
SFAS would amortize capitalized costs that include a charge corresponding to the accrued
liability for net abandonment costs. The liability reflects a present value discounted at a
safe rate of interest.]

o Amortization shall be computed on the basis of physical units, with oil and gas converted
to a common unit of measure on the basis of their approximate relative energy content,
unless economic circumstances (related to the effects of regulated prices) indicated that
use of revenue is a more appropriate basis of computing amortization. In the latter case,
amortization shall be computed on the basis of current gross revenues from production in
relation to future gross revenues (excluding royalty payments and net profits disbursements)
based on current prices from estimated future production of proved oil and gas reserves
(including consideration of changes in existing prices provided for only by contractual
arrangements). The effect on estimated future gross revenues of a significant price increase
during the year shall be reflected in the amortization provision only for the period after the
price increase occurs.

In some cases it may be more appropriate to depreciate natural gas cycling and processing
plants by a method other than the unit-of-production method.
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Amortization computations shall be made on a consolidated basis, including investees
accounted for on a proportionate consolidation basis. Investees accounted for on the equity
method shall be treated separately.

(ii) Exclusion of Costs from Amortization. SEC Financial Report Reg. S-X Rule 4-10, allows
two alternatives:

1. Immediate inclusion of all costs incurred in the amortization base

2. Temporary exclusion of all acquisition and exploration costs incurred that directly relate to
unevaluated properties and certain costs of major development projects

Unevaluated properties are defined as those for which no determination has been made of
the existence or nonexistence of proved reserves. Costs that may be excluded are all those costs
directly related to the unevaluated properties (i.e., leasehold acquisitions costs, delay rentals, G&G,
exploratory drilling, and capitalized interest). The cost of exploratory dry holes should be included
in the amortization base as soon as the well is deemed dry.

These excluded costs must be assessed for impairment annually, either:

o Individually for each significant property (i.e., capitalized cost exceeds 10 percent of the net
full cost pool), or

o In the aggregate for insignificant properties (i.e., by transferring the excluded property costs
into the amortization base ratably on the basis of such factors as the primary lease terms of
the properties, the average holding period, and the relative proportion of properties on which
proved reserves have been found previously).

(iii) The Full Cost Ceiling Test. SFAS No. 121 impairment rules are effectively superseded by
the following full cost “ceiling test” specified in Reg. S-X Rule 4-10(e)(4):

e For each cost center capitalized costs, less accumulated amortization and related deferred
income taxes, shall not exceed an amount (the cost center ceiling) equal to the sum of:

(A) The present value of estimated future net revenues computed by applying current prices
of oil and gas reserves (with consideration of price changes only to the extent provided by
contractual arrangements) to estimated future production of proved oil and gas reserves as of
the date of the latest balance sheet presented, less estimated future expenditures (based on
current costs) to be incurred in developing and producing the proved reserves computed using
a discount factor of ten percent and assuming continuation of existing economic conditions;
plus (B) the cost of properties not being amortized pursuant to paragraph (c)(3)(ii) of this
section; plus (C) the lower of cost or estimated fair value of unproven properties included in
the costs being amortized; less (D) income tax effects related to differences between the book
and tax basis of the properties referred to in paragraphs (c)(4)(i)(B) and (C) of this section.

o If unamortized costs capitalized within a cost center, less related deferred income taxes,
exceed the cost center ceiling, the excess shall be charged to expense and separately disclosed
during the period in which the excess occurs. Amounts thus required to be written off shall
not be reinstated for any subsequent increase in the cost center ceiling.

Part D, income tax effects, is poorly worded and refers to the income tax effects related to the
ceiling components in parts A, B, and C allowing for consideration of the oil and gas properties’
tax bases and related depletion carryforwards and related net operating loss carryforwards.

Two other unique aspects of the full cost ceiling test are:

1. Ceiling Test Exemption for Purchases of Proved Properties. A petroleum producing company
might purchase proved properties for more than the present value of estimated future net
revenues, causing net capitalized costs to exceed the cost center ceiling on the date of purchase.
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To avoid the write down, the company may request from the SEC staff a temporary (usually
one year) waiver of applying the ceiling test. The company must be prepared to demonstrate
that the purchased properties’ additional value exists beyond reasonable doubt. For more details
see SAB No. 47, Topic 12, D-3a.

2. Effect of Subsequent Event. If, after year end but prior to the audit report date, either (a)
additional reserves are proved up on properties owned at year end, or (b) price increases
become known, then such subsequent events may be considered in the year-end ceiling test
to mitigate a write down of capitalized costs.

The avoidance of a writedown must be adequately disclosed, but the subsequent events should
not be considered in the required disclosures of the company’s proved reserves and standard-
ized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to such reserves (as further described
here in Section 29.11, “Financial Statement Disclosures”). For more details, see SAB No. 47,
Topic 12, D-3b.

(iv) Conveyances. Reg. S-X, Rule 4-10(c)(6), provides that accounting for conveyances will
be the same as for successful efforts accounting except that sales of oil and gas properties are to
be accounted for as adjustments of capitalized costs with no recognition of gain or loss (“unless
such adjustments would significantly alter the relationship between capitalized costs and proved
reserves”). Exceptions are also made in some circumstances for property sales to partnerships
and joint ventures in that (1) proceeds that are reimbursements of identifiable, current transaction
expenses may be credited to income and (2) a petroleum company may recognize in income
“management fees” from certain types of managed limited partnerships. When a company acquires
an oil and gas property interest in exchange for services (such as drilling wells), income may be
recognized in limited circumstances.

29.5 ACCOUNTING FOR NATURAL GAS IMBALANCES

Accounting techniques are basically the same whether revenue is generated by selling crude oil
or natural gas. However, joint venture participants usually sell their crude oil collectively but may
individually market and sell their shares of natural gas production. When a joint venture owner
physically takes and sells more or less gas than its entitled share, a “gas imbalance” is created that
is later reversed by an equal, but opposite, imbalance or by settlement in cash.

For example, if two joint venture participants each own 50 percent working interests in a well,
and one company decides to sell gas on the spot market but the other company declines to sell due
to a low spot price (or other factors), the company selling gas will receive 100 percent of revenue
after paying the royalty interests. The selling company is in an overproduced capacity with respect
to the well (the company is entitled to 50 percent of the gas after royalties but had received 100
percent). A gas imbalance can also occur between a gas producer and the gas transmission company
that receives the producer’s gas but delivers a different volume to the producer’s customer.

Gas-producing companies account for gas imbalances under either the sales method or the
entitlements method.

(@) SALES METHOD. Under the sales method, the company recognizes revenue and a receivable
for the volume of gas sold, regardless of ownership of the property. For example, if Company A
owns a 50 percent net revenue interest in a gas property but sells 100 percent of the production in a
given month, the company would recognize 100 percent of the revenue generated. In a subsequent
month, if Company A sells no gas (and the other owners “make up” the imbalance), Company
A would recognize zero revenue. Company A would reduce its estimate of proved reserves for
any future production that it must give up to meet a gas imbalance obligation and increase proved
reserves for any additional future production it has a right to receive from other joint venture
participants to eliminate an existing gas imbalance.
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Although this method is rather simple from a revenue accounting standpoint, it presents other
problems. Regardless of the revenue method chosen, the operator will issue joint interest billing
statements for expenses based on the ownership of the property. Depending on the gas-balancing
situation, the sales method may present a problem with the matching of revenues and expenses in
a period. If a significant imbalance exists at the end of an accounting period, the accountant may
be required to analyze the situation and record additional expenses (or reduce expenses depending
on whether the property is overproduced or underproduced).

(b) ENTITLEMENTS METHOD. Under the entitlements method, the company recognizes rev-
enue based on the volume of sales to which it is entitled by its ownership interest. For example,
if Company A owns a 50 percent net revenue interest but sells 100 percent of the production in
a given month, the company would recognize 50 percent of the revenue generated. Company A
would recognize a receivable for 100 percent of the revenue with the difference being recorded
in a payable (or deferred revenue) account. When the imbalance is corrected, the payable account
will become zero, thus indicating that the property is “in balance.”

This method correctly matches revenues and expenses but presents another accounting issue.
If a property is significantly imbalanced, Company A may find itself in a position that reserves
are insufficient to bring the well back to a balanced condition. If Company A is underproduced
in this situation, a receivable (or deferred charge) may be recorded in the asset category that has
a questionable realization. In addition, the company is really under- or overproduced in terms of
volumes (measured in cubic feet) of gas. A value per cubic foot is assigned based on the sale price
at the period of imbalance. If the price is significantly different when the correction occurs, the
receivable may not show a zero balance in the accounting records.

(c) GAS BALANCING EXAMPLE.

Facts: Company A owns a 50 percent net revenue.
Gas sales for January are 5,000 mcf @ $2.00 per Mcf.
Gas sales for February are 5,000 mcf @ $2.00 per Mcf.
In January, Company A sells 100 percent of gas production to its purchaser.
In February, Company A sells zero gas to its purchaser.

JANUARY ACCOUNTING ENTRIES

Under the Sales Method Debit Credit
Accounts receivable, gas sales $10,000
Gas revenue $10,000
Under the Entitlements Method
Accounts receivable, gas sales $10,000
Gas revenue $ 5,000
Payable $ 5,000

FEBRUARY ACCOUNTING ENTRIES
Under the Sales Method No entries are recorded
Under the Entitlements Method

Payable $ 5,000
Gas revenue $ 5,000

29.6 HARD-ROCK MINING

(@) MINING OPERATIONS. The principal difference between hard-rock mining companies and
companies involved in oil- and gas-producing activities, previously discussed in this chapter, relates
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to the nature, timing, and extent of expenditures incurred for exploration, development, production,
and processing of minerals.

Generally in the mining industry, a period of as long as several years elapses between the time
exploration costs are incurred to discover a commercially viable body of ore and the expenditure of
development costs, which are usually substantial, to complete the project. Therefore, the economic
benefits derived from a project are long term and subject to the uncertainties inherent in the passage
of time. In contrast, the costs related to exploring for deposits of oil and gas are expended generally
over a relatively short time. Major exceptions would be offshore and foreign petroleum exploration
and development.

Like petroleum exploration and production, the mining industry is capital intensive. Substantial
investments in property, plant, and equipment are required; usually they represent more than 50
percent of a mining company’s total assets. The significant capital investments of mining companies
and the related risks inherent in any long-term major project may affect the recoverability of
capitalized costs.

The operational stages in mining companies vary somewhat depending on the type of mineral,
because of differences in geological, chemical, and economic factors. The basic operations common
to mining companies are exploration, development, mining, milling, smelting, and refining.

Exploration is the search for natural accumulations of minerals with economic value. Explo-
ration for minerals is a specialized activity involving the use of complex geophysical and geo-
chemical equipment and procedures. There is an element of financial risk in every decision to
pursue exploration, and explorers generally seek to minimize the costs and increase the probabil-
ity of success. As a result, before any fieldwork begins, extensive studies are made concerning
which types of minerals are to be sought and where they are most likely to occur. Market studies
and forecasts, studies of geological maps and reports, and logistical evaluations are performed to
provide information for use in determining the economic feasibility of a potential project.

Exploration can be divided into two phases, prospecting and geophysical analysis. Prospecting
is the search for geological information over a broad area. It embraces such activities as geological
mapping, analysis of rock types and structures, searches for direct manifestations of mineralization,
taking samples of minerals found, and aeromagnetic surveys. Geophysical analysis is conducted
in specific areas of interest localized during the prospecting phase. Rock and soil samples are
examined, and the earth’s crust is monitored directly for magnetic, gravitational, sonic, radioactive,
and electrical data. Based on the analysis, targets for trenching, test pits, and exploratory drilling
are identified. Drilling is particularly useful in evaluating the shape and character of a deposit.
Analysis of samples is necessary to determine the grade of the deposit.

Once the grade and quantity of the deposit have been estimated, the mining company must
decide whether developing the deposit is technically feasible and commercially viable. The value
of a mineral deposit is determined by the intrinsic value of the minerals present and by the nature
and location of their occurrence. In addition to the grade and quality of the ore, such factors as
the physical accessibility of the deposit, the estimated costs of production, and the value of joint
products and by-products are key elements in the decision to develop a deposit for commercial
exploitation.

The development stage of production involves planning and preparing for commercial operation.
Development of surface mines is relatively straightforward. For open-pit mines, which are surface
mines, the principal procedure is to remove sufficient overburden to expose the ore. For strip
mines, an initial cut is made to expose the mineral to be mined. For underground mines, data
resulting from exploratory drilling is evaluated as a basis for planning the shafts and tunnels that
will provide access to the mineral deposit.

Substantial capital investment in mineral rights, machinery and equipment, and related facilities
generally is required in the development stage.

Mining breaks up the rock and ore to the extent necessary for loading and removal to the
processing location. A variety of mining techniques exists to accomplish this. The drilling and
blasting technique is utilized frequently; an alternative is the continuous mining method, in which
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a boring or tearing machine is mounted on a forward crawler to break the material away from the
rock face.

After removal from the mine site, the ore is ready for milling. The first phase of the milling
stage involves crushing and grinding the chunks of ore to reduce them to particle size. The second
milling procedure is concentration, which involves the separation of the mineral constituents from
the rock.

Smelting is the process of separating the metal from impurities with which it may be chemically
bound or physically mixed too closely to be removed by concentration. Most smelting is accom-
plished through fusion, which is the liquefaction of a metal under heat. In some cases, chemical
processes are used instead of, or in combination with, heating techniques.

Refining is the last step in isolating the metal. The primary methods utilized are fire refining
and electrolytic refining. Fire refining is similar to smelting. The metal is kept in a molten state and
treated with pine logs, hydrocarbon gas, or other substances to enable impurities to be removed.
Fire refining generally does not allow the recovery of by-products. Electrolytic refining uses an
electrical current to separate metals from a solution in such a way that by-products can be recovered.

(b) SOURCES OF GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES. Accounting and
reporting issues in the mining industry are discussed in American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA) Accounting Research Study No. 11, “Financial Reporting in the Extractive
Industries” (1969). In 1976, the FASB issued a discussion memorandum, “Financial Accounting and
Reporting in the Extractive Industries,” which analyzed issues relevant to the extractive industries.
Neither of these attempts, however, culminated in the issuance of an authoritative pronouncement
for mining companies. SFAS No. 19, “Financial Accounting and Reporting by Oil and Gas Pro-
ducing Companies,” established standards of financial accounting and reporting for companies that
are engaged in oil and gas exploration, development, and production activities. As this publication
goes to print, a steering committee of the International Accounting Standards Steering Board has
produced an issues paper as the first stage in the development of international accounting stan-
dards in the mining industry. Absent accounting standards specific to the mining industry, mining
companies rely on the guidance provided by authoritative pronouncements, the specific GAAP
guidance in SFAS No. 19 for natural resource companies engaged in exploration, development,
and production of oil and gas, and the accounting policies followed by mining companies as the
basis for GAAP in the mining industry.

29.7 ACCOUNTING FOR MINING COSTS

(@) EXPLORATION AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS. Exploration and development costs are
major expenditures of mining companies. The characterization of expenditures as exploration,
development, or production usually determines whether such costs are capitalized or expensed.
For accounting purposes, it is useful to identify five basic phases of exploration and develop-
ment: prospecting, property acquisition, geophysical analysis, development before production, and
development during production.

Prospecting usually begins with obtaining (or preparing) and studying topographical and geo-
logical maps. Prospecting costs, which are generally expensed as incurred, include (1) options
to lease or buy property; (2) rights of access to lands for geophysical work; and (3) salaries,
equipment, and supplies for scouts, geologists, and geophysical crews.

Property acquisition includes both the purchase of property and the purchase or lease of mineral
rights. Costs incurred to purchase land (including mineral rights and surface rights) or to lease
mineral rights are capitalized. Acquisition costs may include lease bonus and lease extension costs,
lease brokers commissions, abstract and recording fees, filing and patent fees, and other related
expenses.

Geophysical analysis is conducted to identify mineralization. The related costs are generally
expensed as exploration costs when incurred. Examples of exploration costs include exploratory
drilling, geological mapping, and salaries and supplies for geologists and support personnel.
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A body of ore reaches the development stage when the existence of an economically and legally
recoverable mineral reserve has been established through the completion of a feasibility study. Costs
incurred in the development stage before production begins are capitalized. Development costs
include expenditures associated with drilling, removing overburden (waste rock), sinking shafts,
driving tunnels, building roads and dikes, purchasing processing equipment and equipment used
in developing the mine, and constructing supporting facilities to house and care for the workforce.
In many respects, the expenditures in the development stage are similar to those incurred during
exploration. As a result, it is sometimes difficult to distinguish the point at which exploration ends
and development begins. For example, the sinking of shafts and driving of tunnels may begin in
the exploration stage and continue into the development stage. In most instances, the transition
from the exploration to the development stage is the same for both accounting and tax purposes.

Development also takes place during the production stage. The accounting treatment of devel-
opment costs incurred during the ongoing operation of a mine depends on the nature and purpose
of the expenditures. Costs associated with expansion of capacity are generally capitalized; costs
incurred to maintain production are normally included in production costs in the period in which
they are incurred. In certain instances, the benefits of development activity will be realized in
future periods, such as when the “block caving” and open-pit mining methods are used. In the
block caving method, entire sections of a body of ore are intentionally collapsed to permit the mass
removal of minerals; extraction may take place two to three years after access to the ore is gained
and the block prepared. In an open-pit mine, there is typically an expected ratio of overburden to
mineral-bearing ore over the life of the mine. The cost of stripping the overburden to gain access
to the ore is expensed in those periods in which the actual ratio of overburden to ore approximates
the expected ratio. In certain instances, however, extensive stripping is performed to remove the
overburden in advance of the period in which the ore will be extracted. When the benefits of either
development activity are to be realized in a future accounting period, the costs associated with
the development activity should be deferred and amortized during the period in which the ore is
extracted or the product produced.

SFAS No. 7, “Accounting and Reporting by Development Stage Enterprises” (Accounting Stan-
dards Section D04), states that “an enterprise shall be considered to be in the development stage
if it is devoting substantially all of its efforts to establishing a new business” and “the planned
principal operations have not commenced” or they “have commenced, but there has been no signif-
icant revenue therefrom.” Although SFAS No. 7 specifically excludes mining companies from its
application, the definition of a development stage enterprise is helpful in defining the point in time
at which a mine’s development phase ends and its production phase begins. It is not uncommon
for incidental and/or insignificant mineral production to occur before either economic production
per the mine plan or other commercial basis for measurement is achieved. Expenditures during
this time frame are commonly referred to as costs incurred in the start-up period. Statement of
Position (SOP) 98-5, “Reporting on the Costs of Start-up Activities,” provides guidance for min-
ing companies as to when development stops and commercial operations begin. Start-up activities
are defined broadly in SOP 98-5 as “those one-time activities related to opening a new facility,
introducing a new product or service, conducting business in a new territory, conducting business
with a new class of customer or beneficiary, initiating a new process in an existing facility, or
commencing some new operation.” The SOP precludes the capitalization of start-up costs that
are incurred during the period of insignificant mineral production and before normal productive
capacity is achieved.

(b) PRODUCTION COSTS. When the mine begins production, production costs are expensed.
The capitalized property acquisition, and development costs are recognized as costs of produc-
tion through their depreciation or depletion, generally on the unit-of-production method over the
expected productive life of the mine.

The principal difference between computing depreciation in the mining industry and in other
industries is that useful lives of assets that are not readily movable from a mine site must not exceed
the estimated life of the mine, which in turn is based on the remaining economically recoverable
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ore reserves. In some instances, this may require depreciating certain mining equipment over a
period that is shorter than its physical life.

Depreciation charges are significant because of the highly capital-intensive nature of the indus-
try. Moreover, those charges are affected by numerous factors, such as the physical environment,
revisions of recoverable ore estimates, environmental regulations, and improved technology. In
many instances, depreciation charges on similar equipment with different intended uses may begin
at different times. For example, depreciation of equipment used for exploration purposes may
begin when it is purchased and use has begun, while depreciation of milling equipment may not
begin until a certain level of commercial production has been attained.

Depletion (or depletion and amortization) of property acquisition and development costs related
to a body of ore is calculated in a manner similar to the unit-of-production method of depreciation.
The cost of the body of ore is divided by the estimated quantity of ore reserves or units of metal or
mineral to arrive at the depletion charge per unit. The unit charge is multiplied by the number of
units extracted to arrive at the depletion charge for the period. This computation requires a current
estimate of economically recoverable mineral reserves at the end of the period.

It is often appropriate for different depletion calculations to be made for different types of cap-
italized development expenditures. For instance, one factor to be considered is whether capitalized
costs relate to gaining access to the total economically recoverable ore reserves of the mine or
only to specific portions.

Usually, estimated quantities of economically recoverable mineral reserves are the basis for
computing depletion and amortization under the unit-of-production method. The choice of the
reserve unit is not a problem if there is only one product; if, however, as in many extractive
operations, several products are recovered, a decision must be made whether to measure production
on the basis of the major product or on the basis of an aggregation of all products. Generally, the
reserve base is the company’s total proved and probable ore reserve quantities; it is determined
by specialists, such as geologists or mining engineers. Proved and probable reserves typically are
used as the reserve base because of the degree of uncertainty surrounding estimates of possible
reserves. The imprecise nature of reserve estimates makes it inevitable that the reserve base will
be revised over time as additional data becomes available. Changes in the reserve base should be
treated as changes in accounting estimates in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (APB)
Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes” (Accounting Standards Section A06), and accounted for
prospectively.

(c) INVENTORY. A mining company’s inventory generally has two major components—
(1) metals and minerals and (2) materials and supplies that are used in mining operations.

(i) Metals and Minerals. Metal and mineral inventories usually comprise broken ore; crushed
ore; concentrate; materials in process at concentrators, smelters, and refineries; metal; and joint
and by-products. The usual practice of mining companies is not to recognize metal inventories
for financial reporting purposes before the concentrate stage, that is, until the majority of the
nonmineralized material has been removed from the ore. Thus, ore is not included in inventory
until it has been processed through the concentrator and is ready for delivery to the smelter. This
practice evolved because the amounts of broken ore before the concentrating process ordinarily
are relatively small, and consequently the cost of that ore and of concentrate in process generally
is not significant. Furthermore, the amount of broken ore and concentrate in process is relatively
constant at the end of each month, and the concentrating process is quite rapid—usually a matter
of hours. In the case of leach operations, generally the mineral content of the ore is estimated and
costs are inventoried. However, practice varies, and some companies do not inventory costs until
the leached product is introduced into the electrochemical refinery cells.

Determining inventory quantities during the production process is often difficult. Broken ore,
crushed ore, concentrate, and materials in process may be stored in various ways or enclosed in
vessels or pipes.

Mining companies carry metal inventory at the lower of cost or market value, with cost deter-
mined on a last-in, first out (LIFO), first-in, first out (FIFO), or average basis.
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Valuation of product inventory is also affected by worldwide imbalances between supply and
demand for certain metals. Companies sometimes produce larger quantities of a metal than can be
absorbed by the market. In that situation, management may have to write the inventory down to
its net realizable value; determining that value, however, may be difficult if there is no established
market or only a thin market for the particular metal.

Product costs for mining companies usually reflect all normal and necessary expenditures asso-
ciated with cost centers such as mines, concentrators, smelters, and refineries. Inventory costs
comprise not only direct costs of production, but also an allocation of overhead, including mine
and other plant administrative expenses. Depreciation, depletion, and amortization of capitalized
exploration, and development costs also should be included in inventory.

If a company engages in tolling (described in Subsection 29.8(b)), it may have significant
production inventories on hand that belong to other mining companies. Usually it is not possible to
physically segregate inventories owned by others from similar inventories owned by the company.
Memorandum records of tolling inventories should be maintained and reconciled periodically to
physical counts.

(ii) Materials and Supplies. Materials and supplies usually constitute a substantial portion of
the inventory of most mining companies, sometimes exceeding the value of metal inventories. This
is because a lack of supplies or spare parts could cause the curtailment of operations. In addition to
normal operating supplies, materials and supplies inventories often include such items as fuel and
spare parts for trucks, locomotives, and other machinery. Most mining companies use perpetual
inventory systems to account for materials and supplies because of their high unit value.

Materials and supplies inventories normally are valued at cost minus a reserve for surplus items
and obsolescence.

(d) COMMODITIES, FUTURES TRANSACTIONS. Mining companies usually have significant
inventories of commodities that are traded in worldwide markets, and frequently enter into long-
term forward sales contracts specifying sales prices based on market prices at time of delivery. To
protect themselves from the risk of loss that could result from price declines, mining companies
often “hedge” against price changes by entering into futures contracts. Companies sell contracts
when they expect selling prices to decline or are satisfied with the current price and want to “lock
in” the profit (or loss) on the sale of their inventory. To establish a hedge when it has or expects
to have a commodity (e.g., copper) in inventory, a company sells a contract that commits it to
deliver that commodity in the future at a fixed price.

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” which is
effective for quarters of fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000, requires derivative instru-
ments, including those which qualify as hedges, to be reported on the balance sheet at fair value.
To qualify for hedge accounting, the derivative must satisfy the requirements of a “cash flow
hedge,” “fair value hedge,” or “foreign currency hedge” as defined by SFAS No. 133. The State-
ment provides that certain criteria be met for a derivative to be accounted for as a hedge for
financial reporting purposes. These criteria must be formally documented prior to entering the
transaction and include risk-management objectives and an assessment of hedge effectiveness.
Financial instruments commonly used in the mining industry include forward sales contracts, spot
deferred contracts, purchased puts, and written calls. Additional financial instruments that should
be reviewed for statement applicability include commaodity loans, tolling agreements, take or pay
contracts, and royalty agreements.

(e) RECLAMATION AND REMEDIATION. The mining industry is subject to federal and state
laws for reclamation and restoration of lands after the completion of mining. Historically, costs
to reclaim and restore these lands, which can be defined as asset retirement obligations, were
recognized using a cost accumulation model on an undiscounted basis. For financial reporting
purposes, the environmental and closure expenses and related liabilities were recognized ratably
over the mine life using the units-of-production method. SFAS No.143, “Accounting for Asset
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Retirement Obligations,” which is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002, requires
that an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred. This Statement
defines reclamation of a mine at the end of its productive life to be an obligating event that requires
liability recognition. The asset retirement costs, which include reclamation and closure costs, are
capitalized as a component of the long-lived assets of the mineral property and depreciated over
the mine life using the units-of-production method. This Statement requires that the liability for
these obligations be recorded at its fair value using the guidance in FASB Concepts Statement No.
7, “Using Cash Flow Information and Present Value in Accounting Measurements,” to estimate
that liability. This Statement also requires that the liability be discounted and accretion expense be
recognized using the credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate in effect at recognition date.

Environmental contamination and hazardous waste disposal and clean up is regulated by the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (RCRA) and the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA or Superfund). SOP 96-1, “Envi-
ronmental Remediation Liabilities,” provides accounting guidance for the accrual and disclosure
of environmental remediation liabilities. This Statement requires that environmental remediation
liabilities be accrued when the criteria of FASB No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” have been
met. However, if the environmental remediation liability is incurred as a result of normal mining
operations and relates to the retirement of the mining assets, the provisions of SFAS No. 143
probably apply.

() SHUTDOWN OF MINES. \olatile metal prices may make active operations uneconomical
from time to time, and, as a result, mining companies will shut down operations, either temporarily
or permanently. When operations are temporarily shut down, a question arises as to the carrying
value of the related assets. If a long-term diminution in the value of the assets has occurred, a write-
down of the carrying value to net realizable value should be recorded. This decision is extremely
judgmental and depends on projections of whether viable mining operations can ever be resumed.
Those projections are based on significant assumptions as to prices, production, quantities, and
costs; because most minerals are worldwide commodities, the projections must take into account
global supply and demand factors.

When operations are temporarily shut down, the related facilities usually are placed in a “standby
mode” that provides for care and maintenance so that the assets will be retained in a reasonable
condition that will facilitate resumption of operations. Care and maintenance costs are usually
recorded as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. Examples of typical care and
maintenance costs are security, preventive and protective maintenance, and depreciation.

A temporary shutdown of a mining company’s facility can raise questions as to whether the
company can continue as a going concern.

(8 ACCOUNTING FOR THE IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS. SFAS No. 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed
Of,” provided definitive guidance on when the carrying amount of long-lived assets should be
reviewed for impairment. Long-lived assets of a mining company, for example, plant and equipment
and capitalized development costs, should be reviewed for recoverability when events or changes
in circumstances indicate that carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For mining companies,
factors such as decreasing commodity prices, reductions in mineral recoveries, increasing operating
and environmental costs, and reductions in mineral reserves are events and circumstances that may
indicate an asset impairment. SFAS No. 121 also established a common methodology for assessing
and measuring the impairment of long-lived assets. SFAS No. 144, which is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2001, supercedes SFAS No. 121 but retains the fundamental
recognition and measurement provisions of SFAS No. 121. This Statement addresses significant
issues relating to the implementation of SFAS No. 121 and develops a single accounting model,
based on the framework established in SFAS No. 121, for long-lived assets to be disposed of by
sale, whether previously held and used or newly acquired. This Statement defines impairment as
“the condition that exists when the carrying amount of a long-lived asset (asset group) exceeds
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its fair value.” An impairment loss is reported only if the carrying amount of the long-lived asset
(asset group) (1) is not recoverable, that is, if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows
expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset (asset group), assessed based
on the carrying amount of the asset in use or under development when it is tested for recoverability,
and (2) exceeds the fair value of the asset (asset group).

For mining companies, the cash flows should be based on the proven and probable reserves that
are used in the calculation of depreciation, depletion, and amortization. The estimates of cash flows
should be based on reasonable and supportable assumptions. For example, the use of commodity
prices other than the spot price would be permissible if such prices were based on futures prices
in the commodity markets. If an impairment loss is warranted, the revised carrying amount of the
asset, which is based on the discounted cash flow model, is the new cost basis to be depreciated
over its remaining useful life. A previously recognized impairment loss may not be restored.

29.8 ACCOUNTING FOR MINING REVENUES

(@) SALES OF MINERALS. Generally, minerals are not sold in the raw-ore stage because of the
insignificant quantity of minerals relative to the total volume of waste rock. (There are, however,
some exceptions, such as iron ore and coal.) The ore is usually milled at or near the mine site to
produce a concentrate containing a significantly higher percentage of mineral content. For example,
the metal content of copper concentrate typically is 25—-30 percent, as opposed to between. 5 and
1 percent for the raw ore. The concentrate is frequently sold to other processors; occasionally
mining companies exchange concentrate to reduce transportation costs. After the refining process,
metallic minerals may be sold as finished metals, either in the form of products for remelting by
final users (e.g., pig iron or cathode copper) or as finished products (e.g., copper rod or aluminum
foil).

Sales of raw ore and concentrate entail determining metal content based initially on estimated
weights, moisture content, and ore grade. Those estimates are subsequently revised, based on the
actual metal content recovered from the raw ore or concentrate.

The SEC has provided guidance for revenue recognition under GAAP in SAB No. 101, which
was issued in December 1999. The staff noted that accounting literature on revenue recognition
included both conceptual discussions and industry-specific guidance. SAB No. 101 provides a
summary of the staff’s views on revenue recognition and should be evaluated by mining companies
in recording revenues. Revenue should be recognized when the following conditions are met:

e A contractual agreement exists (a documented understanding between the buyer and seller as
to the nature and terms of the agreed-upon transaction).

Delivery of the product has occurred (FOB shipping) or the services have been rendered.
The price of the product is fixed or determinable.
e Collection of the receivable for the product sold or services rendered is reasonably assured.

For revenue to be recognized, it is important that the buyer has to have taken title to the mineral
product and assumed the risks and rewards of ownership.

Sales prices are often based on the market price on a commodity exchange such as the New
York Commodity Exchange (COMEX) or London Metal Exchange (LME) at the time of delivery,
which may differ from the market price of the metal at the time that the criteria for revenue
recognition have been satisfied. Revenue may be recognized on these sales based on a provisional
pricing mechanism, the spot price of the metal at the date on which revenue recognition criteria
have been satisfied. The estimated sales price and related receivable should be subsequently marked
to market through revenue based on the commodity exchange spot price until the final settlement.
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(b) TOLLING AND ROYALTY REVENUES. Companies with smelters and refineries may also
realize revenue from tolling, which is the processing of metal-bearing materials of other mining
companies for a fee. The fee is based on numerous factors, including the weight and metal content
of the materials processed. Normally, the processed minerals are returned to the original producer
for subsequent sale. To supplement the recovery of fixed costs, companies with smelters and
refineries frequently enter into tolling agreements when they have excess capacity.

For a variety of reasons, companies may not wish to mine certain properties that they own.
Mineral royalty agreements may be entered into that provide for royalties based on a percentage
of the total value of the mineral or of gross revenue, to be paid when the minerals extracted from
the property are sold.

The accounting for commodity futures contracts depends on whether the contract qualifies as
a hedge under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”
In order to qualify for hedging of mineral reserves, management will be required to determine
how it measures hedge effectiveness and to formally document the hedging relationship and the
entity’s risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. Such documentation
will include identification of the hedging instrument, the related hedged item, the nature of the risk
being hedged, and how the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes
in the hedged item’s fair value attributable to the hedged risk will be assessed. See Chapter 26 for
a complete discussion of the requirements for hedge accounting.

29.9 SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL STATEMENT
INFORMATION —ORE RESERVES

SFAS No. 89, “Financial Reporting and Changing Prices” (Accounting Standards Section C28),
eliminated the requirement that certain publicly traded companies meeting specified size criteria
must disclose the effects of changing prices and supplemental disclosures of ore reserves. However,
Item 102 of SEC Regulation S-K requires that publicly traded mining companies present infor-
mation related to production, reserves, locations, developments, and the nature of the registrant’s
interest in properties.

29.10 ACCOUNTING FOR INCOME TAXES

Chapter 24 addresses general accounting for income taxes. Tax accounting for oil and gas produc-
tion as well as hard rock mining is particularly complex and cannot be fully covered in this chapter.
However, two special deductions need to be mentioned—percentage depletion and immediate
deduction of certain development costs.

Many petroleum and mining production companies are allowed to calculate depletion as the
greater of cost depletion or percentage depletion. Cost depletion is based on amortization of property
acquisition costs over estimated recoverable reserves. Percentage depletion is a statutory depletion
deduction that is a specified percentage of gross revenue at the well-head (15 percent for oil and
gas) or mine for the particular mineral produced and is limited to a portion of the property’s
taxable income before deducting such depletion. Percentage depletion may exceed the depletable
cost basis.

For purposes of computing the taxable income from the mineral property, gross income is
defined as the value of the mineral before the application of nonmining processes. Selling price is
generally determined to be the gross value for tax purposes when the mineral products are sold to
third parties prior to nonmining processes. For an integrated mining company where nonmining
processes are used, gross income for the mineral is generally determined under a proportionate
profits method whereby an allocation of profit is made based on the mining and nonmining costs
incurred.
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For both petroleum and mining companies, exploration and development costs other than
for equipment are largely deductible when incurred. However, the major integrated petroleum
companies and mining companies must capitalize a percentage of these exploration and devel-
opment expenditures, which are then amortized over a period of 60 months. Mining compa-
nies must recapture the previously deducted exploration costs if the mineral property achieves
commercial production. Property impairments, which are expensed currently for financial report-
ing purposes, do not generate a taxable deduction until such property is abandoned, sold, or
exchanged.

29.11 FINANCIAL STATEMENT DISCLOSURES

The SFAS No. 69 details supplementary disclosure requirements for the oil and gas industry, most
of which are required only by public companies. Both public and nonpublic companies, however,
must provide a description of the accounting method followed and the manner of disposing of
capitalized costs. Audited financial statements filed with the SEC must include supplementary
disclosures, which fall into four categories:

Historical cost data relating to acquisition, exploration, development, and production activity.
Results of operations for oil- and gas-producing activities.
Proved reserve quantities.

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved oil and gas
reserve quantities (also known as SMOG [standardized measure of oil and gas]). For foreign
operations, SMOG also relates to produced quantities subject to certain long-term purchase
contracts held by a party involved in producing the quantities.

H>wnh e

The supplementary disclosures are required of companies with significant oil- and gas-producing
activities; significant is defined as 10 percent or more of revenue, operating results, or identifiable
assets. The Statement provides that the disclosures are to be provided as supplemental data; thus
they need not be audited. The disclosure requirements are described in detail in the Statement,
and examples are provided in an appendix to SFAS No. 69. If the supplemental information
is not audited, it must be clearly labeled as unaudited. However, auditing interpretations (Au
Section 9558) require the financial statement auditor to perform certain limited procedures to these
required, unaudited supplementary disclosures.

Proved reserves are inherently imprecise because of the uncertainties and limitations of the data
available.

Most large companies and many medium-sized companies have qualified engineers on their
staffs to prepare oil and gas reserve studies. Many also use outside consultants to make independent
reviews. Other companies, which do not have sufficient operations to justify a full-time engineer,
engage outside engineering consultants to evaluate and estimate their oil and gas reserves. Usually,
reserve studies are reviewed and updated at least annually to take into account new discoveries
and adjustments of previous estimates.

The standardized measure is disclosed as of the end of the fiscal year. The SMOG reflects
future revenues computed by applying unescalated, year-end oil and gas prices to year-end proved
reserves. Future price changes may only be considered if fixed and determinable under year-end
sales contracts. The calculated future revenues are reduced for estimated future development costs,
production costs, and related income taxes (using unescalated, year-end cost rates) to compute
future net cash flows. Such cash flows, by future year, are discounted at a standard 10 percent per
annum to compute the standardized measure.

Significant sources of the annual changes in the year-end standardized measure and year-end
proved oil and gas reserves should be disclosed.
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(@) OVERVIEW. Real estate encompasses a variety of interests (developers, investors, lenders,
tenants, homeowners, corporations, conduits, etc.) with a divergence of objectives (tax benefits,
security, long-term appreciation, etc.). The industry is also a tool of the federal government’s
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income tax policies (evidenced by the rules on mortgage interest deductions and restrictions on
“passive” investment deductions). The real estate industry consists primarily of private developers
and builders.

Other important forces in the industry include pension funds and insurance companies and
large corporations, whose occupancy (real estate) costs generally are the second largest costs after
personnel costs.

After a decade of growth spurred by steadily falling interest rates in an expanding economy, the
new millennium brought in its wake a series of traumatic events that highlighted the uncertainties
inherent in the real estate industry:

e Collapse of the dot-coms. The sudden rise and dramatic collapse of the Internet-related econ-
omy delivered the first shock to real estate markets since the banks scandals of the 1980s. A
seller’s market was turned on end as rapid retrenchment left behind a glut of office space.

e The attacks on the World Trade Center and the Pentagon. The attacks dealt a hard blow to
an already declining economy and real estate market. It exposed the vulnerability of the
United States to terrorist attacks and made planning for such attacks a central part of real
estate management. It was followed by a sharp rise in unemployment and severe weakness in
financial markets. It also called into question long time practices of concentrating corporate
functions and resources in one location.

e Enron. The collapse of Enron led investors and regulators to seriously question the use of off-
balance sheet financing vehicles, such as conduits and synthetic leasing, which had become
the darlings of Wall Street financiers, growing to more than $5.2 trillion over the last 30 years.

Overbuilding, accounting reform, terrorist threats, and weak markets will continue to plague
the recovery of many real estate markets. The sources and extent of available capital for financings
and construction will be a concern. This concern will be centered on the ability and willingness
of financing institutions to continue lending in an uncertain market, and lenders will increasingly
require creditworthiness or enhancements to reduce to their exposure to real estate risk.

30.2 SALES OF REAL ESTATE

(@) ANALYSIS OF TRANSACTIONS. Real estate sales transactions are generally material to
the entity’s financial statements. “Is the earnings process complete?” is the primary question that
must be answered regarding such sales. In other words, assuming a legal sale, have the risks and
rewards of ownership been transferred to the buyer?

(b) ACCOUNTING BACKGROUND. Prior to 1982, guidance related to real estate sales trans-
actions was contained in two American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Account-
ing Guides: “Accounting for Retail Land Sales” and “Accounting for Profit Recognition on Sales
of Real Estate.” These guides had been supplemented by several AICPA Statements of Position
that provided interpretations

In October 1982, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 66, “Accounting
for Sales of Real Estate,” was issued as part of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
project to incorporate, where appropriate, AICPA Accounting Guides into FASB Statements. This
Statement adopted the specialized profit recognition principles of the above guides.

The FASB formed the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) in 1984 for the early identification of
emerging issues. The EITF has dealt with many issues affecting the real estate industry, including
issues that clarify or address SFAS No. 66.

Regardless of the seller’s business, SFAS No. 66 covers all sales of real estate, determines
the timing of the sale and resultant profit recognition, and deals with seller accounting only. This
Statement does not discuss nonmonetary exchanges, cost accounting, and most lease transactions
or disclosures.
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The two primary concerns under SFAS No. 66 are:

1. Has a sale occurred?
2. Under what method and when should profit be recognized?

The concerns are answered by determining the buyer’s initial and continuing investment and the
nature and extent of the seller’s continuing involvement. The guidelines used in determining these
criteria are complex and, within certain provisions, arbitrary. Companies dealing with these types
of transactions are often faced with the difficult task of analyzing the exact nature of a transaction
in order to determine the appropriate accounting approach. Only with a thorough understanding
of the details of a transaction can the accountant perform the analysis required to decide on the
appropriate accounting method.

(c) CRITERIA FOR RECORDING A SALE. SFAS No. 66 (pars. 44-50) discussed separate rules
for retail land sales (see Subsection 30.2(h)). The following information is for all real estate sales
other than retail land sales. To determine whether profit recognition is appropriate, a test must first
be made to determine whether a sale may be recorded. Then additional tests are made related to
the buyer’s investment and the seller’s continued involvement.

Generally, real estate sales should not be recorded prior to closing. Since an exchange is
generally required to recognize profit, a sale must be consummated. A sale is consummated when
all the following conditions have been met:

e The parties are bound by the terms of a contract.

o All consideration has been exchanged.

e Any permanent financing for which the seller is responsible has been arranged.
o All conditions precedent to closing have been performed.

Usually all those conditions are met at the time of closing. On the other hand, they are not usually
met at the time of a contract to sell or a preclosing.

Exceptions to the “conditions precedent to closing” have been specifically provided for in SFAS
No. 66. They are applicable where a sale of property includes a requirement for the seller to perform
future construction or development. Under certain conditions, partial sale recognition is permitted
during the construction process because the construction period is extended. This exception usually
is not applicable to single-family detached housing because of the shorter construction period.

Transactions that should not be treated as sales for accounting purposes because of continuing
seller’s involvement include the following:

e The seller has an option or obligation to repurchase the property.

The seller guarantees return of the buyer’s investment.

o The seller retains an interest as a general partner in a limited partnership and has a significant
receivable.

e The seller is required to initiate or support operations or continue to operate the property at
its own risk for a specified period or until a specified level of operations has been obtained.

If the criteria for recording a sale are not met, the deposit, financing, lease, or profit sharing
(co-venture) methods should be used, depending on the substance of the transaction.

(d) ADEQUACY OF DOWN PAYMENT. Once it has been determined that a sale can be
recorded, the next test relates to the buyer’s investment. For the seller to record full profit recog-
nition, the buyer’s down payment must be adequate in size and in composition.
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(i) Size of Down Payment. The minimum down payment requirement is one of the most
important provisions in SFAS No. 66. Appendix A of this pronouncement, reproduced here as
Exhibit 30.1, lists minimum down payments ranging from 5 percent to 25 percent of sales value
based on usual loan limits for various types of properties. These percentages should be considered
as specific requirements because it was not intended that exceptions be made. Additionally, EITF
Consensus No. 88-24, “Effect of Various Forms of Financing under FASB Statement No. 66,”
discusses the impact of the source and nature of the buyer’s down payment on profit recognition.
Exhibit A to EITF No. 88-24 has been reproduced here as Exhibit 30.2.

If a newly placed permanent loan or firm permanent loan commitment for maximum financing
exists, the minimum down payment must be the higher of (1) the amount derived from Appendix A

Minimum Initial
Investment
Payment Expressed
as a Percentage of

Sales Value
Land:
Held for commercial, industrial, or residential development to commence
within two years after sale 20%
Held for commercial, industrial, or residential development after two years 25%
Commercial and industrial property:
Office and industrial buildings, shopping centers, and so forth:
Properties subject to lease on a long-term lease basis to parties having
satisfactory credit rating; cash flow currently sufficient to service all
Indebtedness 10%
Single-tenancy properties sold to a user having a satisfactory credit rating 15%
All other 20%
Other income-producing properties (hotels, motels, marinas, mobile home
parks, and so forth):
Cash flow currently sufficient to service all indebtedness 15%
Start-up situations or current deficiencies in cash flow 25%
Multifamily residential property:
Primary residence:
Cash flow currently sufficient to service all indebtedness 10%
Start-up situations or current deficiencies in cash flow 15%
Secondary or recreational residence:
Cash flow currently sufficient to service all indebtedness 10%
Start-up situations or current deficiencies in cash flow 25%
Single-family residential property (including condominium or cooperative
housing)
Primary residence of buyer 5%?
Secondary or recreational residence 10%*

2As set forth in Appendix A of SFAS No. 66, if collectibility of the remaining portion of the sales price
cannot be supported by reliable evidence of collection experience, the minimum initial investment
shall be at least 60% of the difference between the sales value and the financing available from loans
guaranteed by regulatory bodies, such as the FHA or the VA, or from independent financial institutions.
This 60% test applies when independent first mortgage financing is not utilized and the seller
takes a receivable from the buyer for the difference between the sales value and the initial investment.
If independent first mortgage financing is utilized, the adequacy of the initial investment on sales of
single-family residential property should be determined as described in Subsection 30.2(d) (i).

Exhibit 30.1 Minimum initial investment requirements. (Source: SFAS No. 66, “Accounting for Sales
of Real Estate”” (Appendix A), FASB, 1982. Reprinted with permission of FASB.)
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Components of Cash Received

Cash by Seller at Closing Assumption
Received Buyer’s Buyer’s of Seller’s
by Seller Initial Independent Nonrecourse
Situation at Closing Investment First Mortgage Mortgage
1. 100 20 80
2. 100 0 100
3. 20 20 80
4. 0 0 100
5. 20 20
6. 20 20
7. 80 20 60
8. 20 20 60
9. 20 20
10. 0 0
11. 0 0
12. 0 0
13. 80 0 80
14. 10 10
15. 10 10
16. 90 10 80
17. 10 10 80
18. 10 10

Assumptions:

Sales price: $100.

Seller’s basis in property sold: $70.

Initial investment requirement: 20%.

All mortgage obligations meet the continuing investment requirements of Statement 66.

Exhibit 30.2 Examples of the application of the EITF consensus on Issue No. 88-24. Source: EITF Issue
No. 88-24, “Effect of Various Forms of Financing under FASB Statement No. 66" (Exhibit
88-24A), FASB, 1988. (Reprinted with permission of FASB.)

or (2) the excess of sales value over 115 percent of the new financing. However, regardless of
this test, a down payment of 25 percent of the sales value of the property is usually considered
sufficient to justify the recognition of profit at the time of sale.

An example of the down payment test—Appendix A compared to the newly placed permanent
loan test—is given in the following:

ASSUMPTIONS

Initial payment made by the buyer to the seller on sale of an

apartment building $ 200,000
First mortgage recently issued and assumed by the buyer 1,000,000
Second mortgage given by the buyer to the seller at prevailing

interest rate 200,000
Stated sales price and sales value $1,400,000
115% of first mortgage (1.15 x $1,000,000) 1,150,000
Down payment necessary $ 250,000
REsULT

Although the down payment required under Appendix A is only $140,000 (10% of $1,400,000), the
$200,000 actual down payment is inadequate because the test relating to the newly placed first mortgage
requires $250,000.
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Assumption Recognition Profit Recognized at Date of Sale’
of Seller’s under
Seller Recourse Consensus Full Cost
Financing' Mortgage? Paragraph Accrual Installment Recovery
#1 30
#1 30
#1 30
#1 30
80(1) #2 30
80 #2 30
20(2) #2 30
20(2) #2 30
20(2) 60 #2 30
100 #3 0 0
100(1) #3 0 0
20(2) 80 #3 0 0
20(2) #3 10 10
90(1) #3 3 0
90 #3 3 0
10(2) #3 20 20
10(2) #3 20 20
10(2) 80 #3 3 0

'First or second mortgage indicated in parentheses.
2Seller remains contingently liable.

3The profit recognized under the reduced profit method is dependent on various interest rates and
payment terms. An example is not presented due to the complexity of those factors and the belief that this
method is not frequently used in practice. Under this method, the profit recognized at the consummation
of the sale would be less than under the full accrual method, but normally more than the amount under
the installment method.

Exhibit 30.2 Continued.

The down payment requirements must be related to sales value, as described in SFAS No. 66
(par. 7). Sales value is the stated sales price increased or decreased for other consideration that
clearly constitutes additional proceeds on the sale, services without compensation, imputed interest,
and so forth.

Consideration payable for development work or improvements that are the responsibility of the
seller should be included in the computation of sales value.

(i) Composition of Down Payment. The primary acceptable down payment is cash, but addi-
tional acceptable forms of down payment are:

o Notes from the buyer (only when supported by irrevocable letters of credit from an indepen-
dent established lending institution)

e Cash payments by the buyer to reduce previously existing indebtedness

e Cash payments that are in substance additional sales proceeds, such as prepaid interest that
by the terms of the contract is applied to amounts due the seller

Examples of other forms of down payment that are not acceptable are:
e Other noncash consideration received by the seller, such as notes from the buyer without

letters of credit or marketable securities. Noncash consideration constitutes down payment
only at the time it is converted into cash.
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e Funds that have been or will be loaned to the buyer builder/developer for acquisition, con-
struction, or development purposes or otherwise provided directly or indirectly by the seller.
Such amounts must first be deducted from the down payment in determining whether the
down payment test has been met. An exemption from this requirement was provided in
paragraph 115 of SFAS No. 66, which states that if a future loan on normal terms from a
seller who is also an established lending institution bears a fair market interest rate and the
proceeds of the loan are conditional on use for specific development of or construction on
the property, the loan need not be subtracted in determining the buyer’s investment.

Funds received from the buyer from proceeds of priority loans on the property. Such funds
have not come from the buyer and therefore do not provide assurance of collectibility of the
remaining receivable; such amounts should be excluded in determining the adequacy of the
down payment. In addition, EITF Consensus No. 88-24 provides guidelines on the impact
that the source and nature of the buyer’s initial investment can have on profit recognition.
Marketable securities or other assets received as down payment will constitute down payment
only at the time they are converted to cash.

Cash payments for prepaid interest that are not in substance additional sales proceeds.

Cash payments by the buyer to others for development or construction of improvements to
the property.

(iii) Inadequate Down Payment. If the buyer’s down payment is inadequate, the accrual method
of accounting is not appropriate, and the deposit, installment, or cost recovery method of accounting
should be used.

When the sole consideration (in addition to cash) received by the seller is the buyer’s assumption
of existing nonrecourse indebtedness, a sale could be recorded and profit recognized if all other
conditions for recognizing a sale were met. If, however, the buyer assumes recourse debt and the
seller remains liable on the debt, he has a risk of loss comparable to the risk involved in holding
a receivable from the buyer, and the accrual method would not be appropriate.

EITF Consensus No. 88-24 states that the initial and continuing investment requirements for the
full accrual method of profit recognition of SFAS No. 66 are applicable unless the seller receives
one of the following as the full sales value of the property:

e Cash, without any seller contingent liability on any debt on the property incurred or assumed
by the buyer
e The buyer’s assumption of the seller’s existing nonrecourse debt on the property

e The buyer’s assumption of all recourse debt on the property with the complete release of the
seller from those obligations

e Any combination of such cash and debt assumption

(e) RECEIVABLE FROM THE BUYER. Even if the required down payment is made, a number
of factors must be considered by the seller in connection with a receivable from the buyer. They
include:

Collectibility of the receivable

e Buyer’s continuing investment—amortization of receivable
Future subordination

o Release provisions

Imputation of interest

(i) Assessment of Collectibility of Receivable. Collectibility of the receivable must be reason-
ably assured and should be assessed in light of factors such as the credit standing of the buyer
(if recourse), cash flow from the property, and the property’s size and geographical location. This
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requirement may be particularly important when the receivable is relatively short term and col-
lectibility is questionable because the buyer will be required to obtain financing. Furthermore, a
basic principle of real estate sales on credit is that the receivable must be adequately secured by
the property sold.

(ii) Amortization of Receivable. Continuing investment requirements for full profit recognition
require that the buyer’s payments on its total debt for the purchase price must be at least equal to
level annual payments (including principal and interest) based on amortization of the full amount
over a maximum term of 20 years for land and over the customary term of a first mortgage by
an independent established lending institution for other property. The annual payments must begin
within one year of recording the sale and, to be acceptable, must meet the same composition test
as used in determining adequacy of down payments. The customary term of a first mortgage loan
is usually considered to be the term of a new loan (or the term of an existing loan placed in recent
years) from an independent financial lending institution.

All indebtedness on the property need not be reduced proportionately. However, if the seller’s
receivable is not being amortized, realization may be in question and the collectibility must be
more carefully assessed. Lump-sum (balloon) payments do not affect the amortization requirement
as long as the scheduled amortization is within the maximum period and the minimum annual
amortization tests are met.

For example, if the customary term of the mortgage by an independent lender required amor-
tizing payments over a period of 25 years, then the continuing investment requirement would be
based on such an amortization schedule. If the terms of the receivable required principal and inter-
est payments on such a schedule only for the first five years with a balloon at the end of year 5,
the continuing investment requirements are met. In such cases, however, the collectibility of the
balloon payment should be carefully assessed.

If the amortization requirements for full profit recognition as set forth above are not met, a
reduced profit may be recognized by the seller if the annual payments are at least equal to the
total of:

e Annual level payments of principal and interest on a maximum available first mortgage
e Interest at an appropriate rate on the remaining amount payable by the buyer

The reduced profit is determined by discounting the receivable from the buyer to the present
value of the lowest level of annual payments required by the sales contract excluding requirements
to pay lump sums. The present value is calculated using an appropriate interest rate, but not less
than the rate stated in the sales contract.

The amount calculated would be used as the value of the receivable for the purpose of deter-
mining the reduced profit. The calculation of reduced profit is illustrated in Exhibit 30.3.

The requirements for amortization of the receivable are applied cumulatively at the closing date
(date of recording the sale for accounting purposes) and annually thereafter. Any excess of down
payment received over the minimum required is applied toward the amortization requirements.

(iii) Receivable Subject to Future Subordination. If the receivable is subject to future sub-
ordination to a future loan available to the buyer, profit recognition cannot exceed the amount
determined under the cost recovery method (see Subsection 30.2(j)(iii)) unless proceeds of the
loan are first used to reduce the seller’s receivable. Although this accounting treatment is con-
troversial, the cost recovery method is required because collectibility of the sales price is not
reasonably assured. The future subordination would permit the primary lender to obtain a prior
lien on the property, leaving only a secondary residual value for the seller, and future loans could
indirectly finance the buyer’s initial cash investment. Future loans would include funds received
by the buyer arising from a permanent loan commitment existing at the time of the transaction
unless such funds were first applied to reduce the seller’s receivable as provided for in the terms
of the sale.
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Assumptions:

Down payment (meets applicable tests) $ 150,000
First mortgage note from independent lender at market rate of
interest (new, 20 years—meets required amortization) 750, 000

Second mortgage notes payable to seller, interest at a market
rate is due annually, with principal due at the end of the 25th

year (the term exceeds the maximum permitted) 100,000
Stated selling price $1,000, 000

Adjustment required in valuation of receivable from buyer:

Second mortgage payable to seller $100,000
Less: present value of 20 years annual interest payments on
second mortgage (lowest level of annual payments over

customary term of first mortgage—thus 20 years not 25) 70,000 30,000
Adjusted sales value for profit recognition $ 970,000

The sales value as well as profit is reduced by $30,000.
In some situations profit will be entirely eliminated by this calculation.

Exhibit 30.3 Calculation of reduced profit.

The cost recovery method is not required if the receivable is subordinate to a previous mortgage
on the property existing at the time of sale.

(iv) Release Provisions. Some sales transactions have provisions releasing portions of the prop-
erty from the liens securing the debt as partial payments are made. In this situation, full profit
recognition is acceptable only if the buyer must make, at the time of each release, cumulative
payments that are adequate in relation to the sales value of property not released.

(v) Imputation of Interest. ~Careful attention should be given to the necessity for imputation of
interest under Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 21, “Interest on Receivables and
Payables,” since it could have a significant effect on the amount of profit or loss recognition. As
stated in the first paragraph of APB Opinion No. 21: “The use of an interest rate that varies from
prevailing interest rates warrants evaluation of whether the face amount and the stated interest
rate of a note or obligation provide reliable evidence for properly recording the exchange and
subsequent related interest.”

If imputation of interest is necessary, the mortgage note receivable should be adjusted to its
present value by discounting all future payments on the notes using an imputed rate of interest at the
prevailing rates available for similar financing with independent financial institutions. A distinction
must be made between first and second mortgage loans because the appropriate imputed rate for
a second mortgage would normally be significantly higher than the rate for a first mortgage loan.
It may be necessary to obtain independent valuations to assist in the determination of the proper
rate.

(vi) Inadequate Continuing Investment. If the criteria for recording a sale have been met but
the tests related to the collectibility of the receivable as set forth herein are not met, the accrual
method of accounting is not appropriate and the installment or cost recovery method of accounting
should be used. These methods are discussed in Subsection 30.2(j) of this chapter.

(f) SELLER’S CONTINUED INVOLVEMENT. A seller sometimes continues to be involved
over long periods of time with property legally sold. This involvement may take many forms
such as participation in future profits, financing, management services, development, construction,
guarantees, and options to repurchase. With respect to profit recognition when a seller has continued
involvement, the two key principles are as follows:
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1. A sales contract should not be accounted for as a sale if the seller’s continued involvement
with the property includes the same kinds of risk as does ownership of property.

2. Profit recognition should follow performance and in some cases should be postponed com-
pletely until a later date.

(i) Participation Solely in Future Profits. A sale of real estate may include or be accompanied
by an agreement that provides for the seller to participate in future operating profits or residual
values. As long as the seller has no further obligations or risk of loss, profit recognition on the
sale need not be deferred. A receivable from the buyer is permitted if the other tests for profit
recognition are met, but no costs can be deferred.

(ii) Option or Obligation to Repurchase the Property. If the seller has an option or obligation
to repurchase property (including a buyer’s option to compel the seller to repurchase), a sale
cannot be recognized (SFAS No. 66, par. 26). However, neither a commitment by the seller to
assist or use his best efforts (with appropriate compensation) on a resale nor a right of first refusal
based on a bona fide offer by a third party would preclude sale recognition. The accounting to be
followed depends on the repurchase terms. EITF Consensus No. 86-6 discusses accounting for a
sale transaction when antispeculation clauses exist. A consensus was reached that the contingent
option would not preclude sale recognition if the probability of buyer noncompliance is remote.

When the seller has an obligation or an option that is reasonably expected to be exercised to
repurchase the property at a price higher than the total amount of the payments received and to
be received, the transaction is a financing arrangement and should be accounted for under the
financing method. If the option is not reasonably expected to be exercised, the deposit method is
appropriate.

In the case of a repurchase obligation or option at a lower price, the transaction usually is,
in substance, a lease or is part lease, part financing and should be accounted for under the lease
method. Where an option to repurchase is at a market price to be determined in the future, the
transaction should be accounted for under the deposit method or the profit-sharing method.

(iii) General Partner in a Limited Partnership with a Significant Receivable. When the seller
is a general partner in a limited partnership and has a significant receivable related to the property,
the transaction would not qualify as a sale. It should usually be accounted for as a profit-sharing
arrangement. A significant receivable is one that is in excess of 15 percent of the maximum first
lien financing that could be obtained from an established lending institution for the property sold.

(iv) Lack of Permanent Financing. The buyer’s investment in the property cannot be evaluated
until adequate permanent financing at an acceptable cost is available to the buyer. If the seller must
obtain or provide this financing, obtaining the financing is a prerequisite to a sale for accounting
purposes. Even if not required to do so, the seller may be presumed to have such an obligation
if the buyer does not have financing and the collectibility of the receivable is questionable. The
deposit method is appropriate if lack of financing is the only impediment to recording a sale.

(v) Guaranteed Return of Buyer’s Investment. SFAS No. 66 (par. 28) states: “If the seller
guarantees return of the buyer’s investment, . . . the transaction shall be accounted for as a financing,
leasing, or profit-sharing arrangement.”

Accordingly, if the terms of a transaction are such that the buyer may expect to recover the
initial investment through assured cash returns, subsidies, and net tax benefits, even if the buyer
were to default on debt to the seller, the transaction is probably not in substance a sale.

(vi) Other Guaranteed Returns on Investment—Other than Sale-Leaseback. When the seller
guarantees cash returns on the buyer’s investment, the accounting method to be followed depends
on whether the guarantee is for an extended or limited period and whether the seller’s expected
cost of the guarantee is determinable.
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Extended Period. SFAS No. 66 states that when the seller contractually guarantees cash returns
on investments to the buyer for an extended period, the transaction should be accounted for as a
financing, leasing, or profit-sharing arrangement. An “extended period” was not defined but should
at least include periods that are not limited in time or specified lengthy periods, such as more than
five years.

Limited Period. If the guarantee of a return on the buyer’s investment is for a limited period,
SFAS No. 66 indicates that the deposit method of accounting should be used until such time as
operation of the property covers all operating expenses, debt service, and contractual payments. At
that time, profit should be recognized based on performance (see Subsection 30.2(j)). A “limited
period” was not defined but is believed to relate to specified shorter periods, such as five years or
less.

Irrespective of the above, if the guarantee is determinable or limited, sale and profit recognition
may be appropriate if reduced by the maximum exposure to loss as described below.

Guarantee Amount Determinable.  If the amount can be reasonably estimated, the seller should
record the guarantee as a cost at the time of sale, thus either reducing the profit or increasing the
loss on the transaction.

Guarantee Amount Not Determinable. If the amount cannot be reasonably estimated, the
transaction is probably in substance a profit-sharing or co-venture arrangement.

Guarantee Amount Not Determinable But Limited. If the amount cannot be reasonably esti-
mated but a maximum cost of the guarantee is determinable, the seller may record the maximum
cost of the guarantee as a cost at the time of sale, thus either reducing the profit or increas-
ing the loss on the transaction. Alternatively, the seller may account for the transaction as if the
guarantee amount is not determinable. Implications of a seller’s guarantee of cash flow on an
operating property that is not considered a sale-leaseback arrangement are discussed in Subsection
30.2(f)(x).

(vii) Guaranteed Return on Investment—Sale-Leaseback. A guarantee of cash flow to the
buyer sometimes takes the form of a leaseback arrangement. Since the earnings process in this
situation has not usually been completed, profits on the sale should generally be deferred and
amortized.

Accounting for a sale-leaseback of real estate is governed by SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for
Leases,” as amended by SFAS No. 28, “Accounting for Sales with Leasebacks,” SFAS No. 98,
“Accounting for Leases: Sale-Leaseback Transactions Involving Real Estate,” and SFAS No. 66.
SFAS No. 98 specifies the accounting by a seller-lessee for a sale-leaseback transaction involving
real estate, including real estate with equipment. SFAS No. 98 provides that:

o A sale-leaseback transaction involving real estate, including real estate with equipment, must
qualify as a sale under the provisions of SFAS No. 66 as amended by SFAS No. 98, before
it is appropriate for the seller-lessee to account for the transaction as a sale. If the transaction
does not qualify as a sale under SFAS No. 66, it should be accounted for by the deposit
method or as a financing transaction (see Subsection 30.2(j)(v)).

o A sale-leaseback transaction involving real estate, including real estate with equipment, that
includes any continuing involvement other than a normal leaseback in which the seller-lessee
intends to actively use the property during the lease should be accounted for by the deposit
method or as a financing transaction.

e A lease involving real estate may not be classified as a sales-type lease unless the lease
agreement provides for the transfer of title to the lessee at or shortly after the end of the lease
term. Sales-type leases involving real estate should be accounted for under the provisions of
SFAS No. 66.
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Profit Recognition. Profits should be deferred and amortized in a manner consistent with the
classification of the leaseback:

e If the leaseback is an operating lease, deferred profit should be amortized in proportion to
the related gross rental charges to expense over the lease term.

o If the leaseback is a capital lease, deferred profit should be amortized in proportion to the
amortization of the leased asset. Effectively, the sale is treated as a financing transaction. The
deferred profit can be presented gross, but normally is offset against the capitalized asset for
balance sheet classification purposes.

In situations where the leaseback covers only a minor portion of the property sold or the period
is relatively minor compared to the remaining useful life of the property, it may be appropriate to
recognize all or a portion of the gain as income. Sales with minor leasebacks should be accounted
for based on the separate terms of the sale and the leaseback unless the rentals called for by the
leaseback are unreasonable in relation to current market conditions. If rentals are considered to be
unreasonable, they must be adjusted to a reasonable amount in computing the profit on the sale.

The leaseback is considered to be minor when the present value of the leaseback based on
reasonable rentals is 10 percent or less of the fair value of the asset sold. If the leaseback is not
considered to be minor (but less than substantially all of the use of the asset is retained through
a leaseback) profit may be recognized to the extent it exceeds the present value of the minimum
lease payments (net of executory costs) in the case of an operating lease or the recorded amount
of the leased asset in the case of a capital lease.

Loss Recognition.  Losses should be recognized immediately to the extent that the undepreciated
cost (net carrying value) exceeds the fair value of the property. Fair value is frequently determined
by the selling price from which the loss on the sale is measured. Many sale-leasebacks are entered
into as a means of financing, or for tax reasons, or both. The terms of the leaseback are negotiated
as a package. Because of the interdependence of the sale and concurrent leaseback, the selling price
in some cases is not representative of fair value. It would not be appropriate to recognize a loss
on the sale that would be offset by future cost reductions as a result of either reduced rental costs
under an operating lease or depreciation and interest charges under a capital lease. Therefore, to
the extent that the fair value is greater than the sale price, losses should be deferred and amortized
in the same manner as profits.

(viii) Services without Adequate Compensation. A sales contract may be accompanied by an
agreement for the seller to provide management or other services without adequate compensation.
Compensation for the value of the services should be imputed, deducted from the sales price,
and recognized over the term of the contract. See discussion of implied support of operations
in Subsection 30.2(f)(x) if the contract is noncancelable and the compensation is unusual for the
services to be rendered.

(ix) Development and Construction. A sale of undeveloped or partially developed land may
include or be accompanied by an agreement requiring future seller performance of development or
construction. In such cases, all or a portion of the profit should be deferred. If there is a lapse of
time between the sale agreement and the future performance agreement, deferral provisions usually
apply if definitive development plans existed at the time of sale and a development contract was
anticipated by the parties at the time of entering into the sales contract.

In addition, SFAS No. 66 (par. 41) provides that “The seller is involved with future development
or construction work if the buyer is unable to pay amounts due for that work or has the right under
the terms of the arrangement to defer payment until the work is done.”

If the property sold and being developed is an operating property (such as an apartment complex,
shopping center, or office building) as opposed to a nonoperating property (such as a land lot,
condominium unit, or single-family detached home), Subsection 30.2(f)(x) may also apply.
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Completed Contract Method.  If a seller is obligated to develop the property or construct facilities
and total costs and profit cannot be reliably estimated (e.g., because of lack of seller experience
or nondefinitive plans), all profit, including profit on the sale of land, should be deferred until
the contract is completed or until the total costs and profit can be reliably estimated. Under the
completed contract method, all profit, including profit on the sale of land, is deferred until the
seller’s obligations are fulfilled.

Percentage of Completion Method (Cost-Incurred Method). If the costs and profit can be
reliably estimated, profit recognition over the improvement period on the basis of costs incurred
(including land) as a percentage of total costs to be incurred is required. Thus, if the land was a
principal part of the sale and its market value greatly exceeded cost, part of the profit that can be
said to be related to the land sale is deferred and recognized during the development or construction
period.

The same rate of profit is used for all seller costs connected with the transaction. For this
purpose, the cost of development work, improvements, and all fees and expenses that are the
responsibility of the seller should be included. The buyer’s initial and continuing investment tests,
of course, must be met with respect to the total sales value. Exhibit 30.4 illustrates the cost incurred
method.

(x) Initiation and Support of Operations. If the property sold is an operating property, as
opposed to a nonoperating property, deferral of all or a portion of the profit may be required under
SFAS No. 66 (pars. 28—-30). These paragraphs establish guidelines not only for stated support but
also for implied support.

Although the implied support provisions do not usually apply to undeveloped or partially
developed land, they do apply if the buyer has commitments to construct operating properties
and there is stated or implied support.

Assuming that the criteria for recording a sale and the test of buyer’s investment are met, the
following sets forth guidelines for profit recognition where there is stated or implied support.

Assumptions:

1. Sale of land for commercial development—$475,000.
2. Development contract—$525,000.
3. Down payment and other buyer investment requirements met.
4. Land costs—$200,000.
5. Development costs $500,000 (reliably estimated)—$325,000 incurred in initial year.
Calculation of profit to be recognized in initial year:
Sale of land $ 475,000
Development contract price 525,000
Total sales price 1,000,000
Costs:
Land 200,000
Development 500,000
Total costs 700,000
Total profit anticipated $ 300,000
Cost incurred through end of initial year:
Land 200,000
Development $ 325,000
Total $ 525,000
Profit to be recognized in initial year—525,000 4 700,000 x 300,000 = $§ 225,000

Exhibit 30.4 Percentage of completion, or cost-incurred, method.
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Stated Support. A seller may be required to support operations by means of a guaranteed return
to the buyer. Alternatively, a guarantee may be made to the buyer that there will be no negative
cash flow from the project, buy may not guarantee a positive return on the buyer’s investment. For
example, EITF Consensus No. 85-27 “Recognition of Receipts from Made-Up Rental Shortfalls,”
considers the impact of a master lease guarantee. The broad exposure that such a guarantee creates
has a negative impact on profit recognition.

Implied Support.  The seller may be presumed to be obligated to initiate and support operations
of the property sold, even in the absence of specified requirements in the sale contract or related
document. The following conditions under which support is implied are described in footnote 10
of SFAS No. 66:

e A seller obtains an interest as general partner in a limited partnership that acquires an interest
in the property sold.

o A seller retains an equity interest in the property, such as an undivided interest or an equity
interest in a joint venture that holds an interest in the property.

e A seller holds a receivable from a buyer for a significant part of the sales price and collection
of the receivable is dependent on the operation of the property.

e A seller agrees to manage the property for the buyer on terms not usual for the services to
be rendered and which is not terminable by either seller or buyer.

Stated or Implied Support. When profit recognition is appropriate in the case of either stated or
implied support, the following general rules apply:

e Profit is recognized on the ratio of costs incurred to total costs to be incurred. Revenues for
gross profit purposes include rent from operations during the rent-up period; costs include
land and operating expenses during the rent-up period as well as other costs.

e As set forth in SFAS No. 66 (par. 30):

[S]upport shall be presumed for at least two years from the time of initial rental unless actual
rental operations cover operating expenses, debt service, and other contractual commitments
before that time. If the seller is contractually obligated for a longer time, profit recognition
shall continue on the basis of performance until the obligation expires.

e Estimated rental income should be adjusted by reducing estimated future rent receipts by a
safety factor of 33/3 percent unless signed lease agreements have been obtained to support a
projection higher than the rental level thus computed. As set forth in SFAS No. 66 (par. 29),
when signed leases amount to more than 662/3 percent of estimated rents, no additional safety
factor is required but only amounts under signed lease agreements can be included.

(xi) Partial Sales. A partial sale includes the following:

o A sale of an interest in real estate

e A sale of real estate where the seller has an equity interest in the buyer (e.g., a joint venture
or partnership)

e A sale of a condominium unit

Sale of an Interest in Real Estate.  Except for operating properties, profit recognition is appropriate
in a sale of a partial interest if all the following conditions exist:

e Sale is to an independent buyer.
e Collection of sales price is reasonably assured.
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e The seller will not be required to support the property, its operations, or related obligations
to an extent greater than its proportionate interest.

e Buyer does not have preferences as to profits or cash flow. (If the buyer has such preferences,
the cost recovery method is required.)

In the case of a sale of a partial interest in operating properties, if the conditions set forth
in the preceding paragraph are met, profit recognition must reflect an adjustment for the implied
presumption that the seller is obligated to support the operations.

Seller Has Equity Interest in Buyer. No profit may be recognized if the seller controls the
buyer. If seller does not control the buyer, profit recognition (to the extent of the other investors’
proportionate interests) is appropriate if all other necessary requirements for profit recognition are
satisfied. The portion of the profit applicable to the equity interest of the seller/investor should be
deferred until such costs are charged to operations by the venture. Again, with respect to a sale
of operating properties, a portion of the profit relating to other investors’ interests may have to
be spread as described in Subsection 30.2(f)(x) because there is an implied presumption that the
seller is obligated to support the operations.

(g8) SALES OF CONDOMINIUMS. Although the definition of “condominium” varies by state,
the term generally is defined as a multiunit structure in which there is fee simple title to individual
units combined with an undivided interest in the common elements associated with the structure.
The common elements are all areas exclusive of the individual units, such as hallways, lobbies,
and elevators.

A cooperative is contrasted to a condominium in that ownership of the building is generally
vested in the entity, with the respective stockholders of the entity having a right to occupy specific
units. Operation, maintenance, and control of the building are exercised by a governing board
elected by the owners. This section covers only sales of condominium units.

(i) Criteria for Profit Recognition. The general principles of accounting for profit on sales of
condominiums are essentially those previously discussed for sales of real estate in general. The
following criteria must be met prior to recognition of any profit on the sale of a dwelling unit in
a condominium project:

o All parties must be bound by the terms of the contract. For the buyer to be bound, the buyer
must be unable to require a refund. Certain state and federal laws require appropriate filings
by the developer before the sales contract is binding; otherwise, the sale may be voidable at
the option of the buyer.

o All conditions precedent to closing, except completion of the project, must be performed.

e An adequate cash down payment must be received by the seller. The minimum down pay-
ment requirements are 5 percent for a primary residence and 10 percent for a secondary or
recreational residence.

e The buyer must be required to adequately increase the investment in the property annually;
the buyer’s commitment must be adequately secured. Typically, a condominium buyer pays
the remaining balance from the proceeds of a permanent loan at the time of closing. If,
however, the seller provides financing, the same considerations as other sales of real estate
apply concerning amortization of the buyer’s receivable.

e The developer must not have an option or obligation to repurchase the property.

(ii) Methods of Accounting. Sales of condominium units are accounted for by using the closing
(completed contract) method or the percentage of completion method. Most developers use the
closing method.
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Additional criteria must be met for the use of the percentage of completion method:

e The developer must have the ability to estimate costs not yet incurred.

e Construction must be beyond a preliminary stage of completion. This generally means at
least beyond the foundation stage.

o Sufficient units must be sold to assure that the property will not revert to rental property.
e The developer must be able to reasonably estimate aggregate sales proceeds.

Closing Method. This method involves recording the sale and related profit at the time a unit
closes. Since the unit is completed, actual costs are used in determining profit to be recognized.

All payments or deposits received prior to closing are accounted for as a liability. Direct
selling costs may be deferred until the sale is recorded. Where the seller is obligated to complete
construction of common areas or has made guarantees to the condominium association, profit
should be recognized based on the relationship of costs already incurred to total estimated costs,
with a portion deferred until the future performance is completed.

Percentage of Completion Method. This method generally involves recording sales at the date
a unit is sold and recognizing profit on units sold as construction proceeds. As a result, this method
allows some profit recognition during the construction period. Although dependent on estimates,
this method may be considered preferable for some long-term projects. A lack of reliable estimates,
however, would preclude the use of this method.

Profit recognition is based on the percentage of completion of the project multiplied by the
gross profit arising from the units sold. Percentage of completion may be determined by using
either of the following alternatives:

e The ratio of costs incurred to date to total estimated costs to be incurred. These costs could
include land and common costs or could be limited to construction costs. The costs selected
for inclusion should be those that most clearly reflect the earnings process.

e The percentage of completed construction based on architectural plans or engineering studies.

Under either method of accounting, if the total estimated costs exceed the estimated proceeds,
the total anticipated loss should be charged against income in the period in which the loss becomes
evident so that no anticipated losses are deferred to future periods. See further discussion of this
method in Section 30.6, “Construction Contracts.”

(iii) Estimated Future Costs. As previously mentioned, future costs to complete must be esti-
mated under either the closing method or the percentage of completion method. Estimates of
future costs to complete are necessary to determine net realizable value of unsold units. Estimated
future costs should be based on adequate architectural and engineering studies and should include
reasonable provisions for:

e Unforeseen costs in accordance with sound cost estimation practices

e Anticipated cost inflation in the construction industry

e Costs of offsite improvements, utility facilities, and amenities (to the extent that they will
not be recovered from outside third parties)

e Operating losses of utility operations and recreational facilities (Such losses would be expected
to be incurred for a relatively limited period of time—usually prior to sale of facilities or
transfer to some public authority.)

e Other guaranteed support arrangements or activities to the extent that they will not be recov-
ered from outside parties or be the responsibility of a future purchaser
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Estimates of amounts to be recovered from any sources should be discounted to present value
as of the date the related costs are expected to be incurred.

Estimated costs to complete and the allocation of such costs should be reviewed at the end
of each financial reporting period, with costs revised and reallocated as necessary on the basis
of current estimates, as recommended in SFAS No. 67, “Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental
Operations of Real Estate Projects.” How to record the effects of changes in estimates depends on
whether full revenues have been recorded or whether reporting of the revenue has been deferred
due to an obligation for future performance or otherwise.

When sales of condominiums are recorded in full, it may be necessary to accrue certain estimated
costs not yet incurred and also related profit thereon. Adjustments of accruals for costs applicable
to such previously recognized sales, where deferral for future performance was not required, must
be recognized and charged to costs of sales in the period in which they become known. See
Subsection 30.2(g)(ii) for further discussion.

In many cases, sales are not recorded in full (such as when the seller has deferred revenue
because of an obligation for future performance to complete improvements and amenities of a
project). In these situations, the adjustments should not affect previously recorded deferred revenues
applicable to future improvements but should be recorded prospectively in the current and future
periods. An increase in the estimate of costs applicable to deferred revenues will thus result in
profit margins lower than those recorded on previous revenues from the project.

An exception exists, however, when the revised total estimated costs exceed the applicable
deferred revenue. If that occurs, the total anticipated loss should be charged against income in the
period in which the need for adjustment becomes evident.

In addition, an increase in estimated costs to complete without comparable increases in market
value could raise questions as to whether the estimated total costs of the remaining property exceed
the project’s net realizable value.

APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes,” has been interpreted to permit both the cumulative
catch-up method and the prospective method of accounting for changes in accounting estimates. It
should be noted that SFAS No. 67 (pars. 42—-43) requires the prospective method.

(h) RETAIL LAND SALES. Retail land sales, a unique segment of the real estate industry, is the
retail marketing of numerous lots subdivided from a larger parcel of land. The relevant accounting
guidance originally covered by the AICPA Industry Accounting Guide, “Accounting for Retail
Land Sales,” and now included in SFAS No. 66, applies to retail lot sales on a volume basis with
down payments that are less than those required to evaluate the collectibility of casual sales of real
estate. Wholesale or bulk sales of land and retail sales from projects comprising a small number
of lots, however, are subject to the general principles for profit recognition on real estate sales.

(i) Criteria for Recording a Sale. Sales should not be recorded until:

e The customer has made all required payments and the period of cancellation with refund has
expired.
e Aggregate payments (including interest) equal or exceed 10 percent of contract sales price.

e The selling company is clearly capable of providing land improvements and offsite facilities
promised as well as meeting all other representations it has made.

If these conditions are met, either the accrual or the installment method must be used. If the
conditions are not met, the deposit method of accounting should be used.

(ii) Criteria for Accrual Method. The following tests for the use of accrual method should be
applied on a project-by-project basis:

e The seller has fulfilled the obligation to complete improvements and to construct amenities
or other facilities applicable to the lots sold.
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e The receivable is not subject to subordination to new loans on the property, except subordi-
nation for home construction purposes under certain conditions.

e The collection experience for the project indicates that collectibility of receivable balances
is reasonably predictable and that 90 percent of the contracts in force six months after sales
are recorded will be collected in full. A down payment of at least 20 percent shall be an
acceptable indication of collectibility.

To predict collection results of current sales, there must be satisfactory experience on prior
sales of the type of land being currently sold in the project. In addition, the collection period
must be sufficiently long to allow reasonable estimates of the percentage of sales that will be
fully collected. In a new project, the developers’ experience on prior projects may be used if they
have demonstrated an ability to successfully develop other projects with the same characteristics
(environment, clientele, contract terms, sales methods) as the new project.

Collection and cancellation experience within a project may differ with varying sales meth-
ods (such as telephone, broker, and site visitation sales). Accordingly, historical data should be
maintained with respect to each type of sales method used.

Unless all conditions for use of the accrual method are met for the entire project, the installment
method of accounting should be applied to all recorded sales of the project.

(iii) Accrual Method. Revenues and costs should be accounted for under the accrual method as
follows:

e The contract price should be recorded as gross sales.

e Receivables should be discounted to reflect an appropriate interest rate using the criteria
established in APB Opinion No. 21.

e An allowance for contract cancellation should be recorded and deducted from gross sales to
derive net sales.

e Cost of sales should be calculated based on net sales after reductions for sales reasonably
expected to cancel.

(iv) Percentage of Completion Method. Frequently, the conditions for use of the accrual
method are met, except the seller has not yet completed the improvements, amenities, or other
facilities required by the sales contract. In this situation the percentage of completion method
should be applied provided both of the following conditions are met:

e There is a reasonable expectation that the land can be developed for the purposes represented.
e The project’s improvements have progressed beyond preliminary stages, and there are indi-
cations that the work will be completed according to plan. Indications that the project has
progressed beyond the preliminary stage include the following:
o Funds for the proposed improvements have been expended.
o Work on the improvements has been initiated.
o Engineering plans and work commitments exist relating to the lots sold.

o Access roads and amenities such as golf courses, clubhouses, and swimming pools have
been completed.

In addition, there shall be no indication of significant delaying factors such as the inability to
obtain permits, contractors, personnel, or equipment, and estimates of costs to complete and extent
of progress toward completion shall be reasonably dependable.

The following general procedures should be used to account for revenues and costs under the
percentage of completion method of accounting:
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e The amount of revenue recognized (discounted where appropriate pursuant to APB Opinion
No. 21) is based on the relationship of costs already incurred to the total estimated costs to
be incurred.

e Costs incurred and to be incurred should include land, interest and project carrying costs
incurred prior to sale, selling costs, and an estimate for future improvement costs.

Estimates of future improvement costs should be reviewed at least annually. Changes in those
estimates do not lead to adjustment of deferred revenue applicable to future improvements that has
been previously recorded unless the adjusted total estimated costs exceeds the applicable revenue.
When cost estimates are revised, the relationship of the two elements included in the revenue
not yet recognized—cost and profit—should be recalculated on a cumulative basis to determine
future income recognition as performance takes place. If the adjusted total estimated cost exceeds
the applicable deferred revenue, the total anticipated loss should be charged to income. When
anticipated losses on lots sold are recognized, the enterprise should also consider recognizing a
loss on land and improvements not yet sold.

Future performance costs such as roads, utilities, and amenities may represent a significant
obligation for a retail land developer. Estimates of such costs should be based on adequate engi-
neering studies, appropriately adjusted for anticipated inflation in the local construction industry,
and should include reasonable estimates for unforeseen costs.

(v) Installment and Deposit Methods. If the criteria for the accrual or percentage of completion
methods are not satisfied, the installment or deposit method may be used. See Subsection 30.2(j)
for a general discussion of these methods.

When the conditions required for use of the percentage of completion method are met on a
project originally recorded under the installment method, the percentage of completion method of
accounting should be adopted for the entire project (current and prior sales). The effect should be
accounted for as a change in accounting estimate due to different circumstances. See Subsection
30.2(g)(iii) for further discussion of methodology.

(i) ACCOUNTING FOR SYNDICATION FEES. On February 6, 1992, the AICPA issued State-
ment of Position (SOP) 92-1, which provides guidance on accounting for real estate syndication
income.

Syndicators expect to earn fees and commissions from a variety of sources: up-front fees such
as lease-up fees, construction supervision fees, and financing fees; fees serving as an incentive;
property management; participation in future profit or appreciation. At the time of the syndication,
partnerships usually pay cash to the syndicator for portions of their up-front fees. These fees
are usually paid from investor contributions or the proceeds of borrowings. Subsequent fees are
expected to be paid from operations, refinancings, sale of property, or remaining investor payments.

The SOP states that SFAS No. 66 applies to the recognition of profit on the sales of real
estate by syndicators to partnerships. It concludes that profit on real estate syndication transactions
be accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 66, even if the syndicator never had ownership
interests in the properties acquired by the real estate partnerships.

The SOP states that fees charged by syndicators (except for syndication fees and fees for future
services) should be included in the determination of “sales value” in conformity with SFAS No.
66. It further states that SFAS No. 66 does not apply to the fees excluded from “sales value.” Fees
for future services should be recognized when the earning process is complete and collection of
the fee is reasonably assured.

This SOP requires that income recognition on syndication fees and fees for future services
be deferred if the syndicator is exposed to future losses or costs from material involvement with
the properties, partnerships or partners, or uncertainties regarding the collectibility of partnership
notes. The income should be deferred until the losses or costs can be reasonably estimated.

The SOP requires that for the purpose of determining whether buyers’ initial and continuing
investments satisfy the requirements for recognizing full profit in accordance with SFAS No. 66,
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cash received by syndicators should be allocated to unpaid syndication fees before being allocated
to the initial and continuing investment. After the syndication fee is fully paid, additional cash
received should first be allocated to unpaid fees for future services, to the extent those services
have been performed by the time the cash is received, before being allocated to the initial and
continuing investment.

(j) ALTERNATE METHODS OF ACCOUNTING FOR SALES. As previously discussed, in
some circumstances the accrual method is not appropriate and other methods must be used. It is
not always clear which method should be used or how it should be applied. Consequently, it is
often difficult to determine the appropriate method and whether alternative ones are acceptable.

The methods prescribed where the buyer’s initial or continuing investment is inadequate are
the deposit, installment, cost recovery, and reduced profit methods.

The methods prescribed for a transaction that cannot be considered a sale because of the seller’s
continuing involvement are the financing, lease, and profit sharing (or co-venture) methods.

(i) Deposit Method. When the substance of a real estate transaction indicates that a sale has not
occurred, for accounting purposes, as a result of the buyer’s inadequate investment, recognition of
the sale should be deferred and the deposit method used. This method should be continued until
the conditions requiring its use no longer exist. For example, when the down payment is so small
that the substance of the transaction is an option arrangement, the sale should not be recorded.
All cash received under the deposit method (including down payment and principal and interest
payments by the buyer to the seller) should be reported as a deposit (liability). An exception is
interest received that is not subject to refund may appropriately offset carrying charges (property
taxes and interest on existing debt) on the property. Note also the following related matters:

o Notes receivable arising from the transaction should not be recorded.

e The property and any related mortgage debt assumed by the buyer should continue to be
reflected on the seller’s balance sheet, with appropriate disclosure that such properties and
debt are subject to a sales contract. Even nonrecourse debt assumed by the buyer should not
be offset against the related property.

e Subsequent payments on the debt assumed by the buyer become additional deposits and
thereby reduce the seller’s mortgage debt payable and increase the deposit liability account
until a sale is recorded for accounting purposes.

e Depreciation should be continued.

Under the deposit method, a sale is not recorded for accounting purposes until the conditions
in SFAS No. 66 are met. Therefore, for purposes of the down payment tests, interest received and
credited to the deposit account can be included in the down payment and sales value at the time
a sale is recorded.

If a buyer defaults and forfeits his nonrefundable deposit, the deposit liability is no longer
required and may be credited to income. The circumstances underlying the default should be
carefully reviewed since such circumstances may indicate deteriorating value of the property. In
such a case it may be appropriate to treat the credit as a valuation reserve. These circumstances
may require a provision for additional loss. See Section 30.5 for further discussion.

(ii) Installment Method. When the substance of a real estate transaction indicates that a sale has
occurred for accounting purposes, but that collectibility of the total sales price cannot be reason-
ably estimated (i.e., inadequate buyer’s investment), the installment method may be appropriate.
However, circumstances may indicate that the cost recovery method is required or is otherwise
more appropriate. For example, when the deferred gross profit exceeds the net carrying value of
the related receivable, profit may have been earned to the extent of such excess.

Profit should be recognized on cash payments, including principal payments by the buyer on
any debt assumed (either recourse or nonrecourse), and should be based on the ratio of total profit
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to total sales value (including a first mortgage debt assumed by the buyer, if applicable). Interest
received on the related receivable is properly recorded as income when received.

The total sales value (from which the deferred gross profit should be deducted) and the cost
of sales should be presented in the income statement. Deferred gross profit should be shown as a
deduction from the related receivable, with subsequent income recognition presented separately in
the income statement.

(iii) Cost Recovery Method. The cost recovery method must be used when the substance of
a real estate transaction indicates that a sale has occurred for accounting purposes but no profit
should be recognized until costs are recovered. This may occur when (1) the receivable is subject
to future subordination, (2) the seller retains an interest in the property sold and the buyer has
preferences, (3) uncertainty exists as to whether all or a portion of the cost will be recovered,
or (4) there is uncertainty as to the amount of proceeds. As a practical matter, the cost recovery
method can always be used as an alternative to the installment method.

Under the cost recovery method, no profit is recognized until cash collections (including princi-
pal and interest payments) and existing debt assumed by the buyer exceed the cost of the property
sold. Cash collections in excess of cost should be recorded as revenue in the period of collection.

Financial statement presentation under the cost recovery method is similar to that for the
installment method.

(iv) Reduced Profit Method. When the substance of a real estate transaction indicates that a
sale has occurred for accounting purposes, but the continuing investment criteria for full profit
recognition is not met by the buyer, the seller may sometimes recognize a reduced profit at the
time of sale (see additional discussion in Subsection 30.2(e)(ii)). This alternative is rarely used
since a full accrual of anticipated costs of continuing investment will permit full accrual of the
remaining profit.

(v) Financing Method. A real estate transaction may be, in substance, a financing arrangement
rather than a sale. This is frequently the case when the seller has an obligation to repurchase the
property (or can be compelled by the buyer to repurchase the property) at a price higher than the
total amount of the payments received and to be received. In such a case the financing method
must be used.

Accounting procedures under the financing method should be similar to the accounting proce-
dures under the deposit method, with one exception. Under the financing method, the difference
between (1) the total amount of all payments received and to be received and (2) the repurchase
price is presumed to be interest expense. As such, it should be accrued on the interest method
over the period from the receipt of cash to the date of repurchase. As in the deposit method, cash
received is reflected as a liability in the balance sheet. Thus, at the date of repurchase, the full
amount of the repurchase obligation should be recorded as a liability.

In the case of a repurchase option, if the facts and circumstances at the time of the sale indicate
a presumption or a likelihood that the seller will exercise the option, interest should be accrued
as if there were an obligation to repurchase. This presumption could result from the value of the
property, the property being an integral part of development, or from management’s intention. If
such a presumption does not exist at the time of the sale transaction, interest should not be accrued
and the deposit method is appropriate.

(vi) Lease Method. A real estate transaction may be, in substance, a lease rather than a sale.
Accounting procedures under the lease method should be similar to the deposit method, except as
follows:

e Payments received and to be received that are in substance deferred rental income received
in advance should be deferred and amortized to income over the presumed lease period. Such
amortization to income should not exceed cash paid to the seller.
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e Cash paid out by the seller as a guarantee of support of operations should be expensed as
paid.

The seller may agree to make loans to the buyer in support of operations, for example, when
cash flow does not equal a predetermined amount or is negative. In such a situation, deferred
rental income to be amortized to income should be reduced by all the loans made or reasonably
anticipated to be made to the buyer, thus reducing the periodic income to be recognized. Where
the loans made or anticipated exceed deferred rental income, a loss provision may be required if
the collectibility of the loan is questionable.

(vii) Profit-Sharing or Co-Venture Method. A real estate transaction may be, in substance,
a profit-sharing arrangement rather than a sale. For example, a sale of real estate to a limited
partnership in which the seller is a general partner or has similar characteristics is often a profit-
sharing arrangement. If such a transaction does not meet the tests for recording a sale, it usually
would be accounted for under the profit-sharing method. This accounting method should also be
followed when it is clear that the buyer is acting merely as an agent for the seller.

Under the profit-sharing method, giving consideration to the seller’s continued involvement, the
seller would be required to account for the operations of the property through its income statement
as if it continued to own the properties.

30.3 COST OF REAL ESTATE

(@) CAPITALIZATION OF COSTS. In October 1982, the FASB issued SFAS No. 67. This
Statement incorporates the specialized accounting principles and practices from the AICPA SOPs
No. 80-3, “Accounting for Real Estate Acquisition, Development and Construction Costs,” and
No. 78-3, “Accounting for Costs to Sell and Rent, and Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate
Projects,” and those in the AICPA Industry Accounting Guide, “Accounting for Retail Land Sales,”
that address costs of real estate projects. SFAS No. 67 establishes whether costs associated with
acquiring, developing, constructing, selling, and renting real estate projects should be capitalized.
Guidance is also provided on the appropriate methods of allocating capitalized costs to individual
components of the project.

SFAS No. 67 also established that a rental project changes from nonoperating to operating when
it is substantially completed and held available for occupancy, but not later than one year from
cessation of major construction activities.

What are the general precepts? Costs incurred in real estate operations range from brick-and-
mortar costs that clearly should be capitalized to general administrative costs that clearly should not
be capitalized. Between these two extremes lies a broad range of costs that are difficult to classify.
Therefore, judgmental decisions must be made as to whether such costs should be capitalized.

(b) PREACQUISITION COSTS. These costs include payments to obtain options to acquire
real property and other costs incurred prior to acquisition such as legal, architectural, and other
professional fees, salaries, environmental studies, appraisals, marketing and feasibility studies, and
soil tests. Capitalization of costs related to a property that are incurred before the enterprise acquires
the property, or before the enterprise obtains an option to acquire it, is appropriate provided all of
the following conditions are met:

e The costs are directly identifiable with the specific property.

e The costs would be capitalized if the property had already been acquired.

e Acquisition of the property or of an option to acquire the property is probable (i.e., likely to
occur). This condition requires that the prospective purchaser is actively seeking acquisition
of the property and has the ability to finance or obtain financing for the acquisition. In
addition, there should be no indication that the property is not available for sale.
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Capitalized preacquisition costs should be included as project costs on acquisition of the property
or should be charged to expense when it is probable that the property will not be acquired. The
charge to expense should be reduced by the amount recoverable by the sale of the options, plans,
and so on.

(c) LAND ACQUISITION COSTS. Costs directly related to the acquisition of land should be
capitalized. These costs include option fees, purchase cost, transfer costs, title insurance, legal and
other professional fees, surveys, appraisals, and real estate commissions. The purchase cost may
have to be increased or decreased for imputation of interest on mortgage notes payable assumed
or issued in connection with the purchase, as required under APB Opinion No. 21.

(d) LAND IMPROVEMENT, DEVELOPMENT, AND CONSTRUCTION COSTS. Costs directly
related to improvements of the land should be capitalized by the developer. They may include:

e Land planning costs, including marketing and feasibility studies, direct salaries, legal
and other professional fees, zoning costs, soil tests, architectural and engineering studies,
appraisals, environmental studies, and other costs directly related to site preparation and the
overall design and development of the project

e On-site and off-site improvements, including demolition costs, streets, traffic controls, side-
walks, street lighting, sewer and water facilities, utilities, parking lots, landscaping, and related
costs such as permits and inspection fees

e Construction costs, including onsite material and labor, direct supervision, engineering and
architectural fees, permits, and inspection fees

e Project overhead and supervision, such as field office costs
e Recreation facilities, such as golf courses, clubhouse, swimming pools, and tennis courts
o Sales center and models, including furnishings

General and administrative costs not directly identified with the project should be accounted for
as period costs and expensed as incurred.

Construction activity on a project may be suspended before a project is completed for reasons
such as insufficient sales or rental demand. These conditions may indicate an impairment of the
value of a project that is other than temporary, which suggests valuation issues (see Section 30.5).

(e) ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES. In EITF lIssue No. 90-8, “Capitalization of Costs to Treat
Environmental Contamination,” the EITF reached a consensus that, in general, costs incurred as a
result of environmental contamination should be charged to expense. Such costs include costs to
remove contamination, such as that caused by leakage from underground tanks; costs to acquire
tangible property, such as air pollution control equipment; costs of environmental studies; and
costs of fines levied under environmental laws. Nevertheless, those costs may be capitalized if
recoverable but only if any one of the following criteria is met:

e The costs extend the life, increase the capacity, or improve the safety or efficiency of property
owned by the company, provided that the condition of the property after the costs are incurred
must be improved as compared with the condition of the property when originally constructed
or acquired, if later.

e The costs mitigate or prevent environmental contamination that has yet to occur and that
otherwise may result from future operations or activities. In addition, the costs improve the
property compared with its condition when constructed or acquired, if later.

e The costs are incurred in preparing for sale that property currently held for sale.

In EITF Issue No. 93-5, “Accounting for Environmental Liabilities,” the EITF reached a consen-
sus that an environmental liability should be evaluated independently from any potential claim for
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recovery (a two-event approach) and that the loss arising from the recognition of an environmental
liability should be reduced only when it is probable that a claim for recovery will be realized.

The EITF also reached a consensus that discounting environmental liabilities for a specific
clean-up site to reflect the time value of money is allowed, but not required, only if the aggregate
amount of the obligation and the amount and timing of the cash payments for that site are fixed
or reliably determinable.

The EITF discussed alternative rates to be used in discounting environmental liabilities but did
not reach a consensus on the rate to be used. However, the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) observer stated that SEC registrants should use a discount rate that will produce an amount
at which the environmental liability theoretically could be settled in an arm’s-length transaction
with a third party. That discount rate should not exceed the interest rate on monetary assets that
are essentially risk-free and have maturities comparable to that of the environmental liability.
In addition, SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) 92 requires registrants to separately present
the gross liability and related claim recovery in the balance sheet. SAB 92 also requires other
accounting and disclosure requirements relating to product or environmental liabilities.

In October 1996, the AICPA issued SOP 96-1, “Environmental Remediation Liabilities.” The
SOP has three parts. Part | provides an overview of environmental laws and regulations. Part
Il provides authoritative guidance on the recognition, measurement, display, and disclosure of
environmental liabilities. And part 111 (labeled as an appendix) provides guidance for auditors. A
major objective of the SOP is to articulate a framework for the recognition, measurement, and
disclosure of environmental liabilities. That framework is derived from SFAS No. 5, “Accounting
for Contingencies.”

The accounting guidance in the SOP is generally applicable when an entity is mandated to
remediate a contaminated site by a governmental agency. However, the SOP does not address the
following:

e Accounting for pollution control costs with respect to current operations, which is addressed
in EITF Issue No. 90-8, “Capitalization of Costs to Treat Environmental Contamination”

e Accounting for costs with respect to ashestos removal, which is addressed in EITF Issue No.
89-13, “Accounting for the Costs of Ashestos Removal”

e Accounting for costs of future site restoration or closure that are required upon the cessation
of operations or sale of facilities, which is the subject of the FASB’s project, “Obligations
Associated with Disposal Activities”

e Accounting for environmental remediation actions that are undertaken at the sole discretion
of management and that are not undertaken by the threat of assertion of litigation, a claim,
or an assessment

e Recognizing liabilities of insurance companies for unpaid claims, which is addressed in SFAS
No. 60, “Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises”

e Asset impairment issues discussed in SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” and EITF Issue No. 95-23, “The Treatment of Certain Site
Restoration/Environmental Exit Costs When Testing a Long-Lived Asset for Impairment”

(f) INTEREST COSTS. Prior to 1979, many developers capitalized interest costs as a necessary
cost of the asset in the same way as bricks-and-mortar costs. Others followed an accounting policy
of charging off interest cost as a period cost on the basis that it was solely a financing cost that
varied directly with the capability of a company to finance development and construction through
equity funds. This long-standing debate on capitalization of interest cost was resolved in October
1979 when the FASB published SFAS No. 34, “Capitalization of Interest Cost,” which provides
specific guidelines for accounting for interest costs.

SFAS No. 34 requires capitalization of interest cost as part of the historical cost of acquiring
assets that need a period of time in which to bring them to that condition and location necessary
for their intended use. The objectives of capitalizing interest are to obtain a measure of acquisition
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cost that more closely reflects the enterprise’s total investment in the asset and to charge a cost
that relates to the acquisition of a resource that will benefit future periods against the revenues of
the periods benefited. Interest capitalization is not required if its effect is not material.

(i) Assets Qualifying for Interest Capitalization. Assets qualifying for interest capitalization
in conformity with SFAS No. 34 include real estate constructed for an enterprise’s own use or
real estate intended for sale or lease. Qualifying assets also include investments (equity, loans,
and advances) accounted for by the equity method while the investee has activities in progress
necessary to commence its planned principal operations, but only if the investee’s activities include
the use of such to acquire qualifying assets for its operations.

Capitalization is not permitted for assets in use or ready for their intended use, assets not
undergoing the activities necessary to prepare them for use, assets that are not included in the
consolidated balance sheet, or investments accounted for by the equity method after the planned
principal operations of the investee begin. Thus land that is not undergoing activities necessary for
development is not a qualifying asset for purposes of interest capitalization. If activities are under-
taken for developing the land, the expenditures to acquire the land qualify for interest capitalization
while those activities are in progress.

(ii) Capitalization Period. The capitalization period commences when:

o Expenditures for the asset have been made.
o Activities that are necessary to get the asset ready for its intended use are in progress.
o Interest cost is being incurred.

Activities are to be construed in a broad sense and encompass more than just physical construction.
All steps necessary to prepare an asset for its intended use are included. This broad interpretation
includes administrative and technical activities during the preconstruction stage (such as developing
plans or obtaining required permits).

Interest capitalization must end when the asset is substantially complete and ready for its
intended use. A real estate project should be considered substantially complete and held available
for occupancy upon completion of major construction activity, as distinguished from activities
such as routine maintenance and cleanup. In some cases, such as in an office building, tenant
improvements are a major construction activity and are frequently not completed until a lease
contract is arranged. If such improvements are the responsibility of the developer, SFAS No. 67
indicates that the project is not considered substantially complete until the earlier of (1) completion
of improvements or (2) one year from cessation of major construction activity without regard to
tenant improvements. In other words, a one-year grace period has been provided to complete tenant
improvements.

If substantially all activities related to acquisition of the asset are suspended, interest capital-
ization should stop until such activities are resumed. However, brief interruptions in activities,
interruptions caused by external factors, and inherent delays in the development process do not
necessarily require suspension of interest capitalization.

Under SFAS No. 34, interest capitalization must end when the asset is substantially complete
and ready for its intended use. For projects completed in parts, where each part is capable of
being used independently while work continues on other parts, interest capitalization should stop
on each part that is substantially complete and ready for use. Examples include individual build-
ings in a multiphase or condominium project. For projects that must be completed before any
part can be used, interest capitalization should continue until the entire project is substantially
complete and ready for use. Where an asset cannot be used effectively until a particular portion
has been completed, interest capitalization continues until that portion is substantially complete
and ready for use. An example would be an island resort complex with sole access being a per-
manent bridge to the project. Completion of the bridge is necessary for the asset to be used
effectively.
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Interest capitalization should not stop when the capitalized costs exceed net realizable value.
In such instances, a valuation reserve should be recorded or appropriately increased to reduce the
carrying value to net realizable value (see Subsection 30.3(1)).

(iii) Methods of Interest Capitalization. The basic principle is that the amount of interest
cost to be capitalized should be the amount that theoretically could have been avoided during the
development and construction period if expenditures for the qualifying asset had not been made.
These interest costs might have been avoided either by forgoing additional borrowing or by using
the funds expended for the asset to repay existing borrowings in the case where no new borrowings
were obtained.

The amount capitalized is determined by applying a capitalization rate to the average amount
of accumulated capitalized expenditures for the asset during the period. Such expenditures include
cash payments, transfer of other assets, or incurrence of liabilities on which interest has been
recognized, and they should be net of progress payments received against such capitalized costs.
Liabilities such as trade payables, accruals, and retainages, on which interest is not recognized, are
not expenditures. Reasonable approximations of net capitalized expenditures may be used.

In general, the capitalization rate should be based on the weighted average of the rates applicable
to borrowings outstanding during the period. If a specific new borrowing is associated with an asset,
the rate on that borrowing may be used. If the average amount of accumulated expenditures for
the asset exceeds the amounts of specific new borrowings associated with the asset, a weighted
average interest rate of all other borrowings must be applied to the excess. Under this alternative,
judgment will be required to select the borrowings to be included in the weighted average rate so
that a reasonable measure will be obtained of the interest cost incurred that could otherwise have
been avoided. It should be remembered that the principle is not one of capitalizing interest costs
incurred for a specific asset, but one of capitalizing interest costs that could have been avoided if
it were not for the acquisition, development, and construction of the asset.

The amount of interest cost capitalized in an accounting period is limited to the total amount of
interest cost incurred in the period. However, interest cost should include amortization of premium
or discount resulting from imputation of interest on certain types of payables in accordance with
APB Opinion No. 21 and that portion of minimum lease payments under a capital lease treated as
interest in accordance with SFAS No. 13.

(iv) Accounting for Amount Capitalized. Interest cost capitalized is an integral part of the cost
of acquiring a qualifying asset, and therefore its disposition should be the same as any other cost
of that asset. For example, if a building is subsequently depreciated, capitalized interest should be
included in the depreciable base the same as bricks and mortar.

In the case of interest capitalized on an investment accounted for by the equity method, its
disposition should be made as if the investee were consolidated. In other words, if the assets of
the investee were being depreciated, the capitalized interest cost should be depreciated in the same
manner and over the same lives. If the assets of the investee were developed lots being sold, the
capitalized interest cost should be written off as the lots are sold.

(g) TAXES AND INSURANCE. Costs incurred on real estate for property taxes and insurance
should be treated similarly to interest costs. They should be capitalized only during periods in
which activities necessary to get the property ready for its intended use are in progress. Costs
incurred for such items after the property is substantially complete and ready for its intended use
should be charged to expense as incurred.

(h) INDIRECT PROJECT COSTS. Indirect project costs that relate to a specific project, such as
costs associated with a project field office, should be capitalized as a cost of that project. Other
indirect project costs that relate to several projects, such as the costs associated with a construction
administration department, should be capitalized and allocated to the projects to which the cost
related. Indirect costs that do not clearly relate to projects under development or construction
should be charged to expense as incurred.
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The principal problem is defining and identifying the cost to be capitalized. It is necessary to
consider all of the following points:

o Specific information should be available (such as timecards) to support the basis of allocation
to specific projects.

e The costs incurred should be incremental costs; that is, in the absence of the project or
projects under development or construction, these costs would not be incurred.

e The impact of capitalization of such costs on the results of operations should be consistent
with the pervasive principle of matching costs with related revenue.

e The principle of conservatism should be considered.

Indirect costs related to a specific project that should be considered for capitalization include
direct and indirect salaries of a field office and insurance costs. Costs that are not directly related
to the project should be charged to expense as incurred.

(i) GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. Real estate developers incur various types
of general and administrative expenses, including officers’ salaries, accounting and legal fees, and
various office supplies and expenses. Some of these expenses may be closely associated with
individual projects, whereas others are of a more general nature. For example, a developer may
open a field office on a project site and staff it with administrative personnel, such as a field
accountant. The expenses associated with the field office are directly associated with the project
and are therefore considered to be overhead. On the other hand, the developer may have a number
of expenses associated with general office operations that benefit numerous projects and for which
specifically identifiable allocations are not reasonable or practicable. Those administrative costs
that cannot be clearly related to projects under development or construction should be charged to
current operations.

() AMENITIES. Real estate developments often include amenities such as golf courses, utilities,
clubhouses, swimming pools, and tennis courts. The accounting for the costs of these amenities
should be based on management’s intended disposition as follows:

o Amenity to Be Sold or Transferred with Sales Units. All costs in excess of anticipated proceeds
should be allocated as common costs because the amenity is clearly associated with the
development and sale of the project. Common costs should include estimated net operating
costs to be borne by the developer until they are assumed by buyers of units in the project.

e Amenity to Be Sold Separately or Retained by Developer. Capitalizable costs of the amenity in
excess of its estimated fair value on the expected date of its substantial physical completion
should be allocated as common costs. The costs capitalized and allocated to the amenity
should not be revised after the amenity is substantially completed and available for use. A
later sale of the amenity at more or less than the determined fair value as of the date of
substantial physical completion, less any accumulated depreciation, should result in a gain or
loss in the period in which the sale occurs.

(k) ABANDONMENTS AND CHANGES IN USE. Real estate, including rights to real estate,
may be abandoned, for example, by allowing a mortgage to be foreclosed or by allowing a purchase
option to lapse. Capitalized costs, including allocated common costs, of real estate abandoned
should be written off as current expenses or, if appropriate, to allowances previously established
for that purpose. They should not be allocated to other components of the project or to other
projects, even if other components or other projects are capable of absorbing the losses.

Donation of real estate to municipalities or other governmental agencies for uses that will benefit
the project are not abandonment. The cost of real estate donated should be allocated as a common
cost of the project.
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Changes in the intended use of a real estate project may arise after significant development
and construction costs have been incurred. If the change in use is made pursuant to a formal plan
that is expected to produce a higher economic yield (as compared to its yield based on use before
change), the project costs should be charged to expense to the extent the capitalized costs incurred
and to be incurred exceed the estimated fair value less cost to sell of the revised project when it
is substantially completed and ready for its intended use.

() SELLING COSTS. Costs incurred to sell real estate projects should be accounted for in the
same manner as, and classified with, construction costs of the project when they meet both of the
following criteria:

e The costs incurred are for tangible assets that are used throughout the selling period or for
services performed to obtain regulatory approval for sales.

e The costs are reasonably expected to be recovered from sales of the project or incidental
operations.

Examples of costs incurred to sell real estate projects that ordinarily meet the criteria for
capitalization are costs of model units and their furnishings, sales facilities, legal fees for the
preparation of prospectuses, and semipermanent signs.

SFAS No. 67 states that other costs incurred to sell real estate projects should be capitalized as
prepaid costs if they are directly associated with and their recovery is reasonably expected from
sales that are being accounted for under a method of accounting other than full accrual. Costs that
do not meet the criteria for capitalization should be expensed as incurred.

Capitalized selling costs should be charged to expense in the period in which the related revenue
is recognized as earned. When a sales contract is canceled (with or without refund) or the related
receivable is written off as uncollectible, the related unrecoverable capitalized selling costs are
charged to expense or to an allowance previously established for that purpose.

(m) ACCOUNTING FOR FORECLOSED ASSETS. AICPA SOP 92-3, “Accounting for Fore-
closed Assets,” provides guidance on determining the balance sheet treatment of foreclosed assets
after foreclosure.

The SOP contains a rebuttable presumption that foreclosed assets are held for sale, rather than
for the production of income. That presumption may be overcome if (1) management intends to
hold a foreclosed asset, (2) laws and regulations as applied permit management to hold the asset,
and (3) management’s intent is supported by a preponderance of the evidence.

(i) Foreclosed Assets Held for Sale. After foreclosure, foreclosed assets held for sale should
be carried at the lower of (a) fair value less estimated costs to sell or (b) cost (fair value at the
time of foreclosure). The SOP states that, if the fair value of the asset less the estimated cost to
sell is less than the asset’s cost, the deficiency should be recognized as a valuation allowance.
However, that provision has been superseded by SFAS No. 121 and SFAS No. 144, which prohibit
the subsequent restoration of previously recognized impairment losses.

The amount of any senior debt (principal and accrued interest) to which the asset is subject
should be reported as a liability at the time of foreclosure and should not be deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset.

(ii) Foreclosed Assets Held for Production of Income. After foreclosure, assets determined to
be held for the production of income (and not held for sale) should be accounted for in the same
way that they would have been had the asset been acquired other than through foreclosure.

(n) PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT. At the time of this book’s publication, the
AICPA’s Accounting Standards Executive Committee (AcSEC) was considering a proposed SOP,
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“Accounting for Certain Costs and Activities Related to Property, Plant and Equipment,” which
would address accounting and disclosure issues related to PP&E&E, including those for initial
acquisition, construction, improvements, betterments, additions, and repairs and maintenance.

The proposed SOP tentatively sets forth a four-stage accounting framework for PP&E: prelim-
inary, preacquisition, acquisition-or-construction, and in-service.

During the preliminary stage, an option to acquire PP&E would be carried at the lower of fair
value less cost to sell. Once the purchase is probable, the option would be included in the cost
of PP&E and no longer carried at the lower of cost or fair value less cost to sell. An option not
deemed probable of exercise would be carried at the lower of cost or fair value less cost to sell
until sale or expiration.

Costs related to PP&E that are incurred during the preacquisition stage would be charged to
expense as incurred unless the costs are directly identifiable with the specific PP&E.

Costs incurred during the acquisition-or-construction stage would be charged to expense as
incurred unless they are directly identifiable with the specific PP&E or meet a set of criteria to be
determined by AcSEC.

The in-service stage begins once PP&E is substantially complete or ready for its intended
use. Once this stage is reached, most costs related to PP&E would be charged to expense as
incurred. Exceptions would be costs incurred for (1) the acquisition of additional PP&E or (2) the
replacement of existing PP&E.

The individual costs incurred for planned major maintenance activities would be evaluated
to determine whether they should be capitalized as (1) the acquisition of additional components
of PP&E or (2) the replacement of existing components of PP&E. All other costs incurred in a
planned major maintenance activity would be charged to expense as incurred.

30.4 ALLOCATION OF COSTS

After it has been determined what costs are capitalized, it becomes important to determine how
the costs should be allocated, because those costs will enter into the calculation of cost of sales of
individual units. Although a number of methods of allocation can be used in different circumstances,
judgment often must be used to make sure that appropriate results are obtained.

(@ METHODS OF ALLOCATION. Capitalized costs of real estate projects should first be
assigned to individual components of the project based on specific identification. If specific
identification on an overall basis is not practicable, capitalized costs should be allocated as
follows:

e Land costs and all other common costs should be allocated to each land parcel benefited.
Allocation should be based on the relative fair value before construction.

e Construction costs should be assigned to buildings on a specific identification basis and
allocated to individual units on the basis of relative value of each unit.

In the usual situation, sales prices or rentals are available to compute relative values. In rare sit-
uations, however, where relative value is impracticable, capitalized costs may be allocated based
on the area method/or the relative cost method as appropriate under the circumstances.

The following sections describe the specific identification, value, and area methods of cost
allocation.

(i) Specific Identification Method. This method of cost allocation is based on determining
actual costs applicable to each parcel of land. It rarely is used for land costs because such costs
usually encompass more than one parcel. However, it frequently is used for direct construction
costs because these costs are directly related to the property being sold. This method should be
used wherever practicable.
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(ii) Value Method. The relative value method is the method usually used after costs have
been assigned on a specific identification basis. Under this method, the allocation of common
costs should be based on relative fair value (before value added by on-site development and
construction activities) of each land parcel benefited. In multiproject developments, common costs
are normally allocated based on estimated sales prices net of direct improvements and selling costs.
This approach is usually the most appropriate because it is less likely to result in deferral of losses.

With respect to condominium sales, certain units will usually have a higher price because of
location. With respect to time-sharing sales, holiday periods such as Easter, Fourth of July, and
Christmas traditionally sell at a premium. Depending on the resort location, the summer or winter
season will also sell at a premium as compared with the rest of the year. Caution should be
exercised to ensure that the sales values utilized in cost allocation are reasonable.

(iii) Area Method. This method of cost allocation is based on square footage, acreage, or
frontage. The use of this method will not always result in a logical allocation of costs. When
negotiating the purchase price for a large tract of land, the purchaser considers the overall utility of
the tract, recognizing that various parcels in the tract are more valuable than others. For example,
parcels on a lake front are usually more valuable than those back from the lake. In this situation, if
a simple average based on square footage or acreage is used to allocate costs to individual parcels,
certain parcels could be assigned costs in excess of their net realizable value.

Generally, the area method should be limited to situations where each individual parcel is
estimated to have approximately the same relative value. Under such circumstances, the cost
allocations as determined by either the area or value methods would be approximately the same.

30.5 VALUATION ISSUES

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets,” which supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-
Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.” SFAS No. 144 retains many of the
fundamental provisions of SFAS No. 121, particularly that long-lived assets be measured at the
lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

A major change to previous practice is that the accounting model for long-lived assets to
be disposed of by sale applies to all long-lived assets, including discontinued operations, thus
superseding provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting Results of Operations—Reporting the
Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business.” Discontinued operations no longer are mea-
sured at net realizable value, nor do they include amounts for operating losses that have not yet
occurred. However, SFAS No. 144 retains the requirement in APB Opinion No. 30 to report sep-
arately discontinued operations and extends the reporting of discontinued operations to include all
components of an entity with operations that can be distinguished from the rest of the entity and
that will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity in a disposal transaction. The
new reporting requirements are intended to more clearly communicate in the financial statements
a change in its business that results from a decision to dispose of operations and, thus, provide
users with information needed to better focus on the ongoing activities of the entity.

In another major change from SFAS No. 121, the scope of SFAS No. 144 does not encompass
goodwill. That is, goodwill will not be written down as a result of applying the Statement, but
goodwill may be included in the carrying amount of an asset group for purposes of applying the
Statement’s provisions if that group is a reporting unit or includes a reporting unit. SFAS No. 144
also does not address impairment of other intangible assets that are not amortized; SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” issued in July 2001, addresses impairment of goodwill
and intangible assets that are not amortized.

(@) ASSETS TO BE HELD AND USED. SFAS No. 144 establishes the following three steps for
recognizing and measuring impairment on long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles to
be held and used:
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1. Indicators: The Statement provides a list of indicators that serve as a warning light when
the value of an asset to be held and used may have been impaired. The presence of any of
the following indicators evidence a need for additional investigation:

— A significant decrease in the market value of an asset

— A significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used or a significant
change in an asset

— A significant adverse change in legal factors or in business climate that could affect the
value of an asset or an adverse action or assessment by a regulator

— An accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected to
acquire or construct an asset

— A current period operating or cash flow loss combined with a history of operating or
cash flow losses or a projection or forecast that demonstrates continuing losses associated
with an asset used for the purpose of producing revenue

— A current expectation that it is more likely than not (greater than 50 percent likelihood)
that an asset will be sold or otherwise disposed of significantly before the end of its
previously estimated useful life

The list of indicators is not intended to be all-inclusive. Other events or changes in circum-
stances may indicate that the carrying amount of an asset that an entity expects to hold and
use may not be recoverable.

2. Gross Cash Flow Analysis. An entity that detects one or more of the indicators discussed
above should evaluate whether the sum of the expected future net cash flows (undiscounted
and without interest charges) associated with an asset to be held and used is at least equal to
the asset’s carrying amount. The FASB imposed a high threshold for triggering the impair-
ment analysis. The selection of a cash flow test based on undiscounted amounts will trigger
the recognition of an impairment loss less frequently than would a test based on fair value.

3. Measurement. For assets to be held and used, the Statement requires an impairment loss to
be measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the impaired asset exceeds
its fair value. The distinction between the recognition process, which uses undiscounted
cash flows, and the measurement process, which uses fair value or discounted cash flows,
is significant. As a result of a relatively minor change in undiscounted cash flows, the
impairment measurement process might kick in, thus causing the balance sheet amount to
drop off suddenly in any period in which undiscounted cash flows fall below a long-lived
asset’s carrying amount. Once assets to be held and used are written down, the Statement
does not permit them to be written back up. Thus, a new depreciable cost basis is established
after a write-down, and subsequent increases in the value or recoverable cost of the asset
may not be recognized until its sale or disposal. In addition, an asset that is assessed for
impairment should be evaluated to determine whether a change to the useful life or salvage
value estimate is warranted under APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes.” SFAS
No. 144 thus forces entities to immediately record a loss on an impaired asset instead of
shortening the depreciable life or decreasing the salvage value of the asset.

(b) ASSETS TO BE DISPOSED OF. SFAS No. 144 requires long-lived assets held for sale to
be reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell regardless of whether
the assets previously were held for use or recently acquired with the intent to sell. The cost to sell
generally includes the incremental direct costs to transact the sale, such as broker commissions,
legal and title transfer fees, and closing costs. Costs generally excluded from cost to sell include
insurance, security services, utility expenses, and other costs of protecting or maintaining the asset.
Subsequent upward adjustments to the carrying amount of an asset to be disposed of may not
exceed the carrying amount of the asset before an adjustment was made to reflect the decision to
dispose of it. A long-lived asset that is classified as held for sale is not depreciated during the
holding period.



30.6 CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS 3033

While SFAS No. 121 required an entity’s management to be committed to a disposal plan
before it could classify that asset as held for sale, it did not specify other factors that an entity
should consider before reclassifying the asset. SFAS No. 144 lists six criteria that must be met in
order to classify an asset as held for sale:

1. Management with the authority to do so commits to a plan to sell the asset (disposal group).

2. The asset (disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such assets (disposal groups). This
criterion does not preclude an entity from using an asset while it is classified as held for
sale nor does it require a binding agreement for future sale as a condition of reporting an
asset as held for sale.

3. The entity initiates an active program to locate a buyer and other actions that are required
to complete the plan to sell the asset (disposal group).

4. The entity believes that the sale of the asset (disposal group) is probable (i.e., likely to
occur), and, in general, it expects to record the transfer of the asset (disposal group) as a
completed sale within one year.

5. The entity actively is marketing the asset (disposal group) for sale at a price that is reasonable
in relation to its current fair value.

6. Actions required to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to
the plan will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn.

SFAS No. 144 requires an asset or group that will be disposed of other than by sale to continue
to be classified as held for use until the disposal transaction occurs. As a result, the asset continues
to be depreciated until the date of disposal. Dispositions other than by sale include abandonment
or a transaction that will be accounted for at the asset’s carrying amount, such as an exchange for
a similar productive long-lived asset or a distribution to owners in a spinoff.

(c) REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT. For homebuilders and other real estate developers, SFAS
No. 144 classifies land to be developed and projects under development as assets to be held and
used until the six criteria for reclassification as held for sale are met (see previous subsection).
As a result, unlike assets to be disposed of, such assets are analyzed in light of the impairment
indicator list and gross cash flows generated before any consideration is given to measuring an
impairment loss. In the absence of such a provision, nearly all long-term projects, regardless of
their overall profitability, would be subject to write-downs in their early stages of development,
only to be reversed later in the life of the project. Upon completion of development, the project is
reclassified as an asset to be disposed of.

30.6 CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS

Although most real estate developers acquire land in order to develop and construct improvements
for their own use or for sale to others, some develop and construct improvements solely for others.
There are also many general contractors whose principal business is developing and constructing
improvements for others and rarely, if ever, do they own the land.

This section covers guidelines for accounting for development and construction contracts where
the contractor does not own the land but is providing such services for others. The principal issue
in accounting for construction contracts is when to record income. Construction contracts are
generally of two types: fixed price and cost-plus. Under fixed price contracts, a contractor agrees
to perform services for a fixed amount. Although the contract price is fixed, it may frequently be
revised as a result of change orders as construction proceeds. If the contract is longer than a few
months, the contractor usually receives advances from the customer as construction progresses.

Cost-plus contracts are employed in a variety of forms, such as cost plus a percentage of cost or
cost plus a fixed fee. Sometimes defined costs may be limited and penalties provided in situations
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where stated maximum costs are exceeded. Under cost-plus agreements, the contractor is usually
reimbursed for its costs as costs are incurred and, in addition, is paid a specified fee. In most cases,
a portion of the fee is retained until the construction is completed and accepted. The method of
recording income under cost-plus contracts generally is the same as for fixed price contracts and
is described below.

(@) AUTHORITATIVE LITERATURE. In 1955, the AICPA Committee on Accounting Proce-
dures issued ARB No. 45 “Long-Term Construction-Type Contracts.” This document described the
generally accepted methods of accounting for long-term construction-type contracts for financial
reporting purposes and described the circumstances in which each method is preferable.

In 1981, the AICPA issued SOP 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and
Certain Production-Type Contracts.” This Statement culminated extensive reconsideration by the
AICPA of construction-type contracts. The recommendations set forth therein provide guidance on
the application of ARB No. 45 but do not amend that Bulletin. In 1982, the FASB issued SFAS No.
56, “Contractor Accounting” which states that the specialized accounting and reporting principles
and practices contained in SOP 81-1 are preferable accounting principles for purposes of justifying
a change in accounting principles.

Prior to the issuance of SOP 81-1, authoritative accounting literature used the terms long term
and short term in identifying types of contracts. SOP 81-1 chose not to use those terms as iden-
tifying characteristics because other characteristics were considered more relevant for identifying
the types of contracts covered. The guidelines set forth below are based largely on SOP 81-1.

(b) METHODS OF ACCOUNTING. The determination of the point or points at which revenue
should be recognized as earned and costs should be recognized as expenses is a major accounting
issue common to all business enterprises engaged in the performance of construction contracting.
Accounting for such contracts is essentially a process of measuring the results of relatively long-
term events and allocating those results to relatively short-term accounting periods. This involves
considerable use of estimates in determining revenues, costs, and profits and in assigning the
amounts to accounting periods. The process is complicated by the need to continually evaluate the
uncertainties that are inherent in the performance of contracts and by the need to rely on estimates
of revenues, costs, and the extent of progress toward completion.

There are two generally accepted methods of accounting for construction contracts: the percent-
age of completion method and the completed contract method. The determination of the preferable
method should be based on an evaluation of the particular circumstances, as the two methods are
not acceptable alternatives for the same set of circumstances. The method used and circumstances
describing when it is used should be disclosed in the accounting policy footnote to the financial
statements.

(i) Percentage of Completion Method. The use of this approach depends on the ability of the
contractor to make reasonably dependable estimates. The percentage of completion method should
be used in circumstances in which reasonably dependable estimates can be made and in which all
the following conditions exist:

e The contract is clear about goods or services to be provided, the consideration to be exchanged,
and the manner and terms of settlement.

e The buyer can be expected to pay for the services performed.
e The contractor can be expected to be able to perform his contractual obligations.

The percentage of completion method presents the economic substance of activity more clearly
and in a more timely manner than does the completed contract method. It should be noted that
estimates of revenues, costs, and percentage of completion are the primary criteria for income
recognition. Billings may have no real relationship to performance and generally are not a suitable
basis for income recognition.
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(i) Completed Contract Method. This method may be used in circumstances in which an
entity’s financial position and results of operations would not vary materially from those resulting
from the percentage of completion method. The completed contract method should be used when
reasonably dependable estimates cannot be made or when there are inherent hazards that cause
forecasts to be doubtful.

(iii) Consistency of Application. It is possible that a contractor may use one method for some
contracts and the other for additional contracts. There is no inconsistency, since consistency in
application lies in using the same accounting treatment for the same set of conditions from one
accounting period to another. The method used, and circumstances when it is used, should be
disclosed in the accounting policy footnote to the financial statements.

(c) PERCENTAGE OF COMPLETION METHOD. The percentage of completion method recog-
nizes the legal and economic results of contract performance on a timely basis. Financial statements
based on the percentage of completion method present the economic substance of a company’s
transactions and events more clearly and more timely than financial statements based on the com-
pleted contract method, and they present more accurately the relationships between gross profit
from contracts and related period costs. The percentage of completion method informs the users of
the general purpose financial statements concerning the volume of a company’s economic activity.

In practice, several methods are used to measure the extent of progress toward completion.
These methods include the cost-to-cost method, the efforts-expended method, the units-of-delivery
method and the units-of-work-performed method. These methods are intended to conform to the
recommendations of ARB 45 (par. 4), which states:

... that the recognized income be that percentage of estimated total income, either:

a. that incurred costs to date bear to estimated total costs after giving effect to estimates of costs to
complete based upon most recent information, or

b. that may be indicated by such other measure of progress toward completion as may be appropriate
having due regard to work performed.

One generally accepted method of measuring such progress is the stage of construction, as deter-
mined through engineering or architectural studies.

When using the “cost incurred” approach, there may be certain costs that should be excluded
from the calculation. For example, substantial quantities of standard materials not unique to the
project may have been delivered to the job site but not yet utilized. Or engineering and architectural
fees incurred may represent 20 percent of total estimated costs whereas only 10 percent of the
construction has been performed.

The principal disadvantage of the percentage of completion method is that it is necessarily
dependent on estimates of ultimate costs that are subject to the uncertainties frequently inherent in
long-term contracts.

The estimation of total revenues and costs is necessary to determine estimated total income.
Frequently a contractor can estimate total contract revenue and total contract cost in single amounts.
However, on some contracts a contractor may be able to estimate only total contract revenue and
total contract cost in ranges of amounts. In such situations, the most likely amounts within the
range should be used, if determinable. If not, the least favorable amounts should be used until the
results can be estimated more precisely.

(i) Revenue Determination. Estimating revenue on a contract is an involved process. The major
factors that must be considered in determining total estimated revenue include the basic contract
price, contract options, change orders, claims, and contract provisions for incentive payments and
penalties. All these factors and other special contract provisions must be evaluated throughout the
life of a contract in estimating total contract revenue.
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(ii) Cost Determination. At any time during the life of a contract, total estimated contract cost
consists of two components: costs incurred to date and estimated cost to complete the contract. A
company should be able to determine costs incurred on a contract with a relatively high degree of
precision. The other component, estimated cost to complete, is a significant variable in the process
of determining income earned and is thus a significant factor in accounting for contracts. SOP 81-1
states that the following five practices should be followed in estimating costs to complete:

1. Systematic and consistent procedures that are correlated with the cost accounting system
should be used to provide a basis for periodically comparing actual and estimated costs.

2. In estimating total contract costs the quantities and prices of all significant elements of cost
should be identified.

3. The estimating procedures should provide that estimated cost to complete includes the same
elements of cost that are included in actual accumulated costs; also, those elements should
reflect expected price increases.

4. The effects of future wage and price escalations should be taken into account in cost esti-
mates, especially when the contract performance will be carried out over a significant period
of time. Escalation provisions should not be blanket overall provisions but should cover labor,
materials, and indirect costs based on percentages or amounts that take into consideration
experience and other pertinent data.

5. Estimates of cost to complete should be reviewed periodically and revised as appropriate to
reflect new information.

(iii) Revision of Estimates. Adjustments to the original estimates of the total contract revenue,
cost, or extent of progress toward completion are often required as work progresses under the
contract, even though the scope of the work required under the contract has not changed. Such
adjustments are changes in accounting estimates as defined in APB Opinion No. 20. Under this
Opinion, the cumulative catch-up method is the only acceptable method. This method requires
the difference between cumulative income and income previously recorded to be recorded in the
current year’s income.

Exhibit 30.5 illustrates the percentage of completion method.

The amount of revenue, costs, and income recognized in the three periods would be as follows:

A contracting company has a lump-sum contract for $9 million to build a bridge at a total estimated
cost of $8 million. The construction period covers three years. Financial data during the construction
period is as follows:

(thousands of dollars) Year 1 Year 2 Year 3
Total estimated revenue $9,000 $9,100 $9,200
Cost incurred to date $2,050 $6,100 $8,200
Estimated cost to complete 6,000 _2,000 —

Total estimated cost $8,050 $8,100 $8,200
Estimated gross profit $ 950 $1,000 $1,000
Billings to date $1,800 $5,500 $9,200
Collections to date $1,500 $5,000 $9,200
Measure of progress 25% 75% ~100%

(d) COMPLETED CONTRACT METHOD. This method recognizes income only when a contract
is completed or substantially completed, such as when the remaining costs to be incurred are not
significant. Under this method, costs and billings are reflected in the balance sheet, but there are
no charges or credits to the income statement.
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Recognized Current
To Date Prior Year Year
(thousands of dollars)

Year 1 (25% completed)

Earned revenue ($9,000,000 x 0.25) $2,250.0 $2,250.0
Cost of earned revenue
($8,050,000 x 0.25) 2,012.5 2,012.5
Gross profit $ 2375 $ 2375
Gross profit rate 10.5% 10.5%
Year 2 (75% completed)
Earned revenue ($9,100,000 x 0.75) $6,825.0 $2,250.0 $4,575.0
Cost of earned revenue
($8,100,000 x 0.75) 6,075.0 2,012.5 4,062.5
Gross profit $ 750.0 $ 2375 $ 5125
Gross profit rate 11.0% 10.5% 11.2%
Year 3 (100% completed)
Earned revenue $9,200.0 $6,825.0 $2,375.0
Cost of earned revenue 8,200.0 6,075.0 2,125.0
Gross profit $1,000.0 $0,750.0 $0,250.0
Gross profit rate 10.9% 11.0% 10.5%

Exhibit 30.5 Percentage of completion, three-year contract. (Source: AICPA.)

As a general rule, a contract may be regarded as substantially completed if remaining costs and
potential risks are insignificant in amount. The overriding objectives are to maintain consistency
in determining when contracts are substantially completed and to avoid arbitrary acceleration
or deferral of income. The specific criteria used to determine when a contract is substantially
completed should be followed consistently. Circumstances to be considered in determining when
a project is substantially completed include acceptance by the customer, departure from the site,
and compliance with performance specifications.

The completed contract method may be used in circumstances in which financial position and
results of operations would not vary materially from those resulting from use of the percentage of
completion method (e.g., in circumstances in which an entity has primarily short-term contracts). In
accounting for such contracts, income ordinarily is recognized when performance is substantially
completed and accepted. For example, the completed contract method, as opposed to the percentage
of completion method, would not usually produce a material difference in net income or financial
position for a small contractor that primarily performs relatively short-term contracts during an
accounting period.

If there is a reasonable assurance that no loss will be incurred on a contract (e.g., when the
scope of the contract is ill-defined but the contractor is protected by a cost-plus contract or other
contractual terms), the percentage of completion method based on a zero profit margin, rather than
the completed contract method, should be used until more precise estimates can be made.

The significant difference between the percentage of completion method applied on the basis
of a zero profit margin and the completed contract method relates to the effects on the income
statement. Under the zero profit margin approach to applying the percentage of completion method,
equal amounts of revenue and cost, measured on the basis of performance during the period, are
presented in the income statement and no gross profit amount is presented in the income statement
until the contract is completed. The zero profit margin approach to applying the percentage of
completion method gives the users of general purpose financial statements an indication of the
volume of a company’s business and of the application of its economic resources.
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The principal advantage of the completed contract method is that it is based on results as finally
determined, rather than on estimates for unperformed work that may involve unforeseen costs and
possible losses. The principal disadvantage is that it does not reflect current performance when the
period of the contract extends into more than one accounting period. Under these circumstances,
it may result in irregular recognition of income.

(e) PROVISION FOR LOSSES. Under either of the methods above, provision should be made
for the entire loss on the contract in the period when current estimates of total contract costs
indicate a loss. The provision for loss should represent the best judgment that can be made in the
circumstances.

Other factors that should be considered in arriving at the projected loss on a contract include
target penalties for late completion and rewards for early completion, nonreimbursable costs on
cost-plus contracts, and the effect of change orders. When using the completed contract method and
allocating general and administrative expenses to contract costs, total general and administrative
expenses that are expected to be allocated to the contract are to be considered together with other
estimated contract costs.

() CONTRACT CLAIMS. Claims are amounts in excess of the agreed contract price that a
contractor seeks to collect from customers or others for customer-caused delays, errors in specifi-
cations and designs, unapproved change orders, or other causes of unanticipated additional costs.
Recognition of amounts of additional contract revenue relating to claims is appropriate only if it is
probable that the claim will result in additional contract revenue and if the amount can be reliably
estimated.

These requirements are satisfied by the existence of all the following conditions:

e The contract or other evidence provides a legal basis for the claim.

e Additional costs are caused by circumstances that were unforeseen at the contract date and
are not the result of deficiencies in the contractor’s performance.

e Costs associated with the claim are identifiable and are reasonable in view of the work
performed.

e The evidence supporting the claim is objective and verifiable.

If the foregoing requirements are met, revenue from a claim should be recorded only to the
extent that contract costs relating to the claim have been incurred. The amounts recorded, if
material, should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Change orders are modifications of an original contract that effectively change the provisions of
the contract without adding new provisions. They may be initiated by either the contractor or the
customer. Many change orders are unpriced; that is, the work to be performed is defined, but the
adjustment to the contract price is to be negotiated later. For some change orders, both scope and
price may be unapproved or in dispute. Accounting for change orders depends on the underlying
circumstances, which may differ for each change order depending on the customer, the contract,
and the nature of the change. Priced change orders represent an adjustment to the contract price
and contract revenue, and costs should be adjusted to reflect these change orders.

Accounting for unpriced change orders depends on their characteristics and the circumstances
in which they occur. Under the completed contract method, costs attributable to unpriced change
orders should be deferred as contract costs if it is probable that aggregate contract costs, including
costs attributable to change orders, will be recovered from contract revenues. For all unpriced
change orders, recovery should be deemed probable if the future event or events necessary for
recovery are likely to occur. Some factors to consider in evaluating whether recovery is probable
are the customer’s written approval of the scope of the change order, separate documentation for
change order costs that are identifiable and reasonable, and the entity’s favorable experience in
negotiating change orders (especially as it relates to the specific type of contract and change order
being evaluated). The following guidelines should be used in accounting for unpriced change orders
under the percentage of completion method:
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o Costs attributable to unpriced change orders should be treated as costs of contract performance
in the period in which the costs are incurred if it is not probable that the costs will be recovered
through a change in the contract price.

o If it is probable that the costs will be recovered through a change in the contract price, the
costs should be deferred (excluded from the cost of contract performance) until the parties
have agreed on the change in contract price, or, alternatively, they should be treated as costs
of contract performance in the period in which they are incurred, and contract revenue should
be recognized to the extent of the costs incurred.

o If it is probable that the contract price will be adjusted by an amount that exceeds the costs
attributable to the change order and the amount of the excess can be reliably estimated, the
original contract price should also be adjusted for that amount when the costs are recognized as
costs of contract performance if its realization is probable. However, since the substantiation
of the amount of future revenue is difficult, revenue in excess of the costs attributable to
unpriced change orders should only be recorded in circumstances in which realization is
assured beyond a reasonable doubt, such as circumstances in which an entity’s historical
experience provides assurance or in which an entity has received a bona fide pricing offer
from the customer and records only the amount of the offer as revenue.

If change orders are in dispute or are unapproved in regard to both scope and price, they should
be evaluated as claims.

30.7 OPERATIONS OF INCOME-PRODUCING PROPERTIES

(@) RENTAL OPERATIONS. Operations of income-producing properties represent a distinct
segment of the real estate industry. Owners are often referred to as real estate operators. Income-
producing properties include office buildings, shopping centers, apartments, industrial buildings,
and similar properties rented to others. A lease agreement is entered into between the owner/operator
and the tenant for periods ranging from one month to many years, depending on the type of prop-
erty. Sometimes an investor will acquire an existing income-producing property or alternatively
will have the builder or developer construct the property. Some developers, frequently referred to
as investment builders, develop and construct income properties for their own use as investment
properties.

SFAS No. 13 is the principal source of standards of financial accounting and reporting for
leases. Under SFAS No. 13, a distinction is made between a capital lease and an operating lease.
The lessor is required to account for a capital lease as a sale or a financing transaction. The lessee
accounts for a capital lease as a purchase. An operating lease, on the other hand, requires the lessor
to reflect rent income, operating expenses, and depreciation of the property over the lease term;
the lessee must record rent expense.

Accounting for leases is discussed in Chapter 23 and therefore is not covered in depth here.
Certain unique aspects of accounting for leases of real estate classified as operating leases, however,
are covered below.

(b) RENTAL INCOME. Rental income from an operating lease should usually be recorded by a
lessor as it becomes receivable in accordance with the provisions of the lease agreement

FTB No. 85-3 provides that the effects of scheduled rent increases, which are included in
minimum lease payments under SFAS No. 13, should be recognized by lessors and lessees on
a straight-line basis over the lease term unless another systematic and rational allocation basis
is more representative of the time pattern in which the leased property is physically employed.
Using factors such as the time value of money, anticipated inflation, or expected future revenues
to allocate scheduled rent increases is inappropriate because these factors do not relate to the time
pattern of the physical usage of the leased property. However, such factors may affect the periodic
reported rental income or expense if the lease agreement involves contingent rentals, which are
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excluded from minimum lease payments and accounted for separately under SFAS No. 13, as
amended by SFAS No. 29.

A lease agreement may provide for scheduled rent increases designed to accommodate the
lessee’s projected physical use of the property. In these circumstances, FTB No. 88-1 provides for
the lessee and the lessor to recognize the lease payments as follows:

a. If rents escalate in contemplation of the lessee’s physical use of the leased property, including
equipment, but the lessee takes possession of or controls the physical use of the property at the
beginning of the lease term, all rental payments including the escalated rents, should be recognized
as rental expenses or rental revenue on a straight-line basis in accordance with paragraph 15 of
Statement No. 13 and Technical Bulletin 85-3 starting with the beginning of the lease term.

b. If rents escalate under a master lease agreement because the lessee gains access to and control over
additional leased property at the time of the escalation, the escalated rents should be considered
rental expense or rental revenue attributable to the leased property and recognized in proportion to
the additional leased property in the years that the lessee has control over the use of the additional
leased property. The amount of rental expense or rental revenue attributed to the additional leased
property should be proportionate to the relative fair value of the additional property, as determined
at the inception of the lease, in the applicable time periods during which the lessee controls its
use.

(i) Cost Escalation. Many lessors require that the lessee pay operating costs of the leased prop-
erty such as utilities, real estate taxes, and common area maintenance. Some lessors require the
lessee to pay for such costs when they escalate and exceed a specified rate or amount. In some
cases, the lessee pays these costs directly. More commonly, however, the lessor pays the costs
and is reimbursed by the lessee. In this situation, the lessor should generally record these reim-
bursement costs as a receivable at the time the costs are accrued, even though they may not be
billed until a later date. Since these costs are sometimes billed at a later date, collectibility from
the lessee should, of course, be considered.

(ii) Percentage Rents. Many retail leases, such as those on shopping centers, enable the lessor
to collect additional rents, based on the excess of a stated percentage of the tenant’s gross sales
over the specified minimum rent. While the minimum rent is usually payable in periodic level
amounts, percentage rents (sometimes called overrides) are usually based on annual sales, often
with a requirement for periodic payments toward the annual amount.

SFAS No. 29 (par. 13), “Determining Contingent Rentals,” states: “Contingent rentals shall be
includable in the determination of net income as accruable.”

(c) RENTAL COSTS. The following considerations help determine the appropriate accounting
for project rental costs.

(i) Chargeable to Future Periods. Costs incurred to rent real estate should be deferred and
charged to future periods when they are related to and their recovery is reasonably expected from
future operations. Examples include initial direct costs such as commissions, legal fees, costs of
credit investigations, costs of preparing and processing documents for new leases acquired, and
that portion of compensation applicable to the time spent on consummated leases. Other examples
include costs of model units and related furnishings, rental facilities, semipermanent signs, grand
openings, and unused rental brochures, but not rental overhead, such as rental salaries (see “Period
Costs” below).

For leases accounted for as operating leases, deferred rental costs that can be directly related
to revenue from a specific operating lease should be amortized over the term of the related lease
in proportion to the recognition of rental income. Deferred rental costs that cannot be directly
related to revenue from a specific operating lease should be amortized to expense over the period
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of expected benefit. The amortization period begins when the project is substantially completed
and held available for occupancy. Estimated unrecoverable deferred rental costs associated with a
lease or group of leases should be charged to expense when it becomes probable that the lease(s)
will be terminated.

For leases accounted for as sales-type leases, deferred rental costs must be charged against
income at the time the sale is recognized.

(ii) Period Costs. Costs that are incurred to rent real estate projects that do not meet the above
criteria should be charged to expense as incurred. SFAS No. 67 specifically indicates that rental
overhead, which is defined in its glossary to include rental salaries, is an example of such period
costs. Other examples of expenditures that are period costs are initial indirect costs, such as that
portion of salaries and other compensation and fees applicable to time spent in negotiating leases
that are not consummated, supervisory and administrative expenses, and other indirect costs.

(d) DEPRECIATION. Under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), the costs of
income-producing properties must be depreciated. Depreciation, as defined by GAAP, is the sys-
tematic and rational allocation of the historical cost of depreciable assets (tangible assets, other
than inventory, with limited lives of more than one year) over their useful lives.

In accounting for real estate operations, the most frequently used methods of depreciation are
straight-line and decreasing charge methods. The most common decreasing charge methods are
the declining balance and sum-of-the-years-digits methods. Increasing charge methods, such as the
sinking fund method, are not generally accepted in the real estate industry in the United States.

The major components of a building, such as the plumbing and heating systems, may be
identified and depreciated separately over their respective lives. This method, which is frequently
used for tax purposes, usually results in a more rapid write-off.

(e) INITIAL RENTAL OPERATIONS. When a real estate project is substantially complete and
held available for occupancy, the procedures listed here should be followed:

¢ Rental revenue should be recorded in income as earned.

e Operating costs should be charged to expense currently.

e Amortization of deferred rental costs should begin.

o Full depreciation of rental property should begin.

e Carrying costs, such as interest and property taxes, should be charged to expense as accrued.

If portions of a rental project are substantially completed and occupied by tenants or held avail-
able for occupancy and other portions have not yet reached that stage, the substantially completed
portions should be accounted for as a separate project. Costs incurred should be allocated between
the portions under construction and the portions substantially completed and held available for
occupancy.

(f) RENTAL EXPENSE. Rental expense under an operating lease normally should be charged to
operations by a lessee over the lease term on a basis consistent with the lessor’s recording of
income, with the exception of periodic accounting for percentage rent expense, which should be
based on the estimated annual percentage rent.

30.8 ACCOUNTING FOR INVESTMENTS IN REAL ESTATE VENTURES

(@) ORGANIZATION OF VENTURES. The joint venture vehicle—the sharing of risk—has
been widely utilized for many years in the construction, mining, and oil and gas industries as well
as for real estate developments. Real estate joint ventures are typically entered into in recognition
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of the need for external assistance, for example, financing or market expertise. The most common
of these needs is capital formation.

Real estate ventures are organized either as corporate entities or, more frequently, as part-
nerships. Limited partnerships are often used because of the advantages of limited liability. The
venture is typically formed by a small group, with each investor actively contributing to the success
of the venture and participating in overall management, and with no one individual or corporation
controlling its operations. The venture is usually operated separately from other activities of the
investors. Regardless of the legal form of the real estate venture, the accounting principles for
recognition of profits and losses should be the same.

(b) ACCOUNTING BACKGROUND. Accounting practices in the real estate industry in general
and, more specifically, accounting for investments in real estate ventures have varied. The result
was lack of comparability and, in some cases, a lack of comprehension. Therefore, the following
relevant pronouncements were issued:

e APB Opinion No. 18. In response to the wide variation in accounting for investments, the
APB, in March 1971, issued Opinion No. 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for Invest-
ments in Common Stock.” This opinion became applicable to investments in unincorporated
ventures, including partnerships, because of an interpretation promulgated in November 1971.

o AICPA Statement of Position SOP No. 78-9. The AICPA recognized the continuing diversity
of practice and in December 1978 issued SOP 78-9, “Accounting for Investments in Real
Estate Ventures.” This statement was issued to narrow the range of alternative practices used
in accounting for investments in real estate ventures and to establish industry uniformity.
The AICPA currently is reconsidering the guidance in SOP 78-9 as part of a broader project,
“Equity Method Investments.”

e SFAS No. 94. In response to the perceived problem of off-balance sheet financing, of which
unconsolidated majority-owned subsidiaries were deemed to be the most significant aspect,
the FASB issued SFAS No. 94, “Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries,” in
October 1987. SFAS No. 94 eliminates the concept of not consolidating nonhomogeneous
operations and replaces it with the concept that the predominant factor in determining whether
an investment requires consolidation should primarily be control rather than ownership of a
majority voting interest. This Statement is also applicable to investments in unincorporated
ventures, including partnerships.

o AICPA Notice to Practitioners, ADC acquisition, development, and construction (ADC) Loans,

February 1986. Recognizing that financial institutions needed guidance on accounting for real
estate acquisition, development, and construction (ADC) arrangements, the AICPA issued
this notice (also known as the Third Notice). The notice provides accounting guidance on
ADC arrangements that have virtually the same risks and potential rewards as those of
joint ventures. It determined that accounting for such arrangements as loans would not be
appropriate and provides guidance on the appropriate accounting.
The SEC incorporated the notice into SAB No. 71 “Views Regarding Financial Statements
of Properties Securing Mortgage Loans.” SAB No. 71, and its amendment SAB No. 71A,
provide guidance to registrants on the required reporting under this notice. Also, EITF Issue
Nos. 84-4 and 86-21, as well as SAB No. 71, extend the provisions of this notice to all
entities, not just financial institutions.

e Proposed FASB Interpretation, Consolidation of Certain Special-Purpose Entities (SPES). The
FASB has approved for issuance an Exposure Draft of a proposed Interpretation that estab-
lishes accounting guidance for consolidation of SPEs. The proposed Interpretation, “Consol-
idation of Certain Special-Purpose Entities,” would apply to any business enterprise—both
public and private companies—that has an ownership interest, contractual relationship, or
other business relationship with an SPE. Under current practice, two enterprises generally
have been included in consolidated financial statements because one enterprise controls the
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other through voting ownership interests. The proposed Interpretation would explain how to
identify an SPE that is not subject to control through voting ownership interests and would
require each enterprise involved with such an SPE to determine whether it provides financial
support to the SPE through a variable interest. Variable interests may arise from financial
instruments, service contracts, nonvoting ownership interests, or other arrangements. If an
enterprise holds (1) a majority of the variable interests in the SPE or (2) a significant vari-
able interest that is significantly more than any other party’s variable interest, that enterprise
would be the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary would be required to include
the assets, liabilities, and results of the activities of the SPE in its consolidated financial
statements.

(c) INVESTOR ACCOUNTING ISSUES. The accounting literature mentioned above covers
many of the special issues investors encounter in practice. The major areas are:

e Investor accounting for results of operations of ventures

e Special accounting issues related to venture losses

¢ Investor accounting for transactions with a real estate venture, including capital contributions
e Financial statement presentation and disclosures

A controlling investor should account for its income and losses from real estate ventures under
the principles that apply to investments in subsidiaries, which usually require consolidation of the
venture’s operations. A noncontrolling investor should account for its share of income and losses
in real estate ventures by using the equity method. Under the equity method, the initial investment
is recorded by the investor at cost; thereafter, the carrying amount is increased by the investor’s
share of current earnings and decreased by the investor’s share of current losses or distributions.

In accounting for transactions with a real estate venture, a controlling investor must eliminate
all intercompany profit. When the investor does not control the venture, some situations require
that all intercompany profit be eliminated, whereas in others, intercompany profit is eliminated by
the investor only to the extent of its ownership interest in the venture. For example, as set forth
in AICPA SOP 78-9, even a noncontrolling investor is precluded from recognizing any profit on a
contribution of real estate or services to the venture. Accounting for other transactions covered by
SOP 78-9 includes sales of real estate and services to the venture, interest income on loans and
advances to the venture, and venture sales of real estate or services to an investor.

With regard to financial statement presentation, a controlling investor is usually required to
consolidate venture operations. A noncontrolling investor should use the equity method, with the
carrying value of the investment presented as a single amount in the balance sheet and the investor’s
share of venture earnings or losses as a single amount in the income statement. The proportionate
share approach, which records the investor’s share of each item of income, expense, asset, and
liability, is not considered acceptable except for legal undivided interests.

The material above is only a very brief summary of comprehensive publications, and there are
exceptions to some of those guidelines. In accounting for real estate venture operations and trans-
actions, judgment must be exercised in applying the principles to ensure that economic substance
is fairly reflected no matter how complex the venture arrangements.

(d) ACCOUNTING FOR TAX BENEFITS RESULTING FROM INVESTMENTS IN AFFORD-
ABLE HOUSING PROJECTS. The Revenue Reconciliation Act of 1993 provides tax benefits
to investors in entities operating qualified affordable housing projects. The benefits take the form
of tax deductions from operating loses and tax credits. In EITF Issue No. 94-1, “Accounting for
Tax Benefits Resulting from Investments in Affordable Housing Projects,” the EITF reached a
consensus that a limited partner in a qualified low income housing project may elect to use the
effective yield method (described below) if the following three conditions are met:

1. The availability of the limited partner’s share of the tax credits is guaranteed by a credit-
worthy entity through a letter of credit, tax indemnity agreement or other arrangement.
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2. The limited partner’s projected yield based solely on the cash flows from the guaranteed tax
credits is positive.

3. The limited partner’s liability for both legal and tax purposes is limited to its capital invest-
ment.

Under the effective yield method, the investor recognizes tax credits as they are allocated and
amortizes the initial cost of the investment to provide a constant effective yield over the period
that tax credits are allocated to the investor. The effective yield is the internal rate of return on
the investment, based on the cost of the investment and the guaranteed tax credits allocated to
the investor. Any expected residual value of the investment should be excluded from the effective
yield calculation. Cash received from operations of the limited partnership or sale of the property,
if any, should be included when realized or realizable.

Under the effective yield method, the tax credit allocated, net of the amortization of the invest-
ment in the limited partnership, is recognized in the income statement as a component of income
taxes attributable to continuing operations. Any other tax benefits received should be accounted
for pursuant to FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.”

An investment that does not qualify for accounting under the effective yield method should
be accounted for under SOP 78-9, which requires use of the equity method unless the limited
partner’s interest is so minor as to have virtually no influence over partnership operating and
financial policies. The EITF did not establish a “bright line” as to what percentage ownership
threshold is required under SOP 78-9 for selecting between the cost and equity methods. The
AICPA is currently reconsidering the guidance in SOP 78-9 in its project titled, “Equity Method
Investments.”

If the cost method is used, the excess of the carrying amount of the investment over its residual
value should be amortized over the period in which the tax credits are allocated to the investor.
Annual amortization should be based on the proportion of tax credits received in the current year
to total estimated tax credits to be allocated to the investor. The residual value should not reflect
anticipated inflation.

During the deliberations of EITF Issue No. 94-1, the staff of the SEC announced that they had
revised their position on accounting for investments in limited partnerships. Previously, the SEC
had not objected to the use of the cost method for limited partnership investments of up to 20
percent, provided the investor did not have significant influence as defined in APB Opinion No.
18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Commons Stock.” However, the revised
position is that the equity method should be used to account for limited partnership investments,
unless the investment is “so minor that the limited partner may have virtually no influence over
partnership operating and financial policies.” In practice, investments of more than three to five
percent would be considered more than minor. For public companies, this guidance is to be applied
to any limited partnership investment made after May 18, 1995. This would include not only the
investments in low income housing projects, but all real estate partnerships and any other types of
limited partnership investments (such as oil and gas, etc.).

30.9 FINANCIAL REPORTING

(@) FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION. There are matters of financial statement pre-
sentation—as opposed to footnote disclosures—that are unique to the real estate industry. The
financial reporting guidelines in this section are based on the principles set forth in authoritative
literature and reporting practice.

(i) Balance Sheet. Real estate companies frequently present nonclassified balance sheets; that
is, they do not distinguish between current and noncurrent assets or liabilities. This is because the
operating cycle of most real estate companies exceeds one year.

Real estate companies normally list their assets on the balance sheet in the order of liquidity, in
the same manner as other companies. A second popular method, however, is to list the real estate
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assets first, to demonstrate their importance to the companies. In either case, real estate assets
should be disclosed in the manner that is most demonstrative of the company’s operations. These
assets are often grouped according to the type of investment or operation as follows:

e Unimproved land

e Land under development

e Residential lots

e Condominium and single-family dwellings
¢ Rental properties

(ii) Statement of Income. Revenues and costs of sales are generally classified in a manner
consistent with that described for real estate investments. In 1976, the FASB issued SFAS No.
14, “Financial Reporting for Segments of a Business Enterprise,” which states that the financial
statements of an enterprise should include certain information about the industry segments of the
enterprise. An industry segment is defined in paragraph 10(a) as “a component of an enterprise
engaged in providing a product or service or a group of related products and services primarily to
unaffiliated customers (i.e. customers outside the enterprise) for profit.” Some developers, however,
have traditionally considered themselves to be in only one line of business.

In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information.” SFAS No. 131 supersedes SFAS No. 14, although it retains the requirement to
report information about major customers. SFAS No. 131 also amends SFAS No. 94, “Consolidation
of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries,” to eliminate the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries that
were not consolidated prior to the effective date of SFAS No. 94. SFAS No. 131 does not apply to
nonpublic entities. SFAS No. 131 adopts a “management approach” to identifying segments and
permits entities to aggregate operating segments if certain attributes are present.

(b) ACCOUNTING POLICIES. Because of the alternatives currently available in accounting
for real estate developments, it is especially important to follow the guidelines of APB Opinion
No. 22, “Disclosure of Accounting Policies.” The Opinion states (par. 12) that disclosures should
include the accounting principles and methods that involve any of the following:

A selection from existing acceptable alternatives.

Principles and methods peculiar to the industry in which the reporting entity operates, even if
such principles and methods are predominantly followed in that industry.

Unusual or innovative applications of GAAP (and, as applicable, of principles and methods
peculiar to the industry in which the reporting entity operates).

The following lists four accounting policy disclosures that are appropriate in the financial
statements of a real estate company, as opposed to a manufacturing or service enterprise.

1. Profit Recognition. The accounting method used to determine income should be disclosed.
Where different methods are used, the circumstances surrounding the application of each
should also be disclosed. Similarly, a comment should be included indicating the timing of
sales and related profit recognition.

2. Cost Accounting. The method of allocating cost to unit sales should be disclosed (e.g., rela-
tive market values, area, unit, specific identification). Financial statement disclosure should
include, where applicable, capitalization policies for property taxes and other carrying costs,
and policies with respect to capitalization or deferral of start-up or preoperating costs (selling
costs, rental costs, initial operations).

3. Impairment of Long-lived Assets. Real estate held for development and sale, including prop-
erty to be developed in the future as well as that currently under development, should follow
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the recognition and measurement principles set forth in SFAS No. 121 for assets to be held
and used. A real estate project, or parts thereof, that is substantially complete and ready for
its intended use shall be accounted for at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less
cost to sell.

4. Investment in Real Estate Ventures. Disclosures of the following accounting policies should
be made:

a. Method of inclusion in investor’s accounts (e.g., equity or consolidation)

b. Method of income recognition (e.g., equity or cost)

c. Accounting principles of significant ventures

d. Profit recognition practices on transactions between the investor and the venture

(c) NOTE DISCLOSURES. The following list describes other financial statement disclosures
that are appropriate in the notes to the financial statements of a real estate developer.

Real Estate Assets. If a breakdown is not reflected on the balance sheet, it should be included
in the footnotes. Disclosure should also be made of inventory subject to sales contracts that
have not been recorded as sales and the portion of inventory serving as collateral for debts.
Inventory Write-Downs. Summarized information or explanations with respect to significant
inventory write-downs should be disclosed in the footnotes because write-downs are generally
important and unusual items.
Nonrecourse Debt. Although it is not appropriate to offset nonrecourse debt against the related
asset, a note to the financial statements should disclose the amount and interrelationship of
the nonrecourse debt with the cost of the related property.
Capitalization of Interest. SFAS No. 34 requires the disclosure of the amount of interest
expensed and the amount capitalized.
Deferral of Profit Recognition. When transactions qualify as sales for accounting purposes but
do not meet the tests for full profit recognition and, as a result, the installment or cost recovery
methods are used, disclosure should be made of significant amounts of profit deferred, the
nature of the transaction, and any other information deemed necessary for complete disclosure.
Investments in Real Estate Ventures. Typical disclosures with respect to significant real
estate ventures include names of ventures, percentage of ownership interest, accounting and
tax policies of the venture, the difference, if any, between the carrying amount of the investment
and the investor’s share of equity in net assets and the accounting policy regarding amortization
of the difference, summarized information as to assets, liabilities, and results of operations or
separate financial statements, and investor commitments with respect to joint ventures.
Construction Contractors. The principal reporting considerations for construction contractors
relate to the two methods of income recognition: the percentage of completion method and
the completed contract method.
When the completed contract method is used, an excess of accumulated costs over related
billings should be shown in a classified balance sheet as a current asset and an excess of
accumulated billings over related costs should be shown as a current liability. If costs exceed
billings on some contracts and billings exceed costs on others, the contracts should ordinarily
be segregated so that the asset side includes only those contracts on which costs exceed
billings, and the liability side includes only those on which billings exceed costs.
Under the percentage of completion method, assets may include costs and related income not
yet billed, with respect to certain contracts. Liabilities may include billings in excess of costs
and related income with respect to other contracts.
The following disclosures, which are required for SEC reporting companies should generally
be made by a nonpublic company whose principal activity is long-term contracting:
e Amounts billed but not paid by customers under retainage provisions in contracts, and
indication of amounts expected to be collected in various years
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e Amounts included in receivables representing the recognized sales value of performance
under long-term contracts where such amounts had not been billed and were not billable at
the balance sheet date, along with a general description of the prerequisites for billing and
an estimate of the amount expected to be collected in one year

e Amounts included in receivables or inventories representing claims or other similar items
subject to uncertainty concerning their determination or ultimate realization, together with a
description of the nature and status of principal items, and amounts expected to be collected
in one year

e Amount of progress payments (billings) netted against inventory at the balance sheet date

(d) FAIR VALUE AND CURRENT VALUE. The traditional accounting model does not permit
the recognition of appreciation of real estate assets. This most affects depreciable income properties,
but it also affects land. Using the historical cost model, appreciation of good investments cannot
be used to offset losses on unsuccessful projects. Real estate companies have thus been among the
strongest proponents of fair value and current value reporting, particularly during periods of rapid
appreciation in property values.

(i) Financial Accounting Standards Board Fair Value Project. The FASB has on its agenda
a project to provide guidance for measuring and reporting essentially all financial assets and
liabilities and certain related assets and liabilities at fair value in the financial statements. The
active phases of this project as they relate to the real estate industry have addressed the valuation
of financial instruments. Some of the more significant documents that have been issued are SFAS
No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” SFAS No. 115, “Accounting
for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” and SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” A full discussion of these projects and how they
affect accounting for the real estate industry is beyond the scope of this chapter. Nevertheless,
many advanced forms of real estate financing may be considered financial instruments and are thus
subject to the guidance set forth in those documents.

A primary example of such a financing form is the real estate conduit. Conduits are organizations
that originate commercial and multifamily mortgage loans for the purpose of issuing collateralized
mortgage-backed securities (CMBS) instead of holding the loans in their loan portfolio. Conduits
are intermediaries between real estate borrowers and investors that buy CMBS. Conduits are usually
special capital market groups, which are subsidiaries of financial institutions such as commercial
banks and security firms.

(ii) AICPA Current Value Project. The AICPA had a project on current value reporting by
real estate companies that was shelved after issuance of an October 10, 1994, exposure draft of a
proposed SOP, “Reporting by Real Estate Companies of Supplemental Current-Value Information.”
As described in the exposure draft, the measurement of current value would consider the entity’s
intent and ability to realize asset values and settle liabilities. In addition, the reported amounts
would represent the values of specific balance sheet elements—not the value of the entity as a
whole. The AICPA attempted to ensure that the guidance would serve solely as the basis for
optional supplemental disclosure and not as the framework for an “other comprehensive basis of
accounting” (OCBOA).

The exposure draft was developed from the AICPA Real Estate Committee’s 1984 “Guidance
for an Experiment on Reporting Current Value Information for Real Estate,” which provided for a
comprehensive approach and a piecemeal approach to the presentation of current value information.
Although the piecemeal approach is not discouraged, the current value project focuses primarily
on the comprehensive approach, in which all assets and liabilities are reported at their current
amounts in balance sheet form.

Both the Experiment and the exposure draft recommend presentation of current value informa-
tion side by side with the corresponding GAAP information in comparative form. Although the
Experiment discussed the idea of including current value statements of operating performance and
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changes in equity, those statements are not addressed in the exposure draft. Instead, the exposure
draft focuses on the disclosure of interperiod changes in revaluation equity—the difference between
(1) the net current value of assets and liabilities and (2) the corresponding net carrying amount
determined in conformity with GAAP.

(iii) Deferred Taxes. The reporting of the deferred income tax liability in the current value
balance sheet has been controversial. The exposure draft would permit either of the following two
methods to be used in determining the deferred income tax liability to be reported in the current
value balance sheet:

e Method 1—The reported deferred income tax liability is equal to the discounted amount
of the estimated future tax payments, adjusted for the use of existing net operating loss
carryforwards or other carryforwards. The determination of the deferred income tax liability
is based on the enacted income tax rates and regulations at the balance sheet date (even if
not in effect at that date). The exposure draft contains a deemed sale provision at the end of
the fifteenth year, with the discounted amount of the tax that would be paid on such a sale
included in the reported liability.

e Method 2—The reported deferred income tax liability is based on enacted rates and regula-
tions at the balance sheet date (even if not in effect at that date). The enacted rate is multiplied
by the difference between the current value of total net assets and liabilities and their tax
bases, adjusted for the use of existing net operating loss carryforwards or other carryforwards.
Although this method of determining the anticipated tax liability is conceptually inconsistent
with the principle of determining current value based on the discounted amount of estimated
future cash flows, the method was included in the exposure draft because it is easy to apply
as a result of the fact that it reflects the effect of an immediate and complete liquidation of
the reporting entity’s portfolio.

(e) ACCOUNTING BY PARTICIPATING MORTGAGE LOAN BORROWERS. In May 1997,
the AICPA issued SOP 97-1, Accounting by Participating Mortgage Loan Borrowers. The SOP
establishes the borrower’s accounting when a mortgage lender participates in either or both of the
following:

o Increases in the market value of the mortgaged real estate project
e The project’s results of operations

If a lender participates in the market appreciation of the mortgaged property, the borrower must
determine the fair value of the appreciation feature at the inception of the loan. A liability equal
to the appreciation feature is recognized with a corresponding charge to a debt discount account.
The debt discount should be amortized using the interest method.

Interest expense in participating mortgage loans consists of the following items:

e Amounts designated in the mortgage agreement as interest
e Amounts related to the lender’s participation in operations

e Amounts representing amortization of the debt discount related to the lender’s participation
in the project’s appreciation

The borrower remeasures the participation liability each period. Any revisions to the participa-
tion liability resulting from the remeasurement results in an adjustment to the participation liability
via a debit or credit to the related debt discount. The revised debt discount should be amortized
prospectively using the effective interest rate.
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() GUARANTEES. The FASB has on its agenda a project on “Guarantees” that promises to
significantly affect real estate financiers. A proposed Interpretation will elaborate on the disclosures
to be made by a guarantor in its financial statements about its obligations under certain guarantees
that it has issued. It also will require a guarantor to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a
liability for the fair value of the obligations it has undertaken in issuing the guarantee. The proposed
Interpretation does not address the subsequent measurement of the guarantor’s recognized liability
over the term of the related guarantee.
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31.1 OVERVIEW

(@) CHANGING THE ENVIRONMENT. The financial institutions industry has changed sig-
nificantly in the last decade. Regulatory changes and increased competition have further blurred
the lines among depository institutions, mortgage banking activities, investment companies, credit
unions, investment banks, insurance companies, finance companies, and securities brokers and
dealers.

Competition has increased as all types of financial entities conduct business directly with poten-
tial depositors and borrowers. Transactions traditionally executed through depository institutions
are now handled by all types of financial institutions. Increased competition has heightened the
depository institutions’ desire for innovative approaches to attracting depositors and borrowers.
Institutions are seeking higher levels of noninterest income, restructuring banking operations to
reduce costs, and continuing consolidation within the industry.

(b) ROLE IN THE ECONOMY. Financial institutions in their basic role provide a medium of
exchange; however, they may also serve as a tool to regulate the economy. In a complex financial
and economic environment, the regulation of financial institutions—directly and indirectly—is
used to impact economic activity.

(c) TYPES OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS. Many types of financial institutions exist. The
more common types are described. In view of the range and diversity within financial institutions,
this chapter will focus on three major types of entities/activities: banks and savings institutions,
mortgage banking activities, and investment companies.

(i) Banks and Savings Institutions. Banks and savings institutions (including thrifts) continue
in their traditional role as financial intermediaries. They provide a link between entities that have
capital and entities that need capital, while also providing an efficient means for payment and
transfer of funds between these entities. Banks also provide a wide range of services to their
customers, including cash management and fiduciary services.

Financial modernization and financial reform legislation continues to change the way banks
and savings institutions conduct business. Banks and savings institutions have developed sophisti-
cated products to meet customer needs and technological advances to support such complex and
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specialized transactions. Continued financial reform may change the types and nature of permissible
banking activities and affiliations.

(i) Mortgage Banking Activities. Mortgage banking activities include the origination, sale, and
servicing of mortgage loans. Mortgage loan origination activities are performed by entities such as
mortgage banks, mortgage brokers, credit unions, and commercial banks and savings institutions.
Mortgages are purchased by government-sponsored entities, sponsors of mortgage-backed security
(MBS) programs, and private companies such as insurance companies, other mortgage banking
entities, and pension funds.

(iii) Investment Companies. Investment companies pool shareholders’ funds to provide the
shareholders with professional investment management. Typically, an investment company sells its
capital shares to the public, invests the proceeds to achieve its investment objectives, and distributes
to its shareholders the net income and net gains realized on the sale of its investments. The
types of investment companies include management investment companies, unit investment trusts,
collective trust funds, investment partnerships, certain separate accounts of insurance companies,
and offshore funds. Investment companies grew significantly in the early 1990s, primarily due to
growth in mutual funds.

(iv) Credit Unions. Credit unions are member-owned, not-for-profit cooperative financial insti-
tutions, organized around a defined membership. The members pool their savings, borrow funds,
and obtain other related financial services. A credit union relies on volunteers who represent the
members. Its primary objective is to provide services to its members, rather than to generate
earnings for its owners.

More recently, many credit unions have made arrangements to share branch offices with other
credit unions and depository institutions to reduce operating costs.

(v) Investment Banks. Investment banks or merchant banks deal with the financing requirements
of corporations and institutions. They may be organized as corporations or partnerships.

(vi) Insurance Companies. The primary purpose of insurance is the spreading of risks. The two
major types of insurance are life, and property and casualty. The primary purpose of life insurance
is to provide financial assistance at the time of death. It typically has a long period of coverage.
Property and casualty insurance companies provide policies to individuals (personal lines) and
to business enterprises (commercial lines). Examples of personal lines include homeowner’s and
individual automobile policies. Examples of commercial lines include general liability and workers’
compensation. Banks, mutual funds, and health maintenance organizations are aggressively trying
to expand into products traditionally sold by insurance companies. In recent years the insurance
industry benefited from the strong stock and bond markets; however, slow premium growth and
the increased competition continued to pressure insurers to reduce costs and improve profitability.

(vii) Finance Companies. Finance companies provide lending and financing services to con-
sumers (consumer financing) and to business enterprises (commercial financing). The more common
types of consumer financing include mortgage loans, retail sales contracts, and insurance service.
The more common types of commercial financing include factoring, revolving loans, installment,
term and floor plan loans, portfolio purchase agreements, and lease financing. Captive finance
entities represent manufacturers, retailers, wholesalers, and other business enterprises who provide
financing to encourage customers to buy their products and services. Many captive finance compa-
nies also finance third-party products. More recently, mortgage finance companies and diversified
finance companies have increased their presence by increasing the number of loans made to higher
risk niches at higher yields.
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(viii) Securities Brokers and Dealers. Securities brokers and dealers serve in various roles
within the securities industry. Brokers, acting in an agency capacity, buy and sell securities, com-
modities, and related financial instruments for their customers and charge a commission. Dealers or
traders, acting in a principal capacity, buy and sell for their own account and trade with customers
and other dealers. Broker-dealers perform a wide range of both types of activities, such as assist-
ing with private placements, underwriting public securities, developing new products, facilitating
international investment activity, serving as a depository for customers’ securities, extending credit,
and providing research and advisory services.

(ix) Real Estate Investment Trusts. The new class of Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITS),
formed since 1991, are basically self-contained real estate companies. They are designed to align
the interests of active management and passive investors, generate cash flow growth, and create
long-term value. Traditionally, REITs relied on mortgage debt to finance their development and
acquisition activities. Today many REITs are taking advantage of their large market capitalization
and strong balance sheets to raise cash by issuing debt on an unsecured basis.

31.2 BANKS AND SAVINGS INSTITUTIONS

(@) PRIMARY RISKS OF BANKS AND SAVINGS INSTITUTIONS. General business and eco-
nomic risk factors exist for many industries; however, increased competition among banks and
savings institutions has resulted in the industry’s aggressive pursuit of profitable activities. Tech-
niques for managing assets and liabilities and financial risks have been enhanced in order to
maximize income levels. Technological advances have accommodated increasingly complex trans-
actions such as the sale of securities backed by cash flows from other financial assets. Regulatory
policy has radically changed the business environment for banks, savings, and other financial insti-
tutions. Additionally, there are other risk factors common to most banks and savings institutions,
based on their business activities. The other primary risk factors are described next.

(i) Interest-Rate Risk. This is the risk that adverse movements in interest rates may result in
loss of profits since banks and savings institutions routinely earn on assets at one rate and pay on
liabilities at another rate. Techniques used to minimize interest-rate risk are a part of asset/liability
management.

(i) Liquidity Risk. This is the risk that an institution may be unable to meet its obligations
as they become due. An institution may acquire funds short term and lend funds long term to
obtain favorable interest rate spreads, thus creating liquidity risk if depositors or creditors demand
repayment.

(iii) Asset-Quality Risk. This is the risk that the loss of expected cash flows due to, for example,
loan defaults and inadequate collateral will result in significant losses. Examples include credit
losses from loans and declines in the economic value of mortgage servicing rights, resulting from
prepayments of principal during periods of falling interest rates.

(iv) Fiduciary Risk. This is the risk of loss arising from failure to properly process transactions
or handle the custody, management, or both, of financial related assets on behalf of third parties.
Examples include administering trusts, managing mutual funds, and servicing the collateral behind
asset-backed securities.

(v) Processing Risk. This is the risk that transactions will not be processed accurately or timely,
due to large volumes, short periods of time, unauthorized access of computerized records, or the
demands placed on both computerized and manual systems. Examples include electronic funds
transfers, loan servicing, and check processing.
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(b) REGULATION AND SUPERVISION OF BANKS AND SAVINGS INSTITUTIONS. The
legal system that governed the financial services industry in the United States was created in
response to the stock market crash of 1929 and the resulting Great Depression. Thousands of
banks went out of business and, in response, Congress passed the Glass-Steagall Act in 1933.
Glass-Steagall prohibited commingling the businesses of commercial and investment banking. Its
intent was to restrict banks from engaging in business activities that allegedly contributed to and
accelerated the stock market crash. In the view of legislators, the way to do this was to confine
banks to certain strictly defined activities.

In 1945, Congress enacted the McCarran-Ferguson Act as comprehensive legislation governing
the insurance industry. McCarran-Ferguson effectively delegated the responsibility for regulating
the business of insurance to the states. Since then, the states have maintained autonomy in their
regulatory role with relatively minor, but increasing, exceptions. With the Bank Holding Company
Act of 1956 and amendments in 1970, Congress limited affiliations between bank and nonbank
businesses.

Section 20 of the Glass-Steagall Act took on a life of its own. Section 20 limited banks’ ability to
own subsidiaries “principally engaged” in securities underwriting. Over time, that section evolved
from being considered a prohibition against any securities underwriting to permitting banks to
do so through a subsidiary, as long as underwriting revenues did not exceed 25 percent of total
revenues of that subsidiary—thus allowing them to meet the “not principally engaged” test. Over
the years, the effective relaxation of those restrictions enabled numerous acquisitions of securities
firms by U.S. bank holding companies and by foreign banks.

These barriers also eroded over time through a combination of changes in customer demands
and market activities, the increasing use of more sophisticated financial management techniques,
advances in technology, regulatory interpretations, and legal decisions. Product innovation played
arole, as the industry learned how to rapidly bundle and unbundle risk, creating new securitization
products and accessing the capital markets in ways that had not been contemplated under the
then-existing regulatory framework.

As banks assumed a larger role in insurance sales, brokerage, and securities underwriting
activities, products began to converge in the marketplace, and the perceived benefits from the
convergence of these and related activities instilled a new urgency in the effort to modernize and
clarify the regulatory framework governing financial services companies.

The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 (GLB Act) amended the Bank Holding Company Act
to allow a bank holding company or foreign bank that qualifies as a financial holding company to
engage in a broad range of activities that are defined by the GLB Act to be financial in nature or
incidental to a financial activity, or that the Federal Reserve Board (FRB), in consultation with the
Secretary of the Treasury, determines to be financial in nature or incidental to a financial activity.
The GLB Act also allows a financial holding company to seek Board approval to engage in any
activity that the FRB determines both to be complementary to a financial activity and not to pose
a substantial risk to the safety and soundness of depository institutions or the financial system
generally. Bank holding companies that do not qualify as financial holding companies are limited
to engaging in those nonbanking activities that were permissible for bank holding companies before
the GLB Act was enacted.

(c) REGULATORY BACKGROUND. Banks and savings institutions have special privileges and
protections granted by government. These incentives, such as credit through the Federal Reserve
System and federal insurance of deposits, have not been similarly extended to commercial enter-
prises. Accordingly, the benefits and responsibilities associated with their public role as financial
intermediaries have brought banks and savings institutions under significant governmental over-
sight.

As a result of the financial repercussions of the Great Depression, the government took certain
measures to maintain the stability of the country’s financial system. Several new regulatory and
supervisory agencies were created to promote economic stability, particularly in the banking indus-
try, and to strengthen the regulatory and supervisory agencies that were in existence at the time.
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Among the agencies created were the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Federal Home Loan Bank Board (FHLBB), and the Federal
Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation (FSLIC). The agencies that were strengthened included
the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) and the FRB. These entities were responsible
for designing and establishing policies and procedures for the regulation and supervision of national
and state banks, foreign banks doing business in the United States, and other depository institu-
tions. This regulatory and supervisory structure, created during the 1930s, was in place for almost
60 years. In 1989, Congress enacted the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement
Act (FIRREA), which changed the regulatory and supervisory structure of thrift institutions. The
FIRREA eliminated the FHLBB and the FSLIC. In their place, it created the Office of Thrift Super-
vision (OTS) as the primary regulator of the thrift industry and the Savings Association Insurance
Fund (SAIF) as the thrift institutions’ insurer to be administered by the FDIC.

Even though several of the aforementioned federal agencies have overlapping regulatory and
supervisory responsibilities over depository institutions, in general terms, the OCC has primary
responsibility for national banks; the FRB has primary responsibility over state banks that are
members of the FRB, all financial holding companies and bank holding companies and their non-
bank subsidiaries, and most U.S. operations of foreign banks; the FDIC has primary responsibility
for all state-insured banks that are not members of the FRB (nonmember banks); and the OTS has
primary responsibility for thrift institutions. Exhibit 31.1 lists these regulatory responsibilities.

(i) Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency
(OCC) charters, regulates, and supervises all national banks. It also supervises the federal branches
and agencies of foreign banks. Headquartered in Washington, D.C., the OCC has six district offices
plus an office in London to supervise the international activities of national banks.

The OCC was established in 1863 as a bureau of the U.S. Department of the Treasury. The
OCC is headed by the comptroller, who is appointed by the president, with the advice and consent
of the Senate, for a five-year term. The comptroller also serves as a director of the FDIC and a
director of the Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation.

The OCC’s nationwide staff of examiners conducts on-site reviews of national banks and
provides sustained supervision of bank operations. The agency issues rules, legal interpretations,
and corporate decisions concerning banking, bank investments, bank community development
activities, and other aspects of bank operations.

National bank examiners supervise domestic and international activities of national banks and
perform corporate analyses. Examiners analyze a bank’s loan and investment portfolios, funds
management, capital, earnings, liquidity, sensitivity to market risk, and compliance with consumer

State
Banking Federal

Bank Classifications* OTS OCC Department Reserve FDIC
National banks X
State banks and trust companies

Federal Reserve members X X

Nonmembers

FDIC insured X X

Noninsured X
Bank holding companies X
Thrift holding companies X

Savings Banks X X X

Savings and Loan Associations X
*All national banks are members of the Federal Reserve Board. All national banks and state
chartered member banks are insured by the FDIC.

Exhibit 31.1  Supervisor and regulator.
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banking laws, including the Community Reinvestment Act. They review the bank’s internal con-
trols, internal and external audit, and compliance with law. They also evaluate bank management’s
ability to identify and control risk.

In regulating national banks, the OCC has the power to:

e Examine the banks.

o Approve or deny applications for new charters, branches, capital, or other changes in corporate
or banking structure.

o Take supervisory actions against banks that do not comply with laws and regulations or that
otherwise engage in unsound banking practices. The agency can remove officers and directors,
negotiate agreements to change banking practices, and issue cease-and-desist orders as well
as civil money penalties.

o Issue rules and regulations governing bank investments, lending, and other practices.

(ii) Federal Reserve Board. The Federal Reserve Board (FRB) was created by Congress in
1913 by the Federal Reserve Act. The primary role of the FRB as the nation’s central bank is
to establish and conduct monetary policy, as well as to regulate and supervise a wide range of
financial activities. The structure of the FRB includes a board of governors, 12 Federal Reserve
banks, and the member banks. The board of governors consists of seven members appointed by
the president, subject to Senate confirmation. National banks must be members of the FRB. State
banks are not required to, but may elect to, become members. Member banks and other depository
institutions are required to keep reserves with the FRB, and member banks must subscribe to the
capital stock of the reserve bank in the district to which they belong.

Since all national banks are supervised by the OCC, the FRB primarily regulates and supervises
member state banks, including administering the registration and reporting requirements of the 1934
Act.

The regulatory and supervisory functions and other services provided by the FRB include:

e Examining the Federal Reserve banks, state member banks, bank holding companies and
their nonbank subsidiaries, and state licensed U.S. branches of foreign banks

o Requiring reports of member and other banks
e Setting the discount rate

e Providing credit facilities to members and other depository institutions for liquidity and other
purposes

e Monitoring compliance with the money-laundering provisions contained in the Bank Secrecy
Act

o Regulating transactions between banking affiliates

e Approving or denying applications by state banks to become members and to branch or merge
with nonmember banks

e Approving or denying applications to become bank holding companies and for bank holding
companies to acquire bank or nonbank subsidiaries

e Approving or denying applications by foreign banks to establish representative offices,
branches, agencies, or bank subsidiaries in the United States

e Supplying currency when needed

e Regulating the establishment of foreign operations of national and state member banks and
the operations of foreign banks doing business in the United States

e Enforcing legislation and issuing rules and regulations dealing with consumer protection
e Operating the nation’s payment system
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(iii) Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(FDIC) was created under the Banking Act of 1933. The main purpose for its creation was to
insure bank deposits in order to maintain economic stability in the event of bank failures. FIRREA
restructured the FDIC during 1989 to carry out broadened functions by insuring thrift institutions
as well as banks. The FDIC now insures all depository institutions except credit unions.

The FDIC is an independent agency of the U.S. government, managed by a five-member board
of directors, consisting of the Comptroller of the Currency, the Director of the OTS, and three
other members, including a chairman, appointed by the president, subject to Senate confirmation.

The FDIC insures deposits under two separate funds: the Bank Insurance Fund (BIF) and the
SAIF. From its BIF, the FDIC insures national and state banks that are members of the FRB. These
institutions are required to be insured. Also insured from this fund are state nonmember banks and
a limited number of insured branches of foreign banks (after 1991 foreign bank branches could no
longer apply for FDIC insurance).

From its SAIF, the FDIC insures all federal savings and loan associations and federal savings
banks. These institutions are required to be insured. State thrift institutions are also insured from
this fund.

Currently, each account, subject to certain FDIC rules, in an insured depository institution is
insured to a maximum of $100,000. Other responsibilities of the FDIC include:

Supervising the liquidation of insolvent insured depository institutions

Providing financial support and additional measures to prevent insured depository institution
failures

Supervising state nonmember insured banks by conducting bank examinations, regulating
bank mergers, consolidations and establishment of branches, and establishing other regulatory
controls

Administering the registration and reporting requirements of the 1934 Act as applied to state
nonmember banks

(iv) Office of Thrift Supervision. In 1989, FIRREA created the Office of Thrift Supervision
(OTS) under the Department of the Treasury. The OTS regulates federal and state thrift institutions
and thrift holding companies. As a principal rule maker, examiner, and enforcement agency, OTS
exercises primary regulatory authority to grant federal thrift institution charters, approve branching
applications, and allow mutual-to-thrift charter conversions. OTS is headed by a presidentially
appointed director. The 12 district Federal Home Loan Banks (FHLBs) continue to be the primary
source of credit for thrift institutions.

(d) REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT. The early 1980s were marked by the removal of interest-
rate ceilings, the applications of reserve requirements to all depository institutions, expanded thrift
powers, and related deregulatory actions. However, the failures of a large number of thrift institu-
tions and commercial banks caused legislators in 1989 and 1991 to increase regulatory oversight.
Both FIRREA and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991 (FDICIA)
were directed toward protection of federal deposit insurance funds through early detection of an
intervention in problem institutions with an emphasis on capital adequacy. FIRREA also established
the Resolution Trust Corporation (RTC), which took over the conservatorship and liquidation of a
large number of failed thrift institutions due to the bankruptcy of the FSLIC. The RTC completed
its mission in 1996 at a net cost of approximately $150 billion to the federal government.

In addition to safety and soundness considerations, current banking regulations recognize eco-
nomic issues, such as the desire for banks and savings institutions to successfully compete with
other, less regulated financial services providers, as well as to address social issues, such as com-
munity reinvestment, nondiscrimination, and fair treatment in consumer credit, including residential
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lending. Costs and benefits of regulations are weighed as the approach to regulation of the industry
is redefined.

(e) FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION IMPROVEMENT ACT SECTION 112.
Regulations implementing Section 36 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (FDI Act), as added
by Section 112 of FDICIA, became effective July 2, 1993. These regulations imposed additional
audit, reporting, and attestation responsibilities on management, directors (especially the audit
committee), internal auditors, and independent accountants of banks and savings institutions with
$500 million or more in total assets. The reporting requirements were effective for fiscal years
ending on or after December 31, 1993. Congress amended the law in 1996 to eliminate attestation
reports concerning compliance with certain banking laws; however, management is still required
to report on compliance with such laws.

(i) The Regulation and Guidelines. The regulation itself is short, only about 1,000 words.
However, it is accompanied by Appendix A to Part 363—Guidelines and Interpretations—that
contain 36 guidelines, providing an explanation to its meaning and operation. The guidelines often
leave discretion with an institution or its board, while simultaneously providing guidance that, if
followed, would provide a safe harbor from examiner criticism.

(i) Basic Requirements. Each FDIC-insured depository institution with assets in excess of
$500 million at the beginning of its fiscal year (“covered institutions”) is subject to the following
requirements:

Annual Report.  Covered institutions must file an annual report, within 90 days of its fiscal year
end, with the FDIC and its other appropriate state or federal bank regulator. The annual report
must include:

(a) Audited financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) and audited by an Independent Public Accountant (IPA) meeting the
qualifications.

(b) A management report signed by its chief executive and chief financial officer or chief
accounting officer containing:

o A statement of management’s responsibilities for:
o Preparing the annual financial statements
o Establishing and maintaining an adequate internal control structure and procedures for
financial reporting
o Complying with particular laws designated by the FDIC as affecting the safety and
soundness of insured depositories

o Assessment by management of:

o The effectiveness of the institution’s internal control structure and procedures for finan-
cial reporting as of the end of the fiscal year.

o The institution’s compliance, during the fiscal year, with the designated safety and
soundness laws. The FDIC designated only two kinds of safety and soundness laws to
be addressed in the compliance report: (1) federal statutes and regulations concerning
transactions with insiders and (2) federal and state statutes and regulations restricting
the payment of dividends.

(c) An attestation report, by an IPA, on internal control structure and procedures for financial
reporting. The institution’s IPA must examine, attest to, and report separately on manage-
ment’s assertions about internal controls and about compliance. The attestations are to be
made in accordance with generally accepted standards for attestation engagements.
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In FIL No. 86-94, the FDIC indicated that financial reporting, at a minimum, includes financial
statements prepared under GAAP and the schedules equivalent to the basic financial statements
that are included in the institution’s appropriate regulatory report (e.g., Schedules RC, RI, and
RI-A in the Call Report).

On February 6, 1996, the Board of the FDIC amended the procedures that IPAs follow in testing
compliance to streamline the procedures and to reduce regulatory burden.

Audit Committee. Covered institutions must establish an independent audit committee composed
of directors who are independent of management. The entire board of directors annually is required
to adopt a resolution documenting its determination that the audit committee has met all FDIC-
imposed requirements.

The audit committee of any “large” IDI (i.e., total assets of more than $3 billion, measured
as of the beginning of each fiscal year) shall include members with banking or related financial
management expertise, have access to its own outside counsel, and not include any large customers
of the institution. If a large institution is a subsidiary of a holding company and relies on the audit
committee of the holding company to comply with this rule, the holding company audit committee
shall not include any members who are large customers of the subsidiary institution. Appendix
A to Part 363 provides guidelines in determining whether the audit committee meets the above
criteria.

The audit committee is required to review with management and the IPA the basis for the
reports required by the FDIC’s regulation. FDIC suggests, but does not mandate, additional audit
committee duties, including overseeing internal audit, selecting the IPA, and reviewing significant
accounting policies.

Each subject institution must provide its independent accountant with copies of the institution’s
most recent reports of condition and examination; any supervisory memorandum of understanding
or written agreement with any federal or state regulatory agency; and a report of any action initiated
or taken by federal or state banking regulators.

(iii) Holding Company Exception. The requirements of the FDIC’s regulation, in some
instances, may be satisfied by a bank’s or savings association’s parent holding company. The
requirement for audited financial statements always may be satisfied by providing audited financial
statements of the consolidated holding company. The requirements for other reports, as well as for
an independent audit committee, may be satisfied by the holding company if:

e The holding company’s services and functions are comparable to those required of the depos-
itory institution.

e The depository institution has total assets as of the beginning of the fiscal year either of less
than $5 billion or equal to or greater than $5 billion and a CAMELS composite rating of 1
or 2. Section 314(a) of the Riegle Community Development and Regulatory Improvement
Act of 1994 amended Section 36(i) of the FDI Act to expand the holding company exception
to be equal to or greater than $5 billion. The requirement that the institution must have a
CAMELS composite rating of 1 or 2 remained unchanged.

The appropriate federal banking agency may revoke the exception for any institution with total
assets in excess of $9 billion for any period of time during which the appropriate federal banking
agency determines that the institution’s exception would create a significant risk to the affected
deposit insurance fund.

(iv) Availability of Reports. All of management’s reports are made publicly available. The
independent accountant’s report on the financial statements and attestation report on financial
reporting controls is also made publicly available.
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(f) CAPITAL ADEQUACY GUIDELINES. Capital is one of the primary tools used by regulators
to monitor the financial health of insured banks and savings institutions. Statutorily mandated
supervisory intervention is focused primarily on an institution’s capital levels relative to regulatory
standards. The federal banking agencies detail these requirements in their respective regulations
under capital adequacy guidelines. The capital adequacy requirements are implemented through
quarterly regulatory financial reporting (“Call Reports” and “Thrift Financial Reports [TFRs]”).

(i) Risk-Based and Leverage Ratios. Capital adequacy is measured mainly through two risk-
based capital ratios and a leverage ratio, with thrifts subject to an additional tangible capital
ratio.

(i) Tier 1, Tier 2, and Tier 3 Components. Regulatory capital may be composed of three com-
ponents: core capital or Tier 1, supplementary capital or Tier 2, and for those institutions meeting
market risk capital requirements, Tier 3. Tier 1 capital includes elements such as common stock,
surplus, retained earnings, minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries and qualifying preferred
stock, adjustments for foreign exchange translation, and unrealized losses on equity securities
available for sale with readily determinable market values. Tier 2 capital includes, with certain
limitations, elements such as general loan loss reserves, certain forms of preferred stock, long-term
preferred stock, qualifying intermediate-term preferred stock and term subordinated debt, perpetual
debt, and other hybrid debt/equity instruments; Tier 3 capital consists of short-term subordinated
debt that meets certain conditions and may be used only by institutions subject to market-risk
capital requirements to the extent that Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital elements do not provide adequate
Tier 1 and total risk-based capital ratio levels.

Specifically, Tier 3 capital must have an original maturity of at least two years; it must be
unsecured and fully paid up; it must be subject to a lock-in clause that prevents the issuer from
repaying the debt even at maturity if the issuer’s capital ratio is, or with repayment would become,
less than the minimum eight percent risk-based capital ratio; it must not be redeemable before
maturity without the prior approval of the institution’s supervisor; and it must not contain or be
covered by any covenants, terms, or restrictions that may be inconsistent with safe and sound
banking practices. Tier 2 capital elements individually and together are variously restricted in
proportion to Tier 1 capital, which is intended to be the dominant capital component.

Certain deductions are made to determine regulatory capital, including goodwill and other
disallowed intangibles, excess portions of qualifying intangibles and deferred tax assets, investments
in unconsolidated subsidiaries, and reciprocal holdings of other bank’s capital instruments. Certain
adjustments made to equity under GAAP for unrealized gains and losses on debt and equity
securities available for sale under Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement No.
115, mainly unrealized gains, are excluded from Tier 1 and Total Capital. Portions of qualifying,
subordinated debt, and limited-life preferred stock exceeding 50 percent of a bank’s Tier 1 capital
are also deducted. Any regulatory capital deduction is also made to average total assets for ratio
computation purposes. The new market-risk capital guidelines discussed below also contained
further capital constraints, by stating that the sum of Tier 2 and Tier 3 capital allocated for market
risk may not exceed 250 percent of Tier 1 capital allocated for market risk. A thrift’s tangible
capital is generally defined as Tier 1 capital less intangibles.

(iii) Risk-Weighted Assets. The capital ratios are calculated using the applicable regulatory
capital component in the numerator and either risk-weighted assets or total adjusted on-balance
sheet assets as the denominator, as appropriate. Risk-weighted assets are ascertained pursuant to
the regulatory guidelines that allocate gross average assets among four categories of risk weights
(0%, 20%, 50%, and 100%). The allocations are based mainly on type of asset, type of obligor,
and nature of collateral, if any. Gross assets include on-balance sheet assets, credit equivalents of
certain off-balance exposures, and credit equivalents of certain assets sold with recourse, limited
recourse, or that are treated as financings for regulatory reporting purposes.

Credit equivalents of off-balance-sheet exposures are determined by the nature of the exposure.
For example, direct credit substitutes (e.g., standby letters of credit) are credit converted at 100
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percent of the face amount. Other off-balance-sheet activities are subject to the current exposure
method, which is composed of the positive mark-to-market value (if any) and an estimate of the
potential increase in credit exposure over the remaining life of the contract. These “add-ons” are
estimated by applying defined credit conversion factors, differentiated by type of instrument and
remaining maturity, to the contract’s notional value. The nature and extent of recourse impacts
the calculation of credit equivalents amounts of assets sold or securitized. In December 2001, the
banking agencies issued a final rule amending the agencies’ regulatory capital standards to align
more closely the risk-based capital treatment of recourse obligations and direct credit substitutes.
The rule also varies the capital requirements for position in securitized transactions and certain
other exposures according to their relative credit risk and requires capital commensurate with the
risks associated with residual interests.

(iv) Capital Calculations and Minimum Requirements. The capital ratios, calculations, and
minimum requirements are presented in Exhibit 31.2.

(v) Interest Rate Risk and Capital Adequacy. OTS capital rules require that certain savings
associations with excessive interest rate risk exposure (as defined) must deduct 50 percent of the
estimated decline in its net portfolio value resulting from a 200 basis point change in market
interest rates in excess of 2 percent of the estimated economic value of portfolio assets. In August
1995, the banking agencies amended their minimum capital requirements explicitly to include
consideration of interest rate risk, but established no means for quantifying that risk to a specific
amount of additional capital. During 1996, the federal bank regulatory agencies approved a policy
statement on sound practices for managing interest rate risk in commercial banks, but did not
include a standardized framework for measuring interest rate risk. The agencies elected not to
pursue a standardized measure and explicit capital charge for interest rate risk, due to concerns
about the burden, accuracy, and complexity of a standardized measure and recognition that industry
techniques for measuring interest rate risk are continuing to evolve.

(vi) Capital Allocated for Market Risk. In September 1996, the federal bank regulatory agen-
cies (OCC, FDIC, FRB) amended their respective risk-based capital standards to address market
risk. Specifically, an institution subject to the market risk capital requirement must adjust its
risk-based capital ratio to take into account the general market risk of all positions located in
its trading account and foreign exchange and commodity positions, wherever located and for
the specific risk of debt and equity positions located in its trading account. Market risk capital
requirements generally apply to any bank or bank holding company whose trading activities equal
10 percent or more of its total assets, or whose trading activity equals $1 billion or more. In
addition, on a case-by-case basis, an agency may require an institution that does not meet the
applicability criteria to comply with the market risk guidelines, if the agency deems it neces-
sary for safety and soundness purposes, or may exclude an institution that meets the applicability
criteria.

Minimum
Capital Ratio Calculation Requirement
Total risk-based ratio:
Unadjusted Tier T + Tier 2/Risk-weighted assets > 8.0%
Adjusted for marked risk Tier 1 + Tier 2 + Tier 3/Risk-weighted assets
plus market-risk equivalent assets > 8.0%
Tier 1 risk-based ratio Tier 1/Risk-weighted assets > 4.0%
Tier 1 leverage capital ratio Tier 1/Average on-balance sheet assets > 4.0%"*
Tangible ratio (Thrifts) Tangible capital/on-balance sheet assets >1.5%
*3.0% for institutions CAMELS/MACRO rated ““1” (overall).

Exhibit 31.2 Capital ratio calculations and minimum requirements.



31-14  FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

No later than January 1, 1998, institutions with significant market risk were required to:

e Maintain regulatory capital on a daily basis at an overall minimum of eight percent ratio of
total qualifying capital to risk-weighted assets, adjusted for market risk

e Include a supplemental market-risk capital charge in their risk-based capital calculations and
quarterly regulatory reports

e Maintain appropriate internal measurement, reporting, and risk management systems to gen-
erate and monitor the basis for the value-at-risk (VAR) and the associated capital charge

The institution’s risk-based capital ratio adjusted for market risk is its risk-based capital ratio
for purposes of prompt corrective action and other statutory and regulatory purposes.

Institutions are permitted to use different assumptions and modeling techniques reflecting dis-
tinct business strategies and approaches to risk management. The agencies do not specify VAR
modeling parameters for internal risk management purposes; however, they do specify minimum
qualitative requirements for internal risk management processes, as well as certain quantitative
requirements for the parameters and assumptions for internal models used to measure market risk
exposure for regulatory capital purposes.

Backtesting.  Institutions must perform backtests of their VAR measures as calculated for inter-
nal risk management purposes. The backtests must compare daily VAR measures calibrated to a
one-day movement in rates and prices and a 99 percent (one-tailed) confidence level against the
institution’s actual daily net trading profit or loss (trading outcome) for each of the preceding 250
business days. The backtests must be performed once each quarter. An institution’s obligation to
backtest for regulatory capital purposes does not arise until the institution has been subject to the
final rule for 250 business days (approximately one year) and, thus, has accumulated the requisite
number of observations to be used in backtesting. Institutions that are found not to have appro-
priate models and backtesting programs or if backtesting results reflect insufficient accuracy likely
will be required to incorporate more conservative calculation factors that would result in a higher
capital charge for market risk.

(g PROMPT CORRECTIVE ACTION. The federal banking agencies are statutorily mandated
to assign each FDIC insured depository institution to one of five capital categories, quantitatively
defined by the risk-based and leverage capital ratios.

1. Well Capitalized. If capital level significantly exceeds the required minimum level for each
relevant capital category.

2. Adequately Capitalized. If capital level meets the minimum level.
3. Undercapitalized. If capital level fails to meet one or more of the minimum levels.

4. Significantly Undercapitalized. If capital level is significantly below one or more of the
minimum levels.

5. Critically Undercapitalized. If the ratio of tangible equity (as statutorily defined) to total
assets is 2 percent or less.

Institutions falling into the last three categories are subject to a variety of “prompt corrective
actions,” such as limitations on dividends, prohibitions on acquisitions and branching, restric-
tions on asset growth, and removal of officers and directors. Irrespective of the ratios reported,
the agencies may downgrade an institution’s capital category based on adverse examination find-
ings.

The regulatory capital ratio ranges defining the “prompt corrective action” capital categories
are summarized in Exhibit 31.3.
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Total Tier 1 Tier 1
Capital Risk-Based Risk-Based Leverage Capital
Category Ratio Ratio Ratio
Well capitalized > 10% and > 6% and > 5%
Adequately capitalized > 8% and > 4% and > 4%*
Undercapitalized < 8% or < 4% or < 4%*
Significantly undercapitalized < 6% or < 3% or < 3%
Critically If the ratio of tangible equity (as statutorily defined) to total assets
undercapitalized is 2% or less
*3% for institutions that have a rating of “/1”” under the regulatory CAMELS, MACRO, or related
rating system; that are not anticipating or experiencing significant growth; and that have well-
diversified risk.

Exhibit 31.3 Regulatory capital categories

(h) REGULATORY EXAMINATIONS. Federally insured banks and savings institutions are
required to have periodic full-scope, on-site examinations by the appropriate agency. In certain
cases, an examination by a state regulatory agency is accepted. Full-scope and other examinations
are intended primarily to provide early identification of problems at insured institutions rather than
as a basis for expressing an opinion on the fair presentation of the institution’s financial statements.

(i) Scope. The scope of an examination is generally unique to each institution based on risk
factors assessed by the examiner and some examinations are targeted to a specific area of operations,
such as real estate lending or trust operations. Separate compliance examination programs also exist
to address institutions’ compliance with laws and regulations in areas such as consumer protection,
insider transactions, and reporting under the Bank Secrecy Act.

(i) Regulatory Rating Systems. Regulators use regulatory rating systems to assign ratings to
banks, thrifts, holding companies, parents of foreign banks, and U.S. branches and agencies of
foreign banking organizations. The rating scales vary, although each is based on a 5-point sys-
tem, with “1” (or “A”) being the highest rating. The rating systems are presented in Exhibit 31.4.
Additionally, in November 1995, the FRB issued SR No. 95-51, “Rating the Adequacy of Risk
Management Processes and Internal Controls at State Member Banks and Bank Holding Compa-
nies” stating that Federal Reserve System examiners, beginning in 1996, are instructed to assign a
formal supervisory rating to the adequacy of an institution’s risk management processes, including
its internal controls.

(iii) Risk-Focused Examinations. Over the last several years, the banking agencies have been
developing and implementing a risk-focused examination/supervisory program that focuses on
the business activities that pose the greatest risks to the institutions and an assessment of an
organization’s management systems to identify, measure, monitor, and control its risks.

(i) ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS. Regulatory enforcement is carried out through a variety of infor-
mal and formal mechanisms. Informal enforcement measures are consensual between the bank and
its regulator but not legally enforceable. Formal measures carry the force of law and are issued
subject to certain legal procedures, requirements, and penalties. Examples of formal enforcement
measures include ordering an institution to cease and desist from certain practices of violations,
removing an officer, prohibiting an officer from participating in the affairs of the institution or the
industry, assessing civil money penalties, and terminating insurance of an institution’s deposits. As
previously discussed, other mandatory and discretionary actions may be taken by regulators under
“prompt corrective action” provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act.
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Assigns
Entity Rating Rating Scale Rating Components
Banks and Thrifts OCC, FDIC, CAMELS Capital adequacy
OTS, and Ratings 1-5 Asset quality
FRB Management’s performance

Earnings
Liquidity
Sensitivity to Market Risk

Bank holding FRB BOPEC Bank’s CAMELS rating

companies Ratings 1-5 Operation of nonbanking subs.
Parent’s strength
Earnings
Capital adequacy

Parents of foreign FRB SOSA* Effectiveness of home country

banks with U.S. (Strength of Support supervision and other country

branches or Assessment) factors

agencies Ratings A—E. Institution-specific issues
Ability of parent to maintain
adequate internal controls and
compliance with procedures in
United States

U.S. branches and FRB, OCC, ROCA Risk management

agencies of and FDIC Ratings 1-5 Operational controls

foreign banking Compliance

organizations Asset quality

*SOSA ratings will not be disclosed to the bank, branch, or home supervisor. Ratings are for U.S.

internal supervisory use only.

Exhibit 31.4 Regulatory rating systems

(j) DISCLOSURE OF CAPITAL MATTERS.

minimum disclosures:

Beginning in 1996, the American Institute of Cer-
tified Public Accountants (AICPA)’s Audit Guide for Banks and Savings Institutions required that
the GAAP financial statements of banks and savings associations include footnote disclosures of
regulatory capital adequacy/prompt corrective action categories. The following describes the five

. A description of the regulatory capital requirements (a) for capital adequacy purposes and
(b) established by the prompt corrective action provisions

. The actual or possible material effects of noncompliance with such requirements

. Whether the institution is in compliance with the regulatory capital requirements, including,
as of each balance sheet date presented: (1) the institution’s required and actual ratios and
amounts of Tier 1 leverage, Tier 1 risk-based, total risk-based capital, and, for savings
institutions, tangible capital, and (for certain banks and bank holding companies) Tier 3
capital for market risk and (2) factors that may significantly affect capital adequacy such as
potentially volatile components of capital, qualitative factors, and regulatory mandates

. The prompt corrective action category in which the institution was classified as of its most
recent notification, as of each balance sheet date presented

. Whether management believes any conditions or events since notification have changed the
institution’s category, as of the most recent balance sheet date

If, as of the most recent balance sheet date presented, the institution is either (1) not in com-
pliance with capital adequacy requirements, (2) considered less than adequately capitalized under
the prompt corrective action provisions, or (3) both, the possible material effects of such con-
ditions and events on amounts and disclosures in the financial statements should be disclosed.
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Additional disclosures may be required where there is substantial doubt about the institution’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The disclosures described above should be presented for all significant subsidiaries of a holding
company. Bank holding companies should also present the disclosures as they apply to the holding
company, except for the prompt corrective disclosure required by item 4.

As with all footnotes to the financial statements, any management representations included in
the footnotes, such as with respect to capital matters, would be subject to review by the independent
accountant.

(k) SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

(i) Background. The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) was created by Congress in
1934 to administer the Securities Act of 1933 (1933 Act) and the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (1934 Act). The SEC is an independent agency of the U.S. government, consisting of five
commissioners appointed by the president, subject to Senate confirmation.

The 1933 Act requires companies to register securities with the SEC before they may be sold,
unless the security or the transaction is exempt. Banks are exempt from the registration requirements
of the 1933 Act; however, bank holding companies and their nonbank subsidiaries are not.

(i) Reporting Requirements. SEC registrants are required to comply with certain industry-
specific financial statement requirements, set forth in Article 9 for Bank Holding Companies of
SEC Regulation S-X. In addition, they must comply with other nonfinancial disclosures required
by Guide 3 for Bank Holding Companies of Regulation S-K.

In 1997, the SEC amended rules and forms for domestic and foreign issuers to clarify and
expand existing disclosure requirements for market risk-sensitive instruments. Refer to Financial
Reporting Release No. 48 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies for Derivative Financial Instruments
and Derivative Commodity Instruments and Disclosure of Quantitative and Qualitative Information
About Market Risk Inherent in Derivative Financial Instruments, Other Financial Instruments,” for
further discussion. Other SEC guidance is listed in “Sources and Suggested References.” Addi-
tionally, the SEC is undertaking a review of Guide 3 to evaluate potential changes to improve the
usefulness of financial institution disclosures.

On December 12, 2001, the SEC issued a financial reporting release, FR-60, “Cautionary Advice
Regarding Disclosure About Critical Policies” (FR-60). The SEC’s Cautionary Advice alerts public
companies to the need for improved disclosures about critical accounting policies. FR-60 defines
“critical accounting policies” as those most important to the financial statement presentation and
that require the most difficult, subjective, complex judgments.

Perhaps because FR-60 was released late in the year, the Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A) disclosures made by registrants in response to FR-60 did not meet the SEC’s expectations.
As a result, on May 10, 2002, the SEC published a proposed rule, “Disclosure in Management’s
Discussion and Analysis about the Application of Critical Accounting Policies.” The proposed rule
would mandate the MD&A disclosure about critical accounting estimates that was encouraged in
FR-60, but it is much more specific than FR-60 as to the nature of the disclosures and the basis
for the sensitivity analysis. Readers should be alert for any final rules.

On January 22, 2002, the SEC issued a financial reporting release, FR-61, which provides
specific considerations for MD&A disclosures. The SEC issued FR-61 to remind public companies
of existing MD&A disclosure requirements and to suggest steps for meeting those requirements
in 2001 annual reports. The SEC action responds to a December 31 petition from the Big Five
firms, which was endorsed by the AICPA. FR-61 is largely consistent with the MD&A interpretive
guidance suggested by the Big Five petition.

FR-61 focuses on MD&A disclosure about liquidity and off-balance-sheet arrangements (includ-
ing special purpose entities (SPE)), trading activities that include nonexchange traded commodity
contracts accounted for at fair value, and the effects of transactions with related and certain other
parties. These areas are receiving particular public and regulatory scrutiny following the collapse
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of Enron. The SEC believes that the quality of information provided by public companies in these
areas should be improved. The SEC expects registrants to consider FR-61 when preparing year-end
and interim financial reports, effective immediately.

(I) FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION.

(i) Income Statements. Banks and savings institutions place heavy emphasis on the interest
margin, that is, the difference between interest earned and the cost of funds. Accordingly, a spe-
cialized income statement format has evolved that focuses on net interest income. Supplemental
income statement information may be provided separately to show the impact of investing in cer-
tain tax-exempt securities. Such “taxable equivalent” data purports to illustrate income statement
data as if such tax-exempt securities were fully taxable.

(ii) Balance Sheets. The balance sheets of banks and savings institutions are not classified
into short-term and long-term categories for assets and liabilities, but are generally presented
in descending order of maturity. Supplemental information is also presented by many banking
institutions showing average balances of assets and liabilities and the associated income or expense
and average rates paid or earned.

(iii) Statements of Cash Flow. The statements of cash flow are presented in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows,” amended
by SFAS No. 102, “Statement of Cash Flows—Exemption of Certain Enterprises and Classification
of Cash Flows from Certain Securities Acquired for Resale (an Amendment of FASB Statement
No. 95),” and SFAS No. 104, “Statement of Cash Flows—Net Reporting of Certain Cash Receipts
and Cash Payments and Classification of Cash Flows for Hedging Transactions (an amendment
of FASB Statement No. 95).” The amendments permit certain financial institutions, such as banks
and savings institutions, to net the cash flows for selected activities such as trading, deposit taking,
and loan activities.

(iv) Commitments and Off-Balance-Sheet Risk. Banks and savings institutions offer a variety
of financial services, and, accordingly, they enter into a wide range of financial transactions and
issue a variety of financial instruments. Depending on the nature of these transactions, they may
not appear on the balance sheet and are only disclosed in the footnotes to the financial statements.

(v) Disclosures of Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties. AICPA Statement of Position
(SOP) 94-6, “Disclosure of Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties,” requires institutions to
include in their financial statements disclosures about the nature of their operations and the use of
estimates in the preparation of their financial statements.

SOP 94-6 also requires disclosure regarding:

Certain Significant Estimates. Estimates used in the determination of the carrying amounts of
assets or liabilities or in gain or loss contingencies is required to be disclosed when information
available prior to issuance of the financial statements indicates that (a) it is at least reasonably
possible that the estimate of the effect on the financial statements of a condition, situation or set
of circumstances that existed at the date of the financial statements will change in the near term
due to one or more future confirming events, and (b) the effect of the change would be material
to the financial statements.

SOP 94-6 further states that (a) the disclosure should indicate the nature of the uncertainty and
include an indication that it is at least reasonably possible that a change in the estimate will occur
in the near term and (b) if the estimate involves a loss contingency covered by SFAS No. 5,
“Accounting for Contingencies,” the disclosure should also include an estimate of the possible
loss or range of loss, or state that such an estimate cannot be made.

Current Vulnerability Due to Certain Concentrations. Institutions are required to disclose con-
centrations, as defined in the Statement, if, based on information known to management prior
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to issuance of the financial statements, (a) the concentration exists at the date of the financial
statements, (b) the concentration makes the institution vulnerable to the risk of a near-term severe
impact, and (c) it is at least reasonably possible that the events that could cause the severe impact
will occur in the near term.

(m) ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE. In addition to the main body of professional accounting lit-
erature that comprises GAAP, more specific industry guidance is provided in the industry-specific
Audit and Accounting Guides published by the AICPA, specifically “Banks and Savings Institu-
tions” issued in 2000. Additionally, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) of the FASB addresses
current issues.

(n) GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES VERSUS REGULATORY
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES. Under the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council
(FFIEC), the three federal banking agencies have developed uniform reporting standards for com-
mercial banks that are used in the preparation of the Reports of Condition and Income (Call
Report). The FDIC has also applied these uniform Call Report standards to savings banks under
its supervision. Effective with the March 31, 1997, reports, the reporting standards set forth for
the Call Report are based on GAAP for banks, and, as a matter of law, many deviate to a more
stringent requirement than GAAP only in those instances where statutory requirements or overrid-
ing supervisory concerns warrant a departure from GAAP. The OTS maintains its own separate
reporting forms for the savings institutions under its supervision. The reporting form used by sav-
ings institutions, known as the TFR, is based on GAAP as applied by savings institutions, which
differs in some respects from GAAP for banks.

Certain differences between GAAP and regulatory accounting principles (RAP) remain after
the amendments to the March 1997 Call Report Instructions. Many of these differences remain
because the agencies generally default to SEC reporting principles for registrants. The more sig-
nificant remaining differences between Call Report Instructions and GAAP are related to the
following areas: impaired collateral-dependent loans; pushdown accounting; credit losses on off-
balance sheet commitments and contingencies; related party transactions; and the application of
accounting changes.

(0) LOANS AND COMMITMENTS. Loans generate the largest proportion of most bank and
saving institutions’ revenues. Institutions originate, purchase and sell (in whole or in part), and
securitize loans. The parameters used to create the loan portfolio include many of the institution’s
key strategies, such as credit risk strategy, diversification strategy, liquidity, and interest rate margin
strategy. Accordingly, the composition of the loan portfolio varies by institution. The loan portfolio
is critical to the institutions’ overall asset/liability management strategy.

(i) Types of Loans. Loans are offered on a variety of terms to meet the needs of the borrower
and of the institution. The following are the types of loan arrangements normally issued.

Commercial Loans. Institutions have developed different types of credit facilities to address the
needs of commercial customers. Some of the characteristics that distinguish these facilities are:
security (whether the loan is collateralized or unsecured); term (whether the loan matures in the
short term, long term, on demand, or on a revolving credit arrangement); variable or fixed interest
rates, and currency (whether the loan is repayable in the local currency or in a foreign currency).

Loan facilities can be tailored to match the needs of commercial borrowers and may include
many combinations of specific loan terms. Some of the common general types are described next.

Secured Loans. Collateral (security) to a loan is usually viewed as a characteristic of any type
of loan rather than as a loan category itself. Nevertheless, it is not uncommon for institutions to
analyze their loan portfolios in part by looking at the proportion of secured credits and the entire
balance.
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A significant portion of bank lending is not supported by specific security. The less creditworthy
a potential borrower, however, the more likely it becomes that an institution will require some form
of collateral in order to minimize its risk of loss.

Loan security is normally not taken with the intention of liquidating it in order to obtain repay-
ment. Maintenance and liquidation of collateral is, in fact, often time consuming and unprofitable
for the foreclosing bank. Most loan security takes the form of some kind of fixed or floating claim
over specified assets or a mortgage interest in property.

Lines of Credit.  Lines of credit, including facilities that are referred to as revolving lines of credit,
originate with an institution extending credit to a borrower with a specified maximum amount and
a stated maturity. The borrower then draws and repays funds through the facility in accordance
with its requirements. Lines of credit are useful for short-term financing of working capital or
seasonal borrowings. A commitment fee is usually charged on the unused portion of the facility.

Demand Loans. Demand loans are short-term loans that may be “called” by the institution at
any time, hence the term demand. Demand loans are often unsecured and are normally made to
cover short-term funding requirements. There is usually no principal reduction during the loan
term, the entire balance coming due at maturity.

Term Loans. Term loans are often used to finance the acquisition of capital assets such as plant
and equipment. Due to their longer term, they involve greater credit risk than short-term advances
(all other things being equal). To reduce the credit risk, these loans typically are secured and require
amortization of principal over the loan term. Loan agreements often contain restrictive covenants
that require the borrower to maintain specified financial ratios and to refrain from defined types of
transactions for as long as the loan is outstanding.

Asset-Based Lending. Asset-based lending is a form of revolving line of credit that is related
directly to the value of specific underlying assets (typically accounts receivable or inventory). The
primary difference between asset-based lending and a simple line of credit is the direct correlation,
upon which the institution insists, between the funds advanced and the underlying security. While
funds may be advanced on a line of credit up to the approved maximum amount, they may be drawn
under an asset-based lending arrangement only to the extent allowed by predetermined formulas
related to collateral value. Requests for funds are normally monitored closely and repayments may
be demanded where collateral values fall.

Syndications. A syndicated loan is one where a number of institutions, in a form of joint venture,
provide funds they would individually be unwilling or unable to provide. Syndications are used
for customers requiring large scale financing, too great for any single institution to accommodate
without distorting its loan portfolio. In addition, consortium banks group together banks from
different countries to specialize in and centralize large-scale finance for specific projects.

The members of a syndicate appoint one or more of themselves as the managing bank for the
syndicate. In certain cases, the borrower might appoint the managing bank, in which case the other
members would commonly appoint an agent bank to act on their behalf. The managing bank is
responsible for negotiating with the borrower, preparing the appropriate documentation, collecting
the loan funds from the syndicate and disbursing them to the borrower, and collecting amounts
due from the borrower and distributing them to the syndicate members.

Apart from the managing bank, the syndicate members will not necessarily have any direct
dealings with the borrower, although the borrower is aware of the existence of the syndicate.
Credit risk rests with each syndicate member to the extent of its participation.

Participations. Banks sell loans, or part shares in loans, to other financial institutions for a
number of reasons: to serve large customers whose financing needs exceed their lending ability; to
diversify their loan portfolios; to alter the maturity structure of their loan portfolios; or to increase
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their liquidity. Participation agreements usually specify such matters as the method of payment
of proceeds from the borrower, responsibilities in the event of default, and interest in collateral.
Loans may be sold with or without recourse and on terms that may or may not agree with those
of the underlying loan.

Loans that are “participated out” (i.e., sold) are normally reported on the seller’s balance sheet
net of the sold portion (which is reported with other loan assets by the buyer). The fact that another
institution has researched and agreed to extend the loan does not reduce the risk of the purchasing
bank.

Loans Held for Resale. Loans may be originated by an institution that intends to resell them to
other parties. They may be purchased with the intention to resell. The reasons for such transactions
vary. Some institutions wish to provide a type of loan service to their customers, which they do not
wish to retain in their portfolio. Some institutions use loan origination as a source of fee income.
Some purchase debt to use as securitization for other instruments that they package and sell to
specialized markets.

Real Estate Loans. Real estate loans may be made for commercial or personal purposes, and
most banks differentiate their portfolios between the two uses. The rationale for this segregation
lies in the fact that while both are classified as real estate lending, the portfolios are subject to
different types of risk and/or different degrees of risk. Also, the type and level of expertise required
to successfully manage residential and commercial real estate loan portfolios differs just like the
type of financing provided to the homeowner is typically not the same as to an owner or developer
of commercial real estate.

Incremental knowledge with respect to the particular financing provided must be obtained and
constantly updated to successfully manage commercial real estate property lending. For example,
construction loan monitoring, appraisal methods, comparable properties in the area, the status of
the economy, use of the property, future property developments, occupancy rates, and projected
operating cash flows are all important factors in reaching lending decisions.

Mortgage Loans. Real estate mortgage loans are term loans collateralized by real estate. The
loans are generally fairly long term, though some are short term with a large principal (“balloon”)
payment due at maturity. The loan commitments usually involve a fee to be paid by the borrower
upon approval or upon closing.

Some institutions originate residential mortgage loans for sale to investors. Under these arrange-
ments, the bank usually continues to service the loans on a fee basis. The sale allows the bank to
provide mortgage financing services for its customers without funding a large volume of loans.

Construction Loans.  Construction loans are used to finance the construction of particular projects
and normally mature at the scheduled completion date. They are generally secured by a first
mortgage on the property and are backed by a purchase (or “takeout”) agreement from a finan-
cially responsible permanent lender. They may include the financing of loan interest through the
construction period.

Construction loans are vulnerable to a number of risks related to the uncertainties that are
characteristic of building projects. Examples of risks associated with construction loans include
construction delays, nonpayment of material bills or subcontractors, and the financial collapse of
the project contractor prior to project completion.

Construction loan funds are generally disbursed on a standard payment plan (for relatively
small, predictable projects) or a progress payment plan (for more complex projects). Extent of
completion may be verified by an architect’s certification or by evidence of labor and material
costs.

In certain construction loans, consideration should be given to accounting for the loan as an
investment in real estate if the lender is subject to virtually the same risks and rewards as the
owner.
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Direct Lease Financing. Leasing is a form of debt financing for fixed assets that, although
differing in legal form, is similar to substance to term lending. Like a more conventional loan, the
institution’s credit concerns in extending lease financing are ones of cash flow, credit history,
management, and projections of future operations. The type of property to be leased and its
marketability in the event of default or termination of the lease are concerns quite parallel to
the bank’s evaluation of collateral. In a leasing arrangement, the bank formally owns the property
rather than having a lien on it.

Lease financing arrangements may be accounted for either as financings (i.e., as loans) or
as operating leases depending upon the precise terms of the transaction and on the applicable
accounting principles.

Consumer Loans. Consumer loans—personal loans to individual borrowers—can originate
through a bank’s own customers (direct loans) or through merchants with whom the borrow-
ers deal (indirect loans). They may relate specifically to the purchase of items that can serve as
collateral for the borrowing (e.g., vehicles, mobile homes, boats, furniture) or to other needs that
provide no basis for a security interest (e.g., vacations, income tax payments, medical expenses,
educational costs). Consumer loans may be made on an installment, single payment, or demand
basis. They are often broken down into classifications that describe the purpose of the financing
(student loans or home equity loans) or the terms of disbursement and repayment (installment
loans, credit card loans, check credit).

Installment Loans.  Installment loans are the most common type of consumer credit. Their terms
normally include repayment over a specified period of time with fixed minimum periodic (usually
monthly) payments. Interest rates are generally fixed on origination but may be variable over the
term of the loan. The term is generally determined by the type of purchase being financed and is
usually relatively short—210 years or less.

Standby Letters of Credit. A standby letter of credit is a promise made by an institution to
provide compensation to a third party on behalf of its customer in the event that the customer
fails to perform in accordance with the terms specified by an underlying contract. Standby letters
of credit may be available under a credit facility or may be issued for a specified amount with
an expiration date. Normally, payment under such agreements depends on performance or lack of
performance of some act required by the underlying contract.

Standby letters of credit are typically recorded as contingent liabilities in memorandum records
and are offset by customer liability memorandum accounts. In the event that funds are disbursed
under a standby letter of credit agreement, the drawing would be recorded as a loan.

Sovereign Risk. Sovereign risk lending involves the granting of credit facilities to foreign gov-
ernments or to companies based in foreign countries. The facilities are normally denominated in a
currency other than the domestic currency of the borrower and are typically used to finance imports
or to refinance existing foreign currency debt.

In addition to all of the customary considerations surrounding credit risk, sovereign risk lending
involves economic, social, and political considerations that bear on the ability of the borrower to
repay foreign currency obligations.

Trade Finance

o Letters of Credit. Letters of credit are instruments used to facilitate trade (most commonly
international trade) by substituting an institution’s credit for that of a commercial importing
company. A letter of credit provides assurance to a seller that he will be paid for goods
shipped. At the same time, it provides assurance to the buyer that payment will not be made
until conditions specified in the sales contract have been met.
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Letter of credit transactions can vary in any number of ways. The issuing and advising

institutions may deal with each other through their own local correspondent banks. Some of
the documents may flow in different patterns. The requirements for payment and security
will certainly vary from transaction to transaction. One of the attractive features of letter of
credit financing from the customer’s point of view is its flexibility. Facilities can be tailored
to individual transactions or groups of transactions.
Bankers’ Acceptances. A bankers’ acceptance is like a letter of credit in that it provides a
seller of goods with a guarantee of payment, thus facilitating trade. The institution’s customer
is the buyer who, having established an acceptance facility with the bank, notifies the seller to
draw up a bill of exchange. The bank “accepts” that bill (by physically stamping “accepted”
on its face and having an authorized bank officer sign it) and, in so doing, commits itself to
disburse funds on the bill’s due date.

A banker’s acceptance represents both an asset and a liability to the accepting bank. The
asset is a receivable from the bank’s customer, the buyer in the transaction. The liability is a
payable to the holder of the acceptance. The bank’s accounting for open acceptances varies
from country to country. In some countries, the asset and liability are both reflected on the
bank’s balance sheet. In others, they are netted against each other and thus become, in effect,
off-balance-sheet items. In European Union (EU) countries, they appear as memorandum
items on the face of the balance sheet.

By substituting its own credit for that of the buying company, the accepting bank creates
a financial instrument that is readily marketable. Bankers’ acceptances trade as bearer paper
on active secondary markets.

(ii) Accounting for Loans

Principal. Loans expected to be held until maturity should be reported as outstanding principal,
net of charge-offs, specific valuation accounts and any deferred fees or costs, or unamortized
premiums or discounts on purchased loans. Total loans should be reduced by the allowance for
credit losses.

Loans held for sale should be reported at the lower of cost or market value. Mortgage loans
held for sale should be reported at the lower of cost or market value in conformity with SFAS No.
65, “Accounting for Certain Mortgage Banking Activities.” Mortgage-backed securities held for
sale in conjunction with mortgage banking activities shall be classified as trading securities and
reported at fair value in conformity with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in
Debt and Equity Securities.”

Interest.  Interest income on all loans should be accrued and credited to interest income as it is
earned using the interest method. Interest income on certain impaired loans should be recognized in
accordance with SFAS No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan,” as amended
by SFAS No. 118, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan-Income Recognition and
Disclosures.”

The accrual of interest is usually suspended on loans that are in excess of 90 days past due,
unless the loan is both well secured and in the process of collection. When a loan is placed on such
nonaccrual status, interest that has been accrued but not collected is reversed, and interest subse-
quently received is recorded on a cash basis or applied to reduce the principal balance depending
on the bank’s assessment of ultimate collectibility of the loan. An exception to this rule is that
many banks do not place certain types of consumer loans on nonaccrual since they automatically
charge off such loans within a relatively short period of becoming delinquent—generally within
120 days.

Loan Fees. Various types of fees are collected by banks in connection with lending activities.
SFAS No. 91, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with Originating or
Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases (an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 13,
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60, and 65 and a Rescission of FASB Statement No. 17),” requires that the majority of such fees
and associated direct origination costs be offset. The net amount must be deferred as part of the
loan (and reported as a component of loans in the balance sheet) and recognized in interest income
over the life of the loan and/or loan commitment period as an adjustment of the yield on the loan.
The requirements for cost deferral under this standard are quite restrictive and require direct linkage
to the loan origination process. Activities for which costs may be deferred include: (1) evaluating
the borrower, guarantees, collateral, and other security; (2) preparation and processing of loan
documentation for loan origination, and (3) negotiating and closing the loan. Certain costs are
specifically precluded from deferral, for example, advertising and solicitation, credit supervision
and administration, costs of unsuccessful loan originations, and other activities not directly related
to the extension of a loan.

Loan fees and costs for loans originated or purchased for resale are deferred and are recognized
when the related loan is sold.

Commitment fees to purchase or originate loans, net of direct origination costs, are generally
deferred and amortized over the life of the loan when it is extended. If the commitment expires,
then the fees are recognized in other income on expiration of the commitment. There are two main
exceptions to this general treatment:

1. If past experience indicates that the extension of a loan is unlikely, then the fee is recognized
over the commitment period.

2. Nominal fees, which are determined retroactively, on a commitment to extend funds at a
market rate may be recognized in income at the determination date.

Certain fees may be recognized when received, primarily loan syndication fees. Generally, the
yield on the portion of the loan retained by the syndicating bank must at least equal the yield
received by the other members of the syndicate. If this is not the case, a portion of the fees
designated as a syndication fee must be deferred and amortized to income to achieve a yield equal
to the average yield of the other banks in the syndicate. EITF Issue No. 97-3, “Accounting for
Fees and Costs Associated with Loan Syndication’s and Loan Participation’s after the Issuance of
FASB Statement No. 125,” states that loan participation should be accounted for in accordance
with the provision of SFAS No. 140, and loan syndication’s should be accounted for in accordance
with the provision of SFAS No. 91.

Purchased loans are recorded at cost net of fees paid/received. The difference between this
recorded amount and the principal amount of the loan is amortized to income over the life of the
loan to produce a level yield. Acquisition costs are not deferred, but are expensed as incurred. The
AICPA’s Accounting Standards Executive Committee has a project under way that is expected to
result in a new SOP entitled “Accounting for Certain Purchased Loans.” Readers should be alert
for a final pronouncement. Additional EITFs have been issued to address purchases of credit card
portfolios.

Acquisition, Development, and Construction Arrangements. Certain transactions that appear
to be loans are considered effectively to be investments in the real estate property financed. These
transactions are required to be presented separately from loans and accounted for as real estate
investments using the guidance set forth in the AICPA Notice to Practitioners dated February 1986.
Factors indicating such treatment include six arrangements whereby the financial institution:

1. Provides substantially all financing to acquire, develop, and construct the property, that is,
borrower has little or no equity in the property

. Funds the origination or commitment fees through the loan
. Funds substantially all interest and fees through the loan
. Has security only in the project with no recourse to other assets or guarantee of the borrower

. Can recover its investment only through sale to third parties, refinancing, or cash flow of
the project

a b~ w N
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6. Is unlikely to foreclose on the project during development since no payments are due during
this period and therefore the loan cannot normally become delinquent

Troubled Debt Restructurings and Impaired Loans. Banks may routinely restructure loans
to meet a borrower’s changing circumstances. The new loan terms are reflected in the financial
statements essentially as if a new loan has been made. However, if “a creditor for economic or
legal reasons related to the debtor’s financial difficulties grants a concession ... that it would not
otherwise consider,” then SFAS No. 15, “Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Debt
Restructurings,” as amended by FASB Statements No. 114, No. 121, “Accounting for Impairment
of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of,” and No. 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” applies.

TROUBLED DEBT RESTRUCTURINGS.  Troubled debt restructurings may include one or more of the
following:

o Transfers of assets of the debtor or an equity interest in the debtor to partially or fully satisfy
a debt

e Modification of debt terms, including reduction of one or more of the following: (1) interest
rates with or without extensions of maturity date(s), (2) face or maturity amounts, and
(3) accrued interest

Prior to the release of SFAS No. 114, under a SFAS No. 15 restructuring involving a modification
of terms, the creditor accumulated the undiscounted total future cash receipts and compared them to
the recorded investment in the loan. If these cash receipts exceeded the recorded investment in the
loan, no loss or impairment was deemed to exist; however, if the total cash receipts did not exceed
the recorded investment, the recorded investment was adjusted to reflect the total undiscounted
future cash receipts. For restructurings involving a modification of terms that occurred before the
effective date of SFAS No. 114, this accounting still applies as long as the loan does not become
impaired relative to the restructured terms. Restructurings involving a modification of terms after
the effective date of SFAS No. 114 must be accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 114.

IMPAIRED LOANs. In May 1993, SFAS No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of
a Loan (an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 5 and 15),” was issued primarily to provide
more consistent guidance on the application of SFAS No. 5 loss criteria and to provide additional
direction on the recognition and measurement of loan impairment in determining credit reserve
levels. The application of this statement was required beginning in 1995.

SFAS No. 114 applies to all impaired loans, uncollateralized as well as collateralized, except:
large groups of smaller balance homogeneous loans that are collectively evaluated for impairment
such as credit card, residential mortgage, and consumer installment loans; loans that are measured
at fair value or at the lower of cost or fair value; leases; and debt securities, as defined in SFAS
No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.”

A loan is impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable (consistent
with its use in SFAS No. 5—an area within a range of the likelihood that a future event or events
will occur confirming the fact of the loss) that a creditor will be unable to collect all amounts
due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. As used in SFAS No. 114 and in
SFAS No. 5, as amended, all amounts due according to the contractual terms means that both the
contractual interest payments and the contractual principal payments of a loan will be collected as
scheduled in the loan agreement.

It is important to note that an insignificant delay or insignificant shortfall in the amount of
payments does not require application of SFAS No. 114. A loan is not impaired during a period
of delay in payment if the creditor expects to collect all amounts due including interest accrued at
the contractual interest rate for the period of delay.

SFAS No. 114 provides that the measurement of impaired value should be based on one of the
following methods:
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o Present value of expected cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate
e The observable value of the loan’s market price
e The fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent

The effective rate of a loan is the contractual interest rate adjusted for any net deferred loan fees
or costs, premium, or discount existing at the origination or acquisition of the loan. For variable rate
loans, the loan’s effective interest rate may be calculated based on the factor as it changes over the
life of the loan, or it may be fixed at the rate in effect at the date the loan meets the SFAS No. 114
impairment criterion. However, that choice should be applied consistently for all variable rate loans.

All impaired loans do not have to be measured using the same method; the method selected
may vary based on the availability of information and other factors. However, the ultimate valu-
ation should be critically evaluated in determining whether it represents a reasonable estimate of
impairment.

If the measure of the impaired loan is less than the recorded investment in the loan (including
accrued interest, net deferred loan fees or costs, and unamortized premium or discount), a creditor
should recognize an impairment by creating a valuation allowance with a corresponding charge to
bad-debt expense.

Subsequent to the initial measurement of impairment, if there is a significant change (increase
or decrease) in the amount or timing of an impaired loan’s expected future cash flows, observable
market price, or fair value of the collateral, a creditor should recalculate the impairment by applying
the procedures described above and by adjusting the valuation allowance. However, the net carrying
amount of the loan should at no time exceed the recorded investment in the loan.

Any restructurings performed under the provisions of SFAS No. 15 need not be reevaluated
unless the borrower is not performing in accordance with the contractual terms of the restructuring.

EITF Issue No. 96-22, “Applicability of the Disclosures Required by FASB Statement No. 114
When a Loan Is Restructured in a Troubled Debt Restructuring into Two (or More) Loans,” states
that when a loan is restructured in a troubled debt restructuring into two (or more) loan agreements,
the restructured loans should be considered separately when assessing the applicability of the
disclosures in years after the restructuring because they are legally distinct from the original loan.
However, the creditor would continue to base its measure of loan impairment on the contractual
terms specified by the original loan agreements.

In-Substance Foreclosures. SFAS No. 114 clarified the definition of in-substance foreclosures as
used in SFAS No. 15, “Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructurings,” by
stating that the phrase “foreclosure by the creditor” in paragraph 34 should be read to mean “physi-
cal possession of debtor’s assets regardless of whether formal foreclosure proceedings take place.”
Further, until foreclosure occurs, these assets should remain as loans in the financial statements.

(p) CREDIT LOSSES. Credit loss estimates are subjective and, accordingly, require careful judg-
ments in assessing loan collectibility and in estimating losses.

(i) Accounting Guidance. SFAS No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan
(an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 5 and 15)” and SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contin-
gencies (as amended by SFAS No. 118, ‘Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of Loan-Income
Recognition and Disclosures’)” are the primary sources of guidance on accounting for the allowance
for loan losses. SFAS No. 5 requires that an estimated loss from a contingency should be accrued
by a charge to income if both of the following conditions are met:

o Information available prior to issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable
that an asset had been impaired or a liability had been incurred at the date of the financial
statements. It is implicit in this condition that it must be probable that one or more future
events will occur confirming the fact of the loss.

e The amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.
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SFAS No. 5 states that when a loss contingency exists, the likelihood that the future event or
events will confirm the loss or impairment of an asset (whether related to contractual principal or
interest) can range from remote to probable. Probable means the future event or events are likely to
occur; however, the conditions for accrual are not intended to be so rigid that they require virtual
certainty before a loss is accrued.

The allowance for loan losses should be adequate to cover probable credit losses related to
specifically identified loans, as well as probable credit losses inherent in the remainder of the loan
portfolio that have been incurred as of the balance sheet date. Credit losses related to off-balance
sheet instruments should also be accrued if the conditions of SFAS No. 5 are met.

Actual credit losses should be deducted from the allowance, and the related balance should be
charged off in the period in which they are deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of loans previously
charged off should be added to the allowance when received.

SFAS No. 114 addresses the accounting by creditors for impairment of certain loans, as dis-
cussed in Subsection 31.2(0)(ii).

(i) Regulatory Guidance. The regulatory agencies issued the “Interagency Policy on the
Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses (ALLL)” in December 1993. The policy statement pro-
vides guidance with respect to the nature and purpose of the allowance; the related responsibilities
of the board of directors, management, and the bank examiners; adequacy of loan review systems;
and issues related to international transfer risk. The policy statement also includes an analytical
tool to be used by bank examiners for assessing the reasonableness of the allowance; however, the
policy statement cautions the bank examiners against placing too much emphasis on the analytical
tool, rather than performing a full and thorough analysis.

The OCC also provides guidance in its “Comptrollers’ Handbook, Allowance for Loan and
Lease Losses,” issued in June 1996.

In separate releases on July 6, 2001, the SEC and the FFIEC issued guidance on methodologies
and documentation related to the allowance for loan losses. In Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB)
No. 102, “Selected Loan Loss Allowance Methodology and Documentation Issues,” the SEC staff
expressed certain of their views on the development, documentation, and application of a systematic
methodology as required by Financial Reporting Release No. 28 for determining allowances for loan
and lease losses in accordance with GAAP. In particular, the guidance focuses on the documentation
the staff normally would expect registrants to prepare and maintain in support of their allowances
for loan losses. Concurrent with the release of SAB No. 102, the federal banking agencies issued
related guidance through the FFIEC entitled “Policy Statement on Allowance for Loan and Lease
Losses (ALLL) Methodologies and Documentation for Banks and Savings Institutions.” The Policy
Statement, developed in consultation with the SEC staff, provides guidance on the design and
implementation of ALLL methodologies and supporting documentation practices. Both SAB No.
102 and the Policy Statement reaffirm the applicability of existing accounting guidance; neither
attempts to overtly change GAAP as they relate to the ALLL.

(i) Allowance Methodologies. An institution’s method of estimating credit losses is influ-
enced by many factors, including the institution’s size, organization structure, business environment
and strategy, management style, loan portfolio characteristics, loan administration procedures, and
management information systems.

Common Factors to Consider. ~ Although allowance methodologies may vary between institutions,
the factors to consider in estimating credit losses are often similar. Both SAB No. 102 and the Policy
Statement require that when developing loss measurements, banks consider the effect of current envi-
ronmental factors and then document which factors were used in the analysis and how those factors
affected the loss measurements. The following are examples of factors that should be considered:

e Levels of and trends in delinquencies and impaired loans
e Levels of and trends in charge-offs and recoveries
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e Trends in volume and terms of loans

e Effects of any changes in risk selection and underwriting standards, and other changes in
lending policies, procedures, and practices

e Experience, ability, and depth of lending management and other relevant staff
o National and local economic trends and conditions

o Industry conditions

o Effects of changes in credit concentrations

Supplemental data, such as historical loss rates or peer group analyses, can be helpful; however,
they are not, by themselves, sufficient basis for an allowance methodology.

Portfolio Segments.  Another common practice is dividing the loan portfolio into different seg-
ments. Each segment typically includes similar characteristics, such as risk classification and type
of loan. Segments typically include large problem loans by industry or collateral type and homo-
geneous pools of smaller loans, such as credit cards, automobile loans, and residential mortgages.

Credit Classification Process. A credit classification process involves categorizing loans into risk
categories and is often applied to large loans that are evaluated individually. The categorization is
based on conditions that may affect the ability of borrowers to service their debt, such as current
financial information, historical payment experience, credit documentation, public information, and
current trends. Many institutions classify loans using a rating system that incorporates the regulatory
classification system. These definitions are as follows:

SPECIAL MENTION. ~ Some loans are considered criticized but not classified. Such loans have poten-
tial weaknesses that deserve management’s close attention. If left uncorrected, these potential
weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the assets or of the institu-
tion’s credit position at some future date. Special mention loans are not adversely classified and
do not expose an institution to sufficient risk to warrant adverse classification.

SUBSTANDARD.  Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the current sound
worth and paying capacity of the obligor or of the collateral pledged, if any. Loans so classified
must have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt.
They are characterized by the distinct possibility that the institution will sustain some loss if the
deficiencies are not corrected.

DousTtruL.  Loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as
substandard, with the added characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full,
on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions, and values, highly questionable and improbable.

Loss.  Loans classified as loss are considered uncollectible and of such little value that their
continuance as bankable assets is not warranted. This classification does not mean that the loan
has absolutely no recovery or salvage value, but rather that it is not practical or desirable to defer
writing off this basically worthless asset even though partial recovery may be effected in the future.

Pools of Smaller-Balance Homogeneous Loans. Loans not evaluated individually are included
in pools and loss rates are derived for each pool.

The loss rates to be applied to the pools of loans are typically derived from the combination
of a variety of factors. Examples of the factors include: historical experience, expected future
performance, trends in bankruptcies and troubled collection accounts, and changes in the customer’s
performance patterns.
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Foreign Loans. The Interagency Country Exposure Risk Committee (ICERC) requires certain
loans to have allocated transfer risk reserves (ATRRs). ATRRs are minimum specific reserves
related to loans in particular countries and, therefore, must be reviewed by each institution. The
ICERC’s supervisory role is pursuant to the International Supervision Act of 1983. The collectibility
of foreign loans that do not have ATRRs should be assessed in the same way as domestic loans.

Documentation, Completeness, and Frequency. The institution’s allowance methodology
should be based on a comprehensive, adequately documented, and consistently applied analy-
sis. The analysis should consider all significant factors that affect collectibility of the portfolio and
should be based on an effective loan review and credit grading (classification) system. Addition-
ally, the evaluation of the adequacy of the allowance should be performed as of the end of each
quarter, and appropriate provisions should be made to maintain the allowance at an adequate level.

SAB No. 102 and the 2001 Policy Statement specifically require, for any adjustments of loss
measurements for environmental factors, that banks maintain sufficient objective evidence (1) to
support the amount of the adjustment and (2) to explain why the adjustment is necessary to reflect
current information, events, circumstances, and conditions in the loss measurements.

(q) LOAN SALES AND MORTGAGE BANKING ACTIVITIES. Banks may originate and sell
loans for a variety of reasons, such as generating income streams from servicing and other fees,
increasing liquidity, minimizing interest rate exposure, enhancing asset/liability management, and
maximizing their use of capital.

(i) Underwriting Standards. When loans are originated for resale, the origination process
includes not only finding an investor, but also preparing the loan documents to fit the investor’s
requirements. Loans originated for resale must normally comply with specific underwriting stan-
dards regarding items such as borrower qualifications, loan documentation, appraisals, mortgage
insurance, and loan terms. Individual loans that do not meet the underwriting standards are typi-
cally eliminated from the pool of loans eligible for sale. Generally, the originating institutions may
be subject to recourse by the investor for underwriting exceptions identified subsequent to the sale
of the loans and any related defaults by borrowers.

(ii) Securitizations. A common method of transforming real estate assets into liquid marketable
securities is through securitization. Securitization is where loans are sold to a separate entity which
finances the purchase through the issuance of debt securities or undivided interest in the loans.
The real estate securities are backed by the cash flows of the loans.

Securitization of residential mortgages has expanded to include commercial and multifamily
mortgages, auto and home equity loans, credit cards, and leases.

The accounting guidance for sales of loans through securitizations is discussed in Section 31.3,
“Mortgage Banking Activities.”

(iii) Loan Servicing. When loans are sold, the selling institution sometimes retains the right to
service the loans for a servicing fee, which is collected over the life of the loans as payments
are received. The servicing fee is often based on a percentage of the principal balance of the
outstanding loans. A typical servicing agreement requires the servicer to perform the billing,
collection, and remittance functions, as well as maintain custodial bank accounts. The servicer
may also be responsible for certain credit losses.

(iv) Regulatory Guidance. Regulatory guidance with respect to loan sales and mortgage banking
activities continues to evolve with the increased activity by institutions. In December 1997, the OCC
issued regulatory guidance for national banks in its Comptrollers’ Handbook: Asset Securitization.
The FRB issued a Supervision and Regulation Letter, “Risk Management and Capital Adequacy
of Exposures Arising from Secondary Market Credit Activities.”
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(v) Accounting Guidance. The accounting guidance for purchasing, acquiring, and selling mort-
gage servicing rights is discussed in Section 31.3.

(vi) Valuation. The accounting guidance addressing the valuation of loans held for sale is dis-
cussed in Section 31.3.

(r) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS, REAL ESTATE OWNED, AND OTHER FORECLOSED
ASSETS. The type and nature of assets included in real estate investments, former bank premises,
and other foreclosed assets can vary significantly. Such assets are described next.

(i) Real Estate Investments. Certain institutions make direct equity investments in real estate
projects, and other institutions may grant real estate loans that have virtually the same risks and
rewards as those of joint venture participants. Both types of transactions are considered to be real
estate investments, and such arrangements are treated as if the institution has an ownership interest
in the property.

Specifically, GAAP for real estate investments is established in the following authoritative
literature:

e AICPA SOP 78-9, “Accounting for Investments in Real Estate Ventures”
e SFAS No. 34, “Capitalization of Interest Cost”

e SFAS No. 58, “Capitalization of Interest Cost in Financial Statements That Include Invest-
ments Accounted for by the Equity Method”

e SFAS No. 66, “Accounting for Sales of Real Estate”
e SFAS No. 67, “Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate Projects”
e SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”

(ii) Former Bank Premises. Many institutions have former premises that are no longer used in
operations. Such former bank premises may be included in real estate owned.

(iii) Foreclosed Assets. Foreclosed assets include all assets received in full or partial satisfaction
of a receivable and include real and personal property; equity interests in corporations, partnerships,
and joint ventures; and beneficial interests in trusts. However, the largest component of real estate
owned by banks and savings institutions is comprised of foreclosed real estate assets.

Guidance on accounting for and reporting of foreclosed assets is established in the following
authoritative literature:

e SFAS No. 15, “Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructurings”
e SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”
e SOP 92-3, “Accounting for Foreclosed Assets”

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Asset,” (SFAS No. 144, or the Statement). The Statement supersedes FASB Statement
No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to
Be Disposed Of”; however, it retains the fundamental provisions of that Statement related to
the recognition and measurement of the impairment of long-lived assets to be “held and used.”
In addition, the Statement provides more guidance on estimating cash flows when performing a
recoverability test, requires that a long-lived asset (group) to be disposed of other than by sale
(e.g., abandoned) be classified as “held and used” until it is disposed of, and establishes more
restrictive criteria to classify as asset (group) as “held for sale.”

The Statement is effective for year ends beginning after December 15, 2001 (e.g., January 1,
2002, for a calendar year entity) and interim periods within those fiscal years. Earlier application
is encouraged. Transition is prospective for committed disposal activities that are initiated after the
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effective date of the Statement or an entity’s initial application of the Statement. The Statement also
provides transition provisions for assets “held for sale” that were initially recorded under previous
models (Accounting Principles Board (APB) No. 30 or FAS No. 121) and do not meet the new
“held for sale” criteria within one year of the initial application of the Statement (e.g., December
31, 2002, for a calendar year-end entity that adopts the Statement effective January 1, 2002).

(s) INVESTMENTS IN DEBT AND EQUITY SECURITIES. Banks use a variety of financial
instruments for various purposes, primarily to provide a source of income through investment or
resale and to manage interest-rate and liquidity risk as part of an overall asset/liability management
strategy.

Institutions purchase U.S. government obligations, such as U.S. Treasury bills, notes, and bonds,
in addition to the debt of U.S. government agencies and government-sponsored enterprises, such
as the U.S. Government National Mortgage Association (Ginnie Mae) and Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac). Institutions also purchase municipal obligations, such as
municipal bonds and tax anticipation notes.

Another common form of investments, which can be tailored to a wide variety of needs, are
called asset-backed securities (ABSs). Banks can hold ABSs as securities, or they can be the
issuer of ABSs along with both governmental and private issuers. The ABSs are repaid from the
underlying cash flow generated from other financial instruments, such as mortgage loans, credit
card receivables, and mobile home loans. ABSs secured by real estate mortgages are often called
mortgage-backed securities (MBSs).

The level of risk related to ABSs is often related to the level of risk in the collateral. For
example, securitized subprime auto loans, experiencing a decline in credit quality, may also cause
a reduction in the value of the ABS, if receipt of the underlying cash flow becomes questionable.

ABSs often include a credit enhancement designed to reduce the degree of credit risk to the
holder of the ABS security. Examples of credit enhancement include guarantees, letters of credit,
overcollateralization, private insurance, and senior/subordinate structures. The degree of protection
provided by the credit enhancement depends on the nature of the collateral and the type and extent
of the credit enhancement.

ABSs are structured into a variety of products, many of which are complex. Risk variables, such
as prepayment risk, changes in prevailing interest rates, and delayed changes in indexed interest
rates, make the forecasting of future cash flows more difficult. ABSs with several investment
classes may have varying terms such as maturity dates, interest rates, payment schedules, and
residual rights, which further complicates an analysis of the investment. Collateralized mortgage
obligations (CMOs) and real estate mortgage investment conduits (REMICs) are two examples
of multiclass mortgage securities. The underlying objective of all types of ABSs and mortgage
securities is to redistribute the cash flows generated from the collateral to all security holders,
consistent with their contractual rights, without a shortfall or an overage.

Banks are generally restricted in the types of financial instruments they may deal in, under-
write, purchase, or sell. Essentially banks may only deal in U.S. government and U.S. government
agency securities, municipal bonds, and certain other bonds, notes, and debentures. These restric-
tions are also limited based on capitalization. The FFIEC policy statement issued in February
1992 addresses the selection of securities dealers, policies and strategies for securities portfolios,
unsuitable investment practices, and mortgage derivations.

(i) Accounting for Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. Investment securities are
classified in three categories: held-to-maturity, trading, and available-for-sale. SFAS No. 115,
“Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” addresses the accounting
and reporting for investments in equity securities that have readily determinable fair values and for
all investments in debt securities. Such securities are classified in three categories and accounted
for as follows:

Held-to-Maturity.  Securities for which an institution has both the ability and positive intent to
hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity and are carried at amortized cost. (Any difference
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between cost and fair value is recorded as a premium or discount, which is amortized to income
using the level yield method over the life of the security.)

Trading. Securities that are purchased and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the
near term are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in earnings.

Available-for-Sale. ~ All other securities are classified as available-for-sale and carried at fair value
with unrealized gains and losses included as a separate component of equity.

SFAS No. 115 addresses changes in circumstances that may cause an enterprise to change its
intent to hold a certain security to maturity without calling into question its intent to hold other
debt securities to maturity in the future.

For individual securities classified as either available-for-sale or held-to-maturity, entities are
required to determine whether a decline in fair value below the amortized cost basis is other than
temporary. If such a decline is judged to be other than temporary, the cost basis of the individual
security should be written down to fair value as the new cost basis. The amount of the write-down
should be treated as a realized loss and recorded in earnings. The new cost basis shall not be
changed for subsequent recoveries.

Investment securities are required to be recorded on a trade date basis. Interest income on
investment securities is recorded separately as a component of interest income. Realized gains
and losses on available-for-sale securities and realized and unrealized gains and losses on trading
securities are recorded as a separate component of noninterest income or loss. Upon the sale
of an available-for-sale security, any unrealized gain or loss previously recorded in the separate
component of equity is reversed and recorded as a separate component of noninterest income or
loss.

Discounts and premiums should be accreted or amortized using the interest method in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 91, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with Orig-
inating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases.” The interest method provides for
a periodic interest income at a constant effective yield on the net investment. The amortization
or accretion period should be from the purchase date to the maturity date rather than an earlier
call date, except for large numbers of similar loans where prepayments are expected and can be
reasonably estimated, such as with certain ABSs.

Transfers among the three categories are performed at fair value. Transfers out of held-to-
maturity should be rare.

(ii) Wash Sales. If the same financial asset is purchased shortly before or after the sale of a
security, it is called a wash sale. SFAS No. 140 addresses wash sales, stating that unless there is
a concurrent contract to repurchase or redeem the transferred financial assets from the purchaser,
the seller does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets, and, therefore, the sale
should be recorded. SFAS No. 140 provides the accounting guidance for recognizing gains and
losses from wash sales, as more fully discussed in Section 31.3.

(iii) Short Sales. An institution may sell a security it does not own with the intention of buying
or borrowing securities at an agreed-upon future date to cover the sale. Given the nature of these
transactions, such sales should be within the trading portfolio. Obligations incurred in these short
sales should be reported as liabilities and recorded at fair value at each reporting date with change
in fair value recorded through income.

(iv) Securities Borrowing and Lending. An institution may borrow securities from a counter-
party to fulfill its obligations and may advance cash, pledge other securities, or issue letters of
credit as collateral for borrowed securities. If cash is pledged as collateral, the institution that loans
the securities typically earns a return by investing that cash at rates higher than the rate paid or
“rebated” back to the institution that borrows the securities. If the collateral is other than cash,
the institution that loans the collateral typically receives a fee. Because most securities lending
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transactions are short term, the value of the pledged collateral is usually required to be higher than
the value of the securities borrowed, and collateral is usually valued daily and adjusted frequently
for changes in the market price, most securities lending transactions by themselves do not represent
significant credit risks. However, other risks exist in securities lending transactions, such as market
and credit risks, relative to the maintenance and safeguarding of the collateral. For example, the
manner in which cash collateral is invested could present market and credit risk.

SFAS No. 140 addresses the accounting for securities lending transactions. It provides that if the
transferor (institution loaning the securities) surrenders control over those securities, the transfer
shall be accounted for as a sale, to the extent that consideration (other than beneficial interest) is
received in exchange. SFAS No. 140 states that the transferor has surrendered control over the
transferred asset only if all three of the following conditions have been met:

1. The transferred assets have been isolated from the transferor—put presumptively beyond
the reach of the transferor and its creditors, even in bankruptcy or other receivership (pars.
27 and 28).

2. Each transferee (or, if the transferee is a qualifying SPE (par. 35), each holder of its beneficial
interests) has the right to pledge or exchange the assets (or beneficial interests) it received,
and no condition both constrains the transferee (or holder) from taking advantage of its right
to pledge or exchange and provides more than a trivial benefit to the transferor (pars. 29-34).

3. The transferor does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through either
(1) an agreement that both entitles and obligates the transferor to repurchase or redeem them
before their maturity (pars. 47-49) or (2) the ability to unilaterally cause the holder to return
specific assets, other than through a cleanup call (pars. 50-54).

If all three of the above conditions are met, the securities lending transaction shall be accounted
for as a sale, in the following manner:

e Institution loaning the securities. Recognizes the sale of the loaned securities, proceeds con-
sisting of the collateral. Also recognizes the forward repurchase commitment.

e Institution borrowing the securities. Recognizes the purchase of the borrowed securities, con-
sideration representing the collateral. Also recognizes the forward resale commitment.

Lending securities transactions accompanied by an agreement that entitles and obligates the
institution loaning the securities to repurchase or redeem them before their maturity should be
accounted for as secured borrowings. The cash (or securities) received as collateral is considered
the amount borrowed, and the securities loaned are considered pledged as collateral against the
cash borrowed. Any rebate paid to the institution borrowing the securities is treated as interest on
the cash borrowed.

When the transfer is recorded as a sale, the cash (or securities) received in conjunction with loan-
ing securities should be recognized as an asset and a corresponding liability established, recording
the obligation to return the cash (or securities).

However, most securities lending transactions are accompanied by an agreement that entitles
and obligates the securities lender to repurchase or redeem the transferred assets before their
maturity. Such transactions will not typically be reported as sales under SFAS No. 140 because
of the obligation of the transferor to repurchase the transferred assets. However, the provisions of
SFAS No. 140 relating to the recognition of collateral could require that the transfer of securities
and related collateral be recorded. The principal criterion to determine whether the collateral will
be required to be recorded are whether the parties to the arrangement have the right to sell or
repledge it. If such a right is present, the securities lender records the cash or noncash collateral
received as its own asset as well as a corresponding obligation to return it. If the securities lender
sells the collateral, it would recognize the proceeds and derecognize the collateral. The securities
borrower will typically not record the securities received or an obligation to return them unless
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they are sold. Additionally, the securities borrower will not typically be required to reclassify the
collateral provided, if such collateral is in the form of securities.

Additional guidance on accounting for and reporting of investments in debt and equity securities
is established in the following:

e FASB Technical Bulletin (TB) No. 94-1, “Application of SFAS No. 115 to Debt Securities
Restructured in a Troubled Debt Restructuring,” which clarifies that any loan that was restruc-
tured in a troubled debt restructuring involving a modification of terms would be subject to
SFAS No. 115 if the debt instrument meets the definition of a security

e SFAS No. 91, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with Originating
or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases,” which specifies that discounts or
premiums associated with the purchase of debt securities should be accreted or amortized
using the interest method

e SFAS No. 15, “Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructurings,”
which applies to troubled debt restructurings involving debt securities

e SFAS No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan (an Amendment, FASB
No. 5 and 15),” which addresses troubled debt restructurings involving a modification of
terms of a receivable

(ty DEPOSITS. Generally, the most significant source of a bank’s funding is customer deposits.
Institutions now offer a wide range of deposit products having a variety of interest rates, terms,
and conditions. The more common types of deposits are described in the following:

(i) Demand Deposits. Customer deposit accounts from which funds may be withdrawn on
demand. Checking and negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW) accounts are the most common
form of demand deposits. Deposits and withdrawals are typically made through a combination of
deposits, check writing, automatic teller machines (ATMs), point-of-sale terminals, electronic funds
transfers (EFTSs), and preauthorized deposits and payment transactions, such as payroll deposits and
loan payments.

(ii) Savings Deposits. Interest-bearing deposit accounts that normally carry with them certain
access restrictions or minimum balance requirements. Passbook and statement savings accounts and
money market accounts are the most common form of savings accounts. Deposits and withdrawals
are typically made at teller windows, ATMs, by electronic funds transfers, or by preauthorized
payment. Money market accounts often permit the customer to write checks, although the number
of checks that may be written is limited.

(iii) Time Deposits. Interest-bearing deposit accounts that are subject to withdrawal only after a
fixed term. Certificates of deposit (CDs), individual retirement accounts (IRAs), and open accounts
are the most common form of time deposits.

CDs may be issued in bearer form or registered form and may be negotiable and nonnegotiable.
Negotiable CDs, for which there is an active secondary market, are generally short term and are
most commonly sold to corporations, pension funds, and government bodies in large denominations,
such as $100,000 to $1 million. Nonnegotiable CDs are generally in smaller denominations, and
depositors are subject to a penalty fee if they elect to withdraw their funds prior to the stated
maturity.

Individual retirement accounts, Keogh accounts, and self-employed-person accounts (SEPSs) are
generally maintained as CDs; however, due to the tax benefits to depositors, they typically have
longer terms than most CDs.

Brokered deposits are third-party time deposits placed by or through the assistance of a deposit
broker. Deposit brokers sometimes sell interests in placed deposits to third parties. Federal law
restricts the acceptance and renewal of brokered deposits by an institution based on its capitaliza-
tion.
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(u) FEDERAL FUNDS AND REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS. Federal funds and repurchase
agreements are often used as a source of liquidity and as a cost-effective source of funds.

(i) Federal Funds Purchased. Generally, short-term funds maturing overnight bought between
banks that are members of the Federal Reserve System. Federal funds transactions can be secured
or unsecured. If the funds are secured, U.S. government securities are placed in a custody account
for the seller.

(i) Repurchase Agreements. Repurchase agreements, or repos, occur when an institution sells
securities and agrees to repurchase the identical (or substantially the same) securities at a specified
date for a specified price. The institution may be a seller or a buyer. Most repo transactions
occur with other depository institutions, dealers in securities, state and local governments, and
customers (retail repurchase agreements), and involve obligations of the federal government or its
agencies, commercial paper, bankers’ acceptances, and negotiable CDs. The difference between
the sale and repurchase price represents interest for the use of the funds. There are also several
types of repurchase agreements, such as collar repurchase agreements, fixed-coupon agreements,
and yield-maintenance agreements. The terms of the agreements are often structured to reflect the
substance of the transaction, such as a borrowing and lending of funds versus a sale and purchase
of securities. Some repurchase agreements are similar to securities lending transactions, whereby
the seller may (or may not) have the right to sell or repledge the securities to a third party during
the term of the repurchase agreement.

SFAS No. 140 provides the accounting guidance for repurchase agreements. In general, SFAS
No. 140 uses the three conditions discussed previously in Subsection 31.2(s)(iv), “Securities Bor-
rowing and Lending,” when accounting for repurchase agreements. If all three conditions specified
in SFAS No. 140 are met, the seller shall account for the repurchase agreement as a sale of financial
assets and a forward repurchase commitment, and the buyer shall account for the agreement as a
purchase of financial assets and a forward resale commitment.

Also similar to the treatment for securities lending transactions, repurchase agreements where
the institution selling the securities maintains effective control over the securities (and thereby not
meeting the three sale conditions, described previously, provided by SFAS No. 140) should be
accounted for as secured borrowings.

(v) DEBT. Banks and savings institutions use long- and short-term borrowings as a source of
funds.

(i) Long-Term Debt. Debentures and notes are the most common form of long-term debt; how-
ever, institutions also use long-term mortgages, obligations, commitments under capital leases, and
mandatorily redeemable preferred stock to provide long-term funding. Funds are also borrowed
through Eurodollar certificates, CMOs, and REMICs; mortgage-backed bond (MBBSs), mortgage-
revenue bonds, and FHLB advances. The terms of long-term debt vary; they may be secured or
unsecured, and they may be convertible.

(ii) Short-Term Debt. Repurchase agreements and federal funds purchased are the most common
form of the short-term debt described earlier. Commercial paper is another common source of short-
term funding. Commercial paper is an unsecured short-term promissory note typically issued by
bank or savings institution holding companies.

MBBs are any borrowings (other than those from an FHLB) collateralized in whole or in part
by one or more real estate loans.

Member institutions may borrow from their regional Federal Reserve Bank in the form of
discounts and advances, which are primarily used to cover shortages in the required reserve account
and also in times of liquidity problems.
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(iii) Accounting Guidance. In general, the accounting for debt is the same for banks and
savings institutions as for other enterprises although banks and savings institutions have unclassified
balance sheets. SFAS Statement No. 140 provides guidance for transfers of financial assets and
extinguishments of liabilities.

(w) TAXATION. Taxation of financial institutions is extremely complex; specific discussion is
therefore beyond the scope of this book. However, certain significant factors affecting bank and
thrift taxation are discussed below.

(i) Loan Loss Reserves.

Banks. Prior to the Tax Reform Act of 1986 (1986 Act), banks were permitted to deduct loan
loss provisions based on either the experience method or on a percentage of eligible loans method.
The 1986 Act modified Internal Revenue Code Section 585, which now allows only a “small” bank
with $500 million or less in average assets (calculated by taking into account the average assets
of all other members of an institution’s controlled group, if applicable) to calculate an addition to
the bad debt reserve using the experience method.

A “large” bank with over $500 million in assets may not use the reserve method. It is limited
to the specific charge-off method under IRC Section 166. If a bank becomes a large bank, it is
required to recapture its reserve, usually over a four-year period. A deduction under Section 166
is generally allowed for wholly or partially worthless debt for the year in which the worthlessness
occurs. The total or partial worthlessness of a debt is a facts-and-circumstances, loan-by-loan
determination. A bank may make a conformity election, however, which provides a presumptive
conclusion of worthlessness for charge-offs made for regulatory purposes.

In comparison to GAAP, the specific charge-off method generally results in an unfavorable
temporary difference (i.e., the book expense is recognized prior to the tax deduction being allowed)
because the actual charge-off of a loan usually occurs later than the time the reserve is established
for it.

Thrifts.  Effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 1995, thrift institutions are subject
to the same loan loss rules as banks. Thrifts that qualify as “small” banks (average assets of
$500 million or less) can use the experience-based reserve method described above. Thrifts that
are treated as “large” banks must use the specific charge-off method.

A thrift that is treated as either a large or small bank is required to recapture or recognize
as income its “applicable excess reserves.” Such income is generally recognized ratably over a
six-year period beginning with the first tax year beginning after 1995.

If a thrift becomes a large bank, the amount of the thrift’s applicable excess reserves is generally
the excess of (1) the balance of its reserves as of the close of its last taxable year beginning before
January 1, 1996, over (2) the balance of its reserves as of the close of its last taxable year beginning
before January 1, 1988 (its “pre-1988” or “base year” reserve). Thus, a thrift treated as a large
bank generally is required to recapture all post-1987 additions to it bad debt reserves.

In the case of a thrift becoming a small bank, the thrift’s applicable excess reserves is the
excess of (1) the balance of its reserves as of the close of its last taxable year beginning before
January 1, 1996, over (2) the greater of the balance of (a) its pre-1988 reserves, or (b) what the
thrift’s reserves would have been at the close of its last taxable year beginning before January
1, 1996, had the thrift always used the experience method. Thus, a thrift treated as a small bank
may not have any applicable excess reserves (and therefore no recapture) if it had always used the
experience method.

A special rule, the “residential loan requirement,” may allow the six-year recapture period to
be delayed for one or two years, that is, recapture could actually start as late as the first taxable
year beginning after 1997. An institution meets the requirement for a taxable year if the principal
amount of residential loans made by the institution during the year is not less than its “base
amount,” defined generally as the average of the principal amounts of residential loans made by
the institution during the six most recent tax years beginning before January 1, 1996.
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A “residential loan” is generally defined as a loan secured by residential real property, but
only to the extent the loan is made to the property owner to acquire, construct, or improve the
property. Thus, mortgage refinancings and home equity loans are not considered to be residential
loans, except to the extent the proceeds of the loan are used to acquire, construct, or improve
qualified real property. Other rules govern the calculation of the base amount for purposes of the
requirement.

The residential loan requirement is applicable only for taxable years beginning after December
31, 1995, and before January 1, 1998, and must be applied separately with respect to each such
year. Thus, all institutions are required to recapture their applicable excess reserves within the first
six, seven, or eight taxable years beginning after December 31, 1995.

(ii) Mark-to-Market. Contrary to normal realization-based tax accounting principles, IRC
Section 475 requires “dealers in securities” to recognize gain or loss through “marking-to-market”
their securities holdings, unless such securities are validly identified by the taxpayer as excepted
from the provisions.

As used in this context, the terms “dealer” and “securities” have very broad application. Virtually
all financial institutions are considered dealers in securities for mark-to-market purposes though
regulations provide exceptions for certain institutions not engaging in more than de minimus dealer
activities. Securities required to be marked (unless validly identified as excepted) include notes,
bonds, and other evidences of indebtedness; stock; notional principal contracts; or any evidence
of an interest in or a derivative of such security (other than Section 1256(a) contracts); and any
clearly identified hedge of such security.

Securities that may be identified as excepted from the mark-to-market provisions are:

e Securities “held for investment,” and property identified as such for tax purposes.

o Notes and other evidences of indebtedness (and obligations to acquire such) that are acquired
or originated by the taxpayer in the ordinary course of a trade or business that are “not held
for sale.”

e Hedges of positions or liabilities that are not securities in the hands of the taxpayer, and
hedges of positions or liabilities that are exempt from mark-to-market under the two foregoing
provisions. This does not apply for hedges held as a dealer.

To be excepted from mark-to-market, the security must be identified by the taxpayer on a
contemporaneous basis (generally, day of acquisition) as meeting one of the exceptions.

Whether or not a security is required to be marked-to-market for financial accounting purposes is
not dispositive for purposes of determining whether such security is treated as “held for investment”
or “not held for sale.”

Some financial institutions identify all or a significant portion of their loans to customers as
excepted from the mark-to-market provisions because they intend to hold those loans to maturity.
A possible exception are mortgages that are originated for sale (pipeline or warehoused loans),
which do not meet the exception criteria and must be marked-to-market.

(iii) Tax-Exempt Securities. For tax purposes, gross income does not include interest on any
obligation of a state or political subdivision thereof (e.g., county, city). Interest on certain non-
qualified private activity bonds, unregistered bonds, and arbitrage bonds does not qualify for this
exemption.

A deduction is not allowed for interest expense on indebtedness incurred to purchase or carry
tax-exempt obligations. Deposit-taking financial institutions (banks and thrifts) are subject to a
special two-part formula to determine how much of the total interest expense of an institution is
disallowed interest expense.

Interest expense related to tax-exempt obligations acquired after August 1986 is disallowed and
is calculated by multiplying total interest expense by the ratio of the tax basis of such obligations
to the tax basis of all assets.
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Interest expense related to tax-exempt obligations acquired between January 1983 and August
1986 is 20 percent disallowed and is calculated in a manner similar to that just described.

Certain qualified tax-exempt obligations (generally, obligations issued by an entity that will not
issue more than $10 million of tax-exempt obligations during the year and that are not private
activity bonds) issued after August 1986 are treated as if issued prior to that date (i.e., subject to
the 20 percent disallowance rule rather than the 100 percent disallowance rule).

(iv) Nonaccrual Loans. Generally, interest on a loan must be accrued as income unless the
taxpayer can demonstrate that the interest is uncollectible at the time of accrual. The tax rule is
dependent on the facts and circumstances for the nonaccrual loans at issue. The FAS No. 114 uses
a “probable” test in determining when a loan is impaired. When it is probable that a creditor will
be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement,
the loan is considered impaired. Use of this analysis may now provide substantiation of the tax
treatment for impairment of loans.

(v) Hedging. Financial institutions that are involved in hedging transactions treat the gain or
loss from these transactions as ordinary for tax purposes. A hedging transaction must be entered
into primarily to manage a taxpayer’s risk of interest rate changes, price changes, or currency
fluctuations. A taxpayer must also have risk on an overall (or macro) basis. A hedge of a single
ordinary asset or liability will be respected if it is reasonably expected to manage the taxpayer’s
overall risk. Hedges entered into as part of an overall risk reduction program also will qualify.

“Fixed to floating” hedges (e.g., hedges that convert a fixed-rate liability into a floating-rate
liability) may satisfy the risk management requirement if, for example, a taxpayer’s income varies
with interest rates. In addition, hedges entered into to reverse or counteract another hedging trans-
action may qualify for ordinary gain or loss treatment. Because tax hedges are permissible only
with ordinary property, hedges of mortgage servicing rights generally do not qualify as tax hedges,
since mortgage servicing rights are generally capital assets.

Hedges of ordinary liabilities qualify as “hedging transactions” regardless of the use of the
proceeds from the borrowing. Consequently, gain or loss from a hedge of a liability used to fund
the purchase of a capital asset will be ordinary. However, recent guidance in the form of final
Treasury regulations provide that the purchase or sale of a debt instrument, an equity security,
or an annuity contract is not hedging a transaction even if the transaction limits or reduces the
taxpayer’s risk.

The timing of the gain or loss from a hedging transaction must reasonably be “matched” with
the gain or loss of the item being hedged. This applies to global hedges and other hedges of
aggregate risk.

If a taxpayer disposes of a hedged item but retains the hedge, the taxpayer may redesignate
the hedge. The taxpayer generally must mark-to-market the hedge on the date that the taxpayer
disposes of the hedged item.

There are detailed contemporaneous identification and record-keeping requirements with which
an institution must comply to support its treatment of hedging transactions. Failure to comply could
lead to characterization of losses from these transactions as capital losses (which may only be used
to offset capital gains).

(vi) Loan Origination Fees and Costs. For financial accounting purposes, SFAS No. 91 requires
that all loan origination fees (including loan commitment fees and points) be deferred and generally
recognized over the life of the related loan or commitment period as an adjustment of yield. For
tax accounting purposes, loan fees received as cash payments incident to a lending transaction
(e.g., points) that represent an amount charged for the use of forbearance of money (rather than
payment for services) are deferred. Points received in connection with a lending transaction are
applied as a reduction to the issue price of the loan and generally create original issue discount
(OID) to be recognized over the life of the loan on a constant yield method. In instances where
the OID on a loan is de minimus (as defined in regulations), the de minimus OID is recognized in
proportion to principal payments received.
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For book purposes, the costs associated with origination of a loan are deferred and recognized
over the life of the loan together with the origination fees. For tax purposes, institutions generally
deduct these costs currently because to date there has been no published guidance requiring cap-
italization. However, in January 2002, the Treasury issued an Advance Notice of Proposed Rule
Making (ANPRM), providing notice that it plans to issue future guidance for loan origination costs.
The Notice suggest further guidance will permit a current deduction for de minimis internal costs
(e.g., employee salaries) in connection with the origination of intangible assets (e.g., loans).

(vii) Foreclosed Property

Banks. Generally, a bank recognizes gain or loss on foreclosure of property securing a loan, but
is not permitted to deduct any further decrease in or impairment of value. Any decrease in value
occurring after foreclosure is recognized when the property is disposed of by the institution. If real
property acquired through foreclosure is operated in a trade or business after foreclosure (e.g., as
rental property), the institution may deduct depreciation (and other operating expenses) computed
in accordance with general tax depreciation provisions.

Thrifts. Effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 1995, thrift institutions are
subject to the same rules as banks.

Under prior law, a special rule treated the acquisition of property by a thrift as a nontaxable
event, with no gain or loss recognized at time of foreclosure and no depreciation allowed on the
property. A subsequent write-down charge to the bad debt reserve was allowed if the fair market
value of the property was less than the tax basis of the loan. Upon final disposition, the gain or
loss was credited or charged to the bad debt reserve.

(viii) Leasing Activities. Direct financing activities may qualify as financings for tax purposes.
As a result, a bank will be considered the owner of the leased property for tax purposes. Accord-
ingly, rental income and depreciation deductions on the leased asset will be recognized for tax
purposes but not for financial reporting purposes. This will result in a difference between book
and tax accounting under SFAS No. 109.

(ix) FHLB Dividends. Banks and savings institutions may become members of the FHLB by
purchasing stock in individual FHLB member banks. Banks generally become a member of the
FHLB for access to additional funding for borrowed funds. The FHLB member banks, of which
there are 12, generally pay cash or stock dividends to shareholders, depending on the member bank.
Cash dividends paid on FHLB stock that was issued prior to March 28, 1942, are exempt from
federal income taxes. This exemption applied even for such stock that was subsequently acquired
through merger or otherwise. Cash dividends on FHLB stock issued on or after March 28, 1942,
are not exempt from taxation. Stock dividends on FHLB stock are generally not taxable when
distributed. These stock dividends create a book/tax difference that is recognized on the sales or
redemption of the FHLB shares.

(x) Bank-Owned Life Insurance. Bank-owned life insurance (BOLI) is commonly used by
financial institutions for its financial benefits to help fund benefit programs and to offset certain
costs typically incurred when losing key employees of the bank. BOLI is life insurance purchased
by a financial institution on the lives of specific employees. The economically beneficial aspects
of BOLI are tax-free growth in the cash surrender value of the policy and a tax-tree treatment of
the death proceeds, which are both realized by the bank as the owner of a given policy. Insurance
premiums on life insurance policies are not tax deductible.

(xi) Original Issue Discount. Original Issue Discount (OID) rules apply to all debt instruments
after July 1, 1982, with certain exceptions. Generally, OID is the excess of what a borrower is
obligated to repay when the loan comes due over the amount borrowed. More technically, OID
is the excess of the stated redemption price at maturity over its issue price. Under OID rules, the
holder of the debt must accrue stated interest under the constant yield method.
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(xii) Market Discount. The primary difference between OID and market discount is that pur-
chase of a security at its original purchase versus the secondary market, respectively. Generally,
if a debt instrument has declined in value from the time when it was originally issued (other
than as a result of principal payments), a purchaser of the bond will acquire it with market
discount.

A holder of a market discount may choose between two methods of recognizing accrued market
discount. Market discount accrues under a ratable method, in proportion to the payment of principal,
unless a constant interest method is elected. The primary difference between market discount and
OID is that the borrower is not required to include accrued market discount in taxable income
currently, but may elect to do so. Instead, the market discount rules require borrowers to recognize
accrued market discount only on receipt of the proceeds of a disposition or a principal payment is
made.

(x) FUTURES, FORWARDS, OPTIONS, SWAPS, AND SIMILAR FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS.
Futures, forwards, swaps, and options and other financial instruments with similar characteristics
(collectively, derivatives) have become important financial management tools for banks. The com-
plexity and volume of derivatives and derivatives trading has increased significantly in recent
years. Institutions continue to enhance risk management systems to enable them to monitor the
risks involved. Bank regulatory agencies continue to encourage institutions to upgrade policies
and procedures, risk measurement and reporting systems, and independent oversight and internal
control processes. Senior management has increased its knowledge of the derivative products and
how risks are monitored.

Derivatives are receiving considerable attention primarily due to the underlying volatility in
the markets, relatively large size of the transactions, and the potential for significant earnings
fluctuations. Derivatives have many similar risk characteristics as other credit products, such as
credit risk, market risk, legal risk, and control risk. The specific risks in a derivatives portfolio are
often difficult to identify due to the complexity of the transactions. For example, two or more basic
risks are often used in combination, which may be further complicated by the fact that economic
interaction between various positions within an institution (on- and off-balance sheet) may be
difficult to assess.

Underlying cash flows for derivatives are often referenced to such items as rates, indexes (which
measure changes in specific markets), value of underlying positions in financial instruments, in
equity instruments, in foreign currencies, commodities, or other derivatives.

Derivatives can generally be described as either forward-based or option-based, or combinations
of the two. A forward-based contract (futures, forwards, and swap contracts) obligates one party to
buy and a counterparty to sell an underlying financial instrument, foreign currency, or commodity
at a future date at an agreed-upon price. An option-based derivative (options, interest rate caps,
and interest rate floors) are one-sided in that if the right is exercised, only the holder can have
a favorable outcome and the writer can have only an unfavorable outcome. Most derivatives are
generally combinations of these two types of contracts.

Derivatives traded through an organized exchange typically have standardized contracts, such
as futures and certain options, and the risk characteristics are more related to market risk than
to credit risk. Alternatively, derivatives traded over-the-counter are customized to meet certain
objectives or needs and often vary in structure, such as swaps and forward contracts. Customized
derivative products traded privately typically present a greater degree of credit risk and liquidity
risk, depending on the counterparty’s financial strength, value of the collateral, if any, and the
liquidity of the specific instrument.

The complexity of derivative instruments is largely the result of the pricing mechanisms, flexibil-
ity and options features, and value calculation formulas. In addition, derivatives can be structured
to be more sensitive to general price movements than the cash market instruments from which
their value is derived. The types of derivatives products available varies considerably; however,
the following is a brief description of the basic types of contracts.



31.2 BANKS AND SAVINGS INSTITUTIONS 31 - 41

(i) Futures. A futures contract is an agreement to make or take delivery of a financial instrument
(interest rate instrument, currency, and certain stock indices) at a future date. Most futures contracts
are closed out prior to the delivery date by entering into an offsetting contract.

The type of financial instrument delivered depends on the type of futures contract. For example:
Investment-grade financial instruments, such as U.S. Treasury securities or mortgage-backed securi-
ties are delivered under interest rate futures; foreign currency (in the currency specified) is delivered
under foreign currency futures contracts; and commaodities such as oil, gold bullion, or coffee are
delivered under commodities futures contracts.

Buyers and sellers are required to deposit assets (such as cash, government securities, or letters
of credit) with a broker. The assets are called a margin and are subject to increases and decreases,
if losses or gains are incurred on the open position.

(ii) Forwards. A forward contract is a contract between two parties to purchase and sell a
specified quantity of a financial instrument, foreign currency, or commodity at a specified price,
with delivery and settlement at a specified future date. Such contracts are not traded on exchanges
and therefore may have a high degree of credit and liquidity risk. Forward rate agreements are
forward contracts used to manage interest-rate risk.

(iii) Options. Option contracts provide the purchaser of the option with the right, but not the
obligation, to buy (or sell) a specified instrument, such as currencies, interest rate products, or
futures. They also put the seller under the obligation to deliver (or take delivery of) the instrument
to the buyer of the option but only at the buyer’s option.

A premium is typically paid to the seller of the option, representing both the time value of
money and any intrinsic value. Intrinsic value, which cannot be less than zero, is derived from
the excess of market price for the underlying item in the contract over the price specified in the
contract (strike price).

Holders of option contracts can minimize downside price risks because the loss on a purchased
option contracts is limited to the amount paid for the option. On the other hand, while the profit
on written option contracts is limited to the premium received, the loss potential is unlimited
because the writer is obligated to settle at the strike price if the option is exercised. Options are
often processed through a clearinghouse, which guarantees the writer’s performance and minimizes
credit risk.

Option-based derivative contracts, such as caps, floors, collars, and swaptions, can be combined
to transfer risks form one entity to another. The following describes each type of contract.

e Interest rate caps. These are contracts in which a cap writer, in return for a premium, agrees
to make cash payments to the cap holder equal to the excess of the market rate over the
strike price multiplied by the notional principal amount if rates go above specified interest
rate (strike price). The cap holder has the right, not the obligation, to exercise the option,
and if rates move down, the cap holder will lose only the premium paid. The cap writer has
virtually unlimited risk resulting from increases in interest rates above the cap rate.

e Interest rate floors. These are contracts in which a floor writer, in return for a premium,
agrees to limit the risk of declining interest rates based on a notional amount such that
if rates go below a specified interest rate (strike price), the floor holder will receive cash
payments equal to the difference between the market rate and the strike price multiplied by
the notional principal amount. As with interest rate caps, the floor holder has the right, not
the obligation, to exercise the option, and if rates move up, the floor holder will lose only
the premium paid. The floor writer has risk resulting from decreases in interest rates below
the floor rate.

e Interest rate collars. These are combinations of interest rate caps and interest rate floors, that
is, one held and one written. Such contracts are often used by institutions to lock a floating
rate contract into a predetermined interest rate range.
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e Swaptions. These are option contracts to enter into an interest rate swap contract at some
future date or to cancel an existing swap in the future.

(iv) Swaps. These are contracts between parties to exchange sets of cash flows based on a
predetermined notional principal; only the cash flows are exchanged (usually on a net basis) with
no principal exchanged. Swaps are used to change the nature or cost of existing transactions, for
example, exchanging fixed-rate debt cash flows for floating rate cash flows. Swap contracts are not
exchange-traded, therefore they are not as liquid as futures contracts. The principal types of swaps
are interest rate swaps and currency swaps. However, there are also basis swaps, equity swaps,
commodity swaps, and mortgage swaps. A brief description of seven swaps follows:

1. Interest rate swaps. Interest rate swaps are used to manage interest rate risks, such as from
floating to fixed or fixed to floating. Periodic fixed payments are made by one party, while
another counterparty is obligated to make variable payments, depending on a market interest
rate. Master netting agreements are used to permit entities to legally set off related payable
and receivable swap contract positions for settlement purposes.

2. Foreign currency swaps. Foreign currency swaps are used to fix the value of foreign currency
exchange transactions that will occur in the future. Typically, principal is exchanged at
inception, interest is paid in accordance with the agreed upon rate and term, and principal
is re-exchanged at maturity.

3. Fixed-rate currency swaps. Fixed-rate currency swaps occur when two counterparties
exchange fixed-rate interest in one currency for fixed-rate interest in another currency.

4. Basis swaps. Basis swaps represent a variation on interest-rate swap contracts where both
rates are variable but tied to different index rates.

5. Equity swaps. Equity swaps occur when counterparties exchange cash flow streams tied to
an equity index with a fixed or floating interest.

6. Commodity swaps. Commodity swaps occur when counterparties exchange cash flow
streams tied to the difference between a commodity’s agreed upon price and its variable
price, applied to an agreed-upon price of the commodity.

7. Mortgage swaps. Typical mortgage swaps occur when an investor exchanges interest pay-
ments tied to a short-term floating rate, for cash flows based an a generic class of mortgage-
backed securities over a specified period. The cash flows received by the investor include
the fixed coupon on the generic class or mortgage-backed securities and any discount or
premium. The notional amount of the mortgage swap is adjusted monthly, based on amorti-
zation and prepayment experience of the generic class of mortgage-backed securities. When
the contract expires, the investor may either have to take physical delivery of the mortgages
(at a predetermined price) or settle in cash for the difference between the predetermined
price and the current market value for the mortgages. Collateral may be posted to reduce
counterparty credit risk.

(v) Foreign Exchange Contracts. These contracts are used both to provide a service to customers
and as a part of the institution’s trading or hedging activities. The bank profits by maintaining a
margin between the purchase price and sale price. Contracts may be for current trades (spot
contract), future dates (forward contract), or swap contracts. The bank may also enter into these
contracts to hedge a foreign currency exposure.

(vi) Other Variations. Other types of derivative products are discussed in Chapter 26, “Deriva-
tives and Hedge Accounting.”

(vii) Accounting Guidance. The FASB issued Statement No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” in June 1998. Statement No. 133 provides a comprehensive
and consistent standard for the recognition and measurement of derivatives and hedging activities.
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The Statement resolves the inconsistencies that existed with respect to accounting for derivatives
and changes considerably the way many derivatives transactions and hedged items are reported.

SFAS No. 133 requires all derivatives to be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value and
establishes “special accounting” for the following three different types of hedges: hedges of changes
in the fair value of assets, liabilities, or firm commitments (referred to as fair value hedges); hedges
of the variable cash flows of forecasted transactions (cash flow hedges); and hedges of foreign
currency exposures of net investments in foreign operations. The accounting treatment and criteria
for each of the three types of hedges are unique. Changes in fair value of derivatives that do not
meet the criteria of one of these three categories of hedges are included in income.

The four basic underlying premises of the new approach are:

1. Derivatives represent rights or obligations that meet the definitions of assets (future cash
inflows due from another party) or liabilities (future cash outflows owed to another party)
and should be reported in the financial statements.

2. Fair value is the most relevant measure for financial instruments and the only relevant
measure for derivatives. Derivatives should be measured at fair value, and adjustments to
the carrying amount of hedged items should reflect changes in their fair value (i.e., gains
and losses) attributable to the risk being hedged arising while the hedge is in effect.

3. Only items that are assets or liabilities should be reported as such in the financial statements.
(The Board believes gains and losses from hedging activities are not assets or liabilities and,
therefore, should not be deferred.)

4. Special accounting for items designated as being hedged should be provided only for quali-
fying transactions, and one aspect of qualification should be an assessment of the expectation
of the effectiveness of the hedge (i.e., offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows).

See Chapter 26 for further guidance on SFAS No. 133.
(y) FIDUCIARY SERVICES AND OTHER FEE INCOME

(i) Fiduciary Services In their fiduciary capacity, banks must serve their clients’ interests and
must act in good faith at a level absent in most other banking activities. In view of this high degree
of fiduciary responsibility, banks usually segregate the responsibilities of the trust department from
that of the rest of the bank. This segregation is designed to maintain a highly objective viewpoint
in the fiduciary area. Fiduciary services range from the simple safekeeping of valuables to the
investment management of large pension funds.

Custodial, safekeeping, and safe deposit activities involve the receipt, storage, and issuance
of receipts for a range of valuable assets. This may involve the holding of bonds, stocks, and
currency in escrow pending the performance under a contract, or merely the maintenance of a
secure depository for valuables or title deeds. As custodian, the bank may receive interest and
dividends on securities for the account of customers.

Investment management may be discretionary, whereby the bank has certain defined powers to
make investments, or nondiscretionary, whereby the bank may only execute investment transactions
based on customers’ instructions. The former obviously involves a higher degree of risk to the
institution and creates an obligation to make prudent investment decisions.

Other fiduciary services include trust administration, stock and bond registrar, and bank trustee.
Trust administration involves holding or management of property, such as pension funds and
estates for the benefit of others. Stock and bond registrar and bank trustee functions include the
maintenance of records and execution of securities transactions, including changes in ownership
and payment of dividends and interest.

Since the assets and liabilities of the trust department of the bank are held in an agency capacity,
they are not recorded on the balance sheet of the bank. These activities can, however, generate
significant fee income, which is recorded when earned in the statement of income.
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(ii) Other Fee Income. Emphasis on fee income-generating activities has increased in response
to both the risk-based capital guidelines, which created more pressure to reduce the size of the
balance sheet, and a general increase in competition in the financial services industry.

Some of the principal forms of fee-generating activity include the following:

e Annuities. Banks sell fixed and variable annuities.

e Brokerage. Banks may arrange for the purchase and sale of securities on behalf of customers
in return for a commission.

e Corporate and advisory services. These activities involve advice on mergers and acquisitions,
capital raising, and Treasury management in return for a fee.

e Private banking. This activity involves investment planning, tax assistance, and credit exten-
sions to wealthy individuals.

e Private placements. This activity normally involves the placement of securities on a best
efforts basis as opposed to an underwriting commitment.

e Underwriting. Banks may guarantee to purchase certain allowable securities if they are not
fully subscribed to in an offering.

e 401(k) plans and mutual funds. Banks may distribute mutual funds in a 401(k) plan.

Many of the activities, particularly underwriting, are subject to restriction by regulation as to the
type of securities that may be transacted, and separately capitalized subsidiaries may be required.
These restrictions are subject to change at the current time and may be significantly relaxed in the
near future.

These activities generate fee income that is recorded when earned. Certain activities are con-
ducted in conjunction with credit extension activities, and therefore particular attention is required
to ensure that fees generated are appropriately recorded. It is essential to distinguish between fees
that may be recorded immediately and fees that are essentially loan origination fees to be accounted
for over the life of the loan (SFAS No. 91).

(z) ELECTRONIC BANKING AND TECHNOLOGY RISKS. Conducting banking by personal
computer is a growing area for many institutions. The types of transactions customers can perform
online has also increased. For example, customers can transfer funds, pay bills, and apply for loans
by using electronic banking.

Additionally, many institutions are using client/server systems and personal computers, rather
than mainframe computers, to process customer transactions and maintain bank records. Accord-
ingly, security and database management controls surrounding these client/servers and personal
computers becomes very important.

Regulatory agencies have issued guidance addressing the safety and soundness aspects of elec-
tronic banking and personal computer bankings and the security risks associated with the Internet
and phone banking.

31.3 MORTGAGE BANKING ACTIVITIES

(@) OVERVIEW. Mortgage banking activities primarily include the origination or purchase, sale,
and subsequent long-term servicing of mortgage loans. Mortgage loans are originated or pur-
chased from a variety of sources including applications received directly from borrowers (retail
originations) and loans acquired from mortgage brokers or other mortgage lenders (wholesale or
correspondent purchases). These loans are then generally sold through the secondary mortgage mar-
ket to permanent investors or retained by the lender in its own loan portfolio. Typically, loans are
sold to permanent investors through conduits, although mortgage loans can also be sold through
whole loan sales directly to investors or through public or private securitizations completed by
the mortgage banker. Secondary market conduits include government-sponsored entities such as
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GNMA, FNMA, and FHLMC, and other private companies involved in the acquisition and secu-
ritization of mortgage loans. Loan servicing includes the collection, recording, and remittance to
investors of monthly mortgage payments, the maintenance of records relating to the loans, and the
management of escrows for taxes and insurance. In return for performing these servicing activities,
mortgage servicers earn a fee, which is usually a percentage of the loan’s unpaid principal balance.
Profits are earned from loan servicing activities if the mortgage banker’s cost of performing the
servicing of the loans is less than the fee received. The major risks associated with mortgage
banking are interest rate risk associated with the loans in the pipeline and warehouse, credit risk
associated with loans held for sale or held in portfolio, operational risk associated with performing
servicing functions improperly, and prepayment risk associated with mortgage servicing rights.

(b) ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE. The principal accounting guidance for the mortgage banking
industry is found in SFAS No. 65, “Accounting for Certain Mortgage Banking Activities,” SFAS
No. 91, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with Originating or Acquiring
Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases,” and SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Ser-
vicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.” SFAS No. 140 supersedes SFAS
No. 125. SFAS No. 140 is effective for transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguish-
ments of liabilities occurring after March 31, 2001, and is to be applied prospectively. Earlier or
retroactive application is not permitted. There are also several issues related to the accounting for
mortgage banking activities that have been addressed by the EITF.

(c) MORTGAGE LOANS HELD FOR SALE. Mortgage loans held for sale represent a mortgage
banker’s “inventory” of loans that have been originated or purchased and are awaiting sale to
permanent investors. SFAS No. 65 requires that mortgage loans held for sale be reported at the
lower of their cost or market value, determined as of the balance sheet date determined on an
individual loan or aggregate basis. The excess of cost over market value is required to be accounted
for as a valuation allowance with changes in the valuation allowance included in net income of
the period in which the change occurs. SFAS No. 91 requires that loan origination fees and direct
loan origination costs be deferred until the related loan is sold. Therefore, any net deferred fees or
costs should be included in the cost basis of the loan and considered in determining the required
valuation allowance at any balance sheet date. Capitalized costs of acquiring the rights to service
mortgage loans associated with the purchase or origination of these assets should be excluded from
the cost of the mortgage loans for the purposes of determining lower of cost or market. Likewise,
the fair value of the servicing rights associated with the loans included in a mortgage banker’s
loans held for sale classification should be excluded from the determination of lower of cost or
market.

The market value of mortgage loans held for sale shall be determined by type of loan. At a
minimum, separate determinations of market value for residential and commercial mortgage loans
shall be made. Either the aggregate or individual loan basis may be used in determining the lower
of cost or market value for each type of loan under SFAS No. 65. The market value for loans
subject to investor purchase commitments shall be based on those commitment prices. The market
value for uncommitted loans held on a speculative basis shall be based on the market in which the
mortgage banker normally operates.

At any balance sheet date, a mortgage banker will also have outstanding rate commitments,
which represent commitments made to loan applicants to fund a loan at a locked-in interest rate
provided that loan application eventually closes. These rate commitments make up a mortgage
banker’s “pipeline.” SFAS No. 65 does not specifically address a mortgage banker’s pipeline as
being subject to a lower of cost or market determination. However, the pipeline should be evaluated
for the impact of any adverse commitments. This may be done in conjunction with the lower of
cost or market analysis on loans held for sale. The analysis of the pipeline typically would only be
done on those commitments expected to become loans (i.e., close) and not on those loans expected
to “fallout” (i.e., not close). The existence of losses inherent in the pipeline after adjustment for
fallout can often be determined by comparing commitment prices to investor delivery prices for
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similar loans. If any losses are determined to exist in the mortgage banker’s pipeline, the loss
should be accrued pursuant to SFAS No. 5.

(d) MORTGAGE LOANS HELD FOR INVESTMENT. Mortgage loans can be originated or
purchased by a mortgage banker with the intention of holding the loan to maturity, or the loans
can be transferred into a mortgage banker’s “loans held for investment” category from a “loans
held for sale” category after it is determined that the loan is unsalable or the mortgage banker
decides to retain the loan for investment purposes. SFAS No. 65 requires that mortgage loans held
for investment be reported at cost. For mortgage loans transferred into mortgage loans held for
investment from loans held for sale, their initial cost basis shall be determined as the lower of the
loan’s cost or market value on the date of the transfer. A mortgage loan shall not be classified as
held for investment unless the mortgage banker has both the intent and the ability to hold the loan
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

If the ultimate recovery of the carrying amount of a mortgage loan held as a long-term invest-
ment is doubtful, and the impairment is considered to be other than temporary, the carrying amount
of the loan shall be reduced to its expected collectible amount, which then becomes its new cost
basis. The amount of the reduction shall be recorded as a loss. A recovery from the new cost basis
shall be reported as a gain only at the sale, maturity, or disposition of the loan.

As noted above, SFAS No. 91 requires that loan origination fees and direct loan origination
costs be deferred. For mortgage loans held for investment, any net deferred fees or costs should be
included in the cost basis of the loan and amortized into interest income on a level yield method.

(e) SALES OF MORTGAGE LOANS AND SECURITIES. Mortgage bankers typically sell the
majority of the loans they originate or purchase to third-party investors in order to remove these
loans from their balance sheet and provide funds for the continued origination and purchase of
future loans. The sale of mortgage loans results in a gain or loss that should be recognized when
the mortgage banker has surrendered control over the assets to a purchaser in a manner such that
the transfer of the loans can be accounted for as a sale. SFAS No. 140, which provides guidance
concerning the transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishments of liabilities, states
that a transfer of financial assets in which the transferor surrenders control over those financial
assets shall be accounted for as a sale to the extent that consideration other than beneficial interests
in the transferred assets have been received in exchange.

The control over financial assets is deemed to have been surrendered under SFAS No. 140 to
the extent that all of the following three conditions have been met:

1. The transferred assets have been isolated from the transferor, that is, put presumptively
beyond the reach of the transferor and its creditors even in bankruptcy.

2. Each transferee has the right to pledge or exchange the transferred assets, and no condition
both constrains the transferee from taking advantage of its right to pledge or exchange and
provides more than a trivial benefit to the transferor.

3. The transferor does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through either:
(a) an agreement that both entitles and obligates the transferor to repurchase or redeem them
before their maturity, or (b) the ability to unilaterally cause the holder to return specified
assets, other than through a clean-up call.

The sale of mortgage loans can occur primarily through one of three methods. Loans can be
sold (1) through whole loan or bulk transactions to third-party investors where individual loans
or groups of loans are transferred, (2) through government sponsored mortgage-backed securities
programs of investors such as FNMA, FHLMC, or GNMA, and (3) through private securitizations
where the originator or loan purchaser will securitize and sell directly to third-party investors
interests in an underlying pool of mortgage loans.

The most common type of sale utilized by mortgage bankers is the sale of mortgage-backed
securities through programs sponsored by FNMA, FHLMC, and GNMA. These sales are relatively



31.3 MORTGAGE BANKING ACTIVITIES 31 - 47

straightforward and generally do not have the complex kinds of terms that could call into question
sale treatment for the transfer under SFAS No. 140. Whole loan sales are also generally straight-
forward and do not present complex SFAS No. 140 sales issues; however, in instances where
mortgage-backed securities or whole loans are sold through private securitizations or on a recourse
basis, surrender of control issues under SFAS No. 140 may be encountered.

Depending on the type of structure utilized in a private mortgage loan securitization, including
those with terms where significant interests in securitized pools are retained, those with significant
continued involvement of the seller in the securitized pool, and those with unusual legal structures,
the attainment of sale accounting under SFAS No. 140 may also not be straightforward and may
be difficult to assess. Careful consideration should be given to the requirements of SFAS No. 140
to ensure that a sale of the mortgage loans has occurred before a gain or loss on the transaction
can be realized.

(i) Gain or Loss on Sale of Mortgage Loans. Upon completion of a transfer of mortgage
loans that satisfies the conditions of SFAS No. 140 to qualify as a sale, the mortgage banker shall
allocate the previous cost basis of the loans, including all deferred SFAS No. 91 costs and fees,
between interests sold (i.e., the underlying loans) and interests retained (i.e., the loans’ servicing
rights, or other retained portions of a securitization such as residual spreads, subordinate bonds,
and 10 or PO strips) based upon the relative fair value of those components on the date of the
sale. The allocated basis assigned to interests in the mortgage loans that are sold should then
be derecognized, and a gain or loss calculated as the difference between this allocated basis and
proceeds received on the sale, net of any assets or liabilities created in the transaction that should
be recorded. Newly created assets and liabilities from the sale should be initially recorded at their
fair value and accounted for in accordance with current GAAP for similar assets and liabilities.
Interests retained in the sale of mortgage loans are initially recorded at their allocated cost basis
and subsequently accounted for in accordance with current GAAP for similar assets and liabilities.

(ii) Financial Assets Subject to Prepayment. Interest-only strips, loans, and other receivables
and retained interests from sales or securitizations of mortgage loans that can be contractually
prepaid or otherwise settled in a way such that the holder would not recover substantially all of
its recorded investment shall be subsequently measured like investments in debt securities and
classified as available-for-sale or trading assets under SFAS No. 115.

(f) MORTGAGE SERVICING RIGHTS. A mortgage banking entity may purchase mortgage
servicing rights separately, or it may acquire mortgage servicing rights by purchasing or originating
mortgage loans and selling or securitizing those mortgage loans with the servicing rights retained.
When a mortgage banker purchases or originates mortgage loans, the cost of acquiring those loans
includes the cost of the related servicing rights. These servicing rights become separate and distinct
assets only when their respective mortgage loans are sold with the servicing rights retained.

SFAS No. 140 provides the primary accounting guidance for mortgage servicing rights and
requires that servicing assets and other retained interests in the mortgage loans sold be measured
by allocating the previous carrying amount of the mortgage loans (as previously discussed) between
the mortgage loans sold and the servicing rights retained, based on their relative fair values at the
date of the sale. SFAS No. 140 also requires that servicing assets and liabilities be subsequently
(a) amortized in proportion to and over the period of estimated net servicing income or loss and
(b) assessed for asset impairment or increased obligation based on their fair values.

SFAS No. 140 requires that a mortgage banking enterprise assess its capitalized mortgage ser-
vicing rights for impairment based on the fair value of those rights. A mortgage banking enterprise
should stratify its mortgage servicing rights based on one or more of the predominant risk charac-
teristics of the underlying loans. Impairment should be recognized through a valuation allowance
for each impaired stratum. Each stratum should be recorded at the lower of cost or market value.
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(i) Initial Capitalization of Mortgage Servicing Rights. Under SFAS No. 140, each time
an entity undertakes an obligation to service mortgage loans, the entity shall recognize either a
servicing asset or a servicing liability for that servicing contract, unless it retains the underlying
mortgage loans as an investment on its balance sheet. If a servicing asset was purchased or assumed
rather than undertaken in a sale or securitization of the mortgage loans being serviced, the servicing
asset shall be measured initially at its fair value, presumptively the price paid for the right to service
the underlying loans.

Under SFAS No. 140, servicing rights retained in a sale of mortgage loans shall be initially
recorded on the balance sheet at their allocated portion of the total cost of the mortgage loans
purchased or originated. The allocation of the total cost basis of the mortgage loans shall be based
on the relative fair values of the mortgage loans and their respective servicing rights.

(ii) Amortization of Mortgage Servicing Rights. SFAS No. 140 requires that amounts capi-
talized as servicing assets (net of any recorded valuation allowances) be amortized in proportion
to, and over the period of, estimated net servicing income. For this purpose, estimates of future
servicing revenue shall include expected late charges and other ancillary revenue, including float.
Estimates of expected future servicing costs shall include direct costs associated with performing
the servicing function and appropriate allocations of other costs. Estimated future servicing costs
may be determined on an incremental cost basis.

(iii) Impairment of Mortgage Servicing Rights. For the purpose of evaluating and measuring
impairment of servicing assets, SFAS No. 140 requires that servicing assets be stratified based on
one or more of the predominant risk characteristics of the underlying loans. Those characteristics
may include loan type, size, note rate, date of origination, term, and geographic location. Histor-
ically, note or interest rate has been the predominant prepayment risk characteristic considered
by most mortgage bankers because in declining interest rate environments, loans have tended to
prepay more rapidly with corresponding impairment to the servicing asset.

Impairment shall be recognized through a valuation allowance for an individual stratum. The
amount of impairment recognized shall be the amount by which the carrying value of the servicing
assets in a stratum exceeds their fair value. The fair value of servicing assets that have not been
recognized through a sale or securitization shall not be used in the evaluation of impairment.

Subsequent to the initial measurement of impairment, the mortgage banking enterprise shall
adjust the valuation allowance to reflect changes in the measurement of impairment. Fair value in
excess of the amount capitalized as servicing assets (net of amortization), however, shall not be
recognized. SFAS No. 140 does not address when a mortgage banking enterprise should record a
direct write-down of servicing assets.

(iv) Fair Value of Mortgage Servicing Rights. SFAS No. 140 defines the fair value of an asset
or a liability as the amount at which that asset or liability could be bought or sold in a current
transaction between willing parties, that is, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. Quoted market
prices in active markets are the best evidence of fair value and under SFAS No. 140 shall be used
as the basis for the measurement, if available.

If quoted market prices are not available, the estimate of fair value shall be based on the best
information available in the circumstances. The estimate of fair value shall consider prices for
similar assets or liabilities and the results of valuation techniques to the extent available in the
circumstances. Examples of valuation techniques include the present value of estimated expected
future cash flows using a discount rate commensurate with the risks involved, option-pricing mod-
els, matrix pricing, option-adjusted spread models, and fundamental analysis. Valuation techniques
for measuring financial assets and liabilities and servicing assets and liabilities shall be consistent
with the objective of measuring fair value. Those techniques shall incorporate assumptions that
market participants would use in their estimates of values, future revenues, and future expenses,
including assumptions about interest rates, default, prepayment, and volatility. In measuring finan-
cial liabilities and servicing liabilities at fair value by discounting estimated future cash flows,
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an objective is to use discount rates at which those liabilities could be settled in an arm’s-length
transaction.

Estimates of expected future cash flows, if used to estimate fair value, shall be the best estimate
based on reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections. All available evidence shall be
considered in developing estimates of expected future cash flows. The weight given to the evidence
shall be commensurate with the extent to which the evidence can be verified objectively. If a range
is estimated for either the amount or timing of possible cash flows, the likelihood of possible
outcomes shall be considered in determining the best estimate of future cash flows.

If it is not practicable to estimate the fair values of assets, the transferor shall record those
assets at zero. If it is not practicable to estimate the fair values of liabilities, the transferor shall
recognize no gain on the transaction and shall record those liabilities at the greater of:

e The excess, if any, of (1) the fair values of assets obtained less the fair values of other
liabilities incurred, over (2) the sum of the carrying values of the assets transferred

e The amount that would be recognized in accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for
Contingencies,” as interpreted by FASB Interpretation No. 14, “Reasonable Estimation of the
Amount of a Loss”

(v) Sales of Mortgage Servicing Rights. EITF No. 95-5 provides the primary accounting guid-
ance for sales of mortgage servicing rights. The consensus reached in EITF No. 95-5 states that a
sale of mortgage servicing rights should be recognized at the date title passes if substantially all
risks and rewards of ownership have irrevocably passed to the buyer and any protection provisions
retained by the seller are minor and can be reasonably estimated. If a sale is recognized and minor
protection provisions exist, a liability should be accrued for the estimated obligation associated with
those provisions. The seller retains only minor protection provisions if (a) the obligation associated
with those provisions is estimated to be no more than 10 percent of the sales price and (b) the
risk of prepayment is retained by the seller for no more than 120 days. The consensus additionally
noted that a temporary subservicing agreement in which the seller would subservice the loans for a
short period of time after the sale would not necessarily preclude recognizing a sale at the closing
date.

(vi) Retained Interests. In certain asset sale or securitizations transactions, the mortgage banker
may retain an interest in the transferred assets. Examples of retained interests include servicing
assets, interest-only strips, and retained (or residual) interests in securitizations. Historically, excess
servicing resulted from the sale of loans where the contractual service fee (the difference between
the mortgage rate and the pass-through rate to the investor in the loans, after deducting any
guarantee fees) was greater than a “normal servicing fee rate.” This excess servicing asset was then
capitalized separately and subsequently accounted for distinctly from the normal servicing asset
recorded. Under SFAS No. 140, the accounting distinction for excess servicing fees was eliminated.
In general, under agency servicing contracts, past excess servicing fees represent contractually
specified servicing fees as defined under SFAS No. 140 and are combined with servicing rights as
a servicing asset. The combined servicing asset will then be subject to the stratified impairment
test that was described in Subsection 31.3(f)(iii).

Generally, a servicing fee in excess of a contractually stated servicing fee would only be
encountered in an instance where an entity securitizes and sells mortgage loans and creates an
interest-only strip above and beyond the compensation allocated to the loan’s servicer in the
pooling and servicing agreements. If it is determined that an entity’s “excess servicing fees” exceed
contractually specified amounts, those amounts would be required to be classified as interest-only
strips under SFAS No. 140.

Interest-only strips are rights to future interest income from the serviced assets that exceed
contractually specified servicing fees. Interest-only strips are not servicing assets, they are financial
assets. These assets should be originally recorded at allocated cost and subsequently recorded as
an available for sale or trading asset in accordance with FAS No. 115.



31-50  FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Retained or residual interests in securitizations represents the mortgage banker’s right to receive
cash flows from the mortgage assets that are not required to: (1) pay certificate holders their con-
tractual amounts of principal and interest, (2) fund reserve accounts stipulated in the securitization
structure, (3) pay expenses of the securitization, and (4) make any other payments stipulated in
the securitization. Such retained interests must be evaluated for impairment pursuant to EITF No.
99-20, “Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on Purchased and Retained Beneficial
Interests in Securitized Financial Assets.”

(g) TAXATION. Mortgage banks are subject to federal income taxes and certain state and local
taxes. The taxation of mortgage banks is extremely complex; therefore, a discussion in depth is
beyond the scope of this book. However, certain significant factors of mortgage banking taxation
are discussed below.

(i) Mortgage Servicing Rights. The tax treatment of servicing rights changed substantially in
1991 for both mortgage loan originators and subsequent purchasers of mortgage loans. Under Rev.
Rule 91-46, a lender selling mortgages while retaining the right to service the loans for an amount
in excess of reasonable compensation, is deemed to have two types of income resulting from a
servicing contract: “normal” (i.e., reasonable) or “excess” servicing compensation.

Generally, taxable income for normal servicing is recognized as received (i.e., as asset is not
created at the time of loan sale as it is for book purposes), thus a book to tax difference will exist
upon sale of the underlying loan to a third party. Income deemed received for excess servicing is
included in income on a yield-to-maturity basis.

The Treasury has provided safe harbor amounts providing guidance to what is deemed normal
or reasonable compensation. Normal compensation is for the performance of general mortgage
services, including a contract requiring the servicer to collect the periodic mortgage payments
from the mortgagors and remit these payments to the owner of the mortgages.

The safe harbors establish that compensation for the performance of all services under the mort-
gage servicing contracts should generally be between 25 and 44 basis points, annually, determined
more specifically on the type of residential loans. Guidance as to reasonable compensation on
commercial mortgages has not been provided; it is the taxpayer’s responsibility to establish and
support what is reasonable compensation for the services it performs.

Excess servicing is those funds received in excess of reasonable compensation, thus the term
excess servicing rights. Excess servicing rights have been determined to represent a stripped coupon,
while the underlying mortgage that was sold represents a stripped bond. The fair value of the
stripped coupon (i.e., servicing right) is determined based on the relevant facts and circumstances.

The mortgage servicing business is fueled by volume, thus it is common for a mortgage bank
to be an originator of mortgage loans, a purchaser of mortgage loans, and a purchaser of servicing.
If both the loan and the servicing right are purchased, and the loan is subsequently sold with
servicing retained, tax treatment will generally follow the same treatment as if the seller originated
the mortgage loan.

This treatment is significantly different compared to the purchase of only mortgage servicing
rights. Purchased mortgage servicing rights (PMSRs) are amortized over 15 years when acquired
in connection with a trade or business or over 108 months when a servicing portfolio is separately
acquired. Certain restrictions prevent the recognition of loss in value of a servicing portfolio unless
the entire portfolio or individually identified loans within a pool of serviced loans are disposed
of, thus taxpayers may have difficulty realizing the loss in value of a servicing portfolio that has
significant prepayments until all the underlying mortgages have been paid down.

(ii) Mark-to-Market. Contrary to normal realization-based tax accounting principles, IRC
Section 475 requires “dealers in securities” to recognize gain or loss through “marking-to-market”
their securities holdings, unless such securities are validly identified by the taxpayer as excepted
from the provisions.

As used in this context, the terms “dealer” and “securities” have very broad application. Virtually
all financial institutions are considered dealers in securities for mark-to-market purposes, though
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regulations provide exceptions for certain institutions not engaging in more than de minimus dealer
activities. Securities required to be marked (unless validly identified as excepted) include notes,
bonds, and other evidences of indebtedness; stock, notional principal contracts; or any evidence
of an interest in or a derivative of such security (other than Section 1256(a) contracts); and any
clearly identified hedge of such security.

Securities that may be identified as excepted from the mark-to-market provisions are:

e Securities “held for investment” and property identified as such for tax purposes.

o Notes and other evidences of indebtedness (and obligations to acquire such) that are acquired
or originated by the taxpayer in the ordinary course of a trade or business that are “not held
for sale.”

e Hedges of positions or liabilities that are not securities in the hands of the taxpayer, and
hedges of position or liabilities that are exempt from mark-to-market under the two foregoing
provisions. This does not apply for hedges held as a dealer.

To be excepted from mark-to-market, the securities must be identified by the taxpayer on a
contemporaneous basis (generally day of acquisition) as meeting one of the above exceptions.

Whether or not a security is required to be marked-to-market for financial accounting purposes is
not dispositive for purposes of determining whether such security is treated as “held for investment”
or “not held for sale.”

Some financial institutions identify all or a significant portion of their loans to customers as
excepted from mark-to-market provisions because they intend to hold these loans to maturity. A
possible exception are mortgages that are originated for sale (pipeline or warehoused loans), which
do not meet the exception criteria and must be marked-to-market.

31.4 INVESTMENT COMPANIES

(@ BACKGROUND. An investment company (referred to as a fund or a mutual fund) generally
pools investors’ funds to provide them with professional investment management and diversification
of ownership in the securities markets. Typically, an investment company sells its capital shares to
the public and invests the net proceeds in stock, bonds, government obligations, or other securities,
intended to meet the fund’s stated investment objectives. A brief history of investment companies
is included in paragraphs 1.07 and 1.08 of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, “Audits of
Investment Companies.” One of the more notable distinctions between investment companies and
companies in other industries is the extremely high degree of compliance to which registered
investment companies must adhere.

(i) Securities and Exchange Commission Statutes. The SEC is responsible for the administra-
tion and enforcement of the following statutes governing investment companies:

e The Investment Company Act of 1940 (the “1940 Act”). Regulates registered investment com-
panies and provides extensive rules and regulations that govern record keeping, reporting,
fiduciary duties, and other responsibilities of an investment company’s management.

e The Investment Advisers Act of 1940. Requires persons who are paid to render investment
advice to individuals or institutions, including investment companies, to register with the
SEC and regulates their conduct and contracts.

e The Securities Act of 1933. Governs the content of prospectuses and addresses the public

offering and distribution of securities (including debt securities and the capital shares of
investment companies).
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e The Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Regulates the trading of securities in secondary markets
after the initial public offering and distribution of the securities under the 1933 Act. Periodic
SEC financial reporting requirements pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the 1934
Act are satisfied by the semiannual filing of Form N-SAR pursuant to Section 30 of the 1940
Act.

(i) Types of Investment Companies. Three common methods of classification are (1) by secu-
rities law definition, (2) by investment objectives, and (3) by form of organization.

Classification by Securities Law Definition. Securities law divides investment companies into
three types: management companies, face amount certificate companies, and unit investment trusts.
The most common classification is the management company. The term mutual fund refers to an
open-end management company as described under Section 5 of the 1940 Act. Such a fund stands
ready to redeem its shares at net asset value whenever requested to do so and usually continuously
offers its shares for sale, although it is not required to do so. A closed-end management company
does not stand ready to redeem its shares when requested (although it may occasionally make tender
offers for its shares) and generally does not issue additional shares, except perhaps in connection
with a dividend reinvestment program. Its outstanding shares are usually traded on an exchange,
often at a premium or discount from the fund’s underlying net asset value. In addition to open-end
and closed-end management companies, there are also management companies that offer the ability
for shareholders to periodically redeem their shares on specified dates or intervals.

Other management investment companies include Small Business Investment Companies and
Business Development Companies (SBICs and BDCs, respectively). Management companies, at
their own election, are further divided into diversified companies and nondiversified companies.
A fund that elects to be a diversified company must meet the 75 percent test required under
Section 5(b)(1) of the 1940 Act. Nondiversified companies are management companies that have
elected to be nondiversified and do not have to meet the requirements of Section 5(b)(1).

The 1940 Act also provides for face amount certificate companies, which are rather rare, and
unit investment trusts. Unit investment trusts normally are established under a trust indenture by
a sponsoring organization that acquires a portfolio (often tax-exempt or taxable bonds that are
generally held to maturity) and then sells undivided interests in the trust. Units of the trust may
be offered continuously, such as for a trust purchasing treasury securities, but normally do not
make any additional portfolio acquisitions. Units remain outstanding until they are tendered for
redemption or the trust is terminated.

Separate accounts of an insurance company that underlie variable annuity and variable life
insurance products are also subject to the requirements of the 1940 Act. They may be established
as management companies or as unit investment trusts. Variable annuities and variable life products
are considered to be both securities subject to the 1933 Act and insurance products subject to
regulation by state insurance departments.

Classification by Investment Objectives. Investment companies can also be classified by their
investment objectives or types of investments, for example, growth funds, income funds, tax-exempt
funds, global funds, money market funds, and equity funds.

Classification by Form of Organization. Investment companies can also be classified by their
form of organization. Funds may be organized as corporations or trusts (and, to a lesser extent, as
partnerships).

Incorporation offers the advantages of detailed state statutory and interpretative judicial deci-
sions governing operations and limited liability of shareholders, and, in normal cases, it requires
no exemptions to comply with the 1940 Act.

The business trust, or Massachusetts Trust, is an unincorporated business association established
by a declaration or deed of trust and governed largely by the law of trusts. In general, a business
trust has the advantages of unlimited authorized shares, no annual meeting requirement, and long
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duration. However, Massachusetts Trusts have a potential disadvantage in that there is unlimited
liability to the business trust shareholders in the event of litigation or other negative factors.
Generally, however, the Trust undertakes to indemnify the shareholders against loss.

(b) FUND OPERATIONS. When a new fund is established, it enters into a contract with an
investment adviser (often the sponsoring organization) to manage the fund and, within the terms
of the fund’s stated investment objectives, to determine what securities should be purchased, sold,
or exchanged. The investment adviser places orders for the purchase or sale of portfolio securities
for the fund with brokers or dealers selected by it. The officers of the fund, who generally are
also officers of the investment adviser or fund administrator, give instructions to the custodian of
the fund holdings as to delivery of securities and payments of cash for the account of the fund.
The investment adviser normally furnishes, at its own expense, all necessary advisory services,
facilities, and personnel in connection with these responsibilities. The investment adviser may also
act as administrator; administrative duties include preparation of regulatory filings and managing
relationships with other service providers. The investment adviser and administrator are usually
paid for these services through a fee based on the value of net assets.

The distributor or underwriter for an investment company markets the shares of the fund—either
directly to the public (“no-load” funds) or through a sales force. The sales force may be compen-
sated for their services through a direct sales commission included in (deducted from) the price at
which the fund’s shares are offered (redeemed), through a distribution fee (also referred to as a
12b-1 plan fee) paid by the fund as part of its recurring expenses, or in both ways. Rule 12b-1 under
the 1940 Act permits an investment company to pay for distribution expenses, which otherwise
are paid for by the distributor and not the fund.

A fund has officers and directors (and in some cases, trustees) but generally has no employees,
the services it requires being provided under contract by others. Primary servicing organizations
are summarized below.

(i) Fund Accounting Agent. The fund accounting agent maintains the fund’s general ledger and
portfolio accounting records and computes the net asset value per share, usually on a daily basis.
In some instances, this service is provided by the investment adviser or an affiliate of the adviser,
or a nonaffiliated entity may perform this service. The fund accounting agent, or in some cases
a separate administrative agent, may also be responsible for preparation of the fund’s financial
statements, tax returns, semiannual and annual filings with the SEC on Form N-SAR, and the
annual registration statement filing.

(ii) Custodian. The custodian maintains custody of the fund’s assets, collects income, pays
expenses, and settles investment transactions. The 1940 Act provides for three alternatives in
selecting a custodian. The most commonly used is a commercial bank or trust company that meets
the requirements of Sections 17 and 26 of the 1940 Act. The second alternative is a member firm
of a national securities exchange; the third alternative is for the fund to act as its own custodian
and utilize the safekeeping facilities of a bank or trust company. Section 17(f) and Rules 17f-1
and 17f-2 of the 1940 Act provide for specific audit procedures to be performed by the fund’s
independent accountant when either alternative two or three is used.

(iii) Transfer Agent. The fund’s transfer agent maintains the shareholder records and processes
the sales and redemptions of the fund’s capital shares. The transfer agent processes the capital share
transactions at a price per share equal to the net asset value per share of the fund next determined by
the fund accounting agent (forward pricing). In certain instances, shareholder servicing—the direct
contact with shareholders, usually by telephone—is combined with the transfer agent processing.

(c) ACCOUNTING. The AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, “Audits of Investment Compa-
nies” (May 1, 2001) (the “Audit Guide”) provides specific guidance on accounting issues relevant
to investment companies. The SEC has set forth in Financial Reporting Policies, Section 404.03,
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“Accounting, Valuation, and Disclosure of Investment Securities,” its views on accounting for
securities by registered investment companies.

Because for federal income tax purposes the fund is a conduit for the shareholders, the opera-
tions of an investment company are normally influenced by federal income tax to the shareholder.
Accordingly, conformity between book and tax accounting is usually maintained whenever prac-
ticable under GAAP. In general, investment companies carry securities, which are their most
significant asset, at current value, not at historical cost. In such a “mark-to-market” environment,
the deviation between book and tax accounting has no effect on net asset value.

Uniquely, most mutual funds close their books daily and calculate a net asset value per share,
which forms the pricing basis for shareholders who are purchasing or redeeming fund shares. SEC
Rules 2a-4 and 22c-1 set forth certain accounting requirements, including a one cent per share
pricing criterion. Because of this daily closing of the books, mutual funds and their agents must
maintain well-controlled and current accounting systems to provide proper records for their highly
compliance-oriented industry.

The SEC has promulgated extensive rules under each of the statutes that it administers, including
the following:

o Article 6 of Regulation S-X (Article 3-18 and Article 12-12). Sets forth requirements as to the
form and content of, and requirements for, financial statements filed with the SEC, including
what financial statements must be presented and for what periods.

e Financial reporting policies. Section 404 relates specifically to registered investment compa-
nies.

(d) FINANCIAL REPORTING.

(i) New Registrants. Any company registered under the 1940 Act that has not previously had an
effective registration statement under the 1933 Act must include, in its initial registration statement,
financial statements, and financial highlights of a date within 90 days prior to the date of filing. For
a company that did not have any prior operations, this would be limited to a seed capital statement
of assets and liabilities and related notes.

Section 14 of the 1940 Act requires that an investment company have a net worth of at least
$100,000. Accordingly, a new investment company is usually incorporated by its sponsor with
seed capital of that amount.

(i) General Reporting Requirements. The SEC reporting requirements are outlined in
Section 30 of the 1940 Act and the related rules and regulations thereunder, which supersede
any requirements under Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the 1934 Act to which an investment com-
pany would otherwise be subject. A registered management investment company is deemed by the
SEC to have satisfied its requirement under the 1934 Act to file an annual report by the filing of
semiannual reports on Form N-SAR.

The SEC requires that every registered management company send to its shareholders, at least
semiannually, a report containing financial statements and financial highlights. Only the financial
statements and financial highlights in the annual report are required to be audited.

Some funds prepare quarterly reports to shareholders, although they are not required to do so.
They generally include a portfolio listing, and in relatively few cases, they include full financial
statements. Closed-end funds listed on an exchange have certain quarterly reporting requirements
under their listing agreements with the exchange.

(iii) Financial Statements. Article 6 of Regulation S-X deals specifically with investment com-
panies and requires the following statements:

o A statement of assets and liabilities (supported by a separate listing of portfolio securities) or
a statement of net assets, which includes a detailed list of portfolio securities at the reporting
date
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o A statement of operations for the year
o A statement of changes in net assets for the latest two years

SFAS No. 95 provides that a statement of cash flows should be included with financial statements
prepared in accordance with GAAP. SFAS No. 102 exempts investment companies from providing
a statement of cash flows, provided certain conditions are met. A statement of changes in net assets
should be presented even if the statement of cash flows is presented because a statement of changes
in net assets presents the changes in shareholders’ equity required by GAAP and by Article 6 of
Regulation S-X.

(e) TAXATION. Investment companies are subject to federal income taxes and certain state
and local taxes. However, investment companies registered under the 1940 Act may qualify for
special federal income tax treatment as regulated investment companies (RICs) under the IRC
and may deduct dividends paid to shareholders. If a fund fails to qualify as a RIC, it will be
taxed as a regular corporation, and the deduction for dividends paid by the fund is disallowed.
Subchapter M (§8851-855) of the IRC applies to RICs. Chapter 6 of the Audit Guide discusses
the tax considerations related to RICs.

To qualify as a RIC, the fund must:

e Be a domestic entity registered under the 1940 Act

e Derive 90 percent of its total income from dividends, interest, and gross gains on sales of
securities

e Have 50 percent of its assets composed of cash, U.S. government securities, securities of
other funds, and “other issues,” as defined

e Have not more than 25 percent of the value of its total assets invested in the securities (other
than U.S. government securities or the securities of other regulated investment companies)
of any one issuer or of two or more issuers controlled by the fund that are determined to be
engaged in the same or similar trades or businesses

In order for a RIC to use its distributions to offset taxable income, it must distribute at least
90 percent of its net investment company taxable income and net tax-exempt interest income to
its shareholders. Also, to avoid a 4 percent nondeductible excise tax, a fund must distribute, by
December 31 of each year, 98 percent of its ordinary income measured on a calendar year basis
and 98 percent of its net capital gains measured on a fiscal year basis ending October 31. Actual
payment of the distribution must be before February 1 of the following year.

(f) FILINGS. SEC registration forms applicable to investment companies include the following:

e Form N-8A. The notification of registration under the 1940 Act.

e Form N-1A. The registration statement of open-end management investment companies under
the 1940 and the 1933 Acts. (It is not to be used by SBICs, BDCs, or insurance company
separate accounts.) The Form describes in detail the company’s objectives, policies, manage-
ment, investment restrictions, and similar matters. The Form consists of the prospectus, the
statement of additional information (SAIl), and a third section of other information, including
detailed information on the SEC-required yield calculations. Post-effective amendments on
Form N-1A, including updated audited financial statements, must be filed and become effec-
tive under the 1933 and 1940 Acts within 16 months after the end of the period covered by
the previous audited financial statements if the fund is to continue offering its shares.

Form N-SAR. A reporting form used for semiannual and annual reports by all registered
investment companies that have filed a registration statement that has become effective pur-
suant to the 1933 Act, with the exception of face amount certificate companies and BDCs.
BDC:s file periodic reports pursuant to Section 13 of the 1934 Act. Management investment
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companies file the form semiannually; unit investment trusts are only required to file annually.
There is no requirement that the form or any of the items be audited. The annual report filed
by a management investment company must be accompanied by a report on the company’s
system of internal accounting controls from its independent accountant. The requirement for
an accountant’s report on internal accounting controls does not apply to SBICs or to man-
agement investment companies not required by either the 1940 Act or any other federal or
state law or rule or regulation thereunder to have an audit of their financial statements.

e Form N-2. A registration statement for closed-end funds comparable to Form N-1A for open-
end funds. Under Rule 8b-16 of the 1940 Act, if certain criteria are met in the Annual Report
of a closed-end fund, the fund may not need to annually update its Form N-2 filing with the
SEC.

e Forms N-1, N-3, N-4, and N-6. The registration statements for various types of insurance-
related products, including variable annuities and variable life insurance.

e Form N-5. The registration statement for SBICs, which are also licensed under the Small
Business Investment Act of 1958, is used to register the SBIC under both the 1933 Act and
the 1940 Act.

e Form N-14. The statement for registration of securities issued by investment companies in
business combination transactions under the 1933 Act. It contains information about the
companies involved in the transaction, including historical and pro forma financial statements.

(g) INVESTMENT PARTNERSHIPS—SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS. Investment partnerships
may be described generally as limited partnerships organized under state law to trade and/or
invest in securities. They are sometimes also referred to as hedge funds, which has become a
generic industry term for an investment partnership (or another nonpublic investment company),
although this may be a misnomer depending on the partnership’s investment strategy. Investment
partnerships, if certain conditions are met, are generally not required to register under the 1940 Act
and are also generally not subject to the Internal Revenue Code rules and regulations that apply
to RICs.

An investment partnership is governed by its partnership agreement. This is the basis for legal,
structural, operational, and accounting guidelines. The majority of the capital in an investment
partnership is owned by its limited partners. The general partner usually has a minimal investment
in the partnership, if any at all. Limited partners may be a variety of entities, including private
and public pension plans, foreign investors, insurance companies, bank holding companies, and
individuals. There are legal, regulatory, and accounting and tax considerations associated with
each of the above types of investors. For example, investment in an investment partnership by
pension plans may subject the investment partnership to the rules and regulations of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) (generally, investment partnerships will not be
subject to ERISA if less than 25 percent of the partnership’s capital is derived from pension or
other employee benefit plan assets); foreign investors may be subject to foreign withholding taxes;
and the number of partners in an investment partnership may subject the investment partnership
to registration under the 1940 Act (generally, an investment partnership must have fewer than 100
partners [or must have partners who are all “qualified purchasers”] to avoid registration under the
1940 Act).

The limited partners are generally liable for the repayment and discharge of all debts and
obligations of the investment partnership, but only to the extent of their respective interest in the
partnership. They usually have no part in the management of the partnership and have no authority
to act on behalf of the partnership in connection with any matter. The general partner can be an
individual, a corporation, or other entity. The general partner usually has little or no investment in
the investment partnership (often one percent of total contributed capital) and is responsible for the
day-to-day administration of the investment partnership. The general partner, however, usually has
unlimited liability for the repayment and discharge of all debts and obligations of the partnership
irrespective of its interest in the partnership. The general partner may also be the investment adviser
or an affiliate of the adviser.
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Although investment partnerships are generally not “investment companies” as defined in fed-
eral securities laws, they do meet the definition of investment companies as contained in the Audit
Guide. Accordingly, the Audit Guide is generally applicable to investment partnerships. There
are, however, certain disclosure requirements in the Audit Guide to which most partnerships have
historically taken exception and have not followed. The AICPA clarified the appropriate disclo-
sure for partnerships in its issuance of SOP 95-2, “Financial Reporting for Nonpublic Investment
Partnerships,” as amended by SOP 01-1, “Amendment to Scope of Statement of Position 95-2,”
which is applicable for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1994.

A partnership is classified as a pass-through entity for tax purposes, meaning that the partners,
not the partnership, are taxed on the income, expenses, gains, and losses incurred by the partnership.
The partners recognize the tax effects of the partnership’s operations regardless of whether any
distribution is made to such partners. This differs from a corporation, which incurs an entity
level tax on its earnings and whose owners (stockholders) incur a second level of tax when the
corporation’s profits are distributed to them.

(h) OFFSHORE FUNDS—SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS. Offshore funds may be described
generally as investment funds set up to permit international investments with minimum tax burden
on the fund shareholders. This is achieved by setting up the funds in countries with favorable
tax laws, as well as in countries with nonburdensome administrative regulations. Popular offshore
locations include Bermuda, the Cayman lIslands, and the Netherlands Antilles.

An offshore fund’s shares are offered to investors (generally non-U.S.) residing outside the
country in which the fund is domiciled. Assuming the offshore fund is not publicly sold in the
United States and does not have more than 100 U.S. shareholders (or only “qualified purchasers”),
the offshore fund will not be subject to SEC registration or reporting requirements. Similar to
hedge funds, because of the lack of regulatory restrictions, offshore funds often have higher risk
investment strategies than U.S. regulated funds.

A major U.S. tax advantage to non-U.S. shareholders of investing in U.S. securities through an
offshore fund as opposed to a U.S. domiciled fund is the avoidance of certain U.S. withholding
taxes. By investing through the offshore fund, the shareholder avoids withholding taxes on most
U.S.-sourced interest income and short-term capital gains, which would be subject to withholding
taxes if the amounts were paid to the non-U.S. shareholder through a U.S. domiciled fund. Offshore
funds also avoid the U.S. Internal Revenue Code distribution requirements imposed on U.S. funds.
This allows for the potential “roll-up” of income in the fund (i.e., the deferral of income recognition
for the shareholder for tax purposes, depending on the tax residence of the shareholder).

Under new tax legislation, a fund’s U.S. administrative and other activities, which were pre-
viously required to be performed offshore to comply with IRC Reg. Sec. 1.864— 2(c)2 (the “Ten
Commandments™), generally will not create tax nexus for U.S. federal income tax purposes. How-
ever, depending on the laws of the particular jurisdiction in which its U.S. activities are conducted,
those same U.S. activities may under some circumstances create tax nexus in certain state or
local jurisdictions. Careful consideration should be given to the potential state and local tax con-
sequences of onshore activities before any activities that were previously recommended to be
conducted outside the United States are brought onshore.

Fund managers and advisers should consider several nontax factors before bringing certain
functions onshore. These include the following:

e Whether the performance of more operations onshore will make it more likely that the fund,
manager, and/or advisers can be subject to the jurisdiction of U.S. courts and/or applicable
U.S., state, or local laws and regulations

e The regulatory requirements of the fund’s domicile (e.g., Luxembourg, Dublin, and Bermuda
require administration and certain other functions to be performed locally)

e The investor’s desire for confidentiality
e The potential applicability of federal, state, and local tax or other filing requirements
e The potential effect on prospectus disclosure
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o Comptroller’s Handbook for National Bank Examiners, OCC

e Comptroller’s Manual for National Banks, OCC
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32.1 HISTORY OF GUIDANCE

In 1974, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) issued Industry Account-
ing Guide Accounting for Motion Picture Films and Statement of Position (SOP) 79-4, “Accounting
for Motion Picture Films,” providing specialized reporting principles for the industry. In 1981, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) extracted those specialized principles and presented
them in its Statement No. 53, “Financial Reporting by Producers and Distributors of Motion Picture
Films.” Between 1981 and 2000, the origin of the majority of a film’s revenue expanded from
distribution to movie theaters and free television to those outlets plus, for example, home video,
satellite and cable television, and pay-per-view television, and international revenue has become
more significant. Also in that period, application of Statement No. 53 has varied significantly. The
FASB therefore asked the Accounting Standards Executive Committee (AcSEC) to develop an
SOP to replace that Statement.

This chapter was reviewed for the Eleventh Edition by Francis E. Scheuerell Jr., CPA, CMA. Mr.
Scheuerell is a Partner, Financial Reporting Services with Callaway Partners, LLC in Atlanta, Georgia.
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In response, AcSEC issued SOP 00-2, “Accounting by Producers or Distributors of Films,” in
June 2000, effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2000, and the FASB simulta-
neously rescinded its Statement No. 53 in its Statement No. 139, “Rescission of FASB Statement
No. 53 and Amendments to FASB Statements No. 63, 89, and 121.” This chapter presents the
accounting guidance in SOP 00-2.

32.2 REVENUE REPORTING

(@) BASIC REVENUE REPORTING PRINCIPLES. A film producer or distributor obtains revenue
from sale or licensing of its films.

An arrangement to license a single film or multiple films transfers a single right or a group of
rights to distributors, theaters, exhibitors, or others exclusively or nonexclusively in a particular
market and territory under terms that may vary significantly among different contracts. License
fees are commonly fixed in amount or based on a percentage of the customer’s revenue, which
may include a nonrefundable minimum guarantee payable in advance or over the license period.
Direct control over the distribution of a film may remain with the producer or may be transferred
to a distributor, exhibitor, or other licensee.

A producer or distributor should report revenue from a sale or licensing arrangement of a film
when all of the following five conditions are met:

1. There is persuasive evidence of a sale or licensing arrangement.

2. The film is complete and has been delivered or is available for immediate and unconditional
delivery in accordance with the terms of the arrangement.

3. The license period has begun and the customer can begin its exploitation, exhibition, or sale.
4. The arrangement fee is fixed or determinable.
5. Collection of the fee is reasonably assured.

Reporting revenue should be deferred until all of the conditions have been met. A producer or
distributor that reports a receivable for advances currently due before the date revenue is to be
reported or that receives cash payments before that date should also report an equivalent liability
for deferred revenue until all of the conditions have been met. Even a producer or distributor that
sells or otherwise transfers such a receivable to a third party should not report revenue before
that date. Amounts scheduled to be received in the future based on an arrangement for any form
of distribution, exploitation, or exhibition should be reported as a receivable only when they are
currently due or the above conditions have been met, if earlier.

(b) DETAILED REVENUE REPORTING PRINCIPLES.

(i) Persuasive Evidence of an Arrangement. The persuasive evidence of a licensing arrange-
ment needed to report revenue is provided solely by legally enforceable documentation that states,
at a minimum, the license period, the film or films covered, the rights transferred, and the consid-
eration to be exchanged. Revenue should nevertheless not be reported if there is significant doubt
about the obligation or ability of either party to perform under the terms of the arrangement.
Verifiable evidence required is, for example, a purchase order or an online authorization. It
should include correspondence from the customer that details the mutual understanding of the
arrangement or evidence that the customer has acted in accordance with the arrangement.

(i) Delivery. Revenue should be reported no sooner than delivery is complete if the licensing
arrangement requires physical delivery of a product to the customer or if the arrangement is silent
about delivery.

In contrast, a licensing arrangement may not require immediate or direct physical delivery of
a film to the customer but instead provide the customer with immediate and unconditional access
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to a film print held by the producer or distributor or authorization for the customer to order a
film laboratory to make the film immediately and unconditionally available for the customer’s
use—known as a lab access letter. If the film is complete and available for immediate delivery,
the requirement for delivery has been met.

A licensing arrangement may require a producer or distributor to change the film significantly
after it is first available to a customer. If so, revenue should be reported only after those changes are
made. Significant changes are additive to the film, that is, the producer or distributor is required to
create new or additional content, for example, by reshooting a scene or creating additional special
effects. Insertion or addition of preexisting film footage, adding dubbing or subtitles, removing
offensive language, reformatting to fit a broadcaster’s screen dimensions, and adjustments to allow
for the insertion of commercials are examples of insignificant changes in this sense.

Costs incurred for significant changes should be added to film costs (discussed below) and
later reported as expense when the related revenue is reported. Costs expected to be incurred for
insignificant changes should be accrued and reported as expense if revenue is reported before those
costs are incurred.

(iii) Availability. The imposition of a street date, the initial date on which home video products
may be sold or rented, defines the date on which a customer’s exploitation rights begin. The
producer or distributor should report revenue no sooner than that date. If conflicting agreements
place restrictions on the initial exploitation, exhibition, or sale of a film by a customer in a particular
territory or market, the producer or distributor should report revenue no sooner than the date the
restrictions lapse.

(iv) Fixed or Determinable Fee. A fee based on a licensing arrangement for a single film that
provides for a flat fee is considered fixed and determinable, and the producer or distributor should
report it as revenue when the other conditions for reporting revenue have been met.

A flat fee payable on multiple films, including films not yet completed, should be allocated
to each individual film, by market and territory, based on relative fair values of the rights to
exploit each film under the arrangement. Allocations to films not yet completed should be based
on the amounts refundable if the producer or distributor does not complete and deliver the films.
The allocations should not be adjusted later. The producer or distributor should report as revenue
the amount allocated to an individual film when all of the conditions for reporting revenue have
been met for the film by market and territory. If the producer or distributor cannot determine the
relative fair values, the fee is not fixed or determinable and the producer or distributor should
report revenue no sooner than it can determine them.

Quoted market prices are usually not available to determine fair value for this purpose. The
producer should estimate the fair value of a film by using the best information available in the
circumstances, with the objective to arrive at an amount it believes it would have received had
the arrangement granted the same rights to the film separately. A discounted cash flow model
may be used, in conformity with paragraphs 39—71 of FASB Statement of Concepts No. 7, which
provide guidance on the traditional and expected cash flow approaches. The rights granted for the
film under the arrangement, such as the length of the license period and limitations on the method,
timing, or frequency of exploitation, should be observed.

The fee may be based on a percentage of the customer’s revenue from exhibition or other
exploitation of a film—variable fee. The producer or distributor should report revenue as the
customer exhibits or exploits the film if the other conditions for reporting revenue have been met.

If the customer guarantees and pays or agrees to pay the producer or distributor a nonrefundable
minimum amount applied against a variable fee on films that are not cross-collateralized—part of
an arrangement in which the exploitation results for multiple films are aggregated—the producer or
distributor should report the minimum guaranteed amount as revenue when all the other conditions
for revenue reporting have been met. If they are cross-collateralized, the minimum guarantee for
each film cannot be objectively determined and should be reported as revenue as the customer
exhibits or exploits the film if all the other conditions for reporting revenue have been met.



32-4  PRODUCERS OR DISTRIBUTORS OF FILMS

(v) Barter Revenue. Some licensing arrangements with television station customers provide that
the stations may exhibit films in exchange for advertising time for the producers or distributors.
The exchanges should be reported in conformity with Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion
No. 29 as interpreted by Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 93-11.

(vi) Modifications of Arrangements. If all of the conditions for reporting revenue are met by
an existing arrangement and the parties agree to extend the time for the arrangement, reporting
revenue depends on whether a flat fee or a variable fee is involved. The fee should be reported as
revenue in conformity with the principles stated above for flat fees or variable fees.

Any other kind of change to a licensing arrangement, for example, the arrangement is changed
from a fixed fee to a smaller fixed fee with a variable component, should be reported on as a new
licensing arrangement, in conformity with the guidance in this section. The producer or distributor
should consider the original arrangement terminated and accrue and expense associated costs and
reverse previously reported revenue for refunds and concessions, such as a provision to accept a
license fee rate below market.

(vii) Returns and Price Concessions. A producer or distributor should report revenue on an
arrangement that includes a right of return or if its past practices allow for returns in conformity
with FASB Statement No. 48, which includes the necessity for the producer or distributor to be
able to reasonably estimate the future returns.

Contractual provisions or the producer’s or distributor’s customary practices may involve price
concessions, for example, “price protection,” in which the producer or distributor lowers the prices
to the customer on product it previously bought based on lowering of its wholesale prices. If so,
the producer or distributor should provide related allowances when it reports revenue. If it cannot
reasonably and reliably estimate future concessions or if there are significant uncertainties about
whether it can maintain its prices, the fee is not fixed or determinable, and it should report revenue
no sooner than it can estimate concessions reasonably and reliably.

(viii) Licensing of Film-Related Products. A producer or distributor should report revenue from
licensing arrangements to market film-related products no sooner than the film is released.

(ix) Present Value. Revenue should be calculated based on the present value of the license fee
as of the date it is first reported in conformity with APB Opinion No. 21.

32.3 COSTS AND EXPENSES

Costs incurred by producers and distributors to produce a film and bring it to market include film
costs, participation costs, exploitation costs, and manufacturing costs.

(@) FILM COSTS—CAPITALIZATION. A separate asset should be reported at cost for films in
development or in inventory. Interest costs should be reported in conformity with FASB Statement
No. 34.

The production overhead component of film costs includes allocable costs of persons or depart-
ments with exclusive or significant responsibility for the production of films. It should not include
administrative and general expenses, charges for losses on properties sold or abandoned (no full-
cost method for films), or the costs of certain overall deals as follows. In an overall deal, a producer
or distributor compensates a producer or other creative individual for the exclusive or preferential
use of that party’s creative services. It should report as expense the costs of overall deals it can-
not identify with specific projects over the period they are incurred. It should report a reasonable
proportion of costs of overall deals as specific project film costs to the extent that they are directly
related to the acquisition, adaptation, or development of specific projects. It should not allocate to
specific project film costs amounts it had previously reported as expense.
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The costs to prepare for the production of a particular film of adaptation or development of a
book, stage play, or original screenplay to which a producer or distributor has film rights should
be added to the cost of the rights.

Properties in development should be periodically reviewed to determine whether they will likely
ultimately be used in the production of films. When a producer or distributor determines that a
property will be disposed of, it should report any loss involved, including allocable amounts from
overall deals, as discussed above. A property should be presumed to be subject to disposal if these
have not all occurred within three years of the time of the first capitalized transaction: Management
has implicitly or explicitly authorized and committed to funding the production of a film, active
preproduction has begun, and principal photography is expected to begin within six months. The
loss is the excess of the fair value of the project over the carrying amount. If management has not
committed to a plan to sell the property, the rebuttable presumption is that the fair value of the
property is zero.

Ultimate revenue for an episodic television series can include estimates from the initial market
and secondary markets, as discussed below. Costs for a single episode in excess of the amount of
revenue contracted for the episode should not be capitalized until the producer or distributor can
establish estimates of secondary market revenue, as discussed below. Costs over this limit should
be reported as expense and not subsequently restored as capitalized costs. Costs capitalized for an
episode should be reported as expense as it reports revenue for the episode. When the producer
or distributor can estimate secondary market revenue, as discussed below, it should capitalize
subsequent film costs as discussed below and should evaluate the carrying amount for impairment
as discussed below.

(b) FILM COSTS—AMORTIZATION AND PARTICIPATION COST ACCRUALS. A producer
or distributor should amortize film costs and accrue expense for participation costs using the
individual-film-forecast-computation method. That method amortizes costs or accrues expenses in
this ratio: the current period actual revenue divided by estimated remaining unreported ultimate
revenue as of the beginning of the current fiscal year. Unamortized film costs as of the beginning
of the current fiscal year and ultimate participation costs not yet reported as expense are each
multiplied by that fraction. Without changes in estimates, this method yields a constant rate of
profit over the ultimate period for each film before exploitation costs, manufacturing costs, and
other period expenses, thus contributing to stable income reporting (see Chapter 6). A producer or
distributor should report a liability for participation costs only if it is probable that it will have to
pay to settle its obligation under the terms of the participation agreement. At each reporting date,
accrued participation costs should be at least the amounts the producer or distributor has to pay as
of that date. Amortization of capitalized film costs and reporting of participation costs as expenses
should begin when the film is released and revenue reporting on it begins.

With no revenue from third parties directly related to the exhibition or exploitation of a film, the
producer or distributor should make a reasonably reliable estimate of the portion of unamortized
film costs that is representative of the utilization of the film in its exhibition or exploitation. It
should report those amounts as expense as it exhibits or exploits the film. Consistent with the
smoothing objective of the individual film-forecast-computation methods, all revenue should bear
a representative amount of the amortization of film costs during the ultimate period.

Results may vary from estimates, of course. A producer or distributor should revise estimates
of ultimate revenue and participation costs as of each reporting date to reflect the most current
information available. It should determine a new fraction that reflects only ultimate revenue from the
beginning of the fiscal year of change. The revised fraction should be applied to the net carrying
amount of unamortized film costs and to the film’s ultimate participation costs not reported as
expense as of the beginning of the fiscal year. The difference between expenses determined using
the new estimates and amounts previously reported as expense during the fiscal year should be
reported in the income statement in the period such as the quarter in which the estimates are
revised.
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The individual film-forecast-computation method should be applied to multiple seasons of an
episodic television series that meet the conditions stated below to include estimated secondary
market revenue in ultimate revenue by treating them as a single product.

(c) ULTIMATE REVENUE. Ultimate revenue for the denominator of the individual-film-forecast-
computation method fraction should include estimates of revenue expected to be reported by the
producer or distributor from the exploitation, exhibition, and sale of the film in all markets and
territories, subject to these limitations:

o For other than episodic television series, the period covered by the estimate should not exceed
10 years following the film’s initial release. For episodic television series, the period should
not exceed 10 years from the date of delivery of the first episode or, if still in production, five
years from the date of delivery of the most recent episode, if later. For previously released
films acquired as part of a film library (individual films whose initial release dates were at
least three years before the acquisition date), the period should not exceed 20 years from the
date of acquisition.

o For episodic television series, estimates of secondary market revenue for produced episodes
only if the producer or distributor can show by its experience or industry norms that the
episodes already produced plus those for which a firm commitment exists and the entity
expects to deliver can be licensed successfully in the secondary market.

o Estimates from a particular market or territory only if there is persuasive evidence that there
will be revenue or if the producer or distributor can show a history of earning revenue
there. Estimates from newly developing territories only if an existing arrangement provides
persuasive evidence that the producer or distributor will obtain revenue there.

o Estimates from licensing arrangements with third parties to market film-related products only
if there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement for the particular film exists, for example,
a signed contract with a nonrefundable minimum guarantee or a nonrefundable advance,
or if the producer or distributor can show a history of earning revenue from that kind of
arrangement.

e Estimates of the portion of the wholesale or retail revenue from sale by the producer or
distributor or peripheral items such as toys and apparel attributable to the exploitation of
themes, characters, or other contents related to a film only if the producer or distributor can
show a history of earning revenue from that kind of exploitation in similar kinds of films,
such as the portion of such revenue that it would earn by having rights granted under licensing
arrangements with third parties. Estimates should not include the entire amount of wholesale
or retail revenue from its sale of peripheral items.

o Estimates should not include revenue from unproven or undeveloped technologies.

e Estimates should not include wholesale promotion or advertising reimbursements; such
amounts should be offset against exploitation costs.

e Estimates should not include amounts related to the sale of film rights for periods after those
stated in the first bullet.

Ultimate revenue should be discounted to present value to the date that the producer or dis-
tributor first reports the revenue and should not include projections for inflation. Foreign currency
estimates should be based on current rates.

(d) ULTIMATE PARTICIPATION COSTS. Estimates of ultimate participation costs not yet
reported as expense for the individual-film-forecast-computation method to arrive at current period
participation cost expense should be determined using assumptions consistent with the producer’s
or distributor’s estimates of film costs, exploitation costs, and ultimate revenue, limited as discussed
in Section 32.3(c). If the reported participation costs liability exceeds the estimated unpaid ultimate
participation costs for an individual film at a reporting date, the excess should be reduced with an
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offsetting credit to unamortized film costs. If an excess liability exceeds unamortized film costs
for that film, it should be reported in income.

A producer or distributor should accrue associated participation costs as revenue is reported
after its film costs are fully amortized.

(e) FILM COSTS VALUATION. A producer or distributor should assess whether the fair value of
a complete or incomplete film is less than its unamortized film costs, for example, if the following
occur:

e An adverse change in the expected performance of the film before it is released.
e Actual costs are substantially more than budgeted costs.

e The completion or release schedule is substantially delayed.

e The release plans change; for example, the initial release pattern is reduced.

e Resources to complete the film and market it effectively become insufficient.

e Performance after release does not meet expectations before release.

If the producer or distributor concludes that the fair value of a film is less than its unamortized
film costs plus estimated future exploitation costs determined as discussed below, it should report
the difference as a loss in income. The write-off should not subsequently be restored.

In determining the current fair value of a film, discounted cash flows may be used based on exist-
ing contractual arrangements without consideration of the limitations discussed in Section 32.3(c),
considering these factors:

e The film’s performance in prior markets

e The public’s perception of the film’s story, cost, director, or producer
o Historical results of similar films

o Historical results of the cast, director, or producer on prior films

e The running time of the film

The determination should incorporate estimates of necessary future cash outflows such as costs
to complete and exploitation and participation costs. The most likely cash flows should be used,
probability weighted by period using the mean or average by period.

The discount rate should reflect the risks associated with the film, and therefore these rates
should not be used: the producer’s or distributor’s incremental borrowing rate, liability settlement
rates, and weighted cost of capital. In addition to the time value of money, expectations should be
incorporated about possible variations in the amount or timing of the most likely cash flows and an
element to reflect the price market participants would seek for bearing the uncertainty in such an
asset, and other factors, sometimes unidentifiable, including illiquidity and market imperfections.

() SUBSEQUENT EVENTS. Evidence that becomes available after the reporting date but before
the financial statements are issued of a need for a write-down of unamortized film costs of a film
should be assumed to bear on conditions at the reporting date. The assumption can be overcome
if the producer or distributor can show that the conditions did not exist then.

(g) EXPLOITATION COSTS. Advertising costs should be reported in conformity with SOP
93-7. All other exploitation costs, including marketing costs, should be reported as expense when
incurred.

(h) MANUFACTURING COSTS. Manufacturing or duplication costs of products for sale, such
as videocassettes and digital video discs, should be reported as expense on a unit-specific basis
when the related revenue is reported. At each reporting date, inventories of such products should
be evaluated for net realizable value and obsolescence and needed adjustments reported as expense.
The cost of theatrical film prints should be reported as expense over the period benefited.
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32.4 PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSURE

If the reporting entity presents a classified balance sheet, it should list unamortized film costs as
noncurrent. In any event, it should disclose the following in its notes:

e The portion of the costs of its completed films expected to be amortized in the upcoming
operating cycle, presumed to be 12 months.

e The operating cycle if other than 12 months.

e The components of costs of films released, completed and not released, in production, or in
development or preproduction, separately for theatrical films and direct-to-television product.

e The percentage of unamortized film costs for released films other than acquired film libraries
expected to be amortized within three years of the reporting date. If less than 80 percent,
additional information should be provided, including the period over which 80 percent will
be reached.

e The amount of remaining unamortized costs, the method of amortization, and the remaining
amortization period for acquired film libraries.

e The amount of accrued participation liabilities expected to be paid during the upcoming
operating cycle.

e The methods of reporting revenue, film costs, participation costs, and exploitation costs.

Cash outflows for film costs, participation costs, exploitation costs, and manufacturing costs
should be reported as operating activities in the statement of cash flows. Amortization of film costs
should be included in the reconciliation of net income to net cash flows from operating activities.
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33.1 THE NATURE AND CHARACTERISTICS OF REGULATED UTILITIES

(@ INTRODUCTION TO REGULATED UTILITIES. Many types of business have their rates for
providing services set by the government or other regulatory bodies, for example, utilities, insurance
companies, transportation companies, hospitals, and shippers. The enterprises addressed in this
chapter are limited to electric, gas, telephone, and water (and sewer) utilities that are primarily
regulated on an individual cost-of-service basis. Effective business and financial involvement with
the utility industry requires an understanding of what a utility is, the regulatory compact under
which utilities operate, and the interrelationship between the rate decisions of regulators and the
resultant accounting effects.

(b) DESCRIPTIVE CHARACTERISTICS OF UTILITIES. Regulated utilities are similar to other
businesses in that there is a need for capital and, for private sector utilities, a demand for investor
profit. Utilities are different in that they are dedicated to public use—they are obligated to furnish
customers service on demand—and the services are considered to be necessities. Many utilities
operate under monopolistic conditions. A regulator sets their prices and grants an exclusive service
area, which probably serves a relatively large number of customers. Consequently, a high level of
public interest typically exists regarding the utility’s rates and quality of service.

Only a utility that has a monopoly of supply of service can operate at maximum economy and,
therefore, provide service at the lowest cost. Duplicate plant facilities would result in higher costs.
This is particularly true because of the capital-intensive nature of utility operations, that is, a large
capital investment is required for each dollar of revenue.

Because there is an absence of free market competitive forces such as those found in most
business enterprises, regulation is a substitute for these missing competitive forces. The goal of
regulation is to provide a balance between investor and consumer interests by substituting regulatory
principles for competition. This means regulation is to:

e Provide consumers with adequate service at the lowest price

e Provide the utility the opportunity, not a guarantee, to earn an adequate return so that it can
attract new capital for development and expansion of plant to meet customer demand

e Prevent unreasonable prices and excessive earnings
e Prevent unjust discrimination among customers, commodities, and locations
e Insure public safety

To meet the goals of regulation, regulated activities of utilities typically include these six:

. Service area

Rates

. Accounting and reporting

. Issuance of debt and equity securities

. Construction, sale, lease, purchase, and exchange of operating facilities
. Standards of service and operation
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This chapter covers the historical development of regulated utilities as a monopoly service
provider and the regulation of their rates as a substitute for competition. Although many of the
historical practices continue, regulated utilities are increasingly operating in a deregulated, compet-
itive environment. Certain industry segments have been more affected than others by the judicial,
legislative, and regulatory actions, as well as technological changes, that have produced this shift.
These industry segments include long distance telecommunications services, natural gas production
and transmission, and electric generation.
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33.2 HISTORY OF REGULATION

Some knowledge of the history of regulation is essential to understanding utilities. Companies that
are now regulated utilities find themselves in that position because of a long sequence of political
events, legislative acts, and judicial interpretations.

Rate regulation of privately owned business was not an accepted practice during the early
history of the United States. This concept has evolved because important legal precedents have
established not only the right of government to regulate but also the process that government
bodies must follow to set fair rates for services. The background and the facts of Munn v. Illinois
[94 U.S. 113 (1877)] are significant and basic to the development of rate making since the case
established a U.S. legal precedent for the right of government to regulate and set rates in cases of
public interest and necessity.

(@ MUNN V. ILLINOIS. In 1871, the Illinois State Legislature passed a law that prescribed the
maximum rates for grain storage and that required licensing and bonding to ensure performance of
the duties of a public warehouse. The law reflected the popular sentiment of midwestern farmers
at that time against what they felt was a pricing monopoly by railroads and elevators. Munn and
his partner, Scott, owned a grain warehouse in Chicago. They filed a suit maintaining that they
operated a private business and that the law deprived them of their property without due process.

The case ultimately reached the U.S. Supreme Court. The Court decided that, when private
property becomes “clothed with a public interest,” the owner of the property has, in effect, granted
the public an interest in that use and “must submit to be controlled by the public for the common
good.” The Court was impressed by Munn and Scott’s monopolistic position while furnishing a
service practically indispensable to the public.

From the precedent of Munn, railroads, a water company, a grist mill, stockyards, and finally
gas, electric, and phone companies were brought under public regulation. Thus, when utilities
finally came into existence in the 20th century, the framework for regulation already was in place
and did not have to be decided by the courts. When state legislatures began to set up utility
commissions, it was the Munn decision that established beyond question their right to do so.

(b) CHICAGO, MILWAUKEE & ST. PAUL RAILROAD CO. V. MINNESOTA EX REL. RAIL-
ROAD & WAREHOUSE COMM.. A second important case that began to establish the principle
of “due process” in rate making is Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul Railroad Co. v. Minnesota ex
rel. Railroad & Warehouse Comm. [134 U.S. 418 (1890)]. In this case, the courts first began to
address the issue of standards of reasonableness in regulation. The U.S. Supreme Court decided
that a Minnesota law was unconstitutional because it established rate regulation but did not permit
a judicial review to test the reasonableness of the rates. The Court found that the state law violated
the due process provisions of the 14th Amendment because the utility was deprived of the power
to charge reasonable rates for the use of its property, and if the utility was denied judicial review,
then the company would be deprived of the lawful use of its property and, ultimately, the property
itself.

(c) SMYTH V. AMES. A third important case, Smyth v. Ames [169 U.S. 466 (1898)], established
the precedent for the concept of “fair return upon the fair value of property.” During the 1880s,
the state of Nebraska passed a law that reduced the maximum freight rates that railroads could
charge. The railroads’ stockholders brought a successful suit that prevented the application of the
lowered rates. The state appealed the case to the U.S. Supreme Court, which unanimously ruled
that the rates were unconstitutionally low by any standard of reasonableness.

In its case, the state maintained that the adequacy of the rates should be tested by reference
to the present value, or reproduction cost, of the assets. This position was attractive to the state
because the current price level had been declining. The railroad was built during the Civil War, a
period that was marked by a high price level and substantial inflation, and the railroad believed
that its past costs merited recognition in a “test of reasonableness.”
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In reaching its decision, the Court began the formulation of the “fair value” doctrine, which
prescribed a test of the reasonableness and constitutionality of regulated rates. The Supreme Court’s
opinion held that a privately owned business was entitled to rates that would cover reasonable
operating expenses plus a fair return on the fair value of the property used for the convenience of
the public.

The Smyth v. Ames decision also established several rate-making terms still in use today. This
was the first attempt by the courts to define rate-making principles. These four terms include:

1. Original Cost of Construction. The cost to acquire utility property.

2. Fair Return. The amount that should be earned on the investment in utility property.
3. Fair Value. The amount on which the return should be based.

4. Operating Expenses. The cost to deliver utility services to the public.

Each of these three landmark cases, especially Smyth v. Ames, established the inability of the
legislative branch to effectively establish equitable rates. They also demonstrated that the use of
the judicial branch is an inefficient means of accomplishing the same goal. In Smyth v. Ames, the
U.S. Supreme Court, in essence, declared that the process could be more easily accomplished by
a commission composed of persons with special skills and experience and the qualifications to
resolve questions concerning utility regulation.

33.3 REGULATORY COMMISSION JURISDICTIONS

A view of the overlays of regulatory commissions will be helpful in understanding their unique
position and responsibilities.

(@) FEDERAL REGULATORY COMMISSIONS. The interstate activities of public utilities are
under the jurisdiction of several federal regulatory commissions. The members of all federal reg-
ulatory commissions are appointed by the executive branch and are confirmed by the legislative
branch. The judicial branch can review and rule on decisions of each commission. This form of
organization represents a blending of the functions of the three separate branches of government.

e The Federal Communications Commission (FCC), established in 1934 with the passage of
the Communications Act, succeeded the Federal Radio Commission of 1927. At that time the
FCC assumed regulation of interstate and foreign telephone and telegraph service from the
Interstate Commerce Commission, which was the first federal regulatory commission (created
in 1887). The FCC prescribes for communications companies a uniform system of accounts
(USOA) and depreciation rates. It also states the principles and standard procedures used to
separate property costs, revenues, expenses, taxes, and reserves between those applicable to
interstate services under the jurisdiction of the FCC and those applicable to services under
the jurisdiction of various state regulatory authorities. In addition, the FCC regulates the rate
of return carriers may earn on their interstate business.

e The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) was created as an agency of the cabinet-
level Department of Energy in 1977. The FERC assumed many of the functions of the former
Federal Power Commission (FPC), which was established in 1920. The FERC has jurisdic-
tion over the transmission and sale at wholesale of electric energy in interstate commerce.
The FERC also regulates the transmission and sale for resale of natural gas in interstate
commerce and establishes rates and prescribes conditions of service for all utilities subject
to its jurisdiction. The entities must follow the FERC’s USOA and file a Form 1 (electric)
or Form 2 (gas) annual report.
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e The Securities and Exchange Commission was established in 1934 to administer the Secu-
rities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The powers of the SEC are
restricted to security transactions and financial disclosures—not operating standards. The
SEC also administered the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 (the 1935 Act),
which was passed because of financial and services abuses in the 1920s and the stock market
crash and subsequent depression of 1929-1935. Under the 1935 Act, the SEC was given
powers to regulate the accounting, financing, reporting, acquisitions, allocation of consoli-
dated income taxes, and parent—subsidiary relationships of electric and gas utility holding
companies. The Energy Policy Act of 2005 includes the repeal of the 1935 Act, which is
effective on February 8, 2006, and will eliminate significant federal restrictions on the scope,
structure, and ownership of electric companies. However, the repeal is accompanied by the
transfer of certain authority to the FERC and state regulatory commissions.

(b) STATE REGULATORY COMMISSIONS. All 50 states and the District of Columbia have
established agencies to regulate rates. State commissioners are either appointed or elected, usually
for a specified term. Although the degree of authority differs, they have authority over utility
operations in intrastate commerce. Each state commission sets rate-making policies in accordance
with its own state statutes and precedents. In addition, each state establishes its prescribed forms
of reporting and systems of accounts for utilities. However, most systems are modifications of the
federal USOAs.

33.4 THE TRADITIONAL RATE-MAKING PROCESS

(@ HOW COMMISSIONS SET RATES. The process for establishing rates probably constitutes
the most significant difference between utilities and enterprises in general. Unlike an enterprise
in general, where market forces and competition establish the price a company can charge for its
products or services, rates for utilities are generally determined by a regulatory commission. The
process of establishing rates is described as rate making. The administrative proceeding to establish
utility rates is typically referred to as a rate case or rate proceeding. Utility rates, once established,
generally will not change without another rate case.

The establishment of a rate for a utility on an individual cost-of-service basis typically involves
two steps. The first step is to determine a utility’s general level of rates that will cover operating
costs and provide an opportunity to earn a reasonable rate of return on the property dedicated to
providing utility services. This process establishes the utility’s required revenue (often referred to
as the revenue requirement or cost-of-service). The second step is to design specific rates in order
to eliminate discrimination and unfairness from affected classes of customers. The aggregate of
the prices paid by all customers for all services provided should produce revenues equivalent to
the revenue requirement.

(b) THE RATE-MAKING FORMULA. This first step of rate regulation, on an individual cost-of-
service basis, is the determination of a utility’s total revenue requirement, which can be expressed
as a rate-making formula, which involves five areas:

Rate Base x Rate of Return = Return(Operating Income)
Return + Operating Expenses = Required Revenue(Cost of Service)

1. Rate Base. The amount of investment in utility plant devoted to the rendering of utility
service upon which a fair rate of return may be earned.

2. Rate of Return. The rate determined by the regulatory agency to be applied to the rate base
to provide a fair return to investors. It is usually a composite rate that reflects the carrying
costs of debt, dividends on preferred stock, and a return provision on common equity.
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3. Return. The rate base multiplied by rate of return.
4. Operating Expenses. Merely the costs of operations and maintenance associated with ren-
dering utility service. Operating expenses include:
a. Depreciation and amortization expenses
b. Production fuel and gas for resale
c. Operations expenses
d. Maintenance expenses
e. Income taxes
f. Taxes other than income taxes
5. Required Revenue. The total amount that must be collected from customers in rates. The

new rate structure should be designed to generate this amount of revenue on the basis of
current or forecasted levels of usage.

(c) RATE BASE. A utility earns a return on its rate base. Each investor-supplied dollar is entitled
to such a return until the dollar is remitted to the investor. Some of the items generally included
in the rate base computation are utility property and plant in service, a working capital allowance,
and, in certain jurisdictions or circumstances, plant under construction. Generally, nonutility prop-
erty, abandoned plant, plant acquisition adjustments, and plant held for future use are excluded.
Deductions from rate base typically include the reserve for depreciation, accumulated deferred
income taxes (ADITs), which represent cost-free capital, certain unamortized deferred investment
tax credits, and customer contributions in aid of construction. Exhibit 33.1 provides an example
of the computations used to determine a rate base.

(d) RATE BASE VALUATION. Various methods are used in valuing rate base. These methods
apply to the valuation of property and plant and include these three:

1. Original cost
2. Fair value
3. Weighted cost

(i) Original Cost. The original cost method, the most widely used method, corresponds to
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP), which require historical
cost data for primary financial statement presentation. In addition, all regulatory commissions have
adopted the USOA, requiring original cost for reporting purposes. Original cost is defined in the

NET INVESTMENT RATE BASE

In Millions
Plant in service $350
Less reserve for depreciation (100)
Net plant in service 250
Add:
Working capital allowance 3
Construction work-in-progress 33
Deduct:
Accumulated deferred income taxes (14)
Advances in aid of construction 2)
Net investment rate base $270

Exhibit 33.1 Example of a utility rate base computation.
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FERC’s USOA as “the cost of such property to the person first devoting it to public service.” This
method was originally adopted by various commissions during the 1930s, at which time inflation
was not a major concern.

(ii) Fair Value. The fair value method is defined as not the cost of assets but rather what they
are really worth at the time rates are established. The following three methods of computing fair
value are most often used:

1. Trended Cost. Utilizes either general or specific cost indices to adjust original cost.

2. Reproduction Cost New. A calculation of the cost to reproduce existing plant facilities at
current costs.

3. Market Value. Involves the appraisal of specific types of plant.

(iii) Weighted Cost. The weighted cost method for valuation of property and plant is used in
some jurisdictions as a compromise between the original cost and the fair value methods. Under
this method, some weight is given to both original cost and fair value. Regulatory agencies in
some weighted cost jurisdictions use a 50/50 weighting of original cost and fair value, whereas
others use 60/40 or other combinations.

(iv) Judicial Precedents—Rate Base. In asignificant rate base case, Federal Power Commission
v. Hope Natural Gas Co. [320 U.S. 591 (1944)], the original cost versus fair value controversy
finally came to a head. A number of important points came out of this case, including the Doctrine
of the End Result. The U.S. Supreme Court’s decision did not approve original cost or fair value.
Instead, it said a rate-making body can use any method, including no formula at all, so long as the
end result is reasonable. It is not the theory but the impact of the theory that counts.

(e) RATE OF RETURN AND JUDICIAL PRECEDENTS. The rate of return is the rate determined
by a regulator to be applied to the rate base to provide a fair return to investors. In the capital
market, utilities must compete against nonregulated companies for investors’ funds. Therefore, a
fair rate of return to common equity investors is critical.

Different sources of capital with different costs are involved in establishing the allowed rate of
return. Exhibits 33.2 and 33.3 show the computations used to determine the rate of return.

The cost of long-term debt and preferred stock is usually the “embedded” cost, that is, long-
term debt issues have a specified interest rate, whereas preferred stock has a specified dividend
rate. Computing the cost of equity is more complicated because there is no stated interest or
dividend rate. Several methods have been used as a guide in setting a return on common equity.

COST OF CAPITAL AND RATE OF RETURN

In Millions
Capitalization

Stockholder’s equity:
Common stock ($8 par value, 5,000,000 shares outstanding) $ 40
Other paid-in capital 45
Retained earnings 55
Common stock equity 140
Long-term debt (6.75% average interest rate) 130
$270

Exhibit 33.2 Example of a utility capitalization structure.
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Capitalization Annual Weighted
In Millions Ratios Cost Rate Cost
Long-term debt $130 48% 6.75% 3.24%
Common stock equity 140 52 13.00 6.76
Cost of capital $270 100% 10.00%

Exhibit 33.3 Computation of the overall rate of return.

These methods reflect different approaches, such as earnings/price ratios, discounted cash flows,
comparable earnings, and perceived investor risk.

The cost of each class of capital is weighed by the percentage that the class represents of the
utility’s total capitalization.

Two important cases provide the foundation for dealing with rate of return issues: Bluefield
Water Works & Improvement Co. v. West Virginia Public Service Comm. [262 U.S. 679 (1923)] and
the Hope Gas case. The important rate of return concepts that arise from these cases include the
following five concepts:

A company is entitled to, but not guaranteed, a return on the value of its property.
Return should be equal to that earned by other companies with comparable risks.
A utility is not entitled to a return such as that earned by a speculative venture.
The return should be reasonably sufficient to:

a. Assure confidence and financial soundness of the utility.

b. Maintain and support its credit.

c. Enable the utility to raise additional capital.

5. Efficient and economical management is a prerequisite for profitable operations.

o N

(f) OPERATING INCOME. Operating income for purposes of establishing rates is computed
based on test-year information, which is normally a recent or projected 12-month period. In either
case, historic or projected test-year revenues are calculated based on the current rate structure in
order to determine if there is a revenue requirement deficiency. The operating expense information
generally includes most expired costs incurred by a utility. As illustrated in Exhibit 33.4, the
operating expense information, after reflecting all necessary pro forma adjustments, determines
operating income for rate-making purposes.

Above-the-line and below-the-line are frequently used expressions in public utility, financial,
and regulatory circles. The above-the-line expenses on which operating income appears are those
that ordinarily are directly included in the rate-making formula; below this line are the excluded
expenses (and income). The principal cost that is charged below-the-line is interest on debt since
it is included in the rate-making formula as a part of the rate-of-return computation and not as an
operating expense. The inclusion or exclusion of a cost above-the-line is important to the utility
since this determines whether it is directly includable in the rate-making formula as an operating
expense.

A significant consideration in determining the revenue requirement is that the rate of return
computed is the rate after income taxes (which are a part of operating expenses). In calculating
the revenue required, the equity return component of operating income (the equity return) (equity
rate of return times rate base) deficiency must be grossed up for income taxes. This is most easily
accomplished by dividing the equity return deficiency by the complement of the applicable income
tax rate. For example, if the operating income deficiency is $5,000 and the income tax rate is
40 percent, the required revenue is $5,000/.6, or $8,333. By increasing revenues $8,333, income
tax expense will increase by $3,333 ($8,333 x 40 percent), with the remainder increasing equity
return by the deficiency amount of $5,000. This concept is illustrated as part of an example revenue
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COST OF SERVICE INCOME STATEMENT—TEST YEAR
(Twelve Months Ended 12/31/XX)

In Millions
Operating revenue $310
Operating expenses
Commercial 45
Maintenance 45
Traffic 49
General and administrative 61
Depreciation 60
General taxes 20
Income taxes 10
Total operating expenses 290
Operating income 20

Exhibit 33.4 Example of a utility operating income computation.

requirement calculation based on the information presented in Exhibit 33.5. Exhibit 33.6 shows a
proof of the revenue requirement calculation.

When the rate-making process is complete, the utility will set rate tariffs to recover $319 million.
At this level, future revenues will recover $292 million of operating expenses (including income
taxes of $12 million) and provide a return of $27 million. This return equates to a 10 percent
earnings level on rate base. The $27 million operating income will go toward paying $9 million of
interest on long-term debt ($130 million x 6.75 percent) and leaving net income for the common
equity holders of $18 million—which approximates the desired 13 percent return on common
equity of $140 million. However, the rate-making process only provides the opportunity to earn
at that level. If future sales volumes, operating costs, or other factors change, the utility will earn
more or less than the allowed amount.

(8) ALTERNATIVE FORMS OF REGULATION. As a result of changing market conditions and
growing competition, alternative forms of regulation began to emerge in the late 1980s. There are
many new and different forms of regulation, but they all generally share a common characteristic.
Utilities are provided an opportunity to achieve and retain higher levels of earnings compared with

RATE-MAKING FORMULA AND REVENUE REQUIREMENT CALCULATION

(Rate of Return x Rate Base) + Operating
Expenses = Revenue Requirement
Revenue Requirement Calculation: In Millions

Test-Year Operating Revenues $310
Test-Year Operating Expenses Other Than Income Taxes $280

Interest Expense Required ($270 x 3.24%) 9

Equity Return Required ($270 x 6.76%) $18

Income Tax Conversion Factor (1-40% Tax Rate) .6

Equity Return and Income Taxes 30

Revenue Requirement 31

©

Revenue Requirement Deficiency

-
Ne)

Exhibit 33.5 Example of the revenue requirement computation based on Exhibits 33.1 through 33.4.
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Proof of Revenue Requirement Calculation In Millions
Revenue Requirement $ (319
— Operating Expenses Other Than Taxes (280)
— Interest Expenses 9)
Taxable Income 30
— Income Tax @40% (12)
Equity Return ($270 x 6.67%) $ 18

Exhibit 33.6 Shortcut computation of the utility revenue requirement.

traditional regulation. It is believed that this opportunity will fundamentally change the incentives
under regulation for cost reductions and productivity improvement. Alternative forms of regulation
also are intended, in some cases, to provide needed pricing flexibility for services in competitive
markets.

Examples of alternative forms of regulation include:

e Price ceilings or caps

e Rate moratoriums

e Sharing formulas

e Regulated transition to competition

(i) Price Ceilings or Caps. Price caps are essentially regulation of the prices of services. This
contrasts with rate of return or cost-based regulation under which the costs and earnings levels of
services are regulated.

The fundamental premise behind price cap regulation is that it provides utilities with posi-
tive incentives to reduce costs and improve productivity because shareholders can retain some or
all of the resulting benefits from increased earnings. Under rate of return regulation, assuming
simultaneous rate making, customers receive all of the benefits by way of reduced rates.

Typical features of price cap plans are these three:

1. A starting point for prices that is based on the rates that were previously in effect under
rate of return regulation. Under some plans, adjustments may be made to beginning rates to
correct historical pricing disparities with the costs of providing service.

2. The ability to subsequently adjust prices periodically up to a cap measured by a predeter-
mined formula.

3. The price cap formula usually includes three components: the change in overall price levels,
an offset for productivity gains, and exogenous cost changes.

The change in overall price levels is measured by some overall inflation index, such as
the Gross National Product—Price Index or some variation of the Consumer Price Index.

The productivity offset is a percentage amount by which a regulated utility is expected
to exceed the productivity gains experienced by the overall population measured by the
inflation index. The combination of a change in price levels less the productivity offset can
produce positive or negative price caps. As an example, if the change in price levels was
+5.5 percent, and the productivity offset was 3.3 percent, a utility could increase its prices
for a service by +2.2 percent.

There are also provisions to add or subtract the effects of exogenous cost changes from
the formula. Exogenous changes are defined as those beyond the control of the company.
Endogenous changes conversely are those assumed to be included in the overall price level
change. Examples of exogenous items in certain jurisdictions might include changes in
GAAP, environmental laws, or tax rates. Each regulatory jurisdiction’s price cap plan may
differ somewhat as to the definition of exogenous versus endogenous cost changes.
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In their purest form, price caps are applied to determine rates, and the company retains the
actual level of earnings the rates produce. However, most price cap plans also include backstop
mechanisms. These include sharing earnings above a certain level with customers or for increasing
rates if actual earnings fall below a specified level. Some plans also permit adjustment of rates
above the price cap, subject to full cost justification and burden of proof standards.

(ii) Rate Moratoriums. Rate moratoriums are simply a freeze in prices for a specified period
of time. In effect, rate moratoriums function like a price cap where the productivity offset is set
equal to the change in price levels, yielding a price cap of 0 percent. Most rate moratorium plans
have provisions to adjust prices for specified exogenous cost changes, although the definition of
exogenous may be even more restrictive than under price cap plans.

(iii) Sharing Formulas. Sharing formulas are often paired with traditional rate of return regu-
lation as an interim true-up mechanism between rate proceedings or added to price cap or rate
moratorium plans as a backstop.

Sharing usually involves the comparison of actual earnings levels (determined by applying the
traditional regulatory and cost allocation processes) with an authorized rate of return. Earnings
above specified intervals are shared between shareholders and customers based on some formula.

Sharing is accomplished in a variety of ways. Five of the more common forms are:

. One-time cash refunds or bill credits to customers

. Negative surcharges on customer bills for a specified time period
. Adjustments to subsequent price cap formulas

. Infrastructure investment requirements

. Capital recovery offsets
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(iv) Regulated Transition to Competition. Prior to the 2000-2001 energy crisis in California
and the western United States, regulators in a number of states had adopted, or were in the process
of adopting, legislation to change the traditional approach to the regulation of the generation portion
of electric utility operations. The objective of this change was to provide customers with the right
to choose their electricity supplier.

In simple terms, this legislation provides for a transition period from cost-based to market-based
regulation. During this transition period, customers obtain the right to choose their electricity sup-
plier at market price. Customers might also be charged a transition surcharge during the transition,
which is intended to provide the electric utility with recovery of some or all of its electric generation
stranded costs.

Stranded costs are often synonymous with high-cost generating units. However, they are more
broadly defined to include other assets or expenses that, when recovered under traditional cost-
based regulation, cause rates to exceed market prices. These costs can include regulatory assets
and various obligations, such as for plant decommissioning, fuel contracts, or purchase power
commitments.

At the end of the transition period, customers will be able to purchase electricity at market
prices from their chosen supplier and the electric utility will be limited to providing transmission
and distribution services at regulated prices.

33.5 INTERRELATIONSHIP OF REGULATORY REPORTING
AND FINANCIAL REPORTING

(@ ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY OF REGULATORY AGENCIES. Regulatory agencies with
statutory authority to establish rates for utilities also prescribe the accounting that their jurisdictional
regulated entities must follow. Accounting may be prescribed by a USOA, by periodic reporting
requirements, or by accounting orders.
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Because of the statutory authority of regulatory agencies over both accounting and rate setting
of regulated utilities, some regulators, accountants, and others believe that the agencies have the
final authority over the form and content of financial statements published by those utilities for their
investors and creditors. This is the case even when the stockholders’ report, based on regulatory
accounting requirements, would not be in accordance with GAAP.

Actually, this issue has not arisen frequently because regulators have usually reflected changes
in GAAP in the USOA that they prescribe. For example, the USOA of the FCC has GAAP as its
foundation, with departures being permitted as necessary, because of departures from GAAP in
ratemaking. But the general willingness of regulators to conform to GAAP does not answer the
question of whether a regulatory body has the final authority to prescribe the accounting to be
followed for the financial statements included in the annual and other reports to stockholders or
outsiders, even when such statements are not prepared in accordance with GAAP.

The landmark case in this area is the Appalachian Power Co. v. Federal Power Commission
[328 F.2d 237 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 379 U.S. 829 (1964)]. The FPC (now the FERC) found
that the financial statements in the annual report of the company were not in accordance with
the accounting prescribed by the FPC’s USOA. The FPC was upheld at the circuit court level in
1964 and the Supreme Court denied a writ of certiorari. The general interpretation of this case has
been that the FPC had the authority to order that the financial statements in the annual report to
stockholders of its jurisdictional utilities be prepared in accordance with the USOA, even if not in
accordance with GAAP.

During subsequent years, the few differences that have arisen have been resolved without court
action, and so it is not clear just what authority the FERC or other federal agencies may now
have in this area. The FERC has not chosen to contest minor differences, and one particular
utility, Montana Power Company, met the issue of FPC authority versus GAAP, by presenting, for
several years, two balance sheets in its annual report to shareholders. One balance sheet was in
accordance with GAAP, which reflected the rate making prescribed by the state commission, and
one balance sheet was in accordance with the USOA of the FPC, which had ordered that certain
assets be written off even though the state commission continued to allow them in the rate base.
The company’s auditors stated that the first balance sheet was in accordance with GAAP and that
the second balance sheet was in accordance with the FPC USOA.

Since then the FERC has allowed a company to follow accounting that the FERC believes
reflects the rate making even though the accounting does not comply with a standard of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The SEC has ruled that the company must follow
GAAP. As a result, the regulatory treatment was reformulated to meet the FASB standard, and so
the conflict was resolved without going to the courts.

(b) SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AND FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STAN-
DARDS BOARD. The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has no financial reporting
enforcement or disciplinary responsibility. Enforcement with regard to entities whose shares are
traded in interstate commerce arises from SEC policy articulated in ASR No. 150, which specifies
that FASB standards (and those of its predecessors) are required to be followed by registrants in
their filings with the SEC. Thus, the interrelationship between the FASB and the SEC operates to
achieve, virtually without exception for an entity whose securities trade in interstate commerce, the
presentation of financial statements that reflect GAAP. Although this jurisdictional issue is neither
resolved nor disappearing, it appears that the SEC currently exercises significant, if not controlling,
influence over the general-purpose financial statements of all public companies, including regulated
utilities.

(c) RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN RATE REGULATION AND GENERALLY ACCEPTED
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

(i) Historical Perspective Rate making on an individual cost-of-service basis is designed to
permit a utility to recover its costs that are incurred in providing regulated services. Individual
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cost-of-service does not guarantee cost recovery. However, there is a much greater assurance of
cost recovery under individual cost-of-service rate making than for enterprises in general. This
likelihood of cost recoverability provides a basis for a different application of GAAP, which
recognizes that rate making can affect accounting.

As such, a rate regulator’s ability to recognize, not recognize, or defer recognition of revenues
and costs in established rates of regulated utilities adds a unique consideration to the accounting and
financial reporting of those enterprises. This unique economic dimension was first recognized by the
accounting profession in paragraph 8 of ARB No. 44 (Revised), “Declining-Balance Depreciation™:

Many regulatory authorities permit recognition of deferred income taxes for accounting and/or
rate-making purposes, whereas some do not. The committee believes that they should permit the
recognition of deferred income taxes for both purposes. However, where charges for deferred
income taxes are not allowed for rate-making purposes, accounting recognition need not be given
to the deferment of taxes if it may reasonably be expected that increased future income taxes,
resulting from the earlier deduction of declining-balance depreciation for income-tax purposes
only, will be allowed in the future rate determinations.

A year later, in connection with the general requirement to eliminate intercompany profits,
paragraph 6 of ARB No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” concluded:

However, in a regulated industry where a parent or subsidiary manufactures or constructs facil-
ities for other companies in the consolidated group, the foregoing is not intended to require the
elimination of intercompany profit to the extent that such profit is substantially equivalent to a
reasonable return on investment ordinarily capitalized in accordance with the established practice
of the industry.

(i) The Addendum to Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 2. In 1962, the APB
decided to express its position on applicability of GAAP to regulated industries. The resulting
statement, initially reported in The Journal of Accountancy in December 1962, later became the
Addendum to APB Opinion No. 2, “Accounting for the Investment Credit” (the Addendum), and
provided that:

1. GAAP applies to all companies—regulated and nonregulated.

2. Differences in the application of GAAP are permitted as a result of the rate-making process
because the rate regulator creates economic value.

3. Cost deferral on the balance sheet to reflect the rate-making process is appropriately reflected
on the balance sheet only when recovery is clear.

4. A regulatory accounting difference without ratemaking impact does not constitute GAAP.
The accounting must be reflected in rates.

5. The financial statements of regulated entities other than those prepared for regulatory filings
should be based on GAAP with appropriate recognition of rate-making consideration.

The Addendum provided the basis for utility accounting for almost 20 years. During this period,
utilities accounted for certain items differently than enterprises in general. For example, regulators
often treat capital leases as operating leases for rate purposes, thus excluding them from rate base
and allowing only the lease payments as expense. In that event, regulated utilities usually treated
such leases as operating leases for financial statement purposes. This resulted in lower operating
expenses during the first few years of the lease.

Also, utilities capitalize both debt and equity components of funds used during construction,
which is generally described as an allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC). The
FASB, under SFAS No. 34, “Capitalization of Interest Cost,” allows nonregulated companies to
capitalize only the debt cost. Because property is by far the largest item in most utility companies’
balance sheets and because they do much of their own construction, the effect of capitalizing
AFUDC is frequently very material to both the balance sheet and the statement of income.
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Such differences, usually concerning the timing of recognition of a cost, were cited as evidence
that the Addendum allowed almost any accounting treatment if directed by rate regulation. There
was also some concern that the Addendum applied to certain industries that were regulated, but
not on an individual cost-of-service basis. These as well as other issues ultimately led to the
FASB issuing SFAS No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation,” which
attempted to provide a clear conceptual basis to account for the economic impact of regulation, to
emphasize the concept of one set of accounting principles for all enterprises, and to enhance the
quality of financial reporting for regulated enterprises.

33.6 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NO. 71:
“ACCOUNTING FOR THE EFFECTS OF CERTAIN TYPES OF
REGULATION"”

(@) SCOPE OF STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NO. 71. SFAS
No. 71 specifies criteria for the applicability of the Statement by focusing on the nature of regulation
rather than on specific industries. As stated in paragraph 5 of SFAS No. 71:

[T]his statement applies to general-purpose external financial statements of an enterprise that
has regulated operations that meet all of the following criteria:

1. The enterprise’s rates for regulated services or products provided to its customers are estab-
lished by or are subject to approval by an independent, third-party regulator or by its own
governing board empowered by statute or contract to establish rates that bind customers.

2. The regulated rates are designed to recover the specific enterprise’s costs of providing the
regulated services or products.

3. In view of the demand for the regulated services or products and the level of competition,
direct and indirect, it is reasonable to assume that rates set at levels that will recover the
enterprise’s costs can be charged to and collected from customers. This criterion requires
consideration of anticipated changes in levels of demand or competition during the recovery
period for any capitalized costs.

Based on these criteria, SFAS No. 71 provides guidance in preparing general-purpose financial
statements for most investor-owned, cooperative, and governmental utilities.

The FASB’s sister entity, the GASB, has been empowered to set pervasive standards for govern-
ment utilities to the extent applicable, and, accordingly, financial statements issued in accordance
with GAAP must follow GASB standards. However, in the absence of an applicable pronouncement
issued by the GASB, differences between accounting followed under GASB or other FASB pro-
nouncements and accounting followed for rate-making purposes should be handled in accordance
with SFAS No. 71.

(b) AMENDMENTS TO STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NO. 71.
After the issuance of SFAS No. 71, the FASB became concerned about the accounting being
followed by utilities (primarily electric companies) for certain transactions. Significant economic
events were occurring, including these three:

1. Disallowances of major portions of recently completed plants
2. Very large plant abandonments
3. Phase-in plans

All of these events in one way or another prevented utilities from recovering costs currently
and, in some instances, did not allow recovery at all. As a result, the FASB amended SFAS No. 71
with SFAS No. 90, “Regulated Enterprises—Accounting for Abandonments and Disallowances of
Plant Costs,” and SFAS No. 92, “Regulated Enterprises—Accounting for Phase-In Plans.” Also,
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SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” amended
SFAS No. 71 to require a continuing probability assessment for the recovery of regulatory assets.

Due to the increasing level of competition and deregulation faced by all types of rateregu-
lated enterprises, the FASB issued SFAS No. 101, “Regulated Enterprises—Accounting for the
Discontinuation of Application of FASB Statement 71.” SFAS No. 101 addresses the account-
ing to be followed when SFAS No. 71 is discontinued. Related guidance is also set forth in
the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 97-4, “Deregulation of the Pricing of
Electricity—Issues Related to the Application of FASB Statements No. 71, Accounting for the
Effects of Regulation and No. 101, Regulated Enterprises—Accounting for the Discontinuation of
Application of FASB Statement No. 71.”

(c) OVERVIEW OF STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NO. 71.
The major issues addressed in SFAS No. 71 relate to the following:

o Effect of rate making on GAAP

e Evidence criteria for recording regulatory assets and liabilities
o Application of GAAP to utilities

o Proper financial statement disclosures

SFAS No. 71 sets forth (pars. 9—12) general standards of accounting for the effects of regulation.
In addition, there are specific standards that are derived from the general standards and various
examples (Appendix B) of the application of the general standards.

(d) GENERAL STANDARDS. In SFAS No. 71, the FASB recognized that a principal consider-
ation introduced by rate regulation is the cause-and-effect relationship of costs and revenues—an
economic dimension that, in some circumstances, should affect accounting for regulated enterprises.
Thus, a regulated utility should capitalize a cost (as a regulatory asset) or recognize an obligation
(as a regulatory liability) if it is probable that, through the rate-making process, there will be
a corresponding increase or decrease in future revenues. Regulatory assets and liabilities should
be amortized over future periods consistent with the related increase or decrease, respectively, in
future revenues.

(i) Regulatory Assets. Paragraph 9 of SFAS No. 71 states that the “rate action of a regulator
can provide reasonable assurance of the existence of an asset.” All or part of an incurred cost that
would otherwise be charged to expense should be capitalized if:

o It is probable that future revenues in an amount approximately equal to the capitalized cost
will result from inclusion of that cost in allowable costs for rate-making purposes.

e The regulator intends to provide for the recovery of that specific incurred cost rather than to
provide for expected levels of similar future costs.

This general provision is not totally applicable to the regulatory treatment of costs of abandoned
plants and phase-in plans. The accounting accorded these situations is specified in SFAS No. 90 and
SFAS No. 92, respectively. EITF Issue No. 92-12, “Accounting for OPEB Costs by Rate Regulated
Enterprises,” addresses regulatory assets created in connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 106,
“Employers” Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions.”

With these exceptions, SFAS No. 71 requires a rate-regulated utility to capitalize a cost that
would otherwise be charged to expense if future recovery in rates is probable. Probable, as defined
in SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” means likely to occur, a very high probability
threshold. If, however, at any time the regulatory asset no longer meets the above criteria, the
cost should be charged to earnings. This requirement results from an amendment to SFAS No. 71
included in SFAS No. 144. Thus, paragraph 9 mandates a probability of future recovery test to be
met at each balance sheet date in order for a regulatory asset to remain recorded.
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The terms “allowable costs” and “incurred costs,” as defined in SFAS No. 71, also required
further attention. The two terms were often applied interchangeably so that, in practice, the pro-
visions of SFAS No. 71, paragraph 9, were interpreted to permit the cost of equity to be deferred
and capitalized for future recovery as a regulatory asset. The FASB, in SFAS No. 92, concluded
that equity return (or an allowance for earnings on shareholders’ investment) is not an incurred
cost that would otherwise be charged to expense. Accordingly, such an allowance shall not be
capitalized pursuant to paragraph 9 of SFAS No. 71.

An incurred cost that does not meet the asset recognition criteria in paragraph 9 of SFAS
No. 71 at the date the cost is incurred should be recognized as a regulatory asset when it meets
those criteria at a later date. Such guidance is set forth in EITF Issue No. 93-4, “Accounting for
Regulatory Assets.” SFAS No. 144 provides for previously disallowed costs that are subsequently
allowed by a regulator to be recorded as an asset, consistent with the classification that would
have resulted had the cost initially been included in allowable costs. This provision covers plant
costs as well as regulatory assets. Additionally, SFAS No. 144 requires the carrying amount of a
regulatory asset recognized pursuant to the criteria in paragraph 9 to be reduced to the extent the
asset has been subsequently disallowed from allowable costs by a regulator.

(i) Regulatory Liabilities. The general standards also recognize that the rate action of a regulator
can impose a liability on a regulated enterprise, usually to the utility’s customers.
Following are three typical ways in which regulatory liabilities can be imposed:

1. A regulator may require refunds to customers (revenue collected subject to refund).

2. A regulator can provide current rates intended to recover costs that are expected to be
incurred in the future. If those costs are not incurred, the regulator will reduce future rates
by corresponding amounts.

3. A regulator can require that a gain or other reduction of net allowable costs be given to
customers by amortizing such amounts to reduce future rates.

Paragraph 12 of the general standards states that “actions of a regulator can eliminate a liability
only if the liability was imposed by actions of the regulator.” The practical effect of this provision
is that a utility’s balance sheet should include all liabilities and obligations that an enterprise in
general would record under GAAP, such as for capital leases, pension plans, compensated absences,
and income taxes.

(e) SPECIFIC STANDARDS. SFAS No. 71 also sets forth specific standards for several account-
ing and disclosure issues.

(i) Allowance for Funds Used During Construction (AFUDC). Paragraph 15 allows the
capitalization of AFUDC, including a designated cost of equity funds, if a regulator requires
such a method, rather than using SFAS No. 34 for purposes of capitalizing the carrying cost of
construction.

Rate regulation has historically provided utilities with two methods of capturing and recovering
the carrying cost of construction:

1. Capitalizing AFUDC for future recovery in rates

2. Recovering the carrying cost of construction in current rates by including construction work-
in-progress in the utility’s rate base

The computation of AFUDC is generally prescribed by the appropriate regulatory body. The
predominant guidance has been provided by the FERC and FCC. The FERC has defined AFUDC
as “the net cost for the period of construction of borrowed funds used for construction purposes and
a reasonable rate on other funds when so used.” The term other funds, as used in this definition,
refers to equity capital.
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The FERC formula for computing AFUDC is comprehensive and takes into consideration these
five:

. Debt and equity funds.
. The levels of construction.
. Short-term debt.

. The costs of long-term debt and preferred stock are based on the traditional embedded cost
approach, using the preceding year-end costs.

5. The cost rate for common equity is usually the rate granted in the most recent rate proceeding.

A o N

The FCC instructions also provide for equity and debt components. In allowing AFUDC, the
FERC and FCC recognize that the capital carrying costs of the investments in construction work-
in-progress are as much a cost of construction as other construction costs such as labor, materials,
and contractors.

In contrast to regulated utilities, nonregulated companies are governed by a different standard,
SFAS No. 34. Under the FASB guidelines:

[TThe amount of interest to be capitalized for qualifying assets is intended to be that portion
of interest cost incurred during the assets acquisition periods that theoretically could have been
avoided (for example, by avoiding additional borrowings or by using the funds expended for the
assets to repay existing borrowings) if expenditures for the assets had not been made.

Furthermore, SFAS No. 34 allows only debt interest capitalization and does not recognize an
equity component.

The specific standard in SFAS No. 71 states that capitalization of such financing costs can occur
only if both of the following two criteria are met.

1. It is probable that future revenue in an amount at least equal to the capitalized cost will
result from the inclusion of that cost in allowable costs for rate-making purposes.

2. The future revenue will be provided to permit recovery of the previously incurred cost rather
than to provide for expected levels of similar future costs.

In practice, many have interpreted the standard under SFAS No. 71 to mean that AFUDC
should be capitalized if it is reasonably possible (not necessarily probable under SFAS No. 5) that
the costs will be recovered. This same reasoning was also applied to the capitalization of other
incurred costs such as labor and materials. Thus, capitalization occurred so long as recovery was
reasonably possible and a loss was not probable.

As previously indicated, SFAS No. 90 amends the definition of “probable” included in SFAS
No. 71 such that “probable” is now defined under the stringent technical definition in SFAS No.
5. In addition, paragraph 8 of SFAS No. 90 clarified that AFUDC capitalized under paragraph 15
can occur only if “subsequent inclusion in allowable costs for rate-making purposes is probable.”
Accordingly, the standard for capitalizing AFUDC is different from the standard applied to other
costs, such as labor and materials.

The FASB also concluded in SFAS No. 92, paragraph 66, that:

[1]f the specific criteria in paragraph 15 of SFAS No. 71 are met but AFUDC is not capitalized
because its inclusion in the cost that will become the basis for future rates is not probable, the
regulated utility may not alternatively capitalize interest cost in accordance with SFAS No. 34.

(ii) Intercompany Profit. Paragraph 16 of SFAS No. 71 generally reaffirms the provision in
ARB No. 51 that intercompany profits on sales to regulated affiliates should not be eliminated in
general-purpose financial statements if the sales price is reasonable and it is probable that future
revenues allowed through the rate-making process will approximately equal the sales price.
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(iii) Accounting for Income Taxes. In paragraph 18 of SFAS No. 71, the FASB recognized
that, in some cases, a regulator flows through the tax effects of certain timing differences as a
reduction in future rates. In such cases, if it is probable that future rates will be based on income
taxes payable at that time, SFAS No. 71 did not permit deferred taxes to be recorded in accordance
with APB Opinion No. 11, “Accounting for Income Taxes.”

In February 1992, SFAS No. 71 was amended by SFAS No. 109 and paragraph 18 was replaced
by the following:

A deferred tax liability or asset shall be recognized for the deferred tax consequences of temporary
differences in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.”

(iv) Refunds. Paragraph 19 of SFAS No. 71 addresses the accounting for significant refunds.
Examples include refunds granted gas distribution utilities from pipelines and telephone refunds
occurring where revenues are estimated in one period and “trued-up” at a later date or where
revenues are billed under bond pending settlement of a rate proceeding.

For refunds recognized in a period other than the period in which the related revenue was
recognized, disclosure of the effect on net income and the years in which the related revenue was
recognized is required if material. SFAS No. 71 provides presentation guidance that the effect of
such refunds may be disclosed by displaying the amount, net of income tax, as a line item in the
income statement, but not as an extraordinary item.

Adjustments to prior quarters of the current fiscal year are appropriate for such refunds, provided
all of the following three criteria are met:

1. The effect is material (either to operations or income trends).

2. All or part of the adjustment or settlement can be specifically identified with and is directly
related to business activities of specific prior interim periods.

3. The amount could not be reasonably estimated prior to the current interim period but becomes
reasonably estimable in the current period.

This treatment of prior interim periods for utility refunds is one of the restatement exceptions
contained in paragraph 13 of SFAS No. 16, “Prior Period Adjustments.”

(v) Deferred Costs Not Earning a Return. Paragraph 20 of SFAS No. 71 requires disclosure
of costs being amortized in accordance with the actions of a regulator but not being allowed to
earn a return during the recovery period. Disclosure should include the remaining amounts being
amortized (the amount of the nonearning asset) as well as the remaining recovery period.

(vi) Examples of Application. Appendix B in SFAS No. 71 contains examples of the application
of the general standards to specific situations. These examples, along with the basis for conclusions
(Appendix C), are an important aid in understanding the provisions of SFAS No. 71 and the financial
statements of utilities.

Items discussed include the following:

Intangible assets

Accounting changes

Early extinguishment of debt
Accounting for contingencies
Accounting for leases

Revenue collected subject to refund
Refunds to customers

Accounting for compensated absences
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33.7 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NO. 90:
“REGULATED ENTERPRISES—ACCOUNTING FOR
ABANDONMENTS AND DISALLOWANCE OF PLANT COSTS”

(@) SIGNIFICANT PROVISIONS OF STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STAN-
DARDS NO. 90. The provisions of SFAS No. 90 are limited to the narrow area of accounting
for abandonments and disallowances of plant costs and not to other assets, regulatory or otherwise.

(i) Accounting for Regulatory Disallowances of Newly Completed Plant. When a direct
disallowance of a newly completed plant is probable and estimable, a loss should be recorded,
dollar for dollar, for the disallowed amount. After the write-down is achieved, the reduced asset
forms the basis for future depreciation charges.

An indirect disallowance occurs when, in certain circumstances, no return or a reduced return
is permitted on all or a portion of the new plant for an extended period of time. To determine the
loss resulting from an indirect disallowance, the present value of the future revenue stream allowed
by the regulator should be determined by discounting at the most recent allowed rate of return.
This amount should be compared with the recorded plant amount and the difference recorded as a
loss. Under this discounting approach, the remaining asset should be depreciated consistent with
the rate making and in a manner that would produce a constant return on the undepreciated asset
equal to the discount rate.

(ii) Accounting for Plant Abandonments. In the case of abandonments, when no return or
only a partial return is permitted, at the time the abandonment is both probable and estimable, the
asset should be written off and a separate new asset should be established based on the present
value of the future revenue stream. The entities’ incremental borrowing rate should be used to
measure the new asset. During the recovery period, the new asset should be amortized to produce
zero net income based on the theoretical debt, and interest should be assumed to finance the
abandonment. FTB No. 87-2, “Computation of a Loss on an Abandonment,” supports discounting
the abandonment revenue stream using an after-tax incremental borrowing rate.

(iii) Income Statement Presentation. SAB No. 72 (currently cited as SAB Topic 10E) con-
cludes that the effects of applying SFAS No. 90 should not be reported as an extraordinary item.
SAB No. 72 states that such charges should be reported gross as a component of other income and
deductions and not shown net-of-tax. The following presentation complies with the requirements
of SAB No. 72:

Operating income $XX
Other income (expense)
Allowance for equity funds used during construction XX
Disallowed plant cost (XX)
Income tax reduction for disallowed plant cost XX
Interest income XX
Income taxes applicable to other income XX
Income before interest charges $XX

33.8 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NO. 92:
“REGULATED ENTERPRISES—ACCOUNTING FOR PHASE-IN
PLANS"”

(@) SIGNIFICANT PROVISIONS OF STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STAN-
DARDS NO. 92. A phase-in plan, as defined in SFAS No. 92, is a method of ratemaking that
meets each of the following three criteria:
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1. Adopted in connection with a major, newly completed plant of the regulated enterprise or
one of its suppliers or a major plant scheduled for completion in the near future

2. Defers the rates intended to recover allowable costs beyond the period in which those
allowable costs would be charged to expense under GAAP applicable to enterprises in
general

3. Defers the rates intended to recover allowable costs beyond the period in which those rates
would have been ordered under ratemaking methods routinely used prior to 1982 by that
regulator for similar allowable costs of that utility

The phase-in definition includes virtually all deferrals associated with newly completed plant, such
as rate levelization proposals, alternative methods of depreciation such as a sinking fund approach,
rate treatment of capital leases as operating leases, and other schemes to defer new plant costs
to the future. SFAS No. 92 specifically states that it applies to rate-making methods developed
for “...major newly completed plant of the regulated enterprise or of one of its suppliers...”
Accordingly, SFAS No. 92 must be considered with respect to purchase power contracts.

Under the accounting provisions of SFAS No. 92, cost deferral under a phase-in plan is not
permitted for plant/fixed assets on which substantial physical construction had not been performed
before January 1, 1988. Consequently, for a major, newly completed plant that does not meet the
January 1, 1988, cutoff date, post in-service deferrals for financial reporting purposes are limited
to a time frame that ends when rates are adjusted to reflect the cost of operating the plant. This
limitation, along with the restriction on modifying an existing phase-in plan, as discussed below,
are the most important SFAS No. 92 provisions today.

As indicated above, SFAS No. 92 applies to the costs of a major, newly completed plant. There
are situations in which a regulator subsequently starts to defer rates intended to recover allowable
plant costs after return on and recovery of such costs have been previously provided. One example
of this situation would occur when a regulator orders a future reduction in the depreciation rate
(and rates charged to customers) of a 15-year-old nuclear generation plant, to factor in a potential
20-year license extension. Assuming that the new depreciation rate adopted by the regulator cannot
be supported under GAAP (perhaps because the utility does not believe a license extension will
occur), a regulatory deferral of plant costs (i.e., regulatory depreciation expense would be less than
depreciation for financial reporting purposes) would result.

If the rate order was issued in connection with a major, newly completed plant, the guidance
set forth in paragraph 35 of SFAS No. 92 presumes that the regulatory deferral of the “old” plant
is equivalent to the regulatory deferral of the “new” plant. Thus, SFAS No. 92 must be applied.
And, under that Statement, because the regulatory action results in a phase-in plan as defined in
SFAS No. 92, no costs can be deferred for financial reporting purposes.

However, if the new rate order was not issued in connection with a major, newly completed
plant and it is clear that the regulatory deferral relates only to “old” plant, SFAS No. 92 would
not apply. Any deferral for financial reporting purposes must meet the requirements of SFAS No.
71, paragraph 9, for establishing and maintaining a regulatory asset. That determination should
consider, as noted in paragraph 57 of SFAS No. 92, that the existence of such regulatory cost
deferrals calls into question the applicability of SFAS No. 71.

(i) Accounting for Phase-In Plans. If the phase-in plan meets all of the criteria required by
SFAS No. 92, all allowable costs that are deferred for future recovery by the regulator under the
plan should be capitalized for financial reporting as a separate asset. If any one of those criteria is
not met, none of the allowable costs that are deferred for future recovery by the regulator under
the plan should be capitalized.

e The plan has been agreed to by the regulator.
e The plan specifies when recovery will occur.

o All allowable costs deferred under the plan are scheduled for recovery within 10 years of the
date when deferrals begin.
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e The percentage increase in rates scheduled for each future year under the plan is not greater
than the percentage increase in rates scheduled for each immediately preceding year.

When an existing phase-in plan is modified or a new plan is ordered to replace or supplement
an existing plan, the above criteria should be applied to the combination of the modified plan and
the existing plan. Thus, the 10-year period requirement, from when cost deferral commences until
all costs are recovered, cannot be extended. If the recovery period is modified beyond 10 years,
recorded costs under the phase-in plan should be immediately charged to earnings.

(ii) Financial Statement Classification. From a financial statement viewpoint, costs deferred
should be classified and reported as a separate item in the income statement in the section relating
to those costs. For instance, if capital costs are being deferred, they should be classified below-the-
line. If depreciation or other operating costs are being deferred, the “credit” should be classified
above-the-line with the operating costs. Allowable costs capitalized should not be reported net as
a reduction of other expenses. Amortization of phase-in plan deferrals typically should be above-
the-line (similar to recovering AFUDC via depreciation). This income statement presentation is
consistent with guidance provided by the SEC’s staff in the “Official Minutes of the Emerging
Issues Task Force Meeting” (February 23, 1989, Open Meeting).

(iii) Allowance for Funds Used During Construction (AFUDC). SFAS No. 92 clarifies that
AFUDC-equity can be capitalized in general purpose financial statements only during construction
(based on par. 15 of SFAS No. 71) or as part of a qualifying phase-in plan. Thus, it is clear that,
after January 1, 1988, AFUDC-equity can no longer be capitalized in connection with short-term
rate synchronization deferrals. It should also be noted that, in connection with the adoption of SFAS
No. 92, such deferrals can be recorded only when it is probable—based on SFAS No. 5—that
such costs will be recovered in future rates. This is consistent with the discussion on SFAS No.
90 relating to capitalizing AFUDC.

(iv) Interrelationship of Phase-In Plans and Disallowances. Amounts deferred pursuant to
SFAS No. 92 should also include an allowance for earnings on stockholders’ investment. If the
phase-in plan meets the criteria in SFAS No. 92 and the regulator prevents the enterprise from
recovering either some amount of its investment or some amount of return on its investment, a
disallowance occurs that should be accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 90.

(v) Financial Statement Disclosure. A utility should disclose in its financial statements the
terms of any phase-in plans in effect during the year. If a phase-in plan exists but does not meet
the criteria in SFAS No. 92, the financial statements should include disclosure of the net amount
deferred for rate-making purposes at the balance sheet date and the net change in deferrals for
rate-making purposes during the year for those plans. In addition, the nature and amounts of any
allowance for earnings on stockholders’ investment capitalized for rate-making purposes but not
capitalized for financial reporting are to be disclosed.

33.9 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NO. 101:
“REGULATED ENTERPRISES—ACCOUNTING FOR THE
DISCONTINUATION OF APPLICATION OF FINANCIAL
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD STATEMENT NO. 71”

The continuing applicability of SFAS No. 71 has been receiving more and more attention over the
last 10 years, particularly with price cap regulation in the telecommunications industry and market-
based or other alternative forms of pricing taking place in the pipeline and electric industries.
Virtually every major telecommunications company that historically applied SFAS No. 71 has now
discontinued applying it. Also, electric companies, including some of the largest in the industry, in
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various regulatory jurisdictions, have discontinued application of SFAS No. 71 for the generation
portion of their operations as a result of the industry undergoing various fundamental changes.
However, the changes are being revisited by many electric companies and their regulators as a
result of the energy crisis in California that occurred in 2000 and early 2001. As a result, some
companies have reapplied or are currently evaluating whether to reapply SFAS No. 71.

It is important that companies carefully review both the current and anticipated future rate
environment to determine continued applicability of SFAS No. 71. In EITF Issue No. 97-4, a
consensus was reached that the application of SFAS No. 71 to a segment of a rate-regulated
enterprise’s operations that is subject to a deregulation transition period should cease no later than
the time when the legislation is passed or a rate order is issued and the related effects are known.

(@) FACTORS LEADING TO DISCONTINUING APPLICATION OF STATEMENT OF FINAN-
CIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NO. 71. SFAS No. 101 gives several examples that may
cause an enterprise to no longer meet the criteria for applying SFAS No. 71. Because virtually
all regulated utilities are experiencing one or more of the examples cited below, it is important to
make an evaluation of the continuing application of SFAS No. 71 at each balance sheet date.

Causes cited in SFAS No. 101 include: deregulation, a change from cost-based rate making
to another form of regulation, increasing competition that limits the ability to recover costs, and
regulatory actions that limit rate relief to a level insufficient to recover costs. Other stress signs
that may indicate that SFAS No. 71 is no longer applicable include these eight:

1. Increasing amounts of regulatory assets, including systematic underdepreciation of assets
and deferral of costs

2. Regulatory assets being consistently amortized over long periods, particularly if such assets
relate to ongoing operating costs

3. Substantial regulatory disallowances

4. Increasing amounts of deferred costs not earning a return

5. Chronic excess capacity (e.g., generating capacity and/or readily available supplies) resulting
in nonearning assets

6. Rates for services or per mcf or kWh which are currently, or forecasted in the future, to be
higher than those of neighboring entities and/or alternative competitive energy sources

7. Significant disparity among the rates charged to residential, commercial, and industrial cus-
tomers and rate concessions for major customers or segments

8. Stress accumulation and/or the actions of other to discontinue application of SFAS No. 71,
making the specialized regulatory accounting model no longer creditable

These examples provide warning signs and are not meant as hard and fast rules. Instead,
considerable judgment is required to determine when an enterprise ceases to meet the criteria of
SFAS No. 71. However, we believe there are two trigger points that generally indicate an enterprise
no longer meets the criteria of SFAS No. 71:

1. If the current form of rate regulation results in an extended rate moratorium or a regulatory
process that precludes the enterprise for an extended period (in excess of five years) from
adjusting rates to reflect the utility’s cost of providing service

2. The regulatory process results or is expected to result in the utility earning significantly less
(250-300 basis points) than its allowed or a reasonable current rate of return for an extended
period of time (three or four years)

(b) REGULATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES. Once a utility concludes that all or a part of a
company’s operations no longer comes under SFAS No. 71, it should discontinue application of
that Statement and report discontinuation by eliminating from its balance sheet the effects of any
actions of regulators that had been recognized as assets and liabilities pursuant to SFAS No. 71 but
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would not have been recognized as assets and liabilities by enterprises in general. The guidance
in SFAS No. 101 indicates that all regulatory-created assets and liabilities should be written off
unless the right to receive payment or the obligation to pay exists as a result of past events and
regardless of expected future transactions.

Five examples of such regulatory-created assets and liabilities include:

1. Deferred storm damage
2. Deferred plant abandonment loss

3. Receivables or payables to future customers under purchased gas or fuel adjustment clauses
(unless amounts are receivable or payable regardless of future sales)

4. Deferred gains or losses or reacquisition of debt
5. Revenues subject to refund as future sales price adjustments

SFAS No. 101 specifies that, if a separable portion of a rate-regulated utility’s operations within
a regulatory jurisdiction ceases to meet the criteria for application of SFAS No. 71, application of
SFAS No. 71 to that separable portion should be discontinued. In EITF Issue No. 97-4, a consensus
was reached that regulatory assets and liabilities should be recorded based on the separable portion
of the operation from which the regulated cash flows to realize and settle them will be derived,
rather than based on the separable portion initially incurring such costs. The consensus applies
not only to regulatory assets and liabilities existing when the separable portion ceases application
of SFAS No. 71, but also to regulatory assets and liabilities or any other costs of that separable
portion that are probable of recovery, regardless of when incurred.

(c) FIXED ASSETS AND INVENTORY. SFAS No. 101 also states:

However, the carrying amounts of plant, equipment, and inventory measured and reported pursuant
to SFAS No. 71 should not be adjusted unless those assets are impaired (as measured by enterprises
in general), in which case the carrying amounts of those assets should be reduced to reflect that
impairment.

The carrying amount of inventories measured and reported pursuant to SFAS No. 71 would not
be adjusted—to eliminate, for example, intercompany profit—absent loss recognition by applying
the “cost or market, whichever is lower” rule set forth in Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” of ARB
No. 43, “Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins.”

Reaccounting is required for true regulatory assets that have been misclassified as part of plant,
such as postconstruction cost deferrals recorded as part of plant, and for systematic underdepreci-
ation of plant in accordance with rate-making practices.

(d) INCOME TAXES. An apparent requirement of SFAS No. 101 when SFAS No. 71 is dis-
continued is that net-of-tax AFUDC should be displayed gross along with the associated deferred
income taxes. This requirement is based on the notion that the net-of-tax AFUDC presentation is
pursuant to industry practice and not SFAS No. 71. The interaction of this requirement along with
the SFAS No. 101 treatment of excess deferred income taxes and the transition provision in SFAS
No. 109 must be considered in connection with discontinuing the application of SFAS No. 71.

(e) INVESTMENT TAX CREDITS. A utility might consider changing its method of accounting
for investment tax credits in connection with adopting SFAS No. 101. Paragraph 11 of APB
Opinion No. 4, “Accounting for the Investment Credit,” as well as The Revenue Act of 1971 and
U.S. Treasury releases, have required specific, full disclosure of the accounting method followed
for ITC—either the flow-through method or the deferral method. Paragraph 16 of APB Opinion
No. 20, “Accounting Changes,” specifies that the previously adopted method of accounting for ITC
should not be changed after the ITC has been discontinued or terminated. Therefore, the method
of accounting used for ITC reported in financial statements when the Tax Reform Act of 1986 was
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signed, and such credits were discontinued, must be continued for those tax credits. Paragraph 4
of Accounting Interpretations of APB No. 4 indicates that the above guidance would apply to old
ITC, even if a new similar credit were later enacted.

(f) INCOME STATEMENT PRESENTATION. The net effect of the above adjustments should
be included in income of the period of the change and classified as an extraordinary item in the
income statement.

(g) REAPPLICATION OF STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NO. 71.
As noted in paragraph 43 of SFAS No. 101, the FASB concluded that the accounting for the reap-
plication of SFAS No. 71 is beyond the scope of SFAS No. 101. However, there have been several
companies that have reapplied SFAS No. 71, including at least one registrant that precleared its
accounting with the SEC staff.

When facts and circumstances change so that a utility’s regulated operations meet all of the
criteria set forth in paragraph 5 of SFAS No. 71, that Statement should be reapplied to all or a
separable portion of its operations, as appropriate.

Reapplication includes adjusting the balance sheet for amounts that meet the definition of a
regulatory asset or regulatory liability in paragraphs 9 and 11, respectively, of SFAS No. 71.
AFUDC should commence to be recorded if it is probable of future recovery, consistent with
paragraph 15 of SFAS No. 71. Plant balances should not be adjusted for any difference that
resulted from capitalizing interest under SFAS No. 34 instead of AFUDC while SFAS No. 71
was discontinued. Instead, a regulatory asset should be recorded if supportable As provided for in
SFAS No. 144, previously disallowed costs that are subsequently allowed by a regulator should
be recorded as an asset, consistent with the classification that would have resulted had these costs
initially been allowed.

In practice, the net effect of the adjustments to reapply SFAS No. 71 have been classified as
an extraordinary item in the income statement.

33.10 ISSUE NO. 97-4

In recent years the SEC’s staff has focused on electric utility restructuring and its effect on financial
reporting. As a result, the appropriateness of the continuing application of SFAS No. 71 became a
serious issue during the 1990s. Specifically, the SEC staff challenged the continued applicability of
SFAS No. 71 by registrants in states where plans transitioning to market-based pricing/competition
for electric generation were being formulated.

The SEC staff’s concerns initially resulted from enacted legislation in California that provided
at that time for transition to a competitive electric generation market. These concerns led to the
identification of several unresolved issues concerning when SFAS No. 71 should be discontinued
and how SFAS No. 101 should be adopted. A consensus was reached on each of the three major
issues identified in Issue No. 97-4.

The first issue addresses when an enterprise should stop applying SFAS No. 71 to the separable
portion of its business whose product or service pricing is being deregulated. However, this issue
was limited to situations in which final legislation is passed or a rate order is issued that has the
effect of transitioning from cost-based to market-based rates. In such situations, should SFAS No.
71 be discontinued at the beginning or the end of the transition period?

The EITF concluded that when deregulatory legislation or a rate order is issued that contains
sufficient detail to reasonably determine how the transition plan will effect the separable portion
of the business, SFAS No. 71 should be discontinued for that separable portion. Thus, SFAS No.
71 should be discontinued at the beginning (not the end) of the transition period.

Once SFAS No. 71 is no longer applied to a separable portion of an enterprise, the financial
statements should segregate, via financial statement display or footnote disclosure, the amounts
contained in the financial statements that relate to that separable portion.
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The scope of the EITF’s final consensus for Issue No. 97-4 was limited to a specific circumstance
in which deregulatory legislation is passed and a final rate order issued. The EITF did not address
the broader issue of whether the application of SFAS No. 71 should cease prior to final passage
of deregulatory legislation or issuance of a final rate order.

Some relevant guidance for this situation is set forth in Paragraph 69 of SFAS No. 71, which
states:

The Board concluded that users of financial statements should be aware of the possibilities of rapid,
unanticipated changes in an industry, but accounting should not be based on such possibilities
unless their occurrence is considered probable. [emphasis added]

Based on this guidance, once it becomes probable that the deregulation legislative and/or reg-
ulatory changes will occur and the effects are known in sufficient detail, SFAS No. 101 should be
adopted.

If the start of the transition period is delayed and uncertainty exists because of an appeal process,
it seems reasonable that the application of SFAS No. 71 should continue until the completion of
such process and the change to market-based regulation becomes probable. However, if or when
it is probable that the appeal will be denied and the change to market-based regulation ultimately
enacted, the discontinuance of SFAS No. 71 and adoption of SFAS No. 101 should not be delayed.

On the second issue, the EITF determined that the regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities
that originated in the separable portion of an enterprise to which SFAS No. 101 is being applied
should be evaluated on the basis of where (i.e., the portion of the business in which) the regulated
cash flows to realize and settle them will be derived. Regulated cash flows are rates that are charged
customers and intended by regulators to be for the recovery of the specified regulatory assets and
settlement of the regulatory liabilities. They can be, in certain situations, derived from a “levy” on
rate-regulated goods or services provided by another separable portion of the enterprise that meets
the criteria for application of SFAS No. 71.

Accordingly, if such regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities have been specifically provided
for via the collection of regulated cash flows, they are not eliminated until:

e They are recovered by or settled through regulated cash flows, or
e They are individually impaired or the regulator eliminates the obligation, or

e The separable portion of the business from which the regulated cash flows are derived no
longer meets the criteria for application of SFAS No. 71.

Finally, the EITF reached a consensus that the source of cash flow approach adopted in the
second consensus should be used for recoveries of all costs and settlements of all obligations for
which regulated cash flows are specifically provided in the deregulatory legislation or rate order.
Thus, the second consensus is not limited to regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities that are
recorded at the date SFAS No. 101 is applied.

For example, a regulatory asset should also be recorded for the loss on the sale of an electric
generating plant or the loss on the buy out of a purchased power contract that is recognized after
SFAS No. 101 is applied to the generation portion of the business, if it is specified for recovery
in the legislation or a rate order, and a separable portion of the enterprise that meets the criteria
for application of SFAS No. 71 continues to exist.

33.11 OTHER SPECIALIZED UTILITY ACCOUNTING PRACTICES

(@) UTILITY INCOME TAXES AND INCOME TAX CREDITS. Income tax expense is important
to utilities because it generally is one of the largest items in the income statement and usually
is a key factor in the determination of cost of service for ratemaking purposes. Deferred income
taxes represent a significant element of internally generated funds and a major financing source
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for the extensive construction programs that utilities have historically experienced. In addition,
the complexity of the Internal Revenue Code and of the various regulations to which utilities
are subject causes a significant amount of controversy. As a result, the method of accounting for
income taxes—*normalization” versus “flow-through” rate making—is often a specific issue in
rate proceedings. The rate-making method is an important area of concern to analysts and can be
a factor in establishing the cost of equity and new debt offerings.

(i) Interperiod Income Tax Allocation. GAAP, under SFAS No. 109, require that a “provision
for deferred taxes” be made for the tax effect of most of differences between income before income
taxes and taxable income. This practice of interperiod tax allocation is referred to in the utility
industry as normalization.

The term normalization evolved because income taxes computed for accounting purposes on
the normalization basis would cause reported net income to be a “normal” amount had the utility
not adopted, for example, a particular tax return method for a deduction that created the tax-book
difference. Under the deferred tax, or normalization concept, the taxes that would be payable,
except for the use of the tax return deduction that created the tax-book difference, are merely
deferred, not saved. For example, when tax depreciation exceeds book depreciation in the early
years of property life, deferred taxes are charged to expense with a contra credit to a liability
account. In later years, when the tax write-offs are lower than they otherwise would be, the higher
taxes when payable are charged against this reserve. To illustrate the concept, assume the following
facts:

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3
Revenues $1,000 $1,000 $1,000
Other expenses 600 600 600
Book depreciation 200 200 200
Tax depreciation 300 200 100
Tax rate 34% 34% 34%

Exhibit 33.7 sets forth how normalized (deferred) tax accounting would be recorded in Year 1
for the tax and book depreciation difference of $100.

(ii)) Flow-Through. “Flow-through” is a concept wherein the reductions in current tax payments
from tax deductions, such as received by using accelerated depreciation, are flowed through to
customers via lower cost-of-service and revenue requirements. Under this approach, income tax

DEFERRED TAX ACCOUNTING

Income Tax Timing
Statement Return Difference

Revenue $1,000 $1,000 $ —
Depreciation (200) (300) 100
Other expenses (600) (600) —
Income before taxes $ 200 $ 100 $100
Federal income taxes:

Payable currently (34% x $100) $ 34 $ 34

Deferred (34% x $100) 34 $ 34
Total $ 68
Operating income $ 132

Exhibit 33.7 Illustration of “normalized” tax accounting.
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expense is equal to the currently payable amount only. No recognition (deferred taxes) is given to
the tax effect of differences between book income before income taxes and taxable income. Under
a “partial” allocation approach, deferred taxes are provided on certain differences but are ignored
on others.

The principal argument used by those who support flow-through accounting is that a provision
for deferred taxes does not constitute a current cost and therefore such a deferment should not be
made. Income tax expense for the year should only include those taxes legally payable with respect
to the tax return applicable to that year, and any provision in excess of taxes payable represents
“phantom” taxes or “customer contributed capital.” Further, when property additions are growing,
and if no changes were made to the tax law, deferred tax provisions in the aggregate would continue
to grow and would never turn around (or reverse); thereby the tax timing differences are, in fact,
“permanent differences.”

Exhibit 33.8 sets forth the initial effect of flow-through tax accounting in Year 1 for the tax
and book depreciation difference of $100.

Although Exhibit 33.8 shows a “bottom-line” effect of the elimination of deferred tax expense,
such accounting is not acceptable. GAAP requires deferred tax accounting with SFAS No. 71, per-
mitting departures only when regulators affect revenues. To be acceptable, therefore, the regulator
would lower revenue requirements due to the omission of deferred tax expense as an element of
the utility’s cost-of-service for rate-making purposes. The action of the regulator in this case is to
defer a cost that will be recoverable through increased rates in the future.

As previously discussed, utility regulators determine operating income first and then add allow-
able expenses to derive operating revenue. In Exhibit 33.7, $132 is presumed to be the result of
multiplying rate base by rate of return. The same operating income of $132 in the normaliza-
tion example would be developed first under the flow-through concept and, with the elimination
of deferred tax expense of $34, only $948 of revenue would be required to produce the $132
of operating income under flow-through. The proper application of flow-through is shown in
Exhibit 33.9.

This $52 reduction in revenues (by eliminating only $34 of deferred tax expense) is caused by
the tax-on-tax effect, which is discussed under the rate-making formula. In short, the elimination
of the deferred tax expense results in a direct reduction of revenues, causing current tax expense
also to be reduced. This effect is the primary reason so much attention is focused on normalization
versus flow-through rate making for income taxes.

“FLOW-THROUGH"” ACCOUNTING ASSUMING NO DECREASE IN CUSTOMER RATES

Income Tax Timing
Statement Return Difference

Revenue $1,000 $1,000 $ —
Depreciation (200) (300) $100
Other expenses (600) (600) —
Income before taxes $ 200 $ 100 $100
Federal income taxes:

Payable currently (34% x $100) $ 34 $ 34

Deferred (34% x $0) — $ —
Total $ 34
Net income $ 166

Exhibit 33.8 Illustration of “flow-through” accounting with no effect on customer rates.
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“FLOW-THROUGH”” ACCOUNTING ASSUMING DECREASE IN CUSTOMER RATES

Income Tax Timing
Statement Return Difference

Revenue $948 $948 —
Depreciation (200) (300) $100
Other expenses (600) (600) —

Income before taxes $148 $ 48 $100
Federal income taxes:

Payable currently (34% x $48) 16 16

Deferred — —
Total $ 16
Net income $132

Exhibit 33.9 lllustration of “flow-through” accounting with a decrease in rates.

The comparison of the normalization and flow-through concepts in Exhibit 33.10 illustrates that
operating income continues to be $132 under both methods and that the $52 of savings in revenue
requirement in Year 1 due to flow-through is offset by $52 of higher rates in Year 3. For simplicity,
this example ignores the rate base reducing effects of deferred taxes.

The comparison illustrates the principal argument for normalization—that revenues are at a
level, or normal, amount, whereas revenue varies greatly under flow-through. Advocates of nor-
malization note that normalization distributes income tax expense to time periods, and therefore
to customers’ revenue requirements, consistently with the costs (depreciation) that are affecting
income tax expense. As the rate-making process necessarily involves the deferral of costs such
as plant investment and distribution of these costs over time, normalization is used to produce a
consistent determination of income tax expense.

Normalization also recognizes that the “using up” of tax basis of depreciable property (or
using up an asset’s ability to reduce taxes) creates a cost. This cost should be recognized as the
tax payments are reduced. Basing tax expense solely on taxes payable without recognizing the
cost of achieving reductions in tax payments is not consistent with accrual accounting. Although
flow-through rate making ignores this current cost, this cost does not disappear any more than the
nonrecognition of depreciation for rate making would make that cost disappear.

(iii) Provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. Complicating the regulatory treatment and
financial reporting of income taxes for utilities are significant amounts of deferred income taxes
that are “protected” under provisions of the IRC. That is, normalization is required with respect
to certain tax and book depreciation differences if the utility is to remain eligible for accelerated
depreciation. A historical perspective of tax incentives and tax legislation, as they relate to the
utility industry, is helpful in understanding why the regulatory treatment of income tax is of such
importance.

(iv) The Concept of Tax Incentives. The first significant tax incentive that was generally
available to all taxpayers was a provision of the 1954 Code that permitted accelerated methods
of depreciation. Prior to enactment of this legislation, tax depreciation allowances were generally
limited to those computed with the straight-line method, which is traditionally used for financial
reporting and rate-making purposes. The straight-line method spread the cost of the property evenly
over its estimated useful life. The accelerated depreciation provisions of the 1954 Code permitted
taxpayers to take greater amounts of depreciation in the early years of property life and lesser
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amounts in later years. Although accelerated methods permit taxpayers to recover capital invest-
ments more rapidly for tax purposes, deductions are limited to the depreciable cost of property.
Thus, only the timing, not the ultimate amount of depreciation, is affected.

Because utilities are capital intensive in nature, accelerated depreciation provisions generate
significant amounts of tax deferrals. Additionally, other sources of deferred taxes can be relatively
small in some industries but are magnified in the utility industry because of its large construction
programs. Among the major differences, generally referred to as basis differences, are interest,
pensions, and taxes capitalized as costs of construction for book purposes but deducted currently
(as incurred) as expenses for tax purposes. Once again, it is the timing, not the ultimate cost, that
is affected.

Accelerated methods and lives were intended by the U.S. Congress to generate capital for invest-
ment, stimulate expansion, and contribute to high levels of output and employment. The economic
benefit to the taxpayer arising from the use of accelerated depreciation and capitalized costs is the
time value of the money because of the postponement of tax payments. The availability of what
are effectively interest-free loans, obtained from the U.S. Treasury, reduces the requirements for
other sources of capital, thereby reducing capital costs. Prior to the Tax Reform Act of 1986, these
capitalized overheads represented significant deductions for tax purposes. However, subsequent
to that Act, such amounts are now capitalized into the tax basis of the asset and depreciated for
tax purposes as well. Thus, the benefits that once resulted from basis differences have, to a large
extent, been eliminated.

(v) Tax Legislation. A brief history of the origin of accelerated tax depreciation and the intent
of the U.S. Congress in permitting liberalized depreciation methods is helpful in understanding the
regulatory and accounting issues related to income taxes.

Tax Reform Act of 1969. The accelerated tax depreciation methods initially made available to
taxpayers in 1954 were without limitations in the tax law as to the accounting and rate-making
methods used for public utility property. However, in the late 1960s, the U.S. Treasury Department
and Congress became concerned about larger-than-anticipated tax revenue losses as a result of rate
regulatory developments. Although both Congress and the Treasury realized that accelerated tax
deductions would initially reduce Treasury revenues by the tax effect, they had not anticipated that
flow-through would about double (at the then 48% tax rate) the Treasury’s tax loss because of the
tax-on-tax effect. Depending on the exact tax rate, about one-half the reduction in payments to
the Treasury came from the deduction of accelerated depreciation and the other one-half from the
immediate reduction in customer rates from the use of flow-through. It was this second one-half
reduction of Treasury revenues that was considered unacceptable. Furthermore, immediate flow-
through of these incentives to utility customers negated the intended congressional purpose of the
incentives themselves. It was the utility customers who immediately received all of the benefit of
accelerated depreciation. Accordingly, the utility did not have all the Treasury “capital” that was
provided by Congress for investment and expansion.

Faced with larger-than-anticipated Treasury revenue losses, Congress enacted the Tax Reform
Act of 1969 (TRA ’69). By adding Section 167(1), it limited the Treasury’s exposure to revenue
losses by making the accelerated depreciation methods available to public utility properties only if
specific qualifying standards as to accounting and ratemaking were met. Although Section 167(1)
did not dictate to state regulatory commissions a rate-making treatment they should follow with
respect to the tax effects of accelerated depreciation, the Act provided that:

o If a utility had not used accelerated depreciation prior to 1970, it would not be allowed to use
accelerated tax depreciation in the future unless it normalized for ratemaking and accounting
purposes.

e Utilities that had been using accelerated tax depreciation and were normalizing for accounting
and ratemaking purposes would not be allowed to use accelerated depreciation in the future
unless they continued to normalize for accounting and ratemaking purposes.
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e Companies that were currently on a flow-through basis were allowed to continue on a flow-
through basis in the future. However, an election was offered to such companies by which
they could elect to be in a position where they would lose accelerated depreciation on future
expansion additions unless they were normalizing for rate-making and accounting purposes
with respect to such future expansion property additions.

Revenue Actof 1971. The Revenue Act of 1971, signed into law on December 10, 1971, codified
the Asset Depreciation Range (ADR) system for determining depreciation for tax purposes. Under
ADR, lives were shortened, thereby accelerating tax depreciation even further. The ADR regulations
prescribed the same standards regarding normalization versus flow-through rate making as were
set forth in TRA ’69.

Economic Recovery Act of 1981. The Economic Recovery Act of 1981, signed into law on
August 31, 1981, continued to allow acceleration of depreciation tax deductions and included
normalization rules for public utility property with respect to depreciation under the Accelerated
Cost Recovery System. Normalization is mandatory under the Act for accelerated depreciation
taken on all public utility property placed in service after December 31, 1980.

Tax Reform Act of 1986. The Tax Reform Act of 1986 (TRA ’86) reduced the acceleration of
depreciation tax deductions and continued normalization requirements for public utility property.
In addition, the maximum federal tax rate for corporations was reduced from 46% to 34%. This
reduction in the federal tax rate not only reduces tax payments currently being made, but will also
reduce future tax payments (assuming continuation of the present tax rate) that result from the
reversal of previously recorded deferred tax amounts—effectively forgiving a portion of the loan
from the U.S. Treasury.

TRA 86 [Section 203(e)] provided that deferred taxes related to certain depreciation method
and life differences on public utility property in excess of the new 34% statutory rate be used to
reduce customer rates using the average rate assumption method. This method generally requires the
development of an average rate determined by dividing the aggregate normalized timing differences
into the accumulated deferred taxes that have been provided on those timing differences. As the
timing differences begin to reverse, the turnaround occurs at this average rate. Under this method,
the so-called excess in the reserve for deferred taxes is reduced over the remaining life of the
property.

If a regulatory commission requires reduction in the deferred tax balance more rapidly than
under this method, book depreciation must be used for tax purposes. There is no provision in TRA
’86 for any protection of other deferre